

Women in gynecological oncology vol II: 2022

Edited by Priya Ranjit Bhosale and Elena Ioana Braicu

Published in Frontiers in Oncology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83252-108-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83252-108-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Women in gynecological oncology vol II: 2022

Topic editors

Priya Ranjit Bhosale — University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States Elena Ioana Braicu — Charité University Medicine Berlin, Germany

Citation

Bhosale, P. R., Braicu, E. I., eds. (2023). *Women in gynecological oncology vol II: 2022*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83252-108-3



Table of contents

05 hnRNP E1 Regulates HPV16 Oncogene Expression and Inhibits Cervical Cancerization

Li Song, Rui Mao, Ling Ding, Zhiqiang Tian, Mingxuan Zhang, Jiahao Wang, Ming Wang, Yuanjing Lyu, Chunliang Liu, Meijuan Feng, Haixia Jia and Jintao Wang

Importance of the endometrial immune environment in endometrial cancer and associated therapies Hannah van der Woude, Kathryn Elizabeth Hally, Margaret Jane Currie, Olivier Gasser and Claire Elizabeth Henry

30 Incidence of pelvic high-grade serous carcinoma after isolated STIC diagnosis: A systematic review of the literature

Valerie Catherine Linz, Amelie Löwe, Josche van der Ven, Annette Hasenburg and Marco Johannes Battista

43 A comparison of four technologies for detecting p53 aggregates in ovarian cancer Nicole Heinzl, Katarzyna Koziel, Elisabeth Maritschnegg,

Astrid Berger, Elisabeth Pechriggl, Heidi Fiegl, Alain G. Zeimet, Christian Marth, Robert Zeillinger and Nicole Concin

55 Rationale for combination of paclitaxel and CDK4/6 inhibitor in ovarian cancer therapy — non-mitotic mechanisms of paclitaxel

Elizabeth R. Smith, Marilyn Huang, Matthew P. Schlumbrecht, Sophia H.L. George and Xiang-Xi Xu

64 Impact of perioperative red blood cell transfusion, anemia of cancer and global health status on the prognosis of elderly patients with endometrial and ovarian cancer

Katharina Anic, Mona Wanda Schmidt, Marcus Schmidt, Slavomir Krajnak, Amelie Löwe, Valerie Catherine Linz, Roxana Schwab, Wolfgang Weikel, Walburgis Brenner, Christiane Westphalen, René Rissel, Erik Kristoffer Hartmann, Roland Conradi, Annette Hasenburg and Marco Johannes Battista

77 Optimizing the use of lenvatinib in combination with pembrolizumab in patients with advanced endometrial carcinoma

Domenica Lorusso, Romano Danesi, Laura Deborah Locati, Gianluca Masi, Ugo De Giorgi, Angiolo Gadducci, Sandro Pignata, Sabbatini Roberto, Antonella Savarese, Giorgio Valabrega, Claudio Zamagni and Nicoletta Colombo

88 Can circulating PD-1, PD-L1, BTN3A1, pan-BTN3As, BTN2A1 and BTLA levels enhance prognostic power of CA125 in patients with advanced high-grade serous ovarian cancer? Daniele Fanale, Lidia Rita Corsini, Chiara Brando, Sofia Cutaia, Mariano Catello Di Donna, Clarissa Filorizzo, Maria Chiara Lisanti, Ugo Randazzo, Luigi Magrin, Raffaella Romano, Tancredi Didier Bazan Russo, Daniel Olive, Salvatore Vieni, Gianni Pantuso, Vito Chiantera, Antonio Russo, Viviana Bazan and Juan Lucio Iovanna

100 The immersive experience of virtual reality during chemotherapy in patients with early breast and ovarian cancers: The patient's dream study

Alessandra Fabi, Luana Fotia, Federico Giuseppini, Arianna Gaeta, Chiara Falcicchio, Gabriele Giuliani, Antonella Savarese, Emanuela Taraborelli, Valentina Rossi, Paola Malaguti, Diana Giannarelli, Patrizia Pugliese and Francesco Cognetti

109 Clinical impact of soluble Neuropilin-1 in ovarian cancer patients and its association with its circulating ligands of the HGF/c-MET axis

Daniel Martin Klotz, Jan Dominik Kuhlmann, Theresa Link, Maren Goeckenjan, Lorenz C. Hofbauer, Andy Göbel, Tilman D. Rachner and Pauline Wimberger

119 Gender-related differences in career development among gynecologic oncology surgeons in Europe. European Network of Young Gynecologic Oncologists' Survey based data

Tanja Nikolova, Michaela Bossart, Joanna Kacperczyk-Bartnik, Zoia Razumova, Alexandra Strojna, Nicolò Bizzarri, Andrei Pletnev, Natalia R. Gómez-Hidalgo, Charalampos Theofanakis, Maximilian Lanner, Ilker Selcuk, Alexander Shushkevich, Chelariu-Raicu Anca, Natasha Nikolova, Nicole Concin and Kamil Zalewski



hnRNP E1 Regulates HPV16 Oncogene Expression and Inhibits Cervical Cancerization

Li Song¹, Rui Mao², Ling Ding¹, Zhiqiang Tian^{3,4}, Mingxuan Zhang¹, Jiahao Wang¹, Ming Wang¹, Yuanjing Lyu¹, Chunliang Liu¹, Meijuan Feng¹, Haixia Jia¹ and Jintao Wang^{1*}

¹ Department of Epidemiology, School of Public Health, Shanxi Medical University, Taiyuan, China, ² Questrom School of Business, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States, ³ Shanxi Bethune Hospital, Shanxi Academy of Medical Sciences, Tongji Shanxi Hospital, Third Hospital of Shanxi Medical University, Taiyuan, China, ⁴ Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Elena Ioana Braicu, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

N. Sanjib Banerjee, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States Chandraditya Chakraborty, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute and Harvard Medical School, United States

> *Correspondence: Jintao Wang wangjt59@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 28 March 2022 Accepted: 24 May 2022 Published: 21 June 2022

Citation:

Song L, Mao R, Ding L, Tian Z, Zhang M, Wang J, Wang M, Lyu Y, Liu C, Feng M, Jia H and Wang J (2022) hnRNP E1 Regulates HPV16 Oncogene Expression and Inhibits Cervical Cancerization. Front. Oncol. 12:905900. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.905900 hnRNP E1 (heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein E1) is an important RNA-binding protein (RBPs) that plays a vital role in tumor development. Human papillomavirus 16 (HPV16) contains numerous sites that can bind to RNA/DNA and may be modified by multiple RBPs, which contribute to HPV gene expression and HPV-associated cancer development. However, the effects of hnRNP E1 on HPV16 oncogenes in the development of cervical lesions remain unclear. A total of 816 participants with different grades of cervical lesions were enrolled in a community-based cohort established in Shanxi Province, China. The Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) and The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) databases were used to analyze the association between hnRNP E1 mRNA expression and cervical lesions. Cells with up_ and down_regulated hnRNP E1 were established. hnRNP E1 functions were evaluated using cell counting kit-8, flow cytometry analyses, and chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing. Our results showed that hnRNP E1 expression was linearly dependent on the severity of the cervical lesions. Low expression of HPV16 E2, high expression of E6, and a low ratio of E2 to E6 could increase the risk of cervical lesions. hnRNP E1 expression was correlated with HPV16 oncogene expression. hnRNP E1-relevant genes were involved in the dopaminergic synapses, Wht signaling pathway, gnRH secretion, and mTOR signaling pathway. hnRNP E1 significantly inhibited cell proliferation, induced apoptosis, arrested the cell cycle at the G0/G1 stage, and decreased HPV16 E6 expression. Our results indicate that hnRNP E1 could downregulate HPV16 E6 oncogene expression and inhibit cervical cancerization, which sheds new light on preventing the carcinogenicity of HPV across a range of diseases by regulating RNA-binding proteins.

Keywords: hnRNP E1, cervical cancerization, HPV16 E6, HPV16 E2/E6 ratio, regulation

hnRNP E1 Regulates HPV16 Oncogene

INTRODUCTION

Cervical cancer is the fourth most frequently diagnosed cancer in women globally (1). In contrast to the downward trends in developed countries, the incidence of cervical cancer in China has increased significantly. It is estimated that by 2020, there will be 0.11 million new cases and 0.06 million deaths in China (2). Shanxi Province, China has a notably high incidence of cervical cancer cases, with 5.42 associated deaths per 100,000 women in 2014 (3), which was about two times more than the national average (4).

High-risk human papillomavirus (HPV) persistent infection, especially HPV16 infection, accounts for more than 50% of HPV cases (5) and plays an important role in cervical carcinogenesis (6). The HPV16 genome comprises approximately 8000 bp of double-stranded circular DNA that can be divided into early genes (E1, E2, E4, E5, E6, and E7), late genes (L1 and L2), and long control regions. HPV16 E6, which induces and maintains cellular transformation, is an important oncogenic protein. Specifically, E6 and E7 expressions are necessary to drive proliferation in infected cells and for progression to high-grade lesions and cancer development. HPV16 E2 is considered to be the main inhibitor of E6 and E7 oncogene expression (7, 8). Integration of the HPV16 genome into host chromosomes is a vital event in cervical carcinogenesis, which usually causes disruption of E2, loss of regulation of E6, and subsequently E6 overexpression (9). Therefore, E2 and E6 play an important role in HPV integration and carcinogenesis and have attracted extensive attention as key genes for integration. However, the regulation of HPV gene expression depends on intracellular RNA processing and is usually modified by RNA binding proteins (RBPs) (10).

As RBPs, heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins (hnRNPs), contribute multiple functions to nucleic acid metabolism through post-transcriptional regulation (11). hnRNP E1 is a member of the hnRNP family and contains three K homology (KH) domains. It is required to achieve greater RNA/DNA binding affinity and specificity (12). HPV16 has two characteristic promoters, early promoter p97, and late promoter p670. In addition, the HPV16 genome covers 5'splice sites, 3'splice sites, and two polyadenylation sites. These sites provide the structural basis for specific binding to a variety of RBPs and their protein complexes (13). Studies have shown that hnRNP E1 is involved in multiple pathological processes (14, 15). hnRNP E1 expression is associated with numerous tumor types, such as liver cancer (16), pancreatic cancer (17), gastrointestinal adenocarcinomas (18), prostate cancer (14), and thyroid carcinoma (19). However, to the best of our knowledge, the association between hnRNP E1 expression and cervical cancerization remains unclear. Pillai et al. (20) used an immunohistochemical method to detect hnRNP E1 in cervical tissue with a small sample size. The results showed that the expression level of hnRNP E1 decreased gradually with the increase in the severity of the disease. Our previous study showed that high expression of hnRNP K, which is similar to hnRNP E1 in structure and function, could increase the risk of cervical lesions (21). Collier et al. (22) found that hnRNP E1

inhibited the translation of L2 mRNA of the HPV16 late gene. However, the association between hnRNP E1 and HPV16 and the progression of cervical carcinogenesis has not been reported.

Based on the specificity with which the unique KH structural domains of hnRNP E1 bind with RNA/DNA, considering that HPV16 provides RNA/DNA binding sites, we hypothesized that hnRNP E1 may be crucial to HPV16 oncogenes expression and cervical carcinogenesis. Our previous population-based results showed that hnRNP E1, HPV16 E2, and E6 are closely linked to cervical cancer development (23). In the present study, we analyzed the expression changes of hnRNP E1 in different cervical pathological stages. We further explored the potential function and mechanism of hnRNP E1 in cervical lesions *in vitro*. Our findings may serve as a foundation for elucidating novel molecular targets against HPV16 and new prognostic and predictive biomarkers for cervical cancer.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

There were 11984 participants, including 11938 women from the community cohort established in Jiexiu City and Yangqv County, Shanxi Province, China from June to September 2014, and 46 women suspected of cervical cancer from the Shanxi Cancer Hospital. All participants followed inclusion criteria: a) married, b)18-65 years, c) had resided in Shanxi for at least 1 year, d) volunteered to participate in the study, and the exclusion criteria were: a) pregnancy, b) history of hysterectomy or cervical conization, current or prior malignancy, c) had other tumors, d) received chemotherapy or radiotherapy. After completing the ThinPrep cytologic test (TCT) of 11,938 women, 858 women were diagnosed with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance and above (ASC-US+). Then, after 77 women were excluded, 781 women with ASC-US+ underwent HPV genotyping and histopathological examination. Of the 781 women, 469 were diagnosed by pathology as normal cervical (NC), 236 as low-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasm (CIN I), and 71 as high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasm (CIN II/ III) and 5 as squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix (SCC). Meantime, we collected 35 SCC patients diagnosed by pathology from the hospital. Ultimately, 816 participants were involved in the study (Figure 1). All participants signed informed consent, and the study was approved by the institutional review committee of Shanxi Medical University (2013-003). No potentially identifiable human images or data are presented in this study.

Data and Sample Collection

All participants were interviewed face-to-face to collect information about sociodemographic characteristics, personal hygiene behavior, lifestyle, menstrual state, sexual life, and history of the personal disease through a structured questionnaire. Cervical swabs were collected with a cervical brush and stored at 4°C and completed HPV typing within 24 hours. Cervical biopsy specimens were collected and stored in a -80°C refrigerator immediately.



HPV Detection

HPV16 infection assay by flow-through hybridization technology, DNA extraction, and HPV genotyping have previously been described in detail (24, 25). Briefly, HPV-DNA in cervical swabs was extracted by HPV-DNA extraction kit and amplified by PCR. HPV genotyping was performed using an HPV Geno Array Test Kit (HybriBio Ltd, Chaozhou, China) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Twenty-one HPV genotypes can be identified. In the study, HPV16 positive was defined as the participants with HPV 16 single infection or multiple infections with other HPV genotypes.

Cell Culture

Cervical cancer cell lines (SiHa and C33A) were obtained from the Chinese Academy of Sciences (Beijing, China). SiHa cells were cultured in high glucose Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (Hyclone, USA), and the minimum essential medium (Boster Inc, China) was used to culture C33A cells. All the cell lines were supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum of 5% CO_2 at 37°C.

Plasmid Transfection

hnRNP E1 cDNA plasmids (Genechem Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China) and hnRNP E1 shRNA (Sangon Biotech, Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China) were used to up_ and down_ regulate the expression of hnRNP E1, respectively. When the cell confluence reached 75%, the transfection complex composed of plasmid, transfection reagent (Roche Applied Science, Germany), and culture medium were added to the 6-well plates. DNA plasmids encoding Green fluorescent protein (GFP) were performed to establish the best transfection efficiencies and conditions.

Western Blotting

Proteins were extracted from cells or tissues and added to the RIPA buffer. Cracking on ice for 30_60 minutes. The supernatant was collected by centrifugation at 4°C and 12000 rpm for 15 minutes. BCA protein assay kit (Boster Inc, China) was used for protein quantification. SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis was performed. Then, the protein was transferred to the nitrocellulose membrane and 5% skimmed milk powder blocked the nonspecific antigen. The primary antibody was added and incubated at 4°C overnight. After washing the membrane, horseradish peroxidase-labeled IgG (secondary antibody) was added at 37 °C for 1h. Densitometric analysis was performed by Image Lab. In the assay, antibodies included rabbit anti-hnRNP E1 (Abcam, UK. ab74793, 1:1000), mouse anti-HPV16 E2 (Abcam, UK. ab17185, 1:1000), mouse anti-HPV16 E6 (Abcam, UK. Ab70, 1:1000), mouse anti-β-actin (Boster Inc, China, 1:300).

Quantitative Real-Time RT-PCR

TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen, CA, USA) was used for extracting total RNA from cultured cells. cDNA was prepared by reverse transcription using TransScript one-step gDNA Removal and cDNA Synthesis SuperMix kit (Transgen Biotech, China). Quantitative real-time RT-PCR (RT-qPCR) was carried out using the QuantiNova SYBR Green PCR kit (QIAGEN GmbH, Germany). PCR was carried out following the manufacturer's protocol. The PCR primer information was shown in **Table S1**. β -actin was used as the internal control. The relative mRNA levels were defined by using the 2^{- $\triangle \triangle$ Ct} method.

Cell Proliferation, Cycle, and Apoptosis Assays

10µl CCK8 stock solution (Dojindo Laboratories, Japan) were added to each cultured 96-well plate at the stages of post-transfection 12h, 24h, 36h, 48h, and 72h, further incubated for 2h at the 37°C. The absorbance value at 450 nm was measured by a microplate reader. To analyze the cell cycle, cultured cells were collected, counted, and added 500µl 70% pre-cooling ethanol to centrifugated cells, overnight at 4°C. The next day, centrifugated cells were treated with 500µl RNaseA/Propidium Iodide and kept away from light at 25°C for 30 min. Subsequently, the cell cycle was detected by flow cytometry (FCM). Cell apoptosis was detected using an Annexin V-APC/Propidium Iodide apoptosis detection kit (KGA1030, KeyGEN Biotech, China), then, cell proliferation indexes (PI) were evaluated by a formula of (S+G2/M)+(G0/1+S+G2/M)×100%.

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Sequencing and Bioinformatics Analysis

Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) experiments were performed on SiHa cells that had not been treated with any plasmid. The SimpleChIP Enzymatic Chromatin IP Kit (no. 9003; Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA) was used to prepare cross-linked chromatin for ChIP. Briefly, the cells were fixed with 1% formaldehyde for 10 min, followed by cell and nuclear lysis. Cross-linked DNA was sonicated and ranged in size from 200 to 900 bp. DNA/protein complexes were immunoprecipitated overnight using anti-hnRNP E1 (#8534, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA) antibodies. After reverse cross-linking and DNA purification, enriched DNA was detected by PCR. The primers used were listed in Table S1. The quality control analysis of the ChIP experiment was presented in Figure S1. Sequencing was performed at BGI-Shenzhen (Shenzhen, China) using an BGISeq-500 system. The authors acknowledge that the data presented in this study must be deposited and made publicly available in an acceptable repository, prior to publication. Frontiers cannot accept a manuscript that does not adhere to our open data policies.

The raw data were aligned to hg19 using SOAPaligner/ SOAP2 (26). Peak calling was conducted by MACS (Modelbased Analysis of ChIP-Seq) (27). The Gene Ontology (GO) terms (28) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway analyses (29) were performed in R software using the "clusterProfiler" to show enrichment closely related to hnRNP E1_relevant genes. A two-sided Fisher's exact test and the "enrichplot" and "ggplot2" packages were used to visualize the top 10 enriched terms and KEGG pathways.

Statistical Analysis

Analyses were performed using SPSS 22.0, R 4.0 and graphics were generated using GraphPad Prism 7.0. Significance testing between groups was performed by analysis of variance (ANOVA), Bonferroni's multiple comparison tests, The *post hoc* Least Significant Difference (LSD) test, the Kruskal-Wallis H test, and the Chi-square test. Possible associations were analyzed using Spearman's rank-order correlation. Kaplan-Meier survival analyses were performed in R 4.0 software using the "survival" and "survminer" to assess the relevance of hnRNP E1 expression and prognosis of the patient with cervical cancer. All analyses were two-sided and α =0.05.

The raw gene expression profiles of GSE9750 and GSE75132 were downloaded from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) and used to analyze the expression of hnRNP E1 in cervical cancer and its relationship with HPV. GSE9750, containing 24 normal cervical samples and 33 cervical cancer samples. GSE75132 included data from six participants with persistent HPV16 infection and participants without HPV. The mRNA expression and clinical information of 304 patients with cervical cancer were downloaded from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) portal (https://portal.gdc.cancer.gov/).

RESULTS

1. Demographic Characteristics of Participants and Factors Related to Cervical Lesions

We analyzed the demographic characteristics and factors related to cervical lesions of 816 participants. The average age of 816 women was 47 ± 12 years (range 19_65 years). Of all participants, 79.5% had received education in junior high school and above. The distribution of marital status, age, education level, and occupation among different cervical lesions groups was not significant (*P*>0.05); however, early age of first sexual intercourse, multiple gravidities, low bathing frequency, and low vaginal cleaning frequency were found to be associated with increased risk of CIN and cervical cancer(*P*<0.05).

2. HPV16 Gene Expression in Multistage Cervical Cancerization

The prevalence of HPV16 in NC, CIN I, CIN II/III, and SCC were 8.53%, 14.41%, 40.85%, and 67.50%, respectively, with significant differences, and showed an upward trend with the aggravation of cervical lesions (χ^2_{trend} =113.560, *P*<0.001). The results were displayed in **Table 1**. Subsequent results showed that HPV16 E2 protein levels in the NC and CIN I groups were significantly higher than those in the CIN II/III and SCC groups. The HPV16 E6 protein levels in the NC and CIN I groups was significantly lower than those in the CIN II/III and SCC groups (**Table 1**). There were significant differences in the ratio of E2 to E6 in different groups (*H*=71.392, *P*<0.001), showing a decreasing trend from NC to CIN I, CIN II/III, and SCC (**Table 1**).

3. hnRNP E1 Expression in Multistage Cervical Cancerization and Associations With HPV16 E2 and E6

To explore hnRNP E1 expression patterns in cervical lesions, hnRNP E1 protein expression was detected using western

Group	N	HPV16 infectionn (%)	HPV16 E2 M(Q)*	HPV16 E6 M(Q)*	Ratio of E2/E6 M(Q)*
NC	469	40(8.53)	1.72(0.28) ^a	0.18(0.08) ^a	9.89(4.75) ^a
CIN I	236	34(14.41)	1.71(0.34) ^a	0.17(0.06) ^{ab}	9.39(3.20) ^a
CIN II/III	71	29(40.85)	1.08(0.86) ^{bc}	0.47(0.78)°	2.13(3.72) ^{bc}
SCC	40	27(67.50) <i>x²_{trend}=</i> 113.560, <i>P</i> <0.001	0.86(0.48) ^c H [#] =46.207, P < 0.001	1.25(0.67) ^d H [#] =66.848, P < 0.001	0.69(0.85) ^b H [#] =71.392, P < 0.001

TABLE 1 | Associations between HPV16 genes expression and cervical lesions.

*median (quartile range); a/b/c/d, different letters indicate significant differences at least $P < \alpha'$ ($\alpha' = 0.05/6 = 0.0083$); [#]overall comparison among different groups.

blotting. With the progress of cervical lesions, hnRNP E1 protein expression levels gradually decreased (**Figure 2A**). The average hnRNP E1 expression level in NC (2.081 \pm 1.708, n=469) was 2.30 times higher than that in SCC (0.906 \pm 0.844, n=40). Moreover, data from the GEO dataset (GSE9750) showed that hnRNP E1 mRNA was more highly expressed in NC samples than in SCC samples (**Figure 2B**). We further investigated the associations between hnRNP E1 and HPV in cervical lesions and found that the expression levels of hnRNP E1 protein or mRNA in the HPV-negative group were significantly higher than those in the HPV-positive group (*P*<0.05), as shown in **Figures 2C**, **D**.

Spearman's rank correlation analysis showed positive correlations between hnRNP E1 expression and HPV16 E2 (r_s =0.397, P<0.001) and the ratio of HPV16 E2 to E6 (r_s =0.584, P<0.001) and a negative correlation between hnRNP E1 and HPV16 E6 (r_s =-0.584, P<0.001), as shown in **Figures 2E, F**.

4. Correlations Between hnRNP E1 and Prognosis of the Patient With Cervical Cancer Based on TCGA Database

We further analyzed the relationship between hnRNP E1 expression and clinicopathological characteristics in cervical



FIGURE 2 | hnRNP E1 expression and correlations with HPV16 E2 and E6 in cervical lesions. (A) hnRNP E1 protein expression levels in the clinical samples. (B) The hnRNP E1 mRNA expression levels in NC and SCC samples, data were obtained from GEO dataset. (C) The hnRNP E1 protein expression levels in HPV+ and HPV- samples. (D) The hnRNP E1 mRNA expression levels in HPV+ and HPV- samples, data were available from GEO dataset. (E) hnRNP E1, HPV16 E2 and E6 expression levels was detected using western blotting in cervix tissues. β -actin was used as loading control. (F) Correlations between hnRNP E1, HPV16 E2 and E6 in cervical lesions. *a/b/c/d*, different letters indicate significant differences at least $P < \alpha'(\alpha'=0.05/6 = 0.0083)$. HPV+ represents HPV-positive samples, and HPVrepresents HPV-negative samples.

cancer based on the TCGA database. The Kruskal-Wallis ranksum test showed that there was no significant correlation between hnRNP E1 expression and T stage (P=0.609), N stage (P=0.078), M stage (P=0.203), International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) stage (P=0.178), pathological type (P=0.602) and therapy (P=0.448) of cervical cancer (Figures 3A-F). To better understand the relevance of hnRNP E1 expression and the prognosis of the patient with cervical cancer, we performed Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. Patients were divided into high-hnRNP E1 and low-hnRNP E1 groups based on the median value. Results showed that the overall survival rate was not significant between the high-hnRNP E1 and low-hnRNP E1 groups (P>0.05, Figure 3G). Although our results have revealed the subtle prognostic value of hnRNP E1, compared with the low expression of hnRNP E1, high expression of hnRNP E1 has a better prognosis.

5. Functional Enrichment Analysis of Binding Sites Relative to hnRNP E1

Based on the main purpose of this study was to explore the role of hnRNP E1 on the regulation of HPV16 oncogene expression in cervical cancerization, we conducted ChIP-seq in the untreated SiHa cell line. A total of 121 potential targets for hnRNP E1 across the human genome in SiHa cells were identified, including 357 binding sites (peaks). The average peak length was 161 bp, and the length was mainly distributed between 100_500 bp. To further analyze the potential biological functions of annotated genes related to hnRNP E1, GO and KEGG enrichment analyses were performed, and the screening criteria was *P-value*<0.3. According to the functional annotation in the GO database, the most significant biological process (BP) terms were petidyl-threonine phosphorylation, peptidyl-serine phosphorylation, peptidyl-threonine modification, and peptidyl-serine modification, and





Hippo signaling. When focusing on cellular components (CC), the most highly represented categories were the cell cortex, protein phosphatase type 2A complex, histone deacetylase complex, presynaptic active zone, and magnesium-dependent protein serine/threonine phosphatase complex. The main functional categories of molecular function (MF) were related to protein serine kinase activity, on-membrane spanning protein tyrosine phosphatase activity, heme transmembrane transporter activity, flap endonuclease activity, and inositol 1,4,5 trisphosphate binding. GO enrichment terms of BP, CC, and MF for hnRNP E1 annotated genes are shown in **Figures 4A, C, E**. Based on the

KEGG pathway enrichment analysis, hnRNP E1_relevant genes were involved in the dopaminergic synapse, Wnt signaling pathway, gnRH secretion, mTOR signaling pathway, pathways of neurodegenerative diseases, sphingolipid signaling pathway, AMPK signaling pathway, proteoglycans in cancer, and longterm depression. (**Figure 4G**). The top 10 most enriched functions were obtained to construct a network (**Figures 4B, D, F, H**). It was worth noting that we found that hnRNP E1 relevant genes were enriched in HPV infection pathway. These results suggested that hnRNP E1 may play a key role in HPV-induced cervical lesions. Detailed information was listed in **Table S2**.





6. hnRNP E1 Inhibits Cervical Cancer Cell Proliferation *in Vitro*

To further explore the biological role of hnRNP E1 in cervical cancer, cultured SiHa, and C33A cell lines were transduced with hnRNP E1 overexpression plasmid or shRNA. OE indicates the hnRNP E1 overexpression group and NC-OE indicates the relative control group. KD indicates the hnRNP E1 knockdown group and NC-KD indicates the relative control group. Overexpression and knockdown efficiencies of hnRNP E1 were confirmed by RT-qPCR and western blotting (**Figure 5A**). As shown in **Figure 5B**, compared with the control group, overexpression of hnRNP E1 (OE) in SiHa and C33A cells resulted in decreased cell viability (NC-OE, P<0.05), and it was found that the inhibition rate of viability in hnRNP E1 overexpression was significantly higher than that of the control

cells after transfection ($0.36\% \pm 0.02\%$ vs. $0.05\% \pm 0.04\%$, *P*<0.05; 0.28% ± 0.03% vs. 0.10% ± 0.03%, *P*<0.05). Conversely, knockdown of hnRNP E1 in SiHa and C33A cells significantly promoted cell growth with an increase in the cell proliferation rate at 48 h after transfection ($0.23\% \pm 0.01\%$ vs. $0.03\% \pm 0.03\%$, *P*<0.05; 0.22% ± 0.02% vs.0.03% ± 0.02%, *P*<0.05).

Next, the cell cycles were analyzed by FCM. As shown in **Figure 5C**, overexpression of hnRNP E1 increased the percentage of G0/G1 phase cells in SiHa and C33A cells (77.33% \pm 1.00% vs. 69.38% \pm 1.09%, *P*<0.05; 69.31% \pm 0.90% vs.63.82% \pm 0.41%, *P*<0.05) and reduced the proportion of S/G2/M cells and PI (22.68% \pm 0.83% vs.30.62% \pm 1.09%, *P*<0.05; 30.73% \pm 0.87% vs.36.18% \pm 0.41%, *P*<0.05). Conversely, hnRNP E1 knockdown in SiHa and C33A cells markedly attenuated the percentage of G0/G1 cells (62.71% \pm 0.47% vs. 71.87% \pm 0.67%, *P*<0.05; 60.52% \pm 0.28%



FIGURE 5 | Effects of hnRNP E1 on cell biological function in cervical cancer cell lines. Note: OE indicates hnRNP E1 overexpression group and NC-OE indicates the relative control group. KD indicates hnRNP E1 knockdown group and NC-KD indicates the relative control group. P < 0.05. (A) Stably transfected hnRNP E1-modified cervical cancer cells were identified by RT-qPCR and western blotting. (B) hnRNP E1 overexpression strongly suppressed cell viabilities in SiHa and C33A cells. hnRNP E1 knockdown markedly enhanced cell viabilities in SiHa and C33A cells. (C) hnRNP E1 arrests the cell cycle from the G0/G1 to the S phase. (D) hnRNP E1 promotes cell apoptosis.

vs. 65.34% \pm 0.22%, P<0.05), but increased the proportion of S/G2/ M phase and PI $(37.20\% \pm 0.50\% \text{ vs. } 28.13\% \pm 0.67\%, P < 0.05;$ $40.32\% \pm 0.21\%$ vs. $34.63\% \pm 0.24\%$, P<0.05). These results suggest that hnRNP E1 affects cell cycle progression and G0/G1 phase arrest. Additionally, we compared the changes in cell cycles and proliferation index of SiHa and C33A cells modified by hnRNP E1 and found that the changes in PI in SiHa cells were higher than those in C33A cells (Figure S2A). To understand hnRNP E1induced cell apoptosis, we performed FCM on hnRNP E1intervened SiHa and C33A cell lines. These results indicated that the total apoptotic rate was significantly increased after the upregulation of hnRNP E1 in SiHa and C33A cell lines (11.81% \pm 0.77% vs. 5.52% \pm 0.11%, P<0.05; 7.57% \pm 0.53%, vs. 5.16% \pm 0.88%, P<0.05), as shown in Figure 5D. Conversely, knockdown of hnRNP E1 in SiHa and C33A cells considerably reduced the total apoptotic rate $(3.64\% \pm 0.95\% \text{ vs.} 6.33\% \pm 0.67\%, P < 0.05; 2.25\% \pm$ 0.27% vs.4.92% \pm 0.25%, P<0.05). These results were consistent with our work in this population and indicated that hnRNP E1 played a tumor suppressor role in cervical cancer. Furthermore, we analyzed changes in the apoptotic rate of SiHa and C33A cells modified by hnRNP E1 and found that the changes in the early and late apoptotic rate of SiHa cells were superior to those of C33A (Figure S2B).

7. hnRNP E1 Effects on HPV16 Oncogene and Subsequent Changes in Cell Biological Function

Our population-based study identified a negative correlation between hnRNP E1 and HPV16 E6 and a positive correlation between hnRNP E1 and HPV16 E2 protein expression. We confirmed that hnRNP E1 induced different biological changes in SiHa and C33A cells *in vitro*. Next, to test whether hnRNP E1 regulated HPV16 oncogene expression, HPV16 E2 and HPV16 E6 were assessed in SiHa cells. As shown in **Figure 6A**, hnRNP E1 overexpression downregulated HPV16 E6 expression at both the mRNA and protein levels but increased the ratio of HPV16 E2 to E6 at the mRNA level. Conversely, hnRNP E1 knockdown markedly enhanced HPV16 E6 expression at both the mRNA and protein levels but decreased the HPV16 E2 to E6 ratio at the mRNA level (**Figure 6A**).

We further analyzed the relationship between HPV16 E6 expression, cell proliferation, and apoptosis. The expression of HPV16 E2 and E6 were detected in SiHa cells by RT-qPCR and western blotting. The PI and total apoptosis rate were evaluated using FCM. Our results indicated that as HPV16 E6 expression decreased, the proliferation indices of SiHa cells were reduced (P<0.05), while the total apoptosis rate increased (P<0.05). Conversely, as HPV16 E6 expression increased, the PI of SiHa cells increased (P<0.05), while the total apoptosis rate was attenuated (P<0.05), especially in hnRNP E1-modified cells (**Figure 6B**). Taken together, these findings indicated that hnRNP E1 may act as a tumor suppressor by downregulating HPV16 E6 expression.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we reviewed and compared hnRNP E1 expression in participants with and without HPV and explored the relationship between hnRNP E1 expression levels and cervical lesion development. Mechanistically, hnRNP E1 expression may be a significant factor affecting HPV carcinogenicity by downregulating HPV16 oncogene expression and mitigating cancerization.

In the past decade, the contribution of HPV16 persistent infection to invasive cervical cancer has been well-documented (30).



and NC-OE indicates the relative control group. ND indicates the new Er knockdown group and NC-OE indicates the relative control group. P < 0.05. (A) the expression of HPV16 E2, and E6 were detected in SiHa cells by RT-qPCR and western blotting. (B) The relationship between HPV16 E6 expression, cell proliferation, and apoptosis in hnRNP E1-modified cells. The expression of HPV16 E2, and E6 were detected in SiHa cells by RT-qPCR and western blotting. The PI and total apoptosis rate were evaluated using flow cytometry analyses. As HPV16 E6 mRNA and protein expression levels decreased, the proliferation indices of SiHa cells decreased, while the total apoptosis rate increased. As HPV16 E6 expression increased, the proliferation indices of SiHa cells increased, while the total apoptosis rate decreased.

The HPV16 prevalence was 3.7% in women residing in Shanxi Province, which exceeded the national average (0.78%) in 2014 (31). We observed that HPV16 infection rates were 8.53%, 14.41%, 40.85%, and 67.50% in the NC, CIN I, CIN II/III, and SCC groups, respectively. This further corroborated that HPV16 infection is a crucial etiological factor for cervical lesions, especially CIN II/III and SCC. Therefore, it is essential to carry out HPV screening to prevent the occurrence and progression of cervical cancer. HPV16 E2 is crucial for transcriptional regulation, DNA replication, viral genome tethering, and viral DNA packaging (32). Xue et al. (33) found that E2 was highly expressed in CINI compared with that in CIN II/III through immunohistochemistry. The present study revealed that HPV16 E2 low expression was closely related to the development of cervical lesions, especially CIN II/III and SCC. HPV16 E6 is a multifunctional oncoprotein that mediates various biological events, such as promoting the degradation of p53, regulating the transcription of cell cycle-associated genes, activating telomerase, and contributing to immune response and cell communication (34, 35). Wang et al. (36) suggested that HPV16 E6 could promote the migration and invasion of cervical cancer cells. Our previous study combined with this study indicated that HPV16 E6 increases the risk of cervical cancerization (37). BPV E2 expression results in specific inhibition of HPV E6 gene expression in cells and considerable growth inhibition⁸. HPV16 DNA integration and virus E2 gene damage often occur in cervical carcinogenesis, suggesting that inactivation of the HPV E2 gene allows high expression of the E6 gene, which can promote the growth of cervical epithelial cells (38). Our study showed that the ratios of HPV16 E2 to E6 in CIN II/III and SCC groups were significantly lower than those in the NC and CIN I groups. This observation was supported by Choi et al. (39) who discovered that the mean HPV16 E2/E6 ratio decreased significantly following a linear trend from CIN II/III to SCC. The ratio of E2 to E6 may be a sign of cancer progression.

hnRNP E1 was downregulated in numerous tumors (40). Zhang et al. (14) reported that hnRNP E1 functions as a tumor suppressor in gastric cancer. The expression of hnRNP E1 and miRNA-3978 in peritoneal metastasis of gastric cancer was inhibited (15). Pillai et al. (20) discovered that hnRNP E1 expression decreased from 86% in CIN I to 68% in CIN II/III and 40% in cervical cancer. Pathak et al. (41) also found that hnRNP E1 expression decreased progressively from the normal cervix (100%) to squamous intraepithelial lesions (75%) and cervical cancer (52.6%). The present study showed that with the development of cervical lesions, hnRNP E1 expression decreased from NC to CIN and SCC. Although the survival analysis based on the TCGA database revealed a subtle prognosis value of hnRNP E1. These results indicated that low hnRNP E1 expression contributed to the risk of cervical lesions and promoted the progression of cervical cancerization. hnRNP E1 may be considered a biomarker for the early detection of cervical carcinogenesis.

To understand the binding capacity of hnRNP E1 at the genome-wide level, we conducted ChIP-seq in the untreated SiHa cell line. Our data further supported that hnRNP E1 relevant genes were associated with a series of GO terms related to cell proliferation, metabolism, and apoptosis. KEGG pathway enrichment analysis revealed that hnRNP E1 relevant genes were mainly involved in the Wnt signaling pathway, GnRH secretion, dopaminergic synapse, mTOR signaling pathway, pathways of neurodegeneration-multiple diseases, sphingolipid signaling pathway, and AMPK signaling pathway. The aberrant Wnt/ β -catenin, mTOR, and MAPK signaling pathways facilitate cancer cell proliferation and differentiation (42–44). GnRH is known primarily as a neuroendocrine decapeptide that is essential for maintaining the reproductive state (45). Most notably, we found that hnRNP E1 relevant genes were enriched in HPV infection pathway, although the effect was not significant. These results suggested that hnRNP E1 may play a key role in HPV-induced cervical lesions.

To better understand the biological mechanism of hnRNP E1 in cervical lesions, we performed in vitro plasmid transfection. Our results demonstrated that hnRNP E1 inhibited cervical cancer cell proliferation, promoted apoptosis, and arrested the cell cycle in the G0/G1 phase. In vitro research has shown that the deletion of hnRNP E1 reduced the expression of p27, a key regulator of the cell cycle, and promoted carcinogenesis (46). Overexpression of hnRNP E1 reduced the expression of p53 (47) and played a vital role in the cell's biological function and DNA damage response (48). In addition, we confirmed that hnRNP E1 induced different biological changes in SiHa and C33A cells in vitro. The changes in biological function in SiHa cells were greater than those in C33A cells. Given the key tumor-suppressive role of hnRNP E1 in cervical cancerization, it may have great therapeutic potential for cervical cancer. hnRNP E1 can inhibit the translation of HPV16 L2 mRNA in vitro (22). However, it remains unclear whether hnRNP E1 can regulate the HPV16 early gene. Our results demonstrated that hnRNP E1 was positively correlated with HPV16 E2 or E2/E6 ratio and negatively correlated with HPV16 E6. In addition, in vitro experiments verified that hnRNP E1 overexpression diminished the expression of HPV16 E6 but improved the ratio of HPV16 E2 to E6. In contrast, hnRNP E1 knockdown significantly increased HPV16 E6 expression but attenuated the ratio of HPV16 E2 to E6. The relationship between hnRNP E1 and HPV16 E2 protein in SiHa cells was not found in this study, which may be related to the fact that during HPV integration, E2 is destroyed in SiHa and may not produce functional E2 (49). E6 is one of the earliest-expressed genes following HPV infection, containing the selective binding site for hnRNP E1 (50). The KH domain in hnRNP E1 may reduce the expression of HPV16 E6 by binding with its regulatory element. Interestingly, our results showed that with a decrease in HPV16 E6 expression, the proliferation index of SiHa cells decreased, and the total apoptosis rate increased. Conversely, with the increase in HPV16 E6 expression, the proliferation indices of SiHa cells increased while the total apoptosis rate decreased, and this effect was more significant when hnRNP E1 was modified. Our findings suggest that HPV16 E6 low expression inhibits the proliferation and promotes cervical cancer cell apoptosis, and this effect may be regulated by hnRNP E1.

Our study does, however, have several limitations. First, our study was based on a cross-sectional study, prospective cohort studies can be conducted in the future to further explore the effect of hnRNP E1 on the prognosis of cervical lesions and HPV16 gene expression. Second, we only selected two cervical cancer cell lines for *in vitro* experiments, the conclusions will be further demonstrated in a variety of cervical cancer cell lines. Lastly, the *in vivo* effect of hnRNPE1 overexpression in the xenograft of cervical cancer cell lines was unclear, future relevant animal experiments will need to be done.

In conclusion, our study indicated that abnormally low expression of hnRNP E1 could promote cervical lesion development and was closely linked with HPV16 E2, E6 expression, and the E2 to E6 ratio. hnRNP E1 suppresses tumor growth *in vitro* by inhibiting proliferation and promoting apoptosis. hnRNP E1 relevant genes were significantly enriched in cervical cancer-related pathways. Moreover, hnRNP E1 significantly downregulated the expression of HPV16 E6. Upregulating hnRNP E1, particularly incorporating the control patterns of HPV16 infection, may offer advances in the control of cervical cancer. Owing to the complexity of HPV gene expression and post-transcriptional regulation, in-depth studies are needed to understand the underlying mechanisms of hnRNP E1.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: GEO with accession GSE203023: (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/acc.cgi? acc=GSE203023).

REFERENCES

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA Cancer J Clin (2021) 71(3):209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660
- Cao W, Chen HD, Yu YW, Li N, Chen WQ. Changing Profiles of Cancer Burden Worldwide and in China: A Secondary Analysis of the Global Cancer Statistics 2020. (*Engl*) (2021) 134(7):783–91. doi: 10.1097/cm9.000000000001474
- Ma ZH, Gao QS, Cao L, Wang XZ, Guo XR, Wang XC, et al. Analysis of Cancer Incidence and Mortality in Registration Areas of Shanxi Province in 2014. *Cancer Res Clinic Cancer Res Clinic (in Chinese)* (2020) 32(3):186–91. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn115355-20191030-00492
- Gu XY, Zheng RS, Sun KX, Zhang SW, Zeng HM, Zou XN, et al. Incidence and Mortality of Cervical Cancer in China, 2014. *Chin J Oncology (in Chinese)* (2018) 040(004):241–6. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0253-3766.2018.04.001
- Xu HH, Wang K, Feng XJ, Dong SS, Lin A, Zheng LZ, et al. Prevalence of Human Papillomavirus Genotypes and Relative Risk of Cervical Cancer in China: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Oncotarget* (2018) 9 (20):15386–97. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24169
- 6. Luria L, Cardoza-Favarato G. *Human Papillomavirus*. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL: StatPearls Publishing Copyright © 2022, StatPearls Publishing LLC (2022).
- Graham SV. Human Papillomavirus E2 Protein: Linking Replication, Transcription, and RNA Processing. J Virol (2016) 90(19):8384–8. doi: 10.1128/jvi.00502-16

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the institutional review committee of Shanxi Medical University (2013–003). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JTW conceived the project. RM, LD, and ZT designed the experiments. MZ and JHW performed the experiments. MW and YL contributed reagents, materials, and analysis tools. CL, MF, and HJ integrated, analyzed, and interpreted all data. JTW contributed to the supervision of the work. LS wrote the manuscript with the assistance and final approval of all authors.

FUNDING

This subject is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81872705, No. 81473060), the National Health and Family Planning Commission of the People's Republic of China (No. 201402010), and the Fundamental Research Program of Shanxi Province (No.202103021224354).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2022.905900/ full#supplementary-material

- Taghizadeh E, Jahangiri S, Rostami D, Taheri F, Renani PG, Taghizadeh H, et al. Roles of E6 and E7 Human Papillomavirus Proteins in Molecular Pathogenesis of Cervical Cancer. *Curr Protein Pept Sci* (2019) 20(9):926–34. doi: 10.2174/1389203720666190618101441
- Balasubramaniam SD, Balakrishnan V, Oon CE, Kaur G. Key Molecular Events in Cervical Cancer Development. *Medicina (Kaunas)* (2019) 55 (7):384–96. doi: 10.3390/medicina55070384
- Kajitani N, Schwartz S. Role of Viral Ribonucleoproteins in Human Papillomavirus Type 16 Gene Expression. Viruses (2020) 12(10):1110–39. doi: 10.3390/v12101110
- Geuens T, Bouhy D, Timmerman V. The hnRNP Family: Insights Into Their Role in Health and Disease. *Hum Genet* (2016) 135(8):851–67. doi: 10.1007/ s00439-016-1683-5
- 12. Valverde R, Edwards L, Regan L. Structure and Function of KH Domains. FEBS J (2008) 275(11):2712–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008.06411.x
- Johansson C, Schwartz S. Regulation of Human Papillomavirus Gene Expression by Splicing and Polyadenylation. Nat Rev Microbiol (2013) 11 (4):239–51. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2984
- Zhang Y, Meng L, Xiao L, Liu R, Li Z, Wang YL. The RNA-Binding Protein PCBP1 Functions as a Tumor Suppressor in Prostate Cancer by Inhibiting Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase 1. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2018) 48(4):1747– 54. doi: 10.1159/000492315
- Ji FJ, Wu YY, An Z, Liu XS, Jiang JN, Chen FF, et al. Expression of Both Poly R (C) Binding Protein 1 (PCBP1) and miRNA-3978 Is Suppressed in Peritoneal Gastric Cancer Metastasis. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):15488. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15448-9

- Huang S, Luo K, Jiang L, Zhang XD, Lv YH, Li RF. PCBP1 Regulates the Transcription and Alternative Splicing of Metastasis–Related Genes and Pathways in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Sci Rep* (2021) 11(1):23356. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-02642-z
- Jiang P, Li Z, Tian F, Li X, Yang J. Fyn/heterogeneous Nuclear Ribonucleoprotein E1 Signaling Regulates Pancreatic Cancer Metastasis by Affecting the Alternative Splicing of Integrin β1. *Int J Oncol* (2017) 51(1):169– 83. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2017.4018
- Liu Y, Sethi NS, Hinoue T, Schneider BG, Cherniack AD, Sanchez-Vega F, et al. Comparative Molecular Analysis of Gastrointestinal Adenocarcinomas. *Cancer Cell* (2018) 33(4):721–735.e728. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.03.010
- Zhang MP, Zhang WS, Tan J, Zhao MH, Lian LJ, Cai J. Poly R(C) Binding Protein (PCBP) 1 Expression is Regulated at the Post-Translation Level in Thyroid Carcinoma. Am J Transl Res (2017) 9(2):708–14. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph181910369
- 20. Pillai MR, Chacko P, Kesari LA, Jayaprakash PG, Jayaram HN, Antony AC. Expression of Folate Receptors and Heterogeneous Nuclear Ribonucleoprotein E1 in Women With Human Papillomavirus Mediated Transformation of Cervical Tissue to Cancer. J Clin Pathol (2003) 56(8):569–74. doi: 10.1136/jcp.56.8.569
- Yang Q. Relationship Between hnRNP K and Cervical Carcinogenesis and Analysis of Whole Genomic Binding and Function of hnRNP K in Siha Cell (in Chinese) [D]. Taiyuan, Shanxi: Shanxi Medical University (2018).
- 22. Collier B, Goobar-Larsson L, Sokolowski M, Schwartz S. Translational Inhibition *In Vitro* of Human Papillomavirus Type 16 L2 mRNA Mediated Through Interaction With Heterogenous Ribonucleoprotein K and Poly(Rc)-Binding Proteins 1 and 2. *J Biol Chem* (1998) 273(35):22648–56. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.273.35.22648
- Lyu YJ, Ding L, Li QL, Li L, Wang M, Han Y, et al. Effects of hnRNP E1 and Both Early Genes E2 and E6 of HPV16 Together With Their Interactions on Cervical Carcinogenesis. *Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi* (2019) 40 (4):466–70. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2019.04.018
- 24. Li X, Ding L, Song L, Gao W, Wang L, Wang J. Effects of Exposure to Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons Combined With High-Risk Human Papillomavirus Infection on Cervical Intraepithelial Neoplasia: A Population Study in Shanxi Province, China. Int J Cancer (2020) 146 (9):2406–12. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32562
- 25. Song L, Lyu Y, Ding L, Li X, Gao W, Wang M, et al. Prevalence and Genotype Distribution of High-Risk Human Papillomavirus Infection in Women With Abnormal Cervical Cytology: A Population-Based Study in Shanxi Province, China. *Cancer Manag Res* (2020) 12:12583–91. doi: 10.2147/cmar.S269050
- Li R, Li Y, Kristiansen K, Wang J. SOAP: Short Oligonucleotide Alignment Program. *Bioinformatics* (2008) 24(5):713–4. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btn025
- Zhang Y, Liu T, Meyer CA, Eeckhoute J, Johnson DS, Bernstein BE, et al. Model-Based Analysis of ChIP-Seq (MACS). *Genome Biol* (2008) 9(9):R137. doi: 10.1186/gb-2008-9-9-r137
- Gene Ontology Consortium. Gene Ontology Consortium: Going Forward. Nucleic Acids Res (2015) 43:D1049–56. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku1179
- Kanehisa M, Goto S. KEGG: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes. Nucleic Acids Res (2000) 28(1):27–30. doi: 10.1093/nar/28.1.27
- Comprehensive Cancer Information National Cancer Institute . Available at: https://www.cancer.gov/.
- Xu MY, Cao B, Chen Y, Du J, Yin J, Liu L, et al. Prevalence and Type Distribution of Human Papillomavirus in a Chinese Urban Population Between 2014 and 2018: A Retrospective Study. *PeerJ* (2020) 8:e8709. doi: 10.7717/peerj.8709
- McBride AA. The Papillomavirus E2 Proteins. Virology (2013) 445(1-2):57– 79. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.06.006
- 33. Xue Y, Bellanger S, Zhang W, Lim D, Low J, Lunny D, et al. HPV16 E2 is an Immediate Early Marker of Viral Infection, Preceding E7 Expression in Precursor Structures of Cervical Carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70 (13):5316–25. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-09-3789
- Wallace NA, Galloway DA. Novel Functions of the Human Papillomavirus E6 Oncoproteins. Annu Rev Virol (2015) 2(1):403–23. doi: 10.1146/annurevvirology-100114-055021
- 35. Aco-Tlachi M, Carreño-López R, Martínez-Morales PL, Maycotte P, Aguilar-Lemarroy A, Jave-Suárez LF, et al. Glycogene Expression Profiles Based on Microarray Data From Cervical Carcinoma HeLa Cells With Partially Silenced E6 and E7 HPV Oncogenes. *Infect Agent Cancer* (2018) 13:25–36. doi: 10.1186/s13027-018-0197-2

- Wang Q, Song R, Zhao C, Liu H, Yang Y, Gu S, et al. HPV16 E6 Promotes Cervical Cancer Cell Migration and Invasion by Downregulation of NHERF1. *Int J Cancer* (2019) 144(7):1619–32. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31876
- 37. Wang JT, Ding L, Gao ES, Cheng YY. Analysis on the Expression of Human Papillomavirus Type 16 E2 and E6 Oncogenes and Disruption of E2 in Cervical Cancer. *Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi* (2007) 28(10):968–71. doi: 10.3760/j.issn:0254-6450.2007.10.008
- Cripe TP, Haugen TH, Turk JP, Tabatabai F, Schmid PG3rd, Dürst M, et al. Transcriptional Regulation of the Human Papillomavirus-16 E6-E7 Promoter by a Keratinocyte-Dependent Enhancer, and by Viral E2 Trans-Activator and Repressor Gene Products: Implications for Cervical Carcinogenesis. *EMBO J* (1987) 6(12):3745–53. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1987.tb02709.x
- 39. Choi YJ, Lee A, Kim TJ, Jin HT, Seo YB, Park JS, et al. E2/E6 Ratio and L1 Immunoreactivity as Biomarkers to Determine HPV16-Positive High-Grade Squamous Intraepithelial Lesions (CIN2 and 3) and Cervical Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J Gynecol Oncol (2018) 29(3):e38. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2018.29.e38
- Zhang X, Di C, Chen Y, Wang J, Su R, Huang G, et al. Multilevel Regulation and Molecular Mechanism of Poly (Rc)-Binding Protein 1 in Cancer. FASEB J (2020) 34(12):15647–58. doi: 10.1096/fj.202000911R
- Pathak S, Bajpai D, Banerjee A, Bhatla N, Jain SK, Jayaram HN, et al. Serum One-Carbon Metabolites and Risk of Cervical Cancer. *Nutr Cancer* (2014) 66 (5):818–24. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2014.916318
- Zhang Y, Wang X. Targeting the Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway in Cancer. J Hematol Oncol (2020) 13(1):165. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00990-3
- 43. Che Y, Li Y, Zheng F, Zou K, Li Z, Chen M, et al. TRIP4 Promotes Tumor Growth and Metastasis and Regulates Radiosensitivity of Cervical Cancer by Activating MAPK, PI3K/AKT, and hTERT Signaling. *Cancer Lett* (2019) 452:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.03.017
- Popova NV, Jücker M. The Role of mTOR Signaling as a Therapeutic Target in Cancer. Int J Mol Sci (2021) 22(4):1743–69. doi: 10.3390/ijms22041743
- Whitlock KE, Postlethwait J, Ewer J. Neuroendocrinology of Reproduction: Is Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone (GnRH) Dispensable? Front Neuroendocrinol (2019) 53:100738. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2019.02.002
- 46. Shi H, Li H, Yuan R, Guan W, Zhang X, Zhang S, et al. PCBP1 Depletion Promotes Tumorigenesis Through Attenuation of P27(Kip1) mRNA Stability and Translation. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 37(1):187. doi: 10.1186/s13046-018-0840-1
- Huo LR, Zhong N. Identification of Transcripts and Translatants Targeted by Overexpressed PCBP1. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2008) 1784(11):1524–33. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.06.017
- Wawryk-Gawda E, Chylińska-Wrzos P, Lis-Sochocka M, Chłapek K, Bulak K, Jędrych M, et al. P53 Protein in Proliferation, Repair and Apoptosis of Cells. *Protoplasma* (2014) 251(3):525–33. doi: 10.1007/s00709-013-0548-1
- Raybould R, Fiander A, Wilkinson GW, Hibbitts S. HPV Integration Detection in CaSki and SiHa Using Detection of Integrated Papillomavirus Sequences and Restriction-Site PCR. J Virol Methods (2014) 206:51–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2014.05.017
- Tungteakkhun SS, Duerksen-Hughes PJ. Cellular Binding Partners of the Human Papillomavirus E6 Protein. Arch Virol (2008) 153(3):397–408. doi: 10.1007/s00705-007-0022-5

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Song, Mao, Ding, Tian, Zhang, Wang, Wang, Lyu, Liu, Feng, Jia and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Bohan Li, Beijing Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital, Capital Medical University, China

REVIEWED BY

Yugang Liu, Northwestern University, United States Weimin Kong, Beijing Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital, Capital Medical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Claire Elizabeth Henry claire.henry@otago.ac.nz

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 22 June 2022 ACCEPTED 04 August 2022 PUBLISHED 22 August 2022

CITATION

van der Woude H, Hally KE, Currie MJ, Gasser O and Henry CE (2022) Importance of the endometrial immune environment in endometrial cancer and associated therapies. *Front. Oncol.* 12:975201. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.975201

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 van der Woude, Hally, Currie, Gasser and Henry. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Importance of the endometrial immune environment in endometrial cancer and associated therapies

Hannah van der Woude¹, Kathryn Elizabeth Hally², Margaret Jane Currie³, Olivier Gasser⁴ and Claire Elizabeth Henry^{1*}

¹Department of Obstetrics, Gynaecology and Women's Health, University of Otago, Wellington, New Zealand, ²Department of Surgery and Anesthesia, University of Otago, Wellington, New Zealand, ³Department of Pathology and Biomedical Science, University of Otago, Christchurch, New Zealand, ⁴Malaghan Institute of Medical Research, Wellington, New Zealand

Endometrial cancer is rising in prevalence. The standard treatment modality of hysterectomy is becoming increasingly inadequate due primarily to the direct link between endometrial cancer and high BMI which increases surgical risks. This is an immunogenic cancer, with unique molecular subtypes associated with differential immune infiltration. Despite the immunogenicity of endometrial cancer, there is limited pre-clinical and clinical evidence of the function of immune cells in both the normal and cancerous endometrium. Immune checkpoint inhibitors for endometrial cancer are the most well studied type of immune therapy but these are not currently used as standard-of-care and importantly, they represent only one method of immune manipulation. There is limited evidence regarding the use of other immunotherapies as surgical adjuvants or alternatives. Levonorgestrel-loaded intra-uterine systems can also be effective for early-stage disease, but with varying success. There is currently no known reason as to what predisposes some patients to respond while others do not. As hormones can directly influence immune cell function, it is worth investigating the immune compartment in this context. This review assesses the immunological components of the endometrium and describes how the immune microenvironment changes with hormones, obesity, and in progression to malignancy. It also describes the importance of investigating novel pathways for immunotherapy.

KEYWORDS

endometrial cancer, immunotherapy, microenvironment, adiposity, levonorgestrel

Introduction

Endometrial cancer (EC), or cancer originating in the uterine epithelium, is the most prevalent gynecological cancer in the developed world (1, 2). Rates of EC are rising, and prevalence is increasing in younger people. This is due, in part, to the rise in obesity; increased adiposity raises estrogen production and adipokine release which results in an oncogenic signal, stimulating endometrial cell proliferation (3). The predominant treatment for EC is hysterectomy which sometimes includes bilateral salpingo oophorectomy and pelvic lymph node dissection. Late-stage disease can also receive adjuvant chemotherapy or radiation. While this treatment pathway is effective, hysterectomy is an invasive procedure for early-stage disease which removes the fertility of the patient and is high-risk for those with a high body mass index (BMI). The use of the levonorgestrel-loaded intra-uterine system (LNG-IUS) circumvents these issues in patients who respond, however, response rates to LNG-IUS treatment for EC are as low as 40% (4). In EC, as with many cancers, the tumor microenvironment plays a significant role in cancer progression and response to therapy. This includes both the interaction between the tumor and stroma and the interaction between the tumor and infiltrating immune cells. Immune cells in the normal endometrium play important roles in protection from external pathogens, aiding fertilization, and tolerance and maintenance of pregnancy. Significant infiltration of immune cells characterize certain subtypes of EC, suggesting that immunotherapies may be effective as therapeutic alternatives or adjuvants to surgery in a subgroup of patients. As such, the literature examining the immunological tumor microenvironment (iTME) of EC has focused on the potential for specific EC subtypes to respond to immunotherapy. Within this literature, emphasis has been placed on examining immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI). However, ICI success is variable and most ICIs for treatment of EC are still in clinical trial stage. A summary of this literature has been recently reviewed by Cao et al. (5). Investigating alternative methods of immunomodulation could increase the scope of therapies available, making personalized treatment for EC more feasible. A more holistic understanding of the composition of ECinfiltrating immune cells and their function within the iTME is warranted and could provide evidential support for the use of other types of immunotherapies in this context. Here, we aim to review the evidence describing the iTME of EC and how this may be influenced by increasing adiposity, discuss the successes and pitfalls of immunotherapies for EC treatment, and provide recommendations to fill the knowledge gaps that exist within this body of literature.

Endometrial cancer classification

The pathogenesis of EC is the over-proliferation of endometrial glands resulting in an abnormal gland-to-stroma ratio (6). Currently, diagnosis and classification of EC is based largely on the histological phenotype of the tumor cells biopsied by pipelle or curettage and, following surgical intervention, on the primary tumor. Histological subtypes include endometrioid, clear cell, serous, and mucinous. Endometrioid endometrial carcinoma (EEC) is the most common subtype, accounting for between 75 – 90% of cases (7, 8). EEC is strongly associated with prolonged estrogen exposure and has the best prognosis due to its often early presentation with abnormal bleeding (9). Serous carcinomas contribute to approximately 10% of EC cases (10), whereas clear cell and mucinous endometrial carcinomas are rare, collectively contributing to less than 5% (9).

In addition to histological grading, The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) categorized EC into four prognostically distinct molecular subtypes using whole genome sequencing, irrespective of histology (11). These are: microsatellite instability high (MSI-H), DNA polymerase ¢ (POLE) mutated, copy number low, and copy number high (11). POLE mutated tumors have the highest progression-free survival rates, while copy number low and MSI-H tumors are intermediate risk and copy number high tumors have the poorest prognosis (11). Diagnostic testing must be resource, time and cost-effective, and whole genome sequencing does not fall into these parameters. To combat this, Talhouk et al. extrapolated TCGA classifications into groups that are defined using a combination of immunohistochemistry (IHC) markers and targeted DNA sequencing, creating a 'proactive molecular risk classifier for endometrial cancer', or ProMisE (12). The four molecular subtypes thus became: mismatch repair deficient (MMRd), POLE exonuclease domain mutant (POLEmut), p53 wild type/nonspecific molecular profile (NSMP), and p53 abnormal (p53abn). Since their conception, validation and confirmation of the ProMisE molecular subtypes has been conducted to identify whether these subtypes have different therapeutic outcomes. This topic has been recently comprehensively reviewed by Mitric and Bernardini (13). For example, the PORTEC3 clinical trial investigated the benefit of adjuvant combined chemotherapy and radiotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone in patients with high grade and/or stage endometrial cancer (14). Subsequent analysis separated trial participants into molecular subtype based on the ProMisE guidelines (12) and found a significant benefit for patients with p53abn tumors receiving combined chemoradiotherapy compared to chemotherapy alone (P = 0.019) (15). Furthermore, those with POLEmut EC had an excellent recurrence free survival regardless of treatment (15).

Immunity in the normal endometrium

To better understand the immunological characteristics of EC, it is important to contextualize the role of immune cells within the homeostatic immune interactions of the normal endometrium. The healthy endometrial immune environment is characterized by cyclic shifts in immune cell proportions and functionality due to hormonal changes throughout the menstrual cycle and its direct exposure to environmental pathogens and the uterine microbiota. Local immune cells protect against pathogens and support endometrial remodeling during menstruation, conception, and pregnancy (16). Reproductive hormones are likely to be the dominant factor driving immunoregulation in the endometrium, as these hormones generally induce immunological suppression to facilitate conception. This idea has been reviewed extensively elsewhere (17). In non-immune cells, the estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) are intracellularly located and function as transcription factors. While expression of ER by immune subsets is widely accepted (18, 19), the exact mechanism of progesterone immunomodulation is not fully understood. Early studies of endometrial-derived immune cells show no overlap of CD45 and PR expression (20-22), and RNA sequencing has found no detectable nuclear PR expression in T cells (23). Notwithstanding, progesterone demonstrably influences T cell function, observed by a decrease in T cell expression of the inflammatory cytokines interferon-y (IFN- γ), and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), and an increase in expression of the regulatory cytokine IL-4 (23). Progesterone also hinders T cell proliferation and activation (24). T cell-intrinsic expression of PR therefore remains the prevailing paradigm (25-28). Alternative mechanisms of progesterone signaling include membrane progesterone receptors, indirect signaling via stromal cells, and signaling via the glucocorticoid receptor (23, 29-31).

Progesterone, which begins to increase following ovulation (Figure 1), exerts immunosuppressive activity through intrinsic and extrinsic mechanisms to regulate immune cell function and trafficking, respectively (24, 32). For example, the release of the cytolytic molecule, perforin, from CD56⁺ cells is inhibited by progesterone (32). Additionally, the declining levels of progesterone towards the late-secretory phase triggers a proinflammatory signaling cascade which leads to macrophage and neutrophil recruitment and the release of degradative enzymes required for menstruation. The resulting sterile inflammation and tissue remodeling processes, triggered during the decline of progesterone, are tightly regulated to promote scarless healing (33, 34). The environment then switches from pro- to antiinflammatory as the cycle continues (35-37). There is also evidence suggesting that the uterine microbiota may play a role in immune regulation (38).

Pre-menopause, the proportion of immune cells within the endometrium fluctuates with the menstrual cycle, which has led to variable reports of immune cell distribution. The proportion of T cells is higher in the proliferative, compared to the secretory, phase (39). This is likely due to a large increase in NK cell numbers (40) rather than a decrease in T cell numbers, as absolute T cell counts are stable throughout the menstrual cycle (16, 41). Post-menopausal uteri have similar T cell proportions to those in the proliferative phase but contain a higher proportion of granulocytes (39), potentially as a result of endometrial atrophy characteristic of menopausal uteri. T cells are the dominant immune cell subset throughout the female reproductive tract, including the endometrium, where they represent 1-5% of all endometrial tissue cells (39, 42) and 40-80% of CD45⁺ immune cells, depending on menstrual cycle stage (39, 43) (Figure 2). In addition to residing within the epithelium and being scattered amongst stromal cells, endometrial immune cells form lymphoid aggregates (LAs).





LAs are comprised of a B cell core surrounded by CD8⁺ T cells, which are themselves surrounded by macrophages and some NK cells (44). LAs begin to develop during the end of the proliferative phase, becoming larger during the secretory phase, and are absent post-menopause (45). While the existence of LAs is well established in early research (44-47), recent research confirming their existence is lacking, and their function remains unclear. The majority of endometrial T cells express the co-receptor CD8, which is likely due to the prominence of CD8⁺ T cells within LAs (44, 48, 49). However, the effector functions of endometrial CD8⁺ T cells may extend beyond their traditional function of cytotoxicity, as reflected by the functional plasticity displayed by decidual CD8⁺ T cells during pregnancy (50). Moreover, CD3⁺ T cells obtained from the endometrium during the secretory phase exhibit limited cytotoxic capacity compared to those obtained during the proliferative phase (51). This suggests that the LAs, which develop during the secretory phase, play a regulatory role that coincides with potential blastocyst implantation. It has also been postulated that the presence of LAs in the basalis stroma, an inner portion of the endometrium that is not shed during menstruation, is a means of maintaining immune presence during menstruation (52). This would allow the immune system to quickly re-infiltrate the regenerating endometrium post-menstruation.

Endometrial T cells also include a significant proportion of CD4⁺ T cells, at approximately 40% of T cells (40). CD4⁺ T cells, also known as helper T cells, play an integral role in the immune response by activating other effector cells such as macrophages, CD8⁺ T cells and B cells (53). The function of endometrial CD4⁺ T cells is less well established than their CD8⁺ counterparts, however the balance of the CD4⁺ T cell subsets Th1/Th2/Th17/ Treg appears to be important in maintaining pregnancy (54), and this balance must be present prior to conception (55). For

example, the pre-pregnant and pregnant endometrium is more inclined towards a Th1 phenotype than a Th2 phenotype (55), and a decrease in the proportion of Th1 CD4⁺ T cells in the endometrium could lead to recurrent miscarriage (56). Also present in the endometrium are $\gamma \delta^+$ and CD3⁺CD56⁺ T cells (40), referred to as innate-like T cells due to their non-specific nature and functional similarity to components of the innate immune system (57). These cells may provide additional regulatory tone. Additionally, decidual CD3⁻CD56⁺ NK cells express high levels of CD56 (58). There is a significant increase in CD56^{bright} cells during the periovulatory period, which is thought to occur through NK cell trafficking from peripheral lymphoid tissues, as well as proliferation in the uterine mucosa (59, 60). As CD56^{bright} NK cells are believed to represent the immature and regulatory precursors of their cytotoxic CD56^{dim} counterparts (61), it is likely that the endometrial NK cell compartment favors cytokine production and regulatory functions over cytotoxicity. Increasing levels of estrogen and luteinizing hormone prior to ovulation increases adhesion of natural killer (NK) cells in the uterus (59). This is also thought to be a necessary precursor to successful pregnancy, as these decidual NK cells play important roles in tissue remodeling, embryonic development, trophoblast invasion and placentation, and are seldom cytotoxic unless primed by pathogens (62).

The phagocytic cells of the innate immune system – granulocytes, monocytes and macrophages, collectively make up 25% of the CD45⁺ endometrial immune milieu, whereas B cells are comparably rare regardless of hormonal cycle stage, at no more than 5% (17, 39, 43, 63). Endometrial B cells exist primarily within LAs, but have also been detected in the stroma (45, 64). The function of B cells within the endometrium is not well established, as was concluded in a systematic review by Shen et al. (63). However, it is possible that the B cells within LAs function as well-placed antigen presenting cells to the

surrounding T cells, as they express activation markers such as CD69, HLA-DR and CD83 to a higher degree than their peripherally derived counterparts (65). Over 70% of CD68⁺ endometrial macrophages are alternatively activated, identified by co-expression of CD163 (66). Alternatively activated macrophages, otherwise known as M2 macrophages, traditionally express anti-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-10 and participate in wound healing and tissue re-modeling (67). Major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-II, CD80 and CD86 expression on endometrial macrophages is low (66). As these proteins are involved in antigen presentation to CD4⁺ T cells, it is possible that endometrial macrophages have limited capacity to stimulate a CD4⁺ T cell response.

Collectively, our current understanding suggests that the healthy endometrium is biased towards a regulatory immune environment, while retaining the capacity to rapidly switch to traditional immune defense mechanisms due to the presence of classical type 1 effector cells. However, the majority of research on the immunological state of the normal, non-pregnant endometrium was conducted over 20 years ago, leaving room for confirmation of these findings with present-day technologies.

Immunity in the cancerous endometrium

The relevance of the iTME for EC diagnosis and treatment is highlighted by the fact that EC molecular subtypes differ both in their tumor-infiltrating immune cell density and prognosis. CD8⁺ T cell infiltrates generally indicate a good prognosis (68-70), and advanced stage ECs have lower T cell density (71). The working hypothesis to support this finding is that tumors with fewer somatic mutations produce lower levels of immunogenic antigens. As such, these tumors can avoid detection by cytotoxic T cells and are more likely to advance to a late stage (72). Indeed, copy number low EC tumors have the second highest mortality rate (73). The correlations between molecular subtype and tumor-infiltrating immune cell abundance and phenotype have been investigated using IHC. A high proportion of CD8⁺ T cells in POLEmut and MMRd tumors was discovered, with most expressing the immunological checkpoint molecule, programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) (74). The binding of the PD-1 ligand, PD-L1, to PD-1 restricts T cell function, and is a key mechanism of immune tolerance in cancer (75). As such, high PD-1 expression by tumor-infiltrating T cells is a target for PD-1 inhibition by immune checkpoint inhibitors. Effective inhibition of PD-1 prevents the binding of PD-L1, ameliorating immune tolerance by the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway and elevating T cell efficacy (76). The PD-1/PD-L1 pathway is discussed in more detail in the section on targeting the immune microenvironment further on in this review.

The abundance of tumor-infiltrating immune cells in POLEmut and MMRd subtypes has been validated by multiple studies (74, 77, 78) and is likely to contribute to the comparatively high survival rates of these subtypes as well as their clinical responsiveness to immunotherapy. Indeed, MMRd tumors had significantly higher CD3⁺ cells expressing both PD-1 and PD-L1 compared to both NSMP and p53abn subtypes (79). While the advantage of PD-1 inhibition in high PD-1 expressing T cells is clear, the advantage of PD-L1 expression on T cells is more enigmatic. Recent evidence has elucidated a bi-directional role of PD-L1 expressed by tumor-associated T cells whereby it can act as both ligand and receptor. This gives T cells the ability to induce immunosuppressive phenotypes in other immune infiltrates such as macrophages, while also repressing its own differentiation into an effective anti-tumor cell (80). Furthermore, the tumor itself can induce T cell PD-L1 expression to enhance immune tolerance (80).

Tumor-infiltrating immune cells have been implicated as prognostic indicators in a range of cancers including melanoma, endometrial, ovarian, and colorectal cancer (81-83), and are positively associated with EC disease severity (77). The prognostic ability of an increase in particular immune subsets is less clear. For example, the number of regulatory T-cells (Treg) is both positively and negatively associated with overall survival in NSMP (84) and p53abn EC (77), respectively, suggesting a potential molecular subtype-specific role for these T cells. In parallel to significant T cell infiltration, EC is also characterized by an influx of CD3⁻CD56⁺ NK cells in tumor tissue compared to non-tumor tissue (85). Tumor-resident NK cells, as identified by the expression of CD103, have attenuated functionality as they express the inhibitory molecules TIGIT (T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains) and TIM-3 (T cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain contaoining-3) (85). It is not known whether inhibitory signals from the tumor are causing this effect, or whether the cells are exhausted by other means, but it is likely that the result is immune tolerance of the cancer.

Tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) are a diverse subgroup of tumor-infiltrating immune cells derived from monocytes with traditionally cytotoxic and phagocytic attributes (86), but have also been implicated in cancer tolerance (87). It is therefore important to distinguish cancer tolerant TAMs from cancer intolerant TAMs to determine their prognostic significance. However, doing so is not simple. TAMs are traditionally defined as either M1 or M2, which represent the extremes of macrophages functional state - pro-inflammatory and regulatory, respectively. Importantly, these states are not mutually exclusive and as such this dichotomous nomenclature paradigm is beginning to shift to include additional (sub) categories of macrophage activation states (88). In EC, increased total TAM count, identified by positive IHC staining for CD68, was observed in both tumor and stromal tissues collected from EC patients compared to controls of benign

pathology (89). However, there was no significant correlation between TAM density and cancer progression, so it remains unclear whether measuring TAM density in EC has any clinical or prognostic implications. Further investigation using IHC identified an increasing density of macrophages in the stromal compartment of EC as the severity of the disease increased, with fewer macrophages in the EC precursor endometrial hyperplasia, and the highest density observed in nonendometrioid EC, which tend to be more aggressive than EEC (90). However, the density of TAMs expressing CD163, a marker of M2 macrophages, was similar across EC histologies (90), suggesting that TAM infiltration in more aggressive EC tumors is predominantly comprised of the pro-inflammatory M1-like subtype. Conversely, co-culture of EC cell line-derived exosomes with a monocyte cell line can induce an M2-like macrophage phenotype (91), suggesting that tumor cells can polarize macrophages towards immune tolerance. Taken together, these data provide some evidence of the state and function of TAMs in EC but further investigation is warranted.

EC does not seem to be heavily infiltrated by B cells (74), but their role in EC disease progression warrants further investigation in light of recently described antigenindependent mechanisms (92). Specifically, the binding of dimeric IgA, but not monomeric IgG, to the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (pIgR) initiates cell-intrinsic inflammatory, endoplasmic reticulum stress and pro-apoptotic pathways, thereby leading to improved patient survival. Albeit antigen-independent, this mechanism is of broad relevance to EC, and pIgR is quasi-universally expressed in EC cells. Additionally, tertiary lymphoid structures (TLS) are a major source of B cells in EC (93). TLS are similar to LAs in that they are comprised of a B cell core surrounded by T cells. They may play an important role in EC protection, as their absence is related to more progressive disease (93).

In summary, the iTME of EC is characterized by the infiltration of innate and adaptive immune cell subsets with anti-tumoral activity, and the molecular subtype of the cancer affects the immune infiltration. However, the literature is skewed towards describing the role of T cells in this context. Since the cytotoxic capacity of tumor-resident CD8⁺ cells is actively restricted by the iTME (94), the quantification of T cell subset or NK cell density is only meaningful if paired with established functional markers such as PD-1, TIM-3 or CD163. Furthermore, alongside the quantification of effector cells, it is important to consider the influence of regulatory immune cell subsets such as Tregs (95) and myeloid derived suppressor cells (96) on effector cell function. Pairing functional markers and regulatory immune subsets with immune cell density would give a more accurate picture of the interactions within the iTME, and thus would allow researchers to develop tools that work specifically to reduce the capacity of those that are advantageous to cancer progression.

Hormone therapy in endometrial cancer

Endometrial cancer is commonly described as a hormonedriven cancer. This refers primarily to the most common subtype, EEC. As mentioned previously, prolonged exposure to high levels of bioavailable estrogen is the main driver of this histological subtype. The natural antagonist of estrogen is progesterone. This has prompted the use of levonorgestrel (LNG), a synthetic progestogen, as a novel treatment for earlystage EEC. While LNG administration is hormonal therapy, it is important to consider the immunological side-effects of such treatment, whether beneficial or detrimental. LNG activates the PR, binding with three times more affinity than natural progesterone (97). As discussed previously, the presence of PR in immune subsets is yet to be unequivocally determined. It is therefore important to note that LNG has an over 40-fold higher affinity to PR as compared to the glucocorticoid receptor (97) and would thus work more effectively on PR-expressing cells. The antagonistic effect of progesterone is also observed in immune cells, with progesterone-treated cells exhibiting an attenuated phenotype (23, 24). For example, progesterone causes the differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells towards a Th2 profile (23), which is generally regarded as anti-inflammatory. This mechanism is thought to be a major driver of pregnancy tolerance, as progesterone increases substantially during early pregnancy. To support this notion, progesterone can also dosedependently reduce the activation status of human peripheral $CD4^+$ T cells (24).

It is plausible that, alongside antagonizing estrogen, the use of LNG on early-stage EEC is dampening the immune response to EC. The downstream effects of this should be investigated as LNG treatment becomes more widely established. There is little information on the effect of LNG on endometrial immune cell populations. It appears that LNG has an immunoregulatory effect, with increased IL-10 expression by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells poststimulation and significantly more endometrium-resident regulatory T cells in healthy LNG-IUS users compared to controls on no contraception (98). LNG also appears to reduce immunological surveillance, with fewer CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ endometrial T cells in LNG-IUS users compared to controls (98). Conversely, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells were more likely to express the activation markers CD38 and HLA-DR (98) indicating that, despite reduced numbers, the T cell compartment is in an increased state of activation with LNG-IUS use. While the argument has been made that the presence of a foreign body in the uterus results in a local inflammatory response (99), whether the observed increase of these activation markers is caused by a foreign body reaction or the LNG itself is not yet known. One study demonstrated that the endometrial transcriptome from LNG-IUS users exhibited more inflammatory markers and immune activation than those using the copper intra-uterine device, which was indistinguishable from nonIUS users (100). This would support the hypothesis that LNG regulates the endometrial immune compartment beyond a foreign body reaction. It must also be stated that, collectively, the studies discussed in this section up to this point investigate the effects of progesterone and LNG in the normal endometrial immune microenvironment. There is scope to explore whether these findings hold true of progesterone and LNG treatment within the iTME of EC.

Obesity, immunology and endometrial cancer

The link between obesity and EC is well established. Obesity, defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a BMI > 30 (101), is the leading modifiable risk factor for EC. The rise in EC incidence has been directly related to the obesity epidemic (102). Between 40% to 60% of EC incidence in the United States and the United Kingdom has been ascribed to excess weight (103, 104). All measures of increased adiposity (waist-to-hip ratio, hip and waist circumference, weight gain and high BMI) increase the relative risk of EC development (105). Moreover, there is a positive association between increasing BMI and EC mortality, with a hazard's ratio of 1.43 (confidence interval 1.26-1.61) per 5 kg/m² increase in BMI (106). Bariatric surgery and the subsequent weight loss associated with it has been shown to reduce the relative risk of developing EC (107), which highlights the interconnectedness of increased body mass with this hormone-sensitive cancer. One of the molecular mechanisms explaining this relationship is the production of aromatase by adipocytes, which is an enzyme that cleaves androgens into estrogens (108). Increasing adiposity contributes more aromatase, and consequently more estrogen, to the endometrial environment, to directly promote endometrial cell proliferation. Obesity also reduces the amount of hormonebinding globulin, a carrier molecule which reduces the activity of estrogen molecules (108). These combined molecular processes result in elevated levels of bioavailable estrogen. Obesity also contributes to an increase in other EC risk factors including anovulation and polycystic ovarian syndrome, culminating in a higher risk profile for EC.

As obesity is associated with chronic inflammation (109), a recent study assessed the link between inflammation and weight loss on the endometrial iTME in participants classed as high-risk for EC due to having a BMI > 40 kg/m². Participants received either bariatric surgery or a low-calorie diet to support weight loss. Blood and endometrial biopsies were taken to assess a range of immune markers using IHC and tissue imaging including CD68 (a pan-macrophage marker), CD56 (an NK cell marker), CD3 (a pan-T cell marker), CD8 (a cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cell marker), FOXP3 (a transcription factor of Tregs), and PD-1 (110). The authors found that weight and BMI were inversely

correlated to CD8⁺ T cell infiltration but found no significant difference in any other immune subsets examined. This relationship between BMI and reduced CD8⁺ T cell infiltration in EC has been corroborated by another recent study (3). Thus, obesity specifically reduces endometrial immune surveillance by CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells. This contrasts with what has been observed in peripheral blood of obese but otherwise healthy women, where CD8⁺ cell count was higher in obese compared to non-obese healthy women. Women with increasing BMI also had higher white blood cell counts in general than those in the normal index range (111). These findings suggest that increasing adiposity can reduce CD8⁺ T cell trafficking and tumor infiltration. Furthermore, CD8⁺ T cells from the tumor of obese MC38 mice produce less IFN-y than non-obese mice (3). IFN- γ is a major anti-tumoral effector cytokine, thus demonstrating CD8⁺ T cell reduced functionality. Importantly, immune suppression and reduced tumor infiltration can be reversed with weight loss. In one case study, a patient with EC receiving an LNG-IUS underwent vertical sleeve gastrectomy for weight loss. Endometrial biopsies were analysed after 6 months. The patient lost 26 kg which correlated with an increase in CD3⁺ and $CD8^+$ T cell tumor infiltration (3).

NK cells are known to be impaired in obese individuals, with fewer circulating and resident NK cells present with reduced anti-tumor functionality (112–114). Weight loss appears to ameliorate the effect (115). This evidence is in keeping with our current understanding of T cell behavior and distribution within the tumor. It is therefore likely that NK cells are similarly affected by increasing adiposity and could be driven by a change in tumor metabolism to increase consumption of fatty acids, which can have immunoregulatory effects (116). A conflicting study found no significant difference in peripheral NK cell number or cytotoxic capacity in lean compared to overweight or obese participants of similar age (117). This study opposes the current knowledge on NK cells and obesity and, as such, warrants further investigation.

Interestingly, increased BMI was found to positively correlate with the effectiveness of immunotherapy using pembrolizumab, an anti-PD-1 monoclonal antibody, in 36 PD-L1⁺ gynaecologic cancers including MSI high EC (118). PD-L1 positivity is an important control in this study as it means that BMI is the variable, not PD-L1 expression, making the data on increased BMI and efficacy of pembrolizumab more reliable. This data suggests that, although high BMI appears to suppress cytotoxic T cell capacity, immunotherapy may more effectively ameliorate the immunosuppressive iTME in individuals with higher BMI by overcoming adiposity-related immunosuppression. The mechanistic origin of the association between immunotherapeutic response and high BMI remains to be explored. However, it is intriguing to consider that obesity-associated intestinal hyperpermeability may prime immune effector functions by mediating the anticancer activity of ICIs through the circulation of bacterial metabolites, similarly to chemotherapy (119, 120). In summary, the immunosuppressive effect of obesity in EC could be a driver of immune-resistance in this highly obesity-associated cancer. Weight loss can reverse these effects and so should be incorporated into awareness campaigns and clinical management of EC. Increased BMI may be related to effective immunotherapy in this context, so further investigation is warranted here.

Targeting the immune environment in endometrial cancer: Beyond checkpoint inhibition

Cancer immunotherapies involve targeting the immune system to drive a specific immunological function. This leads to greater outcomes in patients whose therapy can be tailored to their needs (121). Personalized medicine in the form of immunotherapies are gaining traction as adjuvant treatments for EC. These immunotherapies work best in POLEmut and MMRd tumor profiles due to their high mutation burden and associated increase in the production of immunogenic antigens (122). Despite this, the only immunotherapies currently FDAapproved are pembrolizumab and dostarlimab (both PD-1 inhibitors) for patients with MMRd and a pembrolizumab/ lenvatinib (a multitargeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor) combination as a second-line therapy for MMR proficient patients (123). Immunotherapies for EC and the possibility for immune phenotypes to be used as prognostic indicators have been reviewed extensively elsewhere (79, 124-127). Here, we focus on the important role of the iTME for the therapeutic success of immunotherapies.

'Immunotherapies' technically include any therapy which targets the immune system to achieve a beneficial therapeutic outcome, but are mostly restricted to cancer vaccines, ICI therapies or passive infusion of cancer-specific T cells (124). Immune checkpoint inhibition, particularly the inhibition of the PD-1/PD-L1 (128) and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA4) pathways (129), together with TIM-3 pathway (130), have received great attention in the last decade and have put a spotlight on the immune system for treatment of cancer. These pathways, when engaged by ligands expressed by the tumor, provide inhibitory signals to the associated T cells with the exception of the engagement of TIM-3, which induces T cell apoptosis (129). The therapeutic success of ICIs depends on neoantigen immunogenicity and the presence of neoantigenspecific T cells, which are highly variable across patient populations. This limits the therapeutic efficacy against EC and is reflected by an overall response rate of only 13% in confirmed PD-L1 positive, albeit mostly non-MSI-H status, EC tumors with pembrolizumab treatment (131). Based on this, non-MSI-H tumors may be intrinsically less responsive to ICI than MSI-H tumors regardless of their PD-L1 expression pattern. Mechanistically, although PD-L1 expression might be

high, which would indicate that the tumor is expressing immunosuppressive signals, T cell PD-1 expression may be low which would reduce the efficacy of the therapy. This is in line with the theory that immunotherapy works best in tumors with high mutational burden such as MSI-H, a term which can be used synonymously with MMRd. Indeed, a recent clinical trial in confirmed MMRd stage two or three rectal cancer patients found a 100% response rate after 6 months of treatment with another PD-1 inhibitor, dostarlimab (132). Although this study had a small sample size of just 12 patients and additional followup is needed to determine response in the remaining 4 patients who have not completed treatment, and to assess recurrence and response duration in those that do respond, this result is nevertheless a powerful indicator of how molecular subtype can be used to inform personalized treatment. Interestingly, recent in silico analyses unexpectedly demonstrated that MSI-H and non-MSI-H EC tumors are similarly infiltrated by immune cells (133), suggesting important functionality differences in the iTME between these EC subtypes. Highlighted here is the importance of assessing multiple parameters when implementing personalized treatment pathways, such as PD-1/ PD-L1 positivity, MSI status and infiltrating immune cell phenotype and function.

MHC class I loss has been proposed as a possible mechanism of resistance to PD-1 inhibition (134) since this loss prevents neoantigen recognition by neoantigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells irrespective of PD-1 expression. MHC downregulation has indeed been documented in 42% of MMRd tumors (134). Therapeutic resistance to PD-1/PD-L1 ICI may also originate from the heterogenous expression of PD-1 in the iTME, and may be potentially overcome by targeting other inhibitory molecules such as TIM-3 as an addition or alternative to PD-1 targeting (135). Therefore, further categorisation of the specific deficiency of the MMRd tumor may be necessary to facilitate optimal treatment. TIM-3 expression is differentially expressed in immune infiltrates of different EC subtypes, with preferential expression in MMRd as compared to MMR intact tumors (136). However, more work is required to delineate the respective contributions of tumor versus immune cell specific TIM-3 expression and their relevance for TIM-3 targeted ICI. As TIM-3 expression on cancer cells predicts response to PD-1 targeted ICI in other solid cancers (137), the consistent expression of TIM-3 on both MMRd and MMR intact tumor cells (136) suggests that ICI approaches combining PD-1 and TIM-3 (138) may provide therapeutic benefit in EC irrespective of subtype or mutational burden. Additionally, the inhibition of CD47, a ligand for the macrophage-associated signal-regulatory protein α (SIRP α) has been shown to increase phagocytosis of EC tumor cells by TAMs (139), although CD47- SIRPa pathway inhibition has not yet been considered for clinical trial.

Importantly, an integrative approach to immunotherapy against EC requires the consideration of hormonal therapy and its strong influence on the iTME. As a number of conventional

cancer treatment modalities such as radiotherapy and chemotherapy have been described to indirectly harness the immune system (120, 140), it is conceivable that LNG treatment may also play a significant role in future approaches to EC immunotherapy. Comparably, androgen deprivation therapy has been used as an immunotherapy in prostate cancer, whereby blocking the androgen receptor ameliorates T cell function by increasing CD8⁺ T cell expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine, IFN- γ (141). We have described LNG's intrinsic immunosuppressive activity in a previous section, suggesting that treatment with LNG may reduce the capacity of the iTME to control cancer growth. However, such effect could be partly counteracted by LNG-mediated early EC cell death by starving EC of bioavailable estrogen, which enhances cancer-associated antigen presentation and immune responses, a mechanism previously described for radiotherapy (142).

Discussion

Due to the inconsistent classification system of EC, the work examined in this review largely uses either histological or molecular subtype, but not both. As it is impossible to infer a histological subtype based on a molecular subtype and vice versa, interpreting the role of infiltrating immune cell proportion and phenotype within EC subtypes across studies is difficult. Future research, both within the scope of understanding the iTME of EC and beyond, would benefit from incorporating both histological and molecular classifications. Although this is a more costly exercise, it may facilitate discoveries and is likely to be pivotal for personalizing treatment. It would be futile to investigate the iTME in EC and not comment on EC subtype, particularly molecular subtype, which can directly influence the iTME. Additionally, many studies are retrospective in design, utilizing publicly available TCGA data. Prospective studies would allow for more versatile experimental conditions, such as how therapeutics influence the immunologic phenotype and affect EC pathogenesis. Current literature is overwhelmingly skewed towards the immune profiles of MMRd and POLEmut tumors, however we understand very little about the iTME of the other molecular subtypes which may not be classed as immunogenic but could benefit from immunotherapy. Additionally, there is conflicting evidence regarding the clinical relevance of immune infiltration in patients with high versus low BMI, as well as the mechanism of the observed superior response to immunotherapy in high BMI patients. Trialing methods of immunotherapy other than the T cell PD-1/PD-L1 pathway, such as TIM-3 or the macrophage-associated CD47-SIRPa pathway, could expand the clinical arsenal of immunotherapy. Macrophages constitute up to 20% of CD45⁺ cells in the benign endometrium and, although there is little information on their presence in EC, it is feasible that their phagocytic capabilities could be harnessed for antitumor response.

Additionally, there is a large body of work from the 20th century regarding the immunogenic state of non-malignant endometrium that needs to be verified using present day technologies. We are yet to unequivocally determine the expression of PR on immune cells and are therefore unable to investigate the specific molecular pathways induced by progesterone, and its derivatives, in these cells. LNG is currently being used as a contraceptive and therapeutic for early-stage EEC, yet its effect on the endometrial immune landscape remains largely unexplored. The little evidence we have suggests that LNG, although effective in some cases at inhibiting EC growth by restricting responsiveness of tumor to estrogen, may contribute to an immunosuppressive state. It is crucial that the effect of LNG on endometrial-resident immune cell subsets be explored further to ensure that any detrimental effects on the immune landscape are included in the risk assessment of the treatment when used as either a contraceptive or cancer therapeutic.

Immune cell count and proportion have both been investigated as prognostic markers for EC, but evidence is needed to identify which proportions of immune cells confer prognostic advantages or disadvantages in each EC subtype before these measurements can be of clinical benefit. A comprehensive review of studies examining the tumor infiltrating immune cells of EC and clinical outcome would consolidate the research and provide a framework for new research opportunities. Furthermore, literature investigating infiltrating immune cells in EC is predominantly restricted to the role of T cells. Although some have identified a role for NK cells, tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) and B cells, further research into the participation of non-T-cell immune cells is warranted. NK cells are well known for their cytotoxic capacity and are a major part of the iTME. Their importance, as well as the role of other immune subsets, should not be overlooked. While evidence suggests a major role of CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells in adiposity-driven immune suppression in EC, there is controversy regarding the role of NK cells in this context. Additionally, although we understand the role of obesity in driving immune suppression in non-EC participants, the role of immunity in obesity-related EC pathogenesis is yet to be explored.

The immune landscape of endometrial cancer remains incompletely understood. In the non-cancerous endometrium, immune cells are under the influence of cyclic hormonal regulation. At this time, the dominating immune phenotype appears to be regulatory. When the endometrium becomes malignant, many immunological changes are induced which tend to vary based on the molecular classification of the cancer. As such, molecular classification of EC should be incorporated into standard-of-care practices, as well as future research. Furthermore, EC is increasingly associated with obesity, the combination of which is typified by fewer tumor infiltrating cytotoxic T cells with limited cytotoxic capacity. Importantly, this can be reversed with weight loss. Novel treatments for EC such as LNG-IUS and ICIs have (potentially opposing) direct

10.3389/fonc.2022.975201

impacts on the iTME and gaining a deeper understanding of the immunological mechanisms of these treatments could lead to personalized, novel treatments and treatment regimens. Progesterone has immunosuppressive effects. Hormonal treatment of inoperable early-stage EEC using LNG-IUS can be effective in preventing EC proliferation, but its immunosuppressive effects could contribute to the low response rates observed for this therapy. Immunotherapies for adjuvant treatment of EC are still in their infancy and show promise for molecular subtypes characterized by high immune infiltration, but their use does not necessarily need to be restricted to such subtypes. A focus on characterizing the response to immunotherapies across the spectrum of subtypes is likely to yield important insight into their effectiveness in previously understudied subtypes. We recommend exploring novel mechanisms of immune activation and exhaustion, for example investigating immunotherapies targeting macrophages so as not to limit our capacity for immune manipulation to the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway.

Author contributions

HV wrote the first draft of the manuscript. KH, MC, OG, and CH edited sections of the manuscript. All authors

References

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: Globocan estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: A Cancer J Clin* (2021) 71 (3):209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

2. New cancer registrations 2018 (2020). Available at: https://www.health.govt. nz/publication/new-cancer-registrations-2018.

3. Dyck L, Prendeville H, Raverdeau M, Wilk MM, Loftus RM, Douglas A, et al. Suppressive effects of the obese tumor microenvironment on Cd8 T cell infiltration and effector function. *J Exp Med* (2022) 219(3):e20210042. doi: 10.1084/jem.20210042

4. Janda M, Robledo KP, Gebski V, Armes JE, Alizart M, Cummings M, et al. Complete pathological response following levonorgestrel intrauterine device in clinically stage 1 endometrial adenocarcinoma: Results of a randomized clinical trial. *Gynecol Oncol* (2021) 161(1):143–51. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2021.01.029

5. Cao W, Ma X, Fischer JV, Sun C, Kong B, Zhang Q. Immunotherapy in endometrial cancer: Rationale, practice and perspectives. *Biomark Res* (2021) 9 (1):49. doi: 10.1186/s40364-021-00301-z

6. Sing G, Puckett Y. *Endometrial hyperplasia*. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing (2021).

7. Rabban JT, Gilks CB, Malpica A, Matias-Guiu X, Mittal K, Mutter GL, et al. Issues in the differential diagnosis of uterine low-grade endometrioid carcinoma, including mixed endometrial carcinomas: Recommendations from the international society of gynecological pathologists. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* (2019) 38 Suppl 1(Iss 1 Suppl 1):S25–s39. doi: 10.1097/pgp.00000000000512

8. Casey MJ, Summers GK, Crotzer D. *Endometrial cancer*. (Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls Publishing) (2020).

9. Bell DW, Ellenson LH. Molecular genetics of endometrial carcinoma. Annu Rev Pathol (2019) 14:339–67. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-020117-043609

10. Brinton LA, Felix AS, McMeekin DS, Creasman WT, Sherman ME, Mutch D, et al. Etiologic heterogeneity in endometrial cancer: Evidence from a gynecologic oncology group trial. *Gynecol Oncol* (2013) 129(2):277–84. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2013.02.023

contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

Figure 1 was created with Canva.com. Figure 2 was created with BioRender.com.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

11. Kandoth C, Schultz N, Cherniack AD, Akbani R, Liu Y, Shen H, et al. Integrated genomic characterization of endometrial carcinoma. *Nature* (2013) 497 (7447):67–73. doi: 10.1038/nature12113

12. Talhouk A, McConechy MK, Leung S, Li-Chang HH, Kwon JS, Melnyk N, et al. A clinically applicable molecular-based classification for endometrial cancers. *Br J Cancer* (2015) 113(2):299–310. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2015.190

13. Mitric C, Bernardini MQ. Endometrial cancer: Transitioning from histology to genomics. *Curr Oncol* (2022) 29(2):741–57. doi: 10.3390/curroncol29020063

14. de Boer SM, Powell ME, Mileshkin L, Katsaros D, Bessette P, Haie-Meder C, et al. Adjuvant chemoradiotherapy versus radiotherapy alone for women with high-risk endometrial cancer (Portec-3): Final results of an international, open-label, multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2018) 19(3):295–309. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(18)30079-2

15. León-Castillo A, de Boer SM, Powell ME, Mileshkin LR, Mackay HJ, Leary A, et al. Molecular classification of the portec-3 trial for high-risk endometrial cancer: Impact on prognosis and benefit from adjuvant therapy. *J Clin Oncol* (2020) 38(29):3388–97. doi: 10.1200/jco.20.00549

16. Lee SK, Kim CJ, Kim D-J, Kang J-H. Immune cells in the female reproductive tract. *Immune Netw* (2015) 15(1):16–26. doi: 10.4110/in.2015.15.1.16

17. Kitazawa J, Kimura F, Nakamura A, Morimune A, Takahashi A, Takashima A, et al. Endometrial immunity for embryo implantation and pregnancy establishment. *Tohoku J Exp Med* (2020) 250(1):49-60. doi: 10.1620/tjem.250.49

18. Kovats S. Estrogen receptors regulate innate immune cells and signaling pathways. *Cell Immunol* (2015) 294(2):63–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.01.018

19. Phiel KL, Henderson RA, Adelman SJ, Elloso MM. Differential estrogen receptor gene expression in human peripheral blood mononuclear cell populations. *Immunol Lett* (2005) 97(1):107–13. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2004.10.007

20. Inoue T, Kanzaki H, Imai K, Narukawa S, Katsuragawa H, Watanabe H, et al. Progesterone stimulates the induction of human endometrial Cd56+ lymphocytes in an *in vitro* culture system. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1996) 81 (4):1502–7. doi: 10.1210/jcem.81.4.8636358 21. King A, Gardner L, Loke YW. Evaluation of oestrogen and progesterone receptor expression in uterine mucosal lymphocytes. *Hum Reprod* (1996) 11 (5):1079–82. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a019300

22. Stewart JA, Bulmer JN, Murdoch AP. Endometrial leucocytes: Expression of steroid hormone receptors. J Clin Pathol (1998) 51(2):121–6. doi: 10.1136/ jcp.51.2.121

23. Lissauer D, Eldershaw SA, Inman CF, Coomarasamy A, Moss PA, Kilby MD. Progesterone promotes maternal-fetal tolerance by reducing human maternal T-cell polyfunctionality and inducing a specific cytokine profile. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45(10):2858–72. doi: 10.1002/eji.201445404

24. Hellberg S, Raffetseder J, Rundquist O, Magnusson R, Papapavlou G, Jenmalm MC, et al. Progesterone dampens immune responses in *in vitro* activated Cd4+ t cells and affects genes associated with autoimmune diseases that improve during pregnancy. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:672168. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.672168

25. Mauvais-Jarvis F, Klein SL, Levin ER. Estradiol, progesterone, immunomodulation, and covid-19 outcomes. *Endocrinology* (2020) 161(9). doi: 10.1210/endocr/bqaa127

26. Hall OJ, Klein SL. Progesterone-based compounds affect immune responses and susceptibility to infections at diverse mucosal sites. *Mucosal Immunol* (2017) 10(5):1097–107. doi: 10.1038/mi.2017.35

27. Klein SL, Flanagan KL. Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2016) 16(10):626-38. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.90

28. Teilmann SC, Clement CA, Thorup J, Byskov AG, Christensen ST. Expression and localization of the progesterone receptor in mouse and human reproductive organs. J Endocrinol (2006) 191(3):525-35. doi: 10.1677/joe.1.06565

29. Dosiou C, Hamilton AE, Pang Y, Overgaard MT, Tulac S, Dong J, et al. Expression of membrane progesterone receptors on human T lymphocytes and jurkat cells and activation of G-proteins by progesterone. *J Endocrinol* (2008) 196 (1):67–77. doi: 10.1677/joe-07-0317

30. Engler JB, Kursawe N, Solano ME, Patas K, Wehrmann S, Heckmann N, et al. Glucocorticoid receptor in T cells mediates protection from autoimmunity in pregnancy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2017) 114(2):E181–e90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1617115114

31. Hierweger AM, Engler JB, Friese MA, Reichardt HM, Lydon J, DeMayo F, et al. Progesterone modulates the T-cell response *via* glucocorticoid receptordependent pathways. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2019) 81(2):e13084. doi: 10.1111/ aji.13084

32. Laskarin G, Strbo N, Sotosek V, Rukavina D, Faust Z, Szekeres-Bartho J, et al. Progesterone directly and indirectly affects perforin expression in cytolytic cells. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (1999) 42(5):312–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1999.tb00107.x

33. Lathbury LJ, Salamonsen LA. In-vitro studies of the potential role of neutrophils in the process of menstruation. *MHR: Basic Sci Reprod Med* (2000) 6 (10):899–906. doi: 10.1093/molehr/6.10.899

34. Cousins FL, Kirkwood PM, Saunders PT, Gibson DA. Evidence for a dynamic role for mononuclear phagocytes during endometrial repair and remodelling. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6(1):1–12. doi: 10.1038/srep36748

35. Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Funk CR, Mani SK, Hughes AR, Montgomery CAJr., et al. Mice lacking progesterone receptor exhibit pleiotropic reproductive abnormalities. *Genes Dev* (1995) 9(18):2266–78. doi: 10.1101/gad.9.18.2266

36. Zhang J, Hampton AL, Nie G, Salamonsen LA. Progesterone inhibits activation of latent matrix metalloproteinase (Mmp)-2 by membrane-type 1 mmp: Enzymes coordinately expressed in human endometrium. *Biol Reprod* (2000) 62(1):85–94. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod62.1.85

37. Mueller MD, Lebovic DI, Garrett E, Taylor RN. Neutrophils infiltrating the endometrium express vascular endothelial growth factor: Potential role in endometrial angiogenesis. *Fertil Steril* (2000) 74(1):107–12. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(00)00555-0

38. Agostinis C, Mangogna A, Bossi F, Ricci G, Kishore U, Bulla R. Uterine immunity and microbiota: A shifting paradigm. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2387. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02387

39. Givan AL, White HD, Stern JE, Colby E, Gosselin EJ, Guyre PM, et al. Flow cytometric analysis of leukocytes in the human female reproductive tract: Comparison of fallopian tube, uterus, cervix, and vagina. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (1997) 38(5):350–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1997.tb00311.x

40. Flynn L, Byrne B, Carton J, Kelehan P, O'Herlihy C, O'Farrelly C. Menstrual cycle dependent fluctuations in nk and T-lymphocyte subsets from non-pregnant human endometrium. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2000) 43(4):209–17. doi: 10.1111/j.8755-8920.2000.430405.x

41. Manaster I, Mizrahi S, Goldman-Wohl D, Sela HY, Stern-Ginossar N, Lankry D, et al. Endometrial nk cells are special immature cells that await pregnancy. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(3):1869–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.3.1869

42. Salamonsen L A, Woolley DE. Menstruation: Induction by matrix metalloproteinases and inflammatory cells. *J Reprod Immunol* (1999) 44(1):1–27. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(99)00002-9

43. Eidukaite A, Tamosiunas V. Endometrial and peritoneal macrophages: Expression of activation and adhesion molecules. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2004) 52(2):113–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2004.00201.x

44. Yeaman GR, Guyre PM, Fanger MW, Collins JE, White HD, Rathbun W, et al. Unique Cd8+ T cell-rich lymphoid aggregates in human uterine endometrium. *J Leukoc Biol* (1997) 61(4):427–35. doi: 10.1002/jlb.61.4.427

45. Yeaman GR, Collins JE, Fanger MW, Wira CR, Lydyard PM. Cd8+ T cells in human uterine endometrial lymphoid aggregates: Evidence for accumulation of cells by trafficking. *Immunology* (2001) 102(4):434–40. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2001.01199.x

46. Mettler L, Jürgensen A, Volkov NI, Kulakov V, Parwaresch MR. Lmmuno histochemical profile of endometrium in patients with genital endometriosis. *Diagn Ther Endosc* (1997) 3(3):127–45. doi: 10.1155/DTE.3.127

47. Fernández-Shaw S, Clarke MT, Hicks B, Naish CE, Barlow DH, Starkey PM. Bone marrow-derived cell populations in uterine and ectopic endometrium. *Hum Reprod* (1995) 10(9):2285–9. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a136286

48. Dzhaparidze NA, Khardzeishvili OM. [Peculiarities of immunocompetent cell distribution in the endometrium in the proliferation phase of the normal menstrual cycle]. *Georgian Med News* (2006) 134):112–5.

49. Salamonsen LA, Lathbury LJ. Endometrial leukocytes and menstruation. *Hum Reprod Update* (2000) 6(1):16–27. doi: 10.1093/humupd/6.1.16

50. Hardardottir L, Bazzano MV, Glau L, Gattinoni L, Köninger A, Tolosa E, et al. The new old Cd8+ T cells in the immune paradox of pregnancy. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:765730. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.765730

51. White HD, Crassi KM, Givan AL, Stern JE, Gonzalez JL, Memoli VA, et al. Cd3+ Cd8+ ctl activity within the human female reproductive tract: Influence of stage of the menstrual cycle and menopause. *J Immunol* (1997) 158(6):3017.

52. Vanderstraeten A, Tuyaerts S, Amant F. The immune system in the normal endometrium and implications for endometrial cancer development. *J Reprod Immunol* (2015) 109:7–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2014.12.006

53. Taylor. RSSCMBN. *Histology, T-cell lymphocyte.* Treasure Island (FL: StatPearls Publishing (2022).

54. Saito S, Nakashima A, Shima T, Ito M. Th1/Th2/Th17 and regulatory T-cell paradigm in pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2010) 63(6):601–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00852.x

55. Feyaerts D, Benner M, van Cranenbroek B, van der Heijden OWH, Joosten I, van der Molen RG. Human uterine lymphocytes acquire a more experienced and tolerogenic phenotype during pregnancy. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):2884. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-017-03191-0

56. Shimada S, Kato EH, Morikawa M, Iwabuchi K, Nishida R, Kishi R, et al. No difference in natural killer or natural killer T-cell population, but aberrant T-helper cell population in the endometrium of women with repeated miscarriage. *Hum Reprod* (2004) 19(4):1018–24. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deh159

57. Godfrey DI, Uldrich AP, McCluskey J, Rossjohn J, Moody DB. The burgeoning family of unconventional T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(11):1114-23. doi: 10.1038/ni.3298

58. King A. Uterine leukocytes and decidualization. *Hum Reprod Update* (2000) 6(1):28–36. doi: 10.1093/humupd/6.1.28

59. van den Heuvel MJ, Horrocks J, Bashar S, Taylor S, Burke S, Hatta K, et al. Menstrual cycle hormones induce changes in functional interactions between lymphocytes and decidual vascular endothelial cells. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2005) 90(5):2835–42. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-1742

60. King A, Balendran N, Wooding P, Carter NP, Loke YW. Cd3- leukocytes present in the human uterus during early placentation: Phenotypic and morphologic characterization of the Cd56++ population. *Dev Immunol* (1991) 1 (3):169–90. doi: 10.1155/1991/83493

61. Poli A, Michel T, Thérésine M, Andrès E, Hentges F, Zimmer J. Cd56bright natural killer (Nk) cells: An important nk cell subset. *Immunology* (2009) 126 (4):458–65. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.03027.x

62. Zhang X, Wei H. Role of decidual natural killer cells in human pregnancy and related pregnancy complications. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:728291. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.728291

63. Shen M, O'Donnell E, Leon G, Kisovar A, Melo P, Zondervan K, et al. The role of endometrial b cells in normal endometrium and benign female reproductive pathologies: A systematic review. *Hum Reprod Open* (2022) 2022(1):hoab043. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoab043

64. Disep B, Innes BA, Cochrane HR, Tijani S, Bulmer JN. Immunohistochemical characterization of endometrial leucocytes in endometritis. *Histopathology* (2004) 45(6):625-32. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2004.02052.x 65. Shen M, Child T, Mittal M, Sarodey G, Salim R, Granne I, et al. B cell subset analysis and gene expression characterization in mid-luteal endometrium. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2021) 9:709280. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.709280

66. Jensen AL, Collins J, Shipman EP, Wira CR, Guyre PM, Pioli PA. A subset of human uterine endometrial macrophages is alternatively activated. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2012) 68(5):374–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2012.01181.x

67. Verreck FA, de Boer T, Langenberg DM, van der Zanden L, Ottenhoff TH. Phenotypic and functional profiling of human proinflammatory type-1 and antiinflammatory type-2 macrophages in response to microbial antigens and ifngamma- and Cd401-mediated costimulation. *J Leukoc Biol* (2006) 79(2):285–93. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0105015

68. de Jong RA, Leffers N, Boezen HM, ten Hoor KA, van der Zee AG, Hollema H, et al. Presence of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes is an independent prognostic factor in type I and ii endometrial cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* (2009) 114(1):105–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2009.03.022

69. Kondratiev S, Sabo E, Yakirevich E, Lavie O, Resnick MB. Intratumoral Cd8 + T lymphocytes as a prognostic factor of survival in endometrial carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10(13):4450–6. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-0732-3

70. Workel HH, Komdeur FL, Wouters MCA, Plat A, Klip HG, Eggink FA, et al. Cd103 defines intraepithelial Cd8+ Pd1+ tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes of prognostic significance in endometrial adenocarcinoma. *Eur J Cancer* (2016) 60:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2016.02.026

 Čermáková P, Melichar B, Tomšová M, Zoul Z, Kalábová H, Spaček J, et al. Prognostic significance of Cd3+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with endometrial carcinoma. Anticancer Res (2014) 34(10):5555–61.

72. Fusco MJ, West H, Walko CM. Tumor mutation burden and cancer treatment. JAMA Oncol (2021) 7(2):316-. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.6371

73. Talhouk A, McConechy MK, Leung S, Yang W, Lum A, Senz J, et al. Confirmation of promise: A simple, genomics-based clinical classifier for endometrial cancer. *Cancer* (2017) 123(5):802–13. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30496

74. Talhouk A, Derocher H, Schmidt P, Leung S, Milne K, Gilks CB, et al. Molecular subtype not immune response drives outcomes in endometrial carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25(8):2537-48. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-18-3241

75. Dong H, Chen L. B7-H1 pathway and its role in the evasion of tumor immunity. J Mol Med (2003) 81(5):281-7. doi: 10.1007/s00109-003-0430-2

76. Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. Pd-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2008) 26:677–704. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090331

77. Willvonseder B, Stögbauer F, Steiger K, Jesinghaus M, Kuhn PH, Brambs C, et al. The immunologic tumor microenvironment in endometrioid endometrial cancer in the morphomolecular context: Mutual correlations and prognostic impact depending on molecular alterations. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2021) 70(6):1679–89. doi: 10.1007/s00262-020-02813-3

78. Dong D, Lei H, Liu D, Bai H, Yang Y, Tang B, et al. Pole and mismatch repair status, checkpoint proteins and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in combination, and tumor differentiation: Identify endometrial cancers for immunotherapy. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:640018(832). doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2021.640018

79. Mendiola M, Pellinen T, Ramon-Patino JL, Berjon A, Bruck O, Heredia-Soto V, et al. Prognostic implications of tumor-infiltrating T cells in early-stage endometrial cancer. *Modern Pathol* (2022) 35(2):256–65. doi: 10.1038/s41379-021-00930-7

80. Diskin B, Adam S, Cassini MF, Sanchez G, Liria M, Aykut B, et al. Pd-L1 engagement on T cells promotes self-tolerance and suppression of neighboring macrophages and effector T cells in cancer. *Nat Immunol* (2020) 21(4):442–54. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0620-x

81. Ye L, Zhang T, Kang Z, Guo G, Sun Y, Lin K, et al. Tumor-infiltrating immune cells act as a marker for prognosis in colorectal cancer. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2368. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02368

82. Zhang L, Conejo-Garcia JR, Katsaros D, Gimotty PA, Massobrio M, Regnani G, et al. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2003) 348(3):203–13. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa020177

83. Clemente CG, Mihm MCJr., Bufalino R, Zurrida S, Collini P, Cascinelli N. Prognostic value of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in the vertical growth phase of primary cutaneous melanoma. *Cancer* (1996) 77(7):1303–10. doi: 10.1002/(sici) 1097-0142(19960401)77:7<1303::Aid-cncr12>3.0.Co;2-5

84. Chen B, Wang D, Li J, Hou Y, Qiao C. Screening and identification of prognostic tumor-infiltrating immune cells and genes of endometrioid endometrial adenocarcinoma: Based on the cancer genome atlas database and bioinformatics. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:554214(2738). doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.554214

85. Degos C, Heinemann M, Barrou J, Boucherit N, Lambaudie E, Savina A, et al. Endometrial tumor microenvironment alters human nk cell recruitment, and resident nk cell phenotype and function. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:877. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00877

86. Lin Y, Xu J, Lan H. Tumor-associated macrophages in tumor metastasis: Biological roles and clinical therapeutic applications. *J Hematol Oncol* (2019) 12 (1):76. doi: 10.1186/s13045-019-0760-3

87. Qian BZ, Pollard JW. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. *Cell* (2010) 141(1):39–51. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.014

88. Pittet MJ, Michielin O, Migliorini D. Clinical relevance of tumourassociated macrophages. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2022) 19:402–21. doi: 10.1038/ s41571-022-00620-6

89. Dun EC, Hanley K, Wieser F, Bohman S, Yu J, Taylor RN. Infiltration of tumor-associated macrophages is increased in the epithelial and stromal compartments of endometrial carcinomas. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* (2013) 32 (6):576-84. doi: 10.1097/PGP.0b013e318284e198

90. Kelly MG, Francisco AM, Cimic A, Wofford A, Fitzgerald NC, Yu J, et al. Type 2 endometrial cancer is associated with a high density of tumor-associated macrophages in the stromal compartment. *Reprod Sci* (2015) 22(8):948–53. doi: 10.1177/1933719115570912

91. Xiao L, He Y, Peng F, Yang J, Yuan C. Endometrial cancer cells promote M2-like macrophage polarization by delivering exosomal mirna-21 under hypoxia condition. *J Immunol Res* (2020) 2020:9731049. doi: 10.1155/2020/9731049

92. Mandal G, Biswas S, Anadon CM, Yu X, Gatenbee CD, Prabhakaran S, et al. Iga-dominated humoral immune responses govern patients' outcome in endometrial cancer. *Cancer Res* (2022) 82(5):859–71. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-21-2376

93. Qin M, Hamanishi J, Ukita M, Yamanoi K, Takamatsu S, Abiko K, et al. Tertiary lymphoid structures are associated with favorable survival outcomes in patients with endometrial cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2022) 71 (6):1431-42. doi: 10.1007/s00262-021-03093-1

94. Patel MV, Shen Z, Rodriguez-Garcia M, Usherwood EJ, Tafe LJ, Wira CR. Endometrial cancer suppresses Cd8+ T cell-mediated cytotoxicity in postmenopausal women. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:657326. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.657326

95. Yamagami W, Susumu N, Tanaka H, Hirasawa A, Banno K, Suzuki N, et al. Immunofluorescence-detected infiltration of Cd4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells is relevant to the prognosis of patients with endometrial cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2011) 21(9):1628–34. doi: 10.1097/IGC.0b013e31822c271f

96. Yokoi E, Mabuchi S, Komura N, Shimura K, Kuroda H, Kozasa K, et al. The role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in endometrial cancer displaying systemic inflammatory response: Clinical and preclinical investigations. *Oncoimmunology* (2019) 8(12):e1662708. doi: 10.1080/2162402x.2019.1662708

97. Sitruk-Ware R. New progestagens for contraceptive use. Hum Reprod Update (2006) 12(2):169-78. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmi046

98. Shanmugasundaram U, Hilton JF, Critchfield JW, Greenblatt RM, Giudice LC, Averbach S, et al. Effects of the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine device on the immune microenvironment of the human cervix and endometrium. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2016) 76(2):137–48. doi: 10.1111/aji.12535

99. Ortiz ME, Croxatto HB. Copper-T intrauterine device and levonorgestrel intrauterine system: Biological bases of their mechanism of action. *Contraception* (2007) 75(6, Supplement):S16-30. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2007.01.020

100. Smith-McCune K, Thomas R, Averbach S, Seidman D, Takeda M, Houshdaran S, et al. Differential effects of the hormonal and copper intrauterine device on the endometrial transcriptome. *Sci Rep* (2020) 10(1):6888. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-020-63798-8

 World Health Organisation. Obesity - overview (2021). Available at: https:// www.who.int/health-topics/obesity.

102. Kyrgiou M, Kalliala I, Markozannes G, Gunter MJ, Paraskevaidis E, Gabra H, et al. Adiposity and cancer at major anatomical sites: Umbrella review of the literature. *BMJ* (2017) 356;j477. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j477

103. Bhaskaran K, Douglas I, Forbes H, dos-Santos-Silva I, Leon DA, Smeeth L. Body-mass index and risk of 22 specific cancers: A population-based cohort study of 5-24 million uk adults. *Lancet* (2014) 384(9945):755–65. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(14)60892-8

104. Onstad MA, Schmandt RE, Lu KH. Addressing the role of obesity in endometrial cancer risk, prevention, and treatment. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2016) 34(35):4225–30. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.69.4638

105. Aune D, Navarro Rosenblatt DA, Chan DSM, Vingeliene S, Abar L, Vieira AR, et al. Anthropometric factors and endometrial cancer risk: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Ann Oncol* (2015) 26 (8):1635–48. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdv142

106. Alam NN, Wright AK, Rutter MK, Buchan I, Ashcroft DM, Sperrin M, et al. Body mass index and cancer mortality in patients with incident type 2 diabetes: A population-based study of adults in England. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2021) 24(4):620–30. doi: 10.1111/dom.14614

107. Upala S, Anawin S. Bariatric surgery and risk of postoperative endometrial cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Surg Obes Relat Dis* (2015) 11 (4):949–55. doi: 10.1016/j.soard.2014.09.024

108. Carlson MJ, Thiel KW, Yang S, Leslie KK. Catch it before it kills: Progesterone, obesity, and the prevention of endometrial cancer. *Discov Med* (2012) 14(76):215–22.

109. Monteiro R, Azevedo I. Chronic inflammation in obesity and the metabolic syndrome. *Mediators Inflammation* (2010). doi: 10.1155/2010/289645

110. Naqvi A, MacKintosh ML, Derbyshire AE, Tsakiroglou A-M, Walker TDJ, McVey RJ, et al. The impact of obesity and bariatric surgery on the immune microenvironment of the endometrium. *Int J Obes* (2021) 46:605–12. doi: 10.1038/ s41366-021-01027-6

111. Womack J, Tien PC, Feldman J, Shin JH, Fennie K, Anastos K, et al. Obesity and immune cell counts in women. *Metabolism* (2007) 56(7):998–1004. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2007.03.008

112. Michelet X, Dyck I, Hogan A, Loftus RM, Duquette D, Wei K, et al. Metabolic reprogramming of natural killer cells in obesity limits antitumor responses. *Nat Immunol* (2018) 19(12):1330–40. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0251-7

113. Perdu S, Castellana B, Kim Y, Chan K, DeLuca L, Beristain AG. Maternal obesity drives functional alterations in uterine nk cells. *JCI Insight* (2016) 1(11): e85560–e. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.85560

114. Rodríguez CP, González MC, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Nájera-Medina O. Peripheral lymphocytes, obesity, and metabolic syndrome in young adults: An immunometabolism study. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord* (2018) 16(7):342–9. doi: 10.1089/met.2018.0005

115. Jahn J, Spielau M, Brandsch C, Stangl GI, Delank KS, Bähr I, et al. Decreased nk cell functions in obesity can be reactivated by fat mass reduction. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2015) 23(11):2233–41. doi: 10.1002/oby.21229

116. Ringel AE, Drijvers JM, Baker GJ, Catozzi A, García-Cañaveras JC, Gassaway BM, et al. Obesity shapes metabolism in the tumor microenvironment to suppress anti-tumor immunity. *Cell* (2020) 183(7):1848–66.e26. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.11.009

117. Keilen J, Gar C, Rottenkolber M, Fueessl LU, Joseph AT, Draenert R, et al. No association of natural killer cell number and function in peripheral blood with Overweight/Obesity and metabolic syndrome in a cohort of young women. *Physiol Rep* (2022) 10(4):e15148. doi: 10.14814/phy2.15148

118. Bartl T, Onoprienko A, Hofstetter G, Müllauer L, Poetsch N, Fuereder T, et al. Overweight as a favorable clinical biomarker for checkpoint inhibitor therapy response in recurrent gynecologic cancer patients. *Biomolecules* (2021) 11(11). doi: 10.3390/biom1111700

119. Gasmi A, Mujawdiya PK, Pivina L, Doşa A, Semenova Y, Benahmed AG, et al. Relationship between gut microbiota, gut hyperpermeability and obesity. *Curr Med Chem* (2021) 28(4):827–39. doi: 10.2174/0929867327666200721160313

120. Cheng WY, Wu CY, Yu J. The role of gut microbiota in cancer treatment: Friend or foe? *Gut* (2020) 69(10):1867–76. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-321153

121. Maciejko L, Smalley M, Goldman A. Cancer immunotherapy and personalized medicine: Emerging technologies and biomarker-based approaches. *J Mol biomark Diagn* (2017) 8(5):350. doi: 10.4172/2155-9929.1000350

122. Perumal D, Imai N, Laganà A, Finnigan J, Melnekoff D, Leshchenko VV, et al. Mutation-derived neoantigen-specific T-cell responses in multiple myeloma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26(2):450–64. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-19-2309

123. Green AK, Feinberg J, Makker V. A review of immune checkpoint blockade therapy in endometrial cancer. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book* (2020) 40):238–44. doi: 10.1200/edbk_280503

124. Di Tucci C, Capone C, Galati G, Iacobelli V, Schiavi MC, Di Donato V, et al. Immunotherapy in endometrial cancer: New scenarios on the horizon. *J Gynecol Oncol* (2019) 30(3):e46. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2019.30.e46

125. Musacchio L, Boccia SM, Caruso G, Santangelo G, Fischetti M, Tomao F, et al. Immune checkpoint inhibitors: A promising choice for endometrial cancer patients? *J Clin Med* (2020) 9(6):1721. doi: 10.3390/jcm9061721

126. Ni L, Tao J, Xu J, Yuan X, Long Y, Yu N, et al. Prognostic values of pretreatment neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte and platelet-to-Lymphocyte ratios in endometrial cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* (2020) 301(1):251–61. doi: 10.1007/s00404-019-05372-w

127. Zhan L, Liu X, Zhang J, Cao Y, Wei B. Immune disorder in endometrial cancer: Immunosuppressive microenvironment, mechanisms of immune evasion and immunotherapy. *Oncol Lett* (2020) 20(3):2075–90. doi: 10.3892/ol.2020.11774

128. Zhu X, Lang J. The significance and therapeutic potential of pd-1 and its ligands in ovarian cancer: A systematic review. *Gynecol Oncol* (2016) 142(1):184–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2016.04.002

129. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12(4):252–64. doi: 10.1038/nrc3239

130. Friedlaender A, Addeo A, Banna G. New emerging targets in cancer immunotherapy: The role of Tim3. *ESMO Open* (2019) 4:e000497. doi: 10.1136/esmoopen-2019-000497

131. Ott PA, Bang Y-J, Berton-Rigaud D, Elez E, Pishvaian MJ, Rugo HS, et al. Safety and antitumor activity of pembrolizumab in advanced programmed death ligand 1–positive endometrial cancer: Results from the keynote-028 study. *J Clin Oncol* (2017) 35(22):2535–41. doi: 10.1200/jco.2017.72.5952

132. Cercek A, Lumish M, Sinopoli J, Weiss J, Shia J, Lamendola-Essel M, et al. Pd-1 blockade in mismatch repair-deficient, locally advanced rectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2022) 386:2363–76. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2201445

133. Zhang P, Liu M, Cui Y, Zheng P, Liu Y. Microsatellite instability status differentially associates with intratumoral immune microenvironment in human cancers. *Brief Bioinform* (2021) 22(3). doi: 10.1093/bib/bbaa180

134. Friedman LA, Bullock TN, Sloan EA, Ring KL, Mills AM. Mhc class I loss in endometrial carcinoma: A potential resistance mechanism to immune checkpoint inhibition. *Mod Pathol* (2021) 34(3):627–36. doi: 10.1038/s41379-020-00682-w

135. He Y, Cao J, Zhao C, Li X, Zhou C, Hirsch FR. Tim-3, a promising target for cancer immunotherapy. *OncoTargets Ther* (2018) 11:7005–9. doi: 10.2147/ OTT.S170385

136. Moore M, Ring KL, Mills AM. Tim-3 in endometrial carcinomas: An immunotherapeutic target expressed by mismatch repair-deficient and intact cancers. *Mod Pathol* (2019) 32(8):1168–79. doi: 10.1038/s41379-019-0251-7

137. Kato R, Jinnouchi N, Tuyukubo T, Ikarashi D, Matsuura T, Maekawa S, et al. Tim3 expression on tumor cells predicts response to anti-Pd-1 therapy for renal cancer. *Transl Oncol* (2021) 14(1):100918. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2020.100918

138. Hollebecque A, Chung HC, de Miguel MJ, Italiano A, Machiels JP, Lin CC, et al. Safety and antitumor activity of α -Pd-L1 antibody as monotherapy or in combination with α -Tim-3 antibody in patients with microsatellite instability-High/Mismatch repair-deficient tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2021) 27(23):6393–404. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-21-0261

139. Gu S, Ni T, Wang J, Liu Y, Fan Q, Wang Y, et al. Cd47 blockade inhibits tumor progression through promoting phagocytosis of tumor cells by M2 polarized macrophages in endometrial cancer. *J Immunol Res* (2018) 2018:6156757. doi: 10.1155/2018/6156757

140. Kaur P, Asea A. Radiation-induced effects and the immune system in cancer. Front Oncol (2012) 2:191. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2012.00191

141. Guan X, Polesso F, Wang C, Sehrawat A, Hawkins RM, Murray SE, et al. Androgen receptor activity in T cells limits checkpoint blockade efficacy. *Nature* (2022) 606:791–6. doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-04522-6

142. Golden EB, Apetoh L. Radiotherapy and immunogenic cell death. Semin Radiat Oncol (2015) 25(1):11-7. doi: 10.1016/j.semradonc.2014.07.005

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sophia George, University of Miami, United States

REVIEWED BY Federica Perelli, Santa Maria Annunziata Hospital, Italy Lorenzo Ceppi, Niguarda Ca' Granda Hospital, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Valerie Catherine Linz valerie.linz@unimedizin-mainz.de

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 23 May 2022 ACCEPTED 09 August 2022 PUBLISHED 31 August 2022

CITATION

Linz VC, Löwe A, van der Ven J, Hasenburg A and Battista MJ (2022) Incidence of pelvic high-grade serous carcinoma after isolated STIC diagnosis: A systematic review of the literature. *Front. Oncol.* 12:951292. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.951292

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Linz, Löwe, van der Ven, Hasenburg and Battista. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Incidence of pelvic high-grade serous carcinoma after isolated STIC diagnosis: A systematic review of the literature

Valerie Catherine Linz*, Amelie Löwe, Josche van der Ven, Annette Hasenburg and Marco Johannes Battista

Department of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, University Medical Centre, Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Mainz, Germany

Objective: Serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma (STIC) is a precursor lesion of pelvic high-grade serous carcinoma (HGSC). Information on treatment and outcome of isolated STIC is rare. Therefore, we reviewed systematically the published literature to determine the incidence of subsequent HGSC in the high- and low-risk population and to summarize the current diagnostic and therapeutic options.

Methods: A systematic review of the literature was conducted in MEDLINE-Ovid, Cochrane Library and Web of Science of articles published from February 2006 to July 2021. Patients with an isolated STIC diagnosis and clinical followup were included. Study exclusion criteria for review were the presence of synchronous gynaecological cancer and/or concurrent non-gynaecological malignancies.

Results: 3031 abstracts were screened. 112 isolated STIC patients out of 21 publications were included in our analysis with a pooled median follow-up of 36 (interquartile range (IQR): 25.3-84) months. 71.4% of the patients had peritoneal washings (negative: 62.5%, positive: 8%, atypic cells: 0.9%). Surgical staging was performed in 28.6% of all STICs and did not show any malignancies. 14 out of 112 (12.5%) patients received adjuvant chemotherapy with Carboplatin and Paclitaxel. Eight (7.1%) patients developed a recurrence 42.5 (IQR: 33-72) months after isolated STIC diagnosis. Cumulative incidence of HGSC after five (ten) years was 10.5% (21.6%). Recurrence occurred only in *BRCA1* carriers (seven out of eight patients, one patient with unknown *BRCA* status).

Conclusion: The rate of HGSC after an isolated STIC diagnosis was 7.1% with a cumulative incidence of 10.5% (21.6%) after five (ten) years. HGSC was only observed in *BRCA1* carriers. The role of adjuvant therapy and routine surveillance remains unclear, however, intense surveillance up to ten years is necessary.

Systematic Review Registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/, identifier CRD42021278340.

KEYWORDS

serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma (STIC), high-grade serous carcinoma (HGSC), precursor, peritoneal carcinomatosis, incidence, treatment, outcome

Introduction

Serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma (STIC) in the fimbriated end of the fallopian tube is regarded as the precursor lesion of pelvic (i.e. ovarian or peritoneal) highgrade serous cancer (HGSC) (1-3). Women with proven BRCA germline mutations have an increased risk of 10-60% for developing ovarian cancer. For these women, a riskreducing salpingo-oophorectomy (RRSO) is therefore recommended and presents the most effective method of prevention so far (4, 5). Occult carcinoma and/or STIC is detected in approximately 10-15% of these cases (1), isolated STIC is detected in approximately 2% (6). Metachronous peritoneal carcinomatosis after RRSO in high-risk patients occurs in approximately 4.5% (7) and predominantly in BRCA1 mutation carriers, usually within 5 years (8). Moreover, STIC diagnosis accompanies more than half of the cases with sporadic ovarian, tubal or primary peritoneal cancer (1). The incidence of STIC in patients with a normal risk of ovarian cancer is uncertain; however, a Canadian study reported STIC in eight out of 9392 women (<0.01%) with benign diagnoses (9). Accordingly, a recently published population-based, retrospective cohort study of all individuals in British Columbia, Canada, who underwent opportunistic salpingectomy or a control surgery (hysterectomy alone or tubal ligation), showed that the opportunistic salpingectomy group had significantly fewer serous and epithelial ovarian cancers than the control group (10). In the future, opportunistic salpingectomies will likely increase in routine surgery as a strategy for epithelial ovarian cancer prevention.

The SEE-FIM (Sectioning and Extensively Examining the FIMbria) protocol helps pathologists to detect these STIC lesions and is nowadays established for RRSOs after its first publication in February 2006 (11). Women with a proven isolated STIC lesion are at substantial risk to develop advanced HGSC and the metastatic pattern of a STIC remains unclear (6, 12, 13). Furthermore, consistent information on diagnostic necessities and therapeutical consequences for patients with STIC is lacking so far since most of the literature is focusing on pathological features (7).

The aim of this review was to determine the incidence of HGSC following a proven, isolated STIC diagnosis to discuss the management and follow-up of these women. Additional outcomes comprised the description of therapeutic and diagnostic options for STICs in the clinical routine.

Methods

Literature search and eligibility criteria

Our systematic review is based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement (14). It is registered at PROSPERO (CRD42021278340).

Three electronic bibliographical databases including MEDLINE (*via* Ovid), the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) and Web of Science were searched systematically from February 2006 to July 2021 (15). In February 2006, the SEE-FIM protocol was initially introduced to detect STICs in routine diagnostics regularly (11).

The search strategies for each database were conducted by a librarian from the Johannes Gutenberg- University Mainz according to the PICOS criteria (16). All search strategies included index terms as well as free text related to STIC. The search strategies are provided in the supplementary material (appendix A). The search was performed on 28th July 2021. Furthermore, studies included in related systematic reviews and meta-analyses were screened for eligibility. A de-duplication of database search results in EndNote was performed according to Bramer (17). Grey literature, such as conference abstracts, were not included.

Study inclusion criteria for review were the pathological diagnosis of isolated STIC and clinical follow-up. Patients with a STIC and a positive cytology were also included to maintain consistency with previous publications on this subject (7). Serous intraepithelial neoplasia is also known as STIC and was included (18). Study exclusion criteria for review were missing clinical data (follow-up) and publications restricted to pathological information only. In addition, the presence of synchronous gynaecological cancer and/or concurrent non-

10.3389/fonc.2022.951292

gynaecological malignancies were exclusion criteria. Patients with a STIC diagnosis at RRSO and with an upstaging to a HGSC at the following surgical staging were not included, since the HGSC might have been overlooked at the initial surgery. Meta-analyses, systematic reviews, literature review and case reports were not included. Results should be interpreted accordingly. Only the latest published data were reported in case of articles that were an update of previously published patients.

Data extraction

Title and abstract screening, as well as full-text screening, were conducted by two review authors (V.C.L and A.L.) independently. A third independent reviewer (M.J.B) was contacted in case of disagreements between the first two reviewers. Data extraction was performed by V.C.L. and rechecked independently by A.L. using a predefined EXCEL spread sheet. The following information was collected: age, personal history of breast cancer, genetic predispositions, surgical indications, preoperative serum CA-125 levels, preoperative pelvic ultrasound, surgical procedure, peritoneal washings, adjuvant treatment (e.g. completion surgery, chemotherapy), and follow-up.

Risk of bias assessment

For each cohort study adequateness was assessed by the following criteria based on a systematic review of Van der Hoeven in 2018 (19): STICs should be diagnosed according to predefined pathological criteria and by an expert pathologist. The reporting bias included the description of the original cohort size, the genetic predisposition, median or mean age at surgery, information about clinical staging and adjuvant treatment for the patients with STIC. The indication was considered adequate if the surgery and the treatment of STIC took place according to a predefined protocol. The reported follow-up was seen as adequate if the follow-up was given in months or years describing the presence or absence of recurrence.

Data synthesis and analysis

A pooled incidence of subsequent HGSC with a corresponding confidence interval (CI) after an isolated STIC diagnosis was calculated for all patients with an isolated STIC and follow-up. The median is shown with interquartile ranges (IQR) if possible. The Kaplan-Meier estimation was used to calculate the cumulative incidence of HGSC.

Staging procedures, adjuvant treatment and their outcome were described. Due to the limited number of recurrences, a risk stratification as well as a statistical analysis of the associations between staging, chemotherapy and recurrence was not performed (19).

A statistical analysis was carried out using SPSS version 27 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

In total, 3031 records were screened and 21 articles met our inclusion criteria as shown in the PRISMA flow chart in Figure 1.

We were able to include 112 patients out of these 21 articles (Table 1 and Table 2 for detailed information; Table 3 for overview). Median age was 52.3 (46.3-60) years. 71 (63.4%) patients were BRCA1 carriers, 18 (16.1%) patients were BRCA2 carriers. Eight (7.1%) patients were either BRCA1 or 2 positive. Four patients (3.6%) had a high risk and four patients a low risk of ovarian cancer. The BRCA status was unknown for five (4.5%) patients. Two (1.8%) were BRCA negative. One patient had a PALB2 mutation (31). RRSO was performed in 100 patients due to BRCA mutations or high-risk personal or family history. An opportunistic salping(o-oophor)ectomy was performed in the remaining twelve patients with an isolated STIC during surgery for benign reasons (ovarian cyst, cholecystectomy) (12, 34-36). In some cases, additional procedures were performed, mostly hysterectomies. All individual procedures are listed for each study in Table 1. Peritoneal washing during RRSO/surgery was reported in 80 (71.4%) cases of which nine (8%) were positive and one (0.9%) showed atypical cells. Six out of these nine patients had immediate reoperation for surgical staging. One patient declined the offer and opted for observation with CA-125 biannually and clinical review yearly for 3.5 years, and afterwards was discharged to the local medical officer (26). All of the surgical stagings showed no pathological findings and no subsequent HGSC was described in the follow-up.

The surgical staging procedures mostly included omentectomy and in some cases a pelvic and paraaortic lymph node dissection (see Table 1).

In the study of Wethington and colleagues, all patients with an isolated STIC were offered a surgical staging, including hysterectomy, omentectomy and in five cases pelvic and paraaortic lymph node dissections. All procedures were without pathological findings. Three patients declined a surgical staging (6). Postoperative imaging as staging was hardly reported. Four out of 12 patients in the cohort of Wethington had an additional postoperative imaging without pathological findings (6).



14 out of 112 (12.5%) patients received adjuvant chemotherapy consisting of a combination of Carboplatin and Paclitaxel. Five out of nine patients with a positive washing received chemotherapy as well as seven patients with a negative cytology and one patient with a nonreported cytology. Follow-up mostly included clinical observation with CA-125 yearly. Pooled median follow up was 36 months (IQR: 25.3-84).

Eight out of 112 patients developed a subsequent HGSC (7.1%, 95% CI 2.3-12%), listed in Table 4. Pooled median time to recurrence were 42.5 (IQR: 33-72) months. The five (ten)- year-HGSC rate was 10.5% (21.6%), determined by the Kaplan-Meier estimation (Figure 2). The latest HGSC recurred 118 months after the diagnosis of STIC at RRSO/surgery. Seven out of eight patients were *BRCA1* carriers and one patient had an unknown *BRCA* status since STIC was detected after revaluation of a salpingectomy during cholecystectomy (36). No *BRCA2* carrier presented a recurrence in the selected studies. A recurrence

occurred in four patients with a negative peritoneal washing, in three patients in which no pelvic washing was done and in one patient without a reported peritoneal cytology at the time of the first surgery.

Risk of bias assessment

The risk of bias assessment is shown in appendix B. In 10/21 (48%) studies, STIC was diagnosed according to predefined pathological criteria. 17/21 (81%) studies reported the mutation status for the cohort. 11/21 (52%) studies operated according to a predefined protocol and only one study had a predefined treatment protocol for STIC. In general, adjuvant treatment was adequately described in 13/21 (61%) studies. Two studies had a predefined protocol for the follow-up of patients with STIC. Finally, 18/21 (86%) studies reported an adequate follow-up for patients with STIC.

Reference	Number of cases (STIC/ total RRSO or per- formed surgeries)	Median age (range) or mean age in years	Previous cancer	BRCA status/ mutation status	CA 125	Pelvic USG	Cytology outcome at RRSO/ surgery	Additional proce- dure at RRSO/ surgery and outcome
				High-risk cohor	t			
Blok 2019 (13)	4/527	54 (47.8- 67)	Breast (1)	BRCA1 (3) BRCA2 (1)	Normal (4)	Normal (4)	Negative (2) ND (2)	
Carcangiu 2006 (20)	3/50	52.7 (+/- 7.2)	Breast (3)	BRCA1 (3)	Normal (3)	Normal (3)	Negative (2) NR (1)	TAH with USO (1)
Conner 2014 (21)	11/349	49 (41-53)	Breast (2)	BRCA1 (5) BRCA2 (1) BRCA1 or 2 (5)	ND (11)	ND (11)	Negative (6) NR (5)	
Gornjec 2020 (22)	3/155	62 (+/- 8.2)	NR (3)	BRCA1 (2) High-risk (1)	Normal (3)	Normal (3)	Negative (3)	
Lamb 2006 (23)	4/113	49.5 (46.3- 61.8)	NR (4)	BRCA1 (3) BRCA2 (1)	NR (4)	NR (4)	Positive (1) Negative (3)	
Miller 2017 (24)	3/70	47.4 (+/- 8.6)	NR (3)	BRCA1 (3)	NR (3)	NR (3)	Negative (3)	Peritoneal and omental biopsies (3): negative
Minig 2018 (25)	3/359	56.3 (+/- 5.7)	Breast (1)	BRCA1 or 2 (3)	Normal (3)	Normal (3)	Negative (2) Positive (1)	
Poon 2016 (26)	3/138	52.3 (49- 57)	Breast (1)	BRCA1 (2) BRCA2 (1)	NR (3)	NR (3)	Negative (1) Positive (atypical cells) (1) ND (1)	
Powell 2013 (27)	16/407	52.5 (47.5- 61.8)	NR (16)	BRCA1 (13) BRCA2 (3)	Normal (14) ND (2)	Normal (11) ND (2) Ovarian cyst (2) Hydrosalpinx (1)	Negative (13) Positive (3)	
Reitsma 2013 (28)	3/360	54.3 (+/- 3.8)	Breast (1)	BRCA2 (2) BRCA2 UV (1)	Normal (3)	Normal (3)	Negative (3)	
Ricciardi 2017 (29)	7/411	54 (43-67)	Breast (6)	BRCA1 (7)	Normal (7)	Normal (7)	Negative (7)	
Rudaitis 2020 (30)	7/71	45 (43-52)	Breast (1)	BRCA1 (7)	ND (7)	Normal (7)	NR/ND (7)	
Rush 2020 (31)	9/644	47 (42.5- 57.5)	Breast (4)	BRCA1 (6) BRCA2 (2) PALB2 (1)	Normal (9)	NR (9)	Negative (7) Positive (2)	TLH (5) TAH (2)
Selmes 2015 (32)	1/93	40	Breast (1)	BRCA1 (1)	NR (1)	NR (1)	ND (1)	
Van der Hoeven 2018 (19)	2/235	56.5 (+/- 26.2)	Breast (1)	BRCA1 (2)	Normal (2)	Normal (2)	ND (2)	
Wethington 2013 (6)	12/593	48.5 (44.3- 66.5)	Breast (2)	BRCA1 (5) BRCA2 (4) BRCA2 rearrangement (1) Unknown, but high risk (2)	Normal (12)	Normal (10) ND (2)	Negative (11) Positive (1)	Serous adenofibroma (1) Endosalpingiosis (1)
Zakhour 2016 (33)	9/257	57.1 (49.5- 66.5)	No (9)	BRCA1 (8) BRCA2 (1)	Normal (12)	Normal (12)	Negative (7) Negative: Atypic cells (1) ND (1)	HE (2)

TABLE 1 Detailed characteristics of all included patients with isolated STIC (white: high-risk cohort; grey: low-risk cohort).

(Continued)

Reference	Number of cases (STIC/ total RRSO or per- formed surgeries)	Median age (range) or mean age in years	Previous cancer	BRCA status/ mutation status	CA 125	Pelvic USG	Cytology outcome at RRSO/ surgery	Additional proce- dure at RRSO/ surgery and outcome
				Low-risk coho	rt			
Chay 2016 (12)	5 (unknown)	52 (48.5- 63)	Breast (1) NR (3)	BRCA1 (1) NR (4)	NR (4) Elevated (1)	Ovarian mass (1) Ovarian cyst (1)	NR (1) ND (4)	USO + USE (1): ovarian fibroma (1) TAH (2); Ovarian cyst (1) Endometriosis(2) Hydrosalpinx(1)
Morrison 2015 (34)	3 (unknown)	58 (+/- 7.2)	NR (3)	NR (3)	NR (3)	NR (3)	NR (3)	HE (3) Uterine leiomyomas (2)
Rabban 2014 (35)	3/522	64 (+/- 18.5)	No (3)	Negative (1) ND (2)	NR (3)	Adnexal cyst (3)	NR/ND (3)	USO (1)
Tomasch 2020 (36)	1/98	57	NR (1)	Unknown (1)	NR (1)	NR (1)	NR (1)	Cholecystectomy and bilateral prophylactic salpingectomy

TABLE 1 Continued

HE, hysterectomy; ND, not done; NR, not reported; RRSO, risk reducing salpingo-oophorectomy; STIC, serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma; TAH, total abdominal hysterectomy; TLH, total laparoscopic hysterectomy; USE, unilateral salpingectomy; USG, ultrasound scan test; USO, unilateral salpingo-oophorectomy; UV, unknown variant. If possible, median age with interquartile range was calculated.

Discussion

Summary of main results and results in the context of published literature

In our review, the rate for subsequent HGSC after an isolated STIC diagnosis was 7.1%. In literature, recurrence rates in patients with isolated STIC ranged from 0-22% (21, 26, 28, 33), mostly due to small numbers of patients per study. One systematic review reported a rate of 4.5% in 2015 (7) and a more recent one in 2018 a rate of 11% (19). Our rate of recurrence may be more accurate since all patients with isolated STIC and available follow-up of the current literature were included. It is important to note that our rate might be probably increased with a longer follow-up of patients after an isolated STIC diagnosis, because the pooled median follow-up was 36 months and the pooled recurrence was detected more than half a year later after 42.5 months. A long follow-up is necessary to be able to determine the real incidence of HGSC. Our study determined a high and clinically relevant cancer risk for HGSC after STIC diagnosis of 10.5% (21.6%) after five (ten) years according to the Kaplan-Meier estimation. This again underlines the importance of a long follow-up, especially if we consider that the latest recurrence occurred almost 10 years after initial surgery. During the preparation of the manuscript, Steenbeek and colleagues published a systematic review about the risk of peritoneal carcinomatosis after RRSO with similar results in February 2022. They report a five- and ten- year- risk of developing peritoneal carcinomatosis of 10.5% and 27.5% after RRSO, respectively (37). Due to the prior closure of our data collection, we could not include their newly published STIC cases.

Interestingly, only *BRCA1* carriers developed a subsequent HGSC. In general, *BRCA1* carriers have the highest risk of occult neoplasia at RRSO (31). For all *BRCA* mutation carriers, a 3.5% cumulative risk for peritoneal cancer after prophylactic ophorectomy was reported after 20 years of follow-up (38). One STIC patient had a *PALB2* gene mutation which is also involved in hereditary breast and ovarian cancer but insufficiently determines the ovarian cancer risk (39, 40).

Strengths and weaknesses

We present a comprehensive review on published clinical outcomes and treatment modalities of patients with isolated STIC. Our strength is that our study contains the largest patient collective with isolated STIC and follow-up in the high-risk and especially the low-risk population so far. An increase in the number of STIC patients in the low-risk population is expected because opportunistic salpingectomies are recommended during routine surgery to prevent epithelial ovarian cancer (10).

However, our study reanalysed published data. The quality of collected data was low and with significant risk of bias (see appendix B). The latter included incomplete clinical data, heterogeneous follow-up data, e.g. only the mean data was
Reference	STIC cases with follow- up	Surgical staging after positive washings at RRSO	Surgical staging after negative wash- ings at RRSO	Surgical staging after unre- ported or nor performed washings at RRSO	Chemo- therapy	Median follow-up (range) or mean (+/- SD) in months	Status at follow-up	Recurrence	Additional informa- tion on recurrences	Additional information
Blok 2019 (13)	4		ND (2)	ND (2)	High-risk ND (4)	cohort 62.1 (3.1- 131.3)	Alive (2) NED (2)	PPSC (2)	Recurrence after 80 and 118 months: both with unknown cytology at RRSO, no staging or chemotherapy thereafter	
Carcangiu 2006 (20)	3		ND (2)	ND (1)	ND (3)	44 (+/- 40.3)	NED (3)			
Conner 2014 (21)	11		Surgical staging (3) (no details): negative ND (3) ND (5)		6 cycles C/P (2) 2 cycles C/P (1) ND (8)	60 (24- 84)	Alive (11)	Yes (1)	Elevated serum CA125 and ascites (1) 48 months after RRSO, but no tissue diagnostic	
Gornjec 2020 (22)	3		Surgical staging (3): negative		ND (3)	29 (15- 51)	NED (3)			Staging procedure not described
Lamb 2006 (23)	4	"second look operation" (1): negative	ND (3)		6 cycles C/P (1; positive washing) 3 cycles	28 (unkown)	NED (4)			
Miller 2017 (24)	3	-	NR (3)		NR (3)	32.5 (+/- 24.7)	NED (3)			Data for cohort, not exclusively for STIC patients
Minig 2018 (25)	3	OE, PPALND(1): negative	ND (2)		ND (3)	23 (+/- 10.8)	NED (3)			
Poon 2016 (26)	3	Offered (1): Surgical staging versus observation: Patient opted for observation with CA-125 and clinical review 6/ 12 for 3.5 years. Patient discharged to LMO with yearly CA-125.	ND (1), Observation	Offered (1): Surgical staging versus observation. Patient opted for observation with yearly CA- 125.	ND (3)	79.3 (+/- 31.9)	NED (3)			
Powell 2013 (27)	16	Staging surgery without lymph node excision (2)/with lymph node excision (1)	Staging surgery without lymph node excision (4)/with lymph node excision (2)		ND (12) 6 cycles C/P (2, positive washing) 3 cycles C/P (2,	79 (59.5- 100.5)	NED (15)	Yes (1)	43 months after RRSO: omental deposits	

TABLE 2 Follow-up of patients with STIC included in our systematic review in alphabetical order (white: high-risk cohort; grey: low-risk cohort).

(Continued)

TABLE 2 Continued

Reference	STIC cases with follow- up	Surgical staging after positive washings at RRSO	Surgical staging after negative wash- ings at RRSO	Surgical staging after unre- ported or nor performed washings at RRSO	Chemo- therapy	Median follow-up (range) or mean (+/- SD) in months	Status at follow-up	Recurrence	Additional informa- tion on recurrences	Additional information
					negative washing, no surgical staging)					
Reitsma 2013 (28)	3		ND (3)		NR (3)	12 (+/- 12.5)	NED (3)			
Ricciardi 2017 (29)	7		Surgical staging (4): laparoscopic HE, OE, random peritoneal biopsies and peritoneal washing: No malignancies		ND (7)	30 (9-84)	NED (7)			
Rudaitis 2020 (30)	7	NR/ND	NR/ND	NR/ND	ND (7)	54 (37.2- 63.6)	NED (7)			
Rush 2020 (31)	9	NR	NR		6 cycles C/P (2; positive washings) 3 cycles C/P (2; negative washings)	144 (42- 192)	NED (9)			
Selmes 2015 (32)	1			NR (1)	NR(1)	22	NED (1)			
Van der Hoeven 2018 (19)	2			ND (2)	ND (2)	78 (59- 96)	Dead of disease (1)	Yes (1)	36 months after RRSO, died 59 months after RRSO at disease Deceased due to breast cancer (1)	
Wethington 2013 (6)	12	Surgical staging (1): TAH, omentectomy, biopsies: negative	TH(7), OE (7) Peritoneal biopsies (6) Diaphragm biopsies (3) PLND (1) PPALND (5) Surgical staging		ND (12)	28 (20- 33.8)	NED (12)			4 patients had additional postoperative imaging: normal

(Continued)

TABLE 2 Continued

Reference	STIC cases with follow- up	Surgical staging after positive washings at RRSO	Surgical staging after negative wash- ings at RRSO	Surgical staging after unre- ported or nor performed washings at RRSO	Chemo- therapy	Median follow-up (range) or mean (+/- SD) in months	Status at follow-up	Recurrence	Additional informa- tion on recurrences	Additional information
			declined (3) or performed outside the hospital (1): negative							
Zakhour 2016 (33)	9		ND (8)	ND (1)	ND (9)	81.3 (38.5- 109.5)	NED (9)	PPSC (2)	Recurrences after 32 and 42 months: both with negative cytology and negative HE at RRSO, no staging or chemotherapy thereafter	
Low-risk cohort										
Chay 2016 (12)	5			Surgical staging (1): vaginal HE, peritoneal washing, OE, PPALND sampling: no malignancies	ND (5)	25 (11.5- 83)	NED (5)	No (5)		2° diagnosis of TNBC (BRCA1 mutation) 2° diagnosis of colon cancer (HGSC)
Morrison 2015 (34)	3			ND (3)	4 cycles C/P (1)	6.7 (+/- 4.6)	NED (3)	No (3)		Non-prophylactic setting
Rabban 2014 (35)	3			Surgical staging (1): HE, completion salpingo- oophorectomy, lymph node dissection, OE: No malignancies	ND (3)	14 (+/- 10.1)	NED (3)		-	
Tomasch 2020 (36)	1			ND (1)	ND (1)	28	Peritoneal carcinomatosis (HGSC)	Yes (1)		Prophylactic salpingectomy at the time of elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy. No clinical data available. STIC was overseen and later on detected with the SEE-FIM protocol.

C/P, Carboplatin/Paclitaxel; HE, hysterectomy; HGSC, high-grade serous cancer; LAVH, laparoscopic-assisted vaginal hysterectomy; LMO, local medical officer; NED, no evidence of disease; OE, omentectomy; PLND, pelvic lymph node dissection; PPALND, pelvic and paraaortic lymph node dissection; PPSC, primary peritoneal serous carcinoma; RRSO, risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy, SEE-FIM, Sectioning and Extensively Examining the FIMbria; STIC, serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma; TNBC, triple negative breast cancer.

TABLE 3 Overview of the 112 included STIC patients.

Characteristics	112 patients
Median age (years)	52.3 (46.3-60)
BRCA status (%)	71 (63.4)
-BRCA1	18 (16.1)
-BRCA2	8 (7.1)
-BRCA1 or 2	9 (8.0)
-Low risk/unknown	
Peritoneal washing at RRSO/surgery (%)	70 (62.5)
-Negative	9 (8.0)
-Positive	1 (0.9)
-Atypical cells	32 (28.6)
-Not done/not reported	
Surgical staging (%)	32 (28.6); no malignancies
-Performed	detected
-Not done/not reported	80 (71.4)
Adjuvant treatment (%) -Chemotherapy	14 (12.5)
Recurrence (%)	8 (7.1)
Median time to recurrence with interquartile range (months)	42.5 (33-72)
Time to latest recurrence (months)	118
Risk for HGSC (%)	10.5
-5 years	21.6
-10 years	
Median follow-up (months)	36 (25.3-84)

HGSC, high-grade serous carcinoma; RRSO, risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy; STIC, serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma.

TABLE 4 Characteristics of the eight STIC patients with subsequent HGSC.

given, the lack of data regarding a standard diagnostic, staging, treatment and surveillance. An important confounder in many studies was the short follow-up period after the STIC diagnosis, which might disguise the real rate of subsequent HGSC after RRSO/salpingectomy.

The impact of STIC in a low risk population is difficult to assess due to the lack of information. A Canadian study reported STIC in eight out of 9392 women (<0.01%) with benign diagnoses who had a normal risk of ovarian cancer using the SEE-FIM protocol (9). However, the SEE-FIM protocol was not routinely applied in non-RRSO surgery in the past and therefore published data on the incidence of STIC low-risk populations should be interpreted with caution. In general, diagnosing STIC is challenging with only moderate reproducibility. A recently published systematic review suggests not only the use of the SEE-FIM protocol, but also evaluation by a subspecialized pathologist, rational use of immunohistochemical staining, and obtaining a second opinion from a colleague to secure the diagnosis (41). Furthermore, there can also be a HGSC unrelated to a STIC diagnosis. Another bias is that STIC patients with positive washings were included to maintain the comparability to previous studies (7). However, not every patient received a subsequent surgical staging to eliminate the risk of a HGSC. The impact of positive peritoneal washings remains unclear as well. The routine use of peritoneal biopsies during RRSO does not seem to improve the detection of occult malignancies (42). In our review, nine patients had a positive washing and six

Patient number	Age at RRSO/ surgery	Menopausal status at RRSO/surgery	BRCA gene involved	Peritoneal washing	Additional pro- cedures at RRSO/surgery	Surgical staging	Adjuvant treatment	Recurrence	Time to recurrence (months)
1 (Blok 2019) (13)	46	premenopausal	BRCA1	ND	ND/NR	ND	ND	PPSC	118
2 (Blok 2019) (13)	53	premenopausal	BRCA1	ND	ND/NR	ND	ND	PPSC	80
3 (Conner 2014) (21)	46	NR	BRCA1	negative	ND	ND	ND	Elevated serum CA125 and ascites	48
4 (Powell 2013) (27)	49	NR	BRCA1	negative	HE	ND	ND	Omental deposits	43
5 (Tomasch 2020) (36)	57	NR	Low risk (unknown)	ND	Cholecystectomy	ND	ND	Peritoneal carcinomatosis (HGSC)	28
6 (Van der Hoeven, 2018) (19)	54	NR	BRCA1	NR	ND	ND	ND	Recurrence at peritoneum, omentum, uterus	36
7 (Zakhour 2016) (33)	50	NR	BRCA1	negative	HE	ND	ND	PPSC	97
8 (Zakhour 2016) (33)	60	NR	BRCA1	negative	ND	ND	ND	PPSC	104

HE, Hysterectomy; HGSC, high-grade serous carcinoma; PPSC, primary peritoneal serous carcinoma; ND, not done; NR, not reported; RRSO, risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy; STIC, serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma.



underwent surgical staging without pathological findings. No patient with a positive washing developed a recurrence. According to the study of Wethington 15% of the peritoneal washings were positive at the time of RRSO and therefore recommended as a component of RRSO (6).

Implications for practice and future research; conclusion

Clinical management of STIC is still a matter of debate. It is important that patients are informed about their potential risk of developing pelvic HGSC after a STIC diagnosis. A surgical staging should be considered (43), especially in cases of a positive peritoneal washing at initial RRSO/surgery to reduce the risk of synchronous HGSC. A surgical staging mostly included hysterectomy, omentectomy, pelvic and paraaortic lymph node dissection and peritoneal washing in the published studies. In case of a positive peritoneal washing at initial surgery, which implies circulating malignant cells in the peritoneal cavity, some institutions offered adjuvant chemotherapy. The latter usually comprised six cycles of Carboplatin and Paclitaxel. However, if the surgical staging is without evidence of disease, observation remains a reasonable option and avoids possible chemotherapy-induced adverse events (6). Adjuvant chemotherapy for intraepithelial neoplasia is not recommended any longer (31, 43). A radiological staging was rarely reported in our study.

Routine surveillance is recommended for the next years of follow-up, because the time from STIC to invasive cancer has been suggested to be approximately seven years and has guided the recommendation for RRSO in *BRCA1* patients at the age of 35–40 years (44). This is coherent with the findings of Stanciu and colleagues who published seven cases with isolated STICs. Two of these patients (28%) developed peritoneal HGSC within 53 and 75 months after RRSO. The publication was not included in our study, because the follow-up of the five other patients with isolated STIC was missing (45).

To date, no effective screening tool exists to monitor STIC patients (26). Most of the published studies included annual clinical check-ups with pelvic ultrasound and in some cases routine evaluation of serum CA-125. *BRCA* status should be checked in cases of isolated STIC as well. No routine screening for ovarian HGSC should be offered to women of the general population. Two prospective randomized trials could not reduce ovarian cancer mortality with simultaneous screening of CA-125 and transvaginal ultrasound compared with usual care in the normal population (46, 47).

To summarize, several questions concerning STIC remain unclear and the therapy may require an individualized treatment plan. We are urgently in need of registries for longer follow-up data of STIC patients to assess the real incidence of HGSC after a STIC diagnosis. Future multicentre and international efforts are needed to generate a large cohort of patients with STIC to allow further subgroup analyses, e.g. regarding histopathological characteristics. In the meantime, systematic reviews will help to gather information and to define and update guidelines for the management of STIC.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: VL, AL, AH and MB. Design: VL. and AL. Data acquisition: VL, AL and MB. Analysis and interpretation: VL, AL and MB. Writing- original draft of the manuscript: VL. Writing - review and editing: VL, AL, JV, AH and MB. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Li HX, Lu ZH, Shen K, Cheng WJ, Malpica A, Zhang J, et al. Advances in serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma: correlation with high grade serous carcinoma and ovarian carcinogenesis. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* (2014) 7(3):848–57.

2. Kurman RJ, Shih Ie M. The origin and pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer: a proposed unifying theory. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2010) 34(3):433-43. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181cf3d79

3. Piek JM, van Diest PJ, Zweemer RP, Jansen JW, Poort-Keesom RJ, Menko FH, et al. Dysplastic changes in prophylactically removed fallopian tubes of women predisposed to developing ovarian cancer. *J Pathol* (2001) 195(4):451–6. doi: 10.1002/path.1000

4. Eleje GU, Eke AC, Ezebialu IU, Ikechebelu JI, Ugwu EO, Okonkwo OO. Riskreducing bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy in women with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2018) 8:CD012464. doi: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD012464.pub2

5. Rebbeck TR, Kauff ND, Domchek SM. Meta-analysis of risk reduction estimates associated with risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy in BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation carriers. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2009) 101(2):80–7. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djn442

6. Wethington SL, Park KJ, Soslow RA, Kauff ND, Brown CL, Dao F, et al. Clinical outcome of isolated serous tubal intraepithelial carcinomas (STIC). *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2013) 23(9):1603–11. doi: 10.1097/IGC.0b013e3182a80ac8

7. Patrono MG, Iniesta MD, Malpica A, Lu KH, Fernandez RO, Salvo G, et al. Clinical outcomes in patients with isolated serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma (STIC): A comprehensive review. *Gynecologic Oncol* (2015) 139(3):568–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.09.018

8. Harmsen MG, Piek JMJ, Bulten J, Casey MJ, Rebbeck TR, Mourits MJ, et al. Peritoneal carcinomatosis after risk-reducing surgery in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers. *Cancer* (2018) 124(5):952–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31211

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Lorena Cascant Ortolano from the library of the Johannes Gutenberg- University Mainz for her support in conducting the literature search.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fonc.2022.951292/full#supplementary-material

9. Samimi G, Trabert B, Geczik AM, Duggan MA, Sherman ME. Population frequency of serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma (STIC) in clinical practice using SEE-fim protocol. *JNCI Cancer Spectr* (2018) 2(4):pky061. doi: 10.1093/jncics/pky061

10. Hanley GE, Pearce CL, Talhouk A, Kwon JS, Finlayson SJ, McAlpine JN, et al. Outcomes from opportunistic salpingectomy for ovarian cancer prevention. *JAMA Netw Open* (2022) 5(2):e2147343. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen. 2021.47343

11. Medeiros F, Muto MG, Lee Y, Elvin JA, Callahan MJ, Feltmate C, et al. The tubal fimbria is a preferred site for early adenocarcinoma in women with familial ovarian cancer syndrome. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2006) 30(2):230–6. doi: 10.1097/01.pas.0000180854.28831.77

12. Chay WY, McCluggage WG, Lee CH, Kobel M, Irving J, Millar J, et al. Outcomes of incidental fallopian tube high-grade serous carcinoma and serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma in women at low risk of hereditary breast and ovarian cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2016) 26(3):431–6. doi: 10.1097/IGC.000000000006639

13. Blok F, Dasgupta S, Dinjens WNM, Roes EM, van Beekhuizen HJ, Ewing-Graham PC. Retrospective study of a 16year cohort of BRCA1 and BRCA2 carriers presenting for RRSO: Prevalence of invasive and in-situ carcinoma, with follow-up. *Gynecol Oncol* (2019) 153(2):326-34. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2019.03.003

14. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

15. Goossen K, Tenckhoff S, Probst P, Grummich K, Mihaljevic AL, Buchler MW, et al. Optimal literature search for systematic reviews in surgery. *Langenbecks Arch Surg* (2018) 403(1):119–29. doi: 10.1007/s00423-017-1646-x

16. da Costa Santos CM, de Mattos Pimenta CA, Nobre MR. The PICO strategy for the research question construction and evidence search. *Rev Lat Am Enfermagem* (2007) 15(3):508–11. doi: 10.1590/S0104-11692007000300023

17. Bramer WM, Giustini D, de Jonge GB, Holland L, Bekhuis T. Deduplication of database search results for systematic reviews in EndNote. J Med Libr Assoc (2016) 104(3):240–3. doi: 10.3163/1536-5050.104.3.014

18. Perrone ME, Reder NP, Agoff SN, Garcia RL, Agnew KJ, Norquist BM, et al. An alternate diagnostic algorithm for the diagnosis of intraepithelial fallopian tube lesions. *Int J Gynecol Pathol* (2020) 39(3):261–9. doi: 10.1097/PGP. 000000000000604

19. Van der Hoeven NMA, Van Wijk K, Bonfrer SE, Beltman JJ, Louwe LA, De Kroon CD, et al. Outcome and prognostic impact of surgical staging in serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma: A cohort study and systematic review. *Clin Oncol (Royal Coll Radiologists)* (2018) 30(8):463–71. doi: 10.1016/j.clon.2018.03.036

20. Carcangiu ML, Peissel B, Pasini B, Spatti G, Radice P, Manoukian S. Incidental carcinomas in prophylactic specimens in BRCA1 and BRCA2 germline mutation carriers, with emphasis on fallopian tube lesions: Report of 6 cases and review of the literature. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2006) 30(10):1222–30. doi: 10.1097/ 01.pas.0000202161.80739.ac

21. Conner JR, Meserve E, Pizer E, Garber J, Roh M, Urban N, et al. Outcome of unexpected adnexal neoplasia discovered during risk reduction salpingooophorectomy in women with germ-line BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations. *Gynecologic Oncol* (2014) 132(2):280–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2013.12.009

22. Gornjec A, Merlo S, Novakovic S, Stegel V, Gazic B, Perhavec A, et al. The prevalence of occult ovarian cancer in the series of 155 consequently operated high risk asymptomatic patients - Slovenian population based study. *Radiol Oncol* (2020) 54(2):180–6. doi: 10.2478/raon-2020-0020

23. Lamb JD, Garcia RL, Goff BA, Paley PJ, Swisher EM. Predictors of occult neoplasia in women undergoing risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2006) 194(6):1702–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2006.03.006

24. Miller H, Pipkin LS, Tung C, Hall TR, Masand RP, Anderson ML. The role of routine peritoneal and omental biopsies at risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy. *J Minimally Invasive Gynecol* (2017) 24(5):772–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2017.03.001

25. Minig L, Cabrera S, Oliver R, Couso A, Rubio MJ, Iacoponi S, et al. Pathology findings and clinical outcomes after risk reduction salpingooophorectomy in BRCA mutation carriers: a multicenter Spanish study. *Clin Trans Oncol: Off Publ Fed Spanish Oncol Societes Natl Cancer Institute Mexico* (2018) 20(10):1337-44. doi: 10.1007/s12094-018-1865-9

26. Poon C, Hyde S, Grant P, Newman M, Ireland Jenkin K. Incidence and characteristics of unsuspected neoplasia discovered in high-risk women undergoing risk reductive bilateral salpingooophorectomy. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2016) 26(8):1415–20. doi: 10.1097/IGC.00000000000791

27. Powell CB, Swisher EM, Cass I, McLennan J, Norquist B, Garcia RL, et al. Long term follow up of BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers with unsuspected neoplasia identified at risk reducing salpingo-oophorectomy. *Gynecologic Oncol* (2013) 129(2):364–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2013.01.029

28. Reitsma W, de Bock GH, Oosterwijk JC, Bart J, Hollema H, Mourits MJ. Support of the 'fallopian tube hypothesis' in a prospective series of risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy specimens. *Eur J Cancer* (2013) 49(1):132–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2012.07.021

29. Ricciardi E, Tomao F, Aletti G, Bazzurini L, Bocciolone L, Boveri S, et al. Risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy in women at higher risk of ovarian and breast cancer: A single institution prospective series. *Anticancer Res* (2017) 37 (9):5241–8. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11948

30. Rudaitis V, Mikliusas V, Januska G, Jukna P, Mickys U, Janavicius R. The incidence of occult ovarian neoplasia and cancer in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers after the bilateral prophylactic salpingo-oophorectomy (PBSO): A single-center prospective study. *Eur J Obstetrics Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2020) 247:26–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2020.01.040

31. Rush SK, Swisher EM, Garcia RL, Pennington KP, Agnew KJ, Kilgore MR, et al. Pathologic findings and clinical outcomes in women undergoing risk-reducing surgery to prevent ovarian and fallopian tube carcinoma: A large prospective single institution experience. *Gynecologic Oncol* (2020) 157(2):514–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2020.02.006

32. Selmes G, Ferron G, Filleron T, Querleu D, Mery E. Early epithelial lesions in prophylactic annexectomies in patients at high risk of ovarian cancer: Report of a series of 93 cases. *Gynecologie Obstetrique Fertilite* (2015) 43(10):659–64. doi: 10.1016/j.gyobfe.2015.07.006

33. Zakhour M, Danovitch Y, Lester J, Rimel BJ, Walsh CS, Li AJ, et al. Occult and subsequent cancer incidence following risk-reducing surgery in BRCA mutation carriers. *Gynecologic Oncol* (2016) 143(2):231–5. doi: 10.1016/ j.ygyno.2016.08.336

34. Morrison JC, Blanco LZJr., Vang R, Ronnett BM. Incidental serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma and early invasive serous carcinoma in the nonprophylactic setting: analysis of a case series. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2015) 39 (4):442–53. doi: 10.1097/PAS.00000000000352

35. Rabban JT, Garg K, Crawford B, Chen LM, Zaloudek CJ. Early detection of high-grade tubal serous carcinoma in women at low risk for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer syndrome by systematic examination of fallopian tubes incidentally removed during benign surgery. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2014) 38(6):729–42. doi: 10.1097/PAS.00000000000199

36. Tomasch G, Lemmerer M, Oswald S, Uranitsch S, Schauer C, Schutz AM, et al. Prophylactic salpingectomy for prevention of ovarian cancer at the time of elective laparoscopic cholecystectomy. *Br J Surg* (2020) 107(5):519–24. doi: 10.1002/bjs.11419

37. Steenbeek MP, van Bommel MHD, Bulten J, Hulsmann JA, Bogaerts J, Garcia C, et al. Risk of peritoneal carcinomatosis after risk-reducing salpingooophorectomy: A systematic review and individual patient data meta-analysis. *J Clin Oncol* (2022) 40(17):JCO2102016. doi: 10.1200/JCO.21.02016

38. Casey MJ, Synder C, Bewtra C, Narod SA, Watson P, Lynch HT. Intraabdominal carcinomatosis after prophylactic oophorectomy in women of hereditary breast ovarian cancer syndrome kindreds associated with BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations. *Gynecol Oncol* (2005) 97(2):457–67. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2005.01.039

39. Bono M, Fanale D, Incorvaia L, Cancelliere D, Fiorino A, Calo V, et al. Impact of deleterious variants in other genes beyond BRCA1/2 detected in breast/ ovarian and pancreatic cancer patients by NGS-based multi-gene panel testing: looking over the hedge. *ESMO Open* (2021) 6(4):100235. doi: 10.1016/ j.esmoop.2021.100235

40. Samuel D, Diaz-Barbe A, Pinto A, Schlumbrecht M, George S. Hereditary ovarian carcinoma: Cancer pathogenesis looking beyond BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Cells* (2022) 11(3). doi: 10.3390/cells11030539

41. Bogaerts JMA, Steenbeek MP, van Bommel MHD, Bulten J, van der Laak J, de Hullu JA, et al. Recommendations for diagnosing STIC: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Virchows Arch* (2022) 480(4):725–37. doi: 10.1007/s00428-021-03244-w

42. Marchetti C, Arcieri M, Vertechy L, Ergasti R, Russo G, Zannoni GF, et al. Risk reducing surgery with peritoneal staging in BRCA1-2 mutation carriers. a prospective study. *Eur J Surg Oncol* (2022). doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2022.07.007

43. Colombo N, Sessa C, du Bois A, Ledermann J, McCluggage WG, McNeish I, et al. ESMO-ESGO consensus conference recommendations on ovarian cancer: pathology and molecular biology, early and advanced stages, borderline tumours and recurrent diseasedagger. *Ann Oncol* (2019) 30(5):672–705. doi: 10.1093/ annonc/mdz062

44. Labidi-Galy SI, Papp E, Hallberg D, Niknafs N, Adleff V, Noe M, et al. High grade serous ovarian carcinomas originate in the fallopian tube. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):1093. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00962-1

45. Stanciu PI, Ind TEJ, Barton DPJ, Butler JB, Vroobel KM, Attygalle AD, et al. Development of peritoneal carcinoma in women diagnosed with serous tubal intraepithelial carcinoma (stic) following risk-reducing salpingo-oophorectomy (rrso). *J Ovarian Res* (2019) 12(1):50. doi: 10.1186/s13048-019-0525-1

46. Menon U, Gentry-Maharaj A, Burnell M, Singh N, Ryan A, Karpinskyj C, et al. Ovarian cancer population screening and mortality after long-term follow-up in the UK collaborative trial of ovarian cancer screening (UKCTOCS): A randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2021) 397(10290):2182–93. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00731-5

47. Buys SS, Partridge E, Black A, Johnson CC, Lamerato L, Isaacs C, et al. Effect of screening on ovarian cancer mortality: the prostate, lung, colorectal and ovarian (PLCO) cancer screening randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* (2011) 305(22):2295–303. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.766

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Elena Ioana Braicu, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

REVIEWED BY Pengming Sun, Fujian Medical University, China Neda Slade, Rudjer Boskovic Institute, Croatia

*CORRESPONDENCE Nicole Concin nicole.concin@i-med.ac.at Robert Zeillinger robert.zeillinger@muv.ac.at

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 23 June 2022 ACCEPTED 17 August 2022 PUBLISHED 08 September 2022

CITATION

Heinzl N, Koziel K, Maritschnegg E, Berger A, Pechriggl E, Fiegl H, Zeimet AG, Marth C, Zeillinger R and Concin N (2022) A comparison of four technologies for detecting p53 aggregates in ovarian cancer. *Front. Oncol.* 12:976725. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.976725

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Heinzl, Koziel, Maritschnegg, Berger, Pechriggl, Fiegl, Zeimet, Marth, Zeillinger and Concin. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A comparison of four technologies for detecting p53 aggregates in ovarian cancer

Nicole Heinzl¹, Katarzyna Koziel², Elisabeth Maritschnegg¹, Astrid Berger², Elisabeth Pechriggl³, Heidi Fiegl², Alain G. Zeimet², Christian Marth², Robert Zeillinger^{1*} and Nicole Concin^{2*}

¹Molecular Oncology Group, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Comprehensive Cancer Center-Gynecologic Cancer Unit, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ²Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Innsbruck Medical University, Innsbruck, Austria, ³Institute for Clinical and Functional Anatomy, Innsbruck Medical University, Innsbruck, Austria

The tumor suppressor protein p53 is mutated in half of all cancers and has been described to form amyloid-like structures, commonly known from key proteins in neurodegenerative diseases. Still, the clinical relevance of p53 aggregates remains largely unknown, which may be due to the lack of sensitive and specific detection methods. The aim of the present study was to compare the suitability of four different methodologies to specifically detect p53 aggregates: co-immunofluorescence (co-IF), proximity ligation assay (PLA), co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP), and the p53-Seprion-ELISA in cancer cell lines and epithelial ovarian cancer tissue samples. In 7 out of 10 (70%) cell lines, all applied techniques showed concordance. For the analysis of the tissue samples co-IF, co-IP, and p53-Seprion-ELISA were compared, resulting in 100% concordance in 23 out of 30 (76.7%) tissue samples. However, Co-IF lacked specificity as there were samples, which did not show p53 staining but abundant staining of amyloid proteins, highlighting that this method demonstrates that proteins share the same subcellular space, but does not specifically detect p53 aggregates. Overall, the PLA and the p53-Seprion-ELISA are the only two methods that allow the quantitative measurement of p53 aggregates. On the one hand, the PLA represents the ideal method for p53 aggregate detection in FFPE tissue, which is the gold-standard preservation method of clinical samples. On the other hand, when fresh-frozen tissue is available the p53-Seprion-ELISA should be preferred because of the shorter turnaround time and the possibility for high-throughput analysis. These methods may add to the understanding of amyloid-like p53 in cancer and could help stratify patients in future clinical trials targeting p53 aggregation.

KEYWORDS

p53, protein aggregation, ovarian cancer, immunofluorescence staining, immunoprecipitation, ELISA, proximity ligation assay

Introduction

Protein misfolding, aggregation, and amyloid formation have been associated with neurodegenerative diseases such as transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSEs), Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and even diabetes type 2. The disease-causing agents of TSEs, such as Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease or bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE), are prions. They are a subclass of amyloid proteins with the unique characteristic of being infectious. Amyloids are aggregated proteins with enriched β -sheet structures running perpendicular to the fibril axis, resulting in a fibrillar structure (1). Misfolded forms of key proteins in neurodegenerative diseases, such as β -amyloid or tau in Alzheimer's disease and α -synuclein in Parkinson's disease, share some of the characteristics of prions and have therefore been named prionoids or prion-like proteins (2).

Intriguingly, the p53 protein has shown amyloid-like behavior, thereby, adding cancer to the class of protein aggregation diseases. A so-called aggregation-prone sequence has been identified in the hydrophobic core of the DNA-binding domain (3, 4). This region gets exposed upon conformational changes caused by mutation, leading to the formation of amyloid-like protein aggregates (4). The amyloid-like structures formed by mutant p53 protein have been detected in the cytoplasm and the nucleus in different types of cancer cell lines and tumors (3, 5-8). It has been proposed that misfolded mutant p53 protein exhibits an amyloid-like behavior by converting correctly folded wild-type p53 to a misfolded amyloid conformation (9). Moreover, mutant p53 can cause co-aggregation not only of wild-type p53 but also of other members of the p53 protein family, namely p63 and p73. Therefore, the amyloid-like behavior of p53 can provide a mechanistic explanation for the dominant-negative and gainof-function (GOF) effects of p53 (3, 10). Recently, it has been shown that amyloid p53 exerts another characteristic feature of prions, which is cell-to-cell transmission leading to the induction of amyloid formation in neighboring cells (8).

TP53 mutations are found in more than 50% of cancer cases. The mutation rate varies across different cancer types, including ovarian cancer (OC) in which *TP53* mutations are the most frequent genetic alteration and the hallmark of precancerous lesions. The most dominant OC subtype, high-grade serous ovarian cancer (HGSOC), is characterized by an almost ubiquitously presence of *TP53* mutations (11). The ability of p53 to form amyloid-like structures has been observed in HGSOC cells exhibiting cancer stem cell properties, where it is associated with chemoresistance (12, 13). This finding attracts attention to amyloid-like p53 as a new potential therapeutic target. The first inhibitor targeting aggregated p53, ReACp53, was shown to diminish p53 amyloid formation and rescue the p53 function *in vitro* and in pre-clinical testing *in vivo* (4). Further, the combination of carboplatin and ReACp53 enhanced

tumor cell targeting in OC cancer cell lines and patient-derived HGSOC organoids (14).

Robust, sensitive, and reproducible methods to detect and characterize amyloid p53 are a prerequisite for future studies unraveling their clinical relevance and possible therapeutic intervention.

Currently, the state-of-the-art method for the detection of p53 aggregates is the immunofluorescence co-localization assay (co-IF) based on the co-localization of p53 and amyloid structures (5-7, 10, 12, 15-18). For the detection of those amyloid structures, various antibodies or amyloid-specific dyes are available, including Thioflavin T, Congo Red, the antioligomer antibody A11, and the anti-amyloid fibrils antibody OC. Both amyloid-specific dyes bind amyloid fibrils with βsheet-rich structures, but their specificity remains limited. The All antibody detects prefibrillar oligomers, which are immunologically distinct from the fibrillar oligomers that are recognized by the OC antibody. Neither one detects natively folded proteins and monomers (19). However, co-staining of two epitopes in the same subcellular compartment does not prove that both epitopes are present within one molecule and therefore, co-IF does not allow specific detection of p53 aggregates. Co-immunoprecipitation using A11 or OC antibodies for the pull-down of amyloid protein followed by immunoblotting to analyze the p53 levels in the amyloid fractions showed that p53 is present as amyloid aggregates (16, 20).

In an earlier study, we developed a highly-sensitive ELISAbased assay, the p53-Seprion-ELISA, for the detection of p53 aggregates in cancer cell lines and fresh-frozen tissue (21). This assay is based on a high-molecular-weight polymeric ligand, selectively binding aggregated proteins including amyloid oligomers, proto-fibrils, and fibrils (22). The Seprion ligand was previously used to isolate and quantify aggregated forms of prion protein (23). By combining the Seprion ligand with an anti-p53 antibody, the ELISA specifically detects highmolecular-weight p53, but neither monomers, naturally occurring tetramers, or octamers. The most recent method for detecting p53 aggregates is the proximity ligation assay (PLA). This technique is based on two primary antibodies, which are bound by oligonucleotide-labeled proximity probes that form a DNA circle when bound in close proximity. The DNA circle serves as a template for the rolling-circle amplification (RCA) and the amplified DNA is detected by fluorescently labeled detection probes (24). The resulting distinct fluorescent spots can be quantified via microscopy or flow cytometry. The PLA has been successfully applied to detect oligomeric p53 aggregates in nuclear inclusion bodies in ovarian cancer tissue biopsies (7).

In the present study, we aimed at comparing the state-ofthe-art technique co-immunofluorescence (co-IF) with novel assays such as the proximity ligation assay (PLA), coimmunoprecipitation (co-IP), and the p53-Seprion-ELISA (Figure 1) in cancer cell lines and ovarian cancer tissues.

Materials and methods

Cell culture

Nine ovarian cancer cell lines (COV644, OAW42, COV318, COV362, ES2, OVCAR3, TYK-nu, 59M, and COV504) and one cervical cancer cell line (ME-180), either obtained from ATCC or kindly provided from Els Berns (Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, Netherlands) were grown in RPMI-1640 (Gibco/Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin at 37°C in 5% CO₂. STR-DNA-profile analysis was used for cell-line verification. In addition, *TP53* mutations specified for each cell line in the IARC TP53 Database were confirmed by Sanger sequencing (Supplementary Table S1).

Patient cohort

Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tumor tissues from 78 patients diagnosed with ovarian cancer were collected at the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Medical University of Innsbruck, Austria, and analyzed using co-IF. The study was approved by the local ethics committee (AN3507) and all patients gave their written informed consent. The *TP53* mutation status was identified by a functional yeast-based assay (FASAY) combined with Sanger sequencing as described previously (25, 26). Additionally, in a subgroup of 30 patients pulverized fresh-frozen tissue was available and therefore analyzed using co-IP and the p53-Seprion-ELISA.

Immunofluorescence co-localization assay

The cancer cell lines were washed twice with PBS, fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde, and permeabilized with 0.3% Triton X-100 and 0.1% sodium citrate. Nonspecific antigenic sites were blocked using 5% BSA in PBS for 1h. Further, cells were labeled with primary antibodies: mouse anti-p53 antibody

DO-1 (1:200, sc-126, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and rabbit anti-amyloid oligomer A11 antibody (1:200, AB9234, Merck Millipore) or the anti-amyloid fibrils OC antibody (1:200, AB2286, Merck Millipore) for 2h at room temperature (RT) in a humidified chamber. Next, the cells were incubated with secondary anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated (1:500, Life Technologies) and anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 568-conjugated (1:500, Life Technologies) antibodies for 1h at RT in the dark. Nuclear counterstain was done by incubation with DAPI (4', 6diamidino-2-phenylindole) solution. Between the blocking and staining steps, the cells were washed three times with PBS. The samples were analyzed using a laser scanning confocal microscope SP5 (Leica Microsystems).

FFPE tissues were deparaffinized in xylene and hydrated in decreasing concentrations of isopropanol. Briefly, antigen retrieval was performed by heat-induced epitope retrieval (HIER), while sections were immersed in 10 mM citrate buffer at pH 6.0 for two 5-minute intervals at 900 Watt using a microwave. To eliminate fixation-caused autofluorescence, sections were incubated in 1% sodium borohydride (Sigma Aldrich) three times. Nonspecific antigenic sites were blocked using 5% BSA/PBS. Next, sections were labeled with anti-p53 DO-1 (1:200) and anti-amyloid oligomer A11 (1:400) primary antibodies overnight in a humidified chamber at 4°C. The samples were incubated with secondary anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated (1:750) and anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 568conjugated (1:750) antibodies for 2h at RT in the dark. Nuclear counterstain was done by incubation with DAPI solution. Between the blocking and staining steps, the cells were washed three times with PBS.

All samples were analyzed using a laser scanning confocal microscope SP5 (Leica Microsystems).

Proximity ligation assay

Cell lines were harvested, washed with PBS, and cytospins were prepared. The proximity ligation assay (PLA) was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions using the Duolink PLA Kit (Sigma-Aldrich). To specifically detect p53 aggregates, the primary antibodies anti-p53 DO-1 (1:200) and



the anti-amyloid oligomer A11 antibody (1:200) were used. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of a healthy individual were included as a negative control. The slides were analyzed using a LSM 780 confocal microscope (Zeiss).

Co-immunoprecipitation and immunoblot

1,000,000 cells were seeded in Petri dishes and harvested at 80% of confluency. The cells as well as the tissue samples (approx. 15 mg) were lysed with 0.5% Triton X-100/PBS and incubated on ice for 1h. After sonication and centrifugation, the protein concentration of the supernatant was adjusted to 1 mg/ml. To prevent non-specific binding to the IP antibody, a lysate prepurification step was performed with 1 mg/ml of the lysates. Therefore, the samples were incubated with 20 µl of Dynabeads[®] Protein G (Life Technologies) for 1h at 4°C. For antibody binding, the pre-purified lysate was immunoprecipitated with the rabbit anti-amyloid oligomer A11 antibody (1:1000) overnight at 4°C. For the control reaction, the tissue lysates were incubated without the A11 antibody or only the lysis buffer with the A11 antibody. Then, the samples were incubated with 40 µl of Dynabeads[®] Protein G 1h at 4°C. The beads were washed with lysis buffer, resuspended in 2x Laemmli buffer, and incubated at 95°C for 5 minutes. Samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE. Separated proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were blocked in Odyssey Blocking Buffer (LI-COR) and incubated with the mouse anti-p53 DO-1 primary antibody (1:200). Next, the membranes were labeled with anti-mouse IRDye[®]800 CW secondary antibody (LI-COR) and imaged using an Odyssey Scanner.

The Seprion-based co-immunoprecipitation was performed for 7 of 10 cancer cell lines (COV644, COV318, COV362, ES2, OVCAR3, TYK-nu, and COV504) and for 30 fresh-frozen OC samples. Crude lysates were incubated with Seprion-coated magnetic beads (Protein Aggregation Detection (PAD)-beads, Microsens Biotechnologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cell/tissue lysates were incubated with capture buffer and shaken by vibration at RT for 30 minutes. Beads were washed with wash buffers 1 and 2 and resuspended in 2x Laemmli buffer. Samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE as described above.

p53-Seprion-ELISA

The aforementioned ten cancer cell lines were harvested at 70-80% confluency using Accutase (Sigma-Aldrich) and lysed with 1% Triton X-100/PBS for 30 minutes on ice. 12,500 cells per well were used as standard concentration. A 2.5% (w/v) lysate was prepared by lysing the pulverized tissues in the appropriate amount of ice-cold RIPA buffer complemented with protease inhibitor (Sigma-Aldrich). The lysates were incubated on ice for 5 minutes, immediately frozen on dry ice, and stored at -80°C

until further analysis. All tissue samples were analyzed within 4 days after preparation.

The p53-Seprion-ELISA was performed as described previously (21). The tissue specimens were diluted 1:20 with ultrapure water and the anti-p53 (DO-1, Santa Cruz Biotechnologies) was used for the detection of p53 aggregates. All lysates were measured in triplicates and the average blank was subtracted from all sample replicates. The absorbance values were normalized to total protein concentration according to the recently published formula:

Samples with a p53 aggregation value below 1 were considered as negtive and samples with a value greater than 1 were considered as positive.

Statistical analysis

The association between the categorical variables p53 protein expression, p53 aggregation, and histological subtypes of OC was determined using Cramer's V and Fisher's exact test. The level of significance was set at p< 0.05. All statistical analyses were performed using R Studio (version 4.0.3).

Results

Detection of p53 aggregates in cancer cell lines using co-immunofluorescence, proximity ligation assay, co-immunoprecipitation, and the p53-Seprion-ELISA

The aim of this study was to compare state-of-the-art coimmunofluorescence staining with novel technologies to detect p53 aggregates and assess the method's applicability in cancer cell lines as well as tumor tissue specimens. Nine ovarian and one cervical cancer cell lines were evaluated by coimmunofluorescence (co-IF), proximity ligation assay (PLA), co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP), and the p53-Seprion-ELISA.

By using co-IF we were able to detect a strong co-localization of the p53 and the A11 antibody in the nucleus of all cell lines carrying a *TP53* missense mutation (Figure 2A). In the cell lines OAW42 (wild-type) and COV504 (frameshift (FS) deletion), only single cells showed co-localization of both antibodies. In the cell line COV644 (wild-type) neither p53 nor A11 expression was detected. In the remaining cell lines (ME-180, 59M) no p53 expression was detected, but they were found positive for the expression of amyloid proteins. In a subset of cell lines (ME-180, OAW42, COV318, COV362, ES2, OVCAR3, 59M, and COV504) the co-localization of p53 and amyloid fibrils, detected by the OC antibody, was evaluated. Again, in all



FIGURE 2

Detection of p53 aggregates in ovarian and cervical cancer cell lines. (A) Immunofluorescence co-localization assay (co-IF) using an anti-p53 (red) and an anti-oligomer (A11, green) antibody. Nuclear counterstaining was performed using DAPI. Scale bars: 50 µm. (B) Proximity ligation assay (PLA): red dots indicate p53 aggregates and nuclei in blue. (C) Co-immunoprecipitation (co-IP) was performed by using the anti-oligomer A11 antibody for the pull-down of amyloid proteins. Immunoblots for p53 were performed to show that p53 was present as oligomeric aggregates. (D) Amyloid proteins were immunoprecipitated with Seprion-coated beads (PAD-beads) and an immunoblot was performed to show that the aggregates consisted of p53. (E) The p53-Seprion-ELISA was performed to specifically detect p53 aggregates Dashed line, cut-off value for positive samples (p53 aggregation >1). Absorbance values were normalized to the total protein concentration. Grey, missense mutated cell lines; brown, wild-type p53 cell lines.

missense mutated cell lines (COV318, COV362, ES2, and OVCAR3) co-localization of both antibodies was detected. In the wild-type (ME-180 and OAW42) and nonsense mutated (59M and COV504) cell lines only OC staining but no p53 staining was detected (Supplementary Figure S1).

In contrast to co-IF, the proximity ligation assay (PLA) allows determining whether the p53 and A11 antibodies bind in close proximity, demonstrating that p53 is present as oligomeric aggregates. In concordance with the co-IF results, we could observe PLA signals in all missense mutated cell lines (Figure 2B). The number of PLA dots varied considerably between the different cell lines, with the most signals observed in the OVCAR-3 and the TYK-nu cell lines. Intermediate levels

were observed in the ES-2 and COV362 cell lines, and a weak signal in the COV318. In contrast to the co-IF results, the COV504 cell line was PLA negative, whereas the nonsense mutated 59M cell line, which was co-IF negative, resulted in a low amount of PLA signals in single cells.

The third method, co-IP, also allows the specific detection of aggregated p53. The A11 antibody was used to isolate the amyloid fractions, followed by immunoblotting to verify if p53 is present as oligomeric amyloid. Again, in all missense mutated cancer cell lines p53 aggregates could be detected to various extents (Figure 2C). The highest amount of p53 aggregates was detected in OVCAR3 and COV362 cell lines. In contrast to co-IF and PLA, no p53 aggregates were detected in wild-type or nonsense mutated cell lines. Furthermore, as an alternative to the A11 antibody, in seven cell lines, the Seprion ligand (PADbeads) was applied to pull down the amyloid aggregates. The results of the Seprion-based co-IP were 100% concordant with the A11-based co-IP (Figure 2D).

Finally, the previously published p53-Seprion-ELISA was applied (Figure 2E). Consistently, p53 aggregates were detected in all missense mutated cell lines. The highest number of p53 aggregates was detected in the OVCAR3 and COV362 cell lines. None of the nonsense mutated cell lines and wild-type bearing cell lines, except the OAW42 cell line, formed p53 aggregates.

To sum up, all methods detected p53 aggregates in missense mutated cell lines (Table 1). The PLA was the only method detecting p53 aggregates in the 59M cell line, whereas only co-IF detected amyloid p53 in the COV504 cell line. In the OAW42 cell line all methods, except A11-based co-IP, showed the presence of p53 aggregates. In summary, in 7 out of 10 cell lines the applied methods showed 100% concordance.

Detection of p53 aggregates in ovarian cancer tumor tissue using three different methods

To validate our findings, co-IF, A11-based co-IP, and the p53-Seprion-ELISA were applied to detect p53 aggregates in ovarian cancer tissues. FFPE tissue specimens of 78 patients were analyzed using co-IF. Due to economic reasons (high costs, no tissue microarrays were available) the PLA was not applied on the FFPE samples. In a subset of 30 patients, fresh-frozen tissue was available; therefore, these patients were also analyzed using A11-based co-IP and the p53-Seprion-ELISA. The clinical pathological information of all patients is summarized in

Supplementary Table S2. 51 out of 78 (65.4%) samples carried a TP53 mutation. The most frequent mutations were missense mutations in 45 of 51 (88%) cases. In 5 of 51 (10%) cases FS deletions were present and in 1 of 51 (2%) cases a nonsense mutation was detected.

In 38 of 78 (48.7%) samples p53 aggregates could be detected by using co-IF (Figure 3A; Supplementary Figure S2, Supplementary Table S3). 33 out of 38 (87%) positive samples carried a TP53 missense mutation, one sample a FS deletion, whereas the remaining four samples harbored wild-type p53. In 22 out of 38 (58%) positive samples strong co-localization in almost all cancer cells could be detected, whereas in the remaining 16 (42%) positive samples co-localization was detected in just a few cancer cells. Of note, there was a strong association with p53 protein expression (Cramer's V = 0.787, Fisher's p<0.001, Supplementary Table S4), however, 8 samples were p53 positive but A11 negative, suggesting that p53 protein expression did not necessarily lead to the formation of p53 aggregates. Moreover, we did not find a statistically significant association between histological subtypes and p53 protein expression or p53 aggregation (Supplementary Table S5).

The p53-Seprion-ELISA detected p53 aggregates in 15 of 30 (50%) fresh-frozen tissue samples (Figure 3B; Supplementary Table S3). By using co-IP, p53 aggregates were detected in 17 of 30 (57%) fresh-frozen tissue samples, all of them harboring a *TP53* missense mutation (Figure 3C; Supplementary Table S3). Tumors with *TP53* wild-type or FS deletions were negative. Again, all of the positive samples carried a *TP53* missense mutation. Interestingly, in both assays, of four samples carrying the R273H mutation, one showed a very high aggregation level, two samples showed moderate p53 aggregation, and one sample was negative.

TABLE 1 Comparison of the techniques applied in the detection of p53 aggregates in vitro.

Cell line	TP53 status	Protein change	P53 aggregation detection method							
			co-IF	PLA		co-IP	p53-Seprion-ELISA			
			(A11 x p53)	(A11 x p53)	(A11 x p53)	(Seprion ligand x p53)	(Seprion ligand x p53)			
COV318	missense	I195F	+	+	+	+	15.5			
COV362	missense	Y220C	+	+	++	++	35.4			
ES2	missense	S241F	+	+	+	+	23.6			
OVCAR-3	missense	R248Q	+	++	++	++	43.7			
TYK-nu	missense	R175H	+	++	+	+	10.8			
59M	FS deletion	H193KfsX49	-	+/-	-	n.e.	0.2			
COV504	FS deletion	P322fsX13	+/-	_	-	-	0			
COV644	WT	-	_	_	_	-	0.1			
ME-180	WT	-	_	_	_	n.e.	0.7			
OAW42	WT	-	+/-	+	_	n.e.	1.5			
P53 aggrega	tion positive		7/10	7/10	5/10	5/7	6/10			

"-", negative; "+/-", only some of the cells show a (weak) signal; "+", positive; "++", strong signal; "n.e.", not evaluated; "FS deletion", frameshift deletion; "WT", wild-type.



Detection of p53 aggregates in ovarian cancer (OC) tissue specimens. (A) Four representative OC FFPE tissue samples, which were analyzed by co-IF using an anti-p53 (red) and anti-amyloid (A11, green) antibody' are shown. Nuclear counterstaining was performed using DAPI. Scale bar = 50 µm. (B) Detection of p53 aggregates in 30 fresh-frozen OC tissue samples by using the p53-Seprion-ELISA. Absorbance values were normalized to the total protein concentration Dashed line, cut-off value for positive samples (p53 aggregation >1). (C) Co-IP was performed by using the anti-oligomer A11 antibody for the pull-down of amyloid proteins. Immunoblots for p53 were performed to show that the amyloid oligomers consisted of p53.

In summary, 100% concordance between all three methods could be achieved in 23 out of 30 (76.7%) samples. Co-IP and the p53-Seprion-ELISA, the methods that specifically detect p53 aggregates, showed concordance in 28 of 30 (93.3%) samples (Figure 4, Supplementary Table S3).

Discussion

Highly sensitive and specific methods are the pre-requisites for the evaluation of p53 aggregates in patients' biomaterials and interpretation of their clinical relevance. Our study provides a comprehensive comparison of four different technologies for the detection of p53 aggregates, involving state-of-the-art techniques as well as new innovative approaches (Figure 1). We were able to demonstrate 70% (cell lines) and 76.7% (tissue samples) concordance between optimized techniques.

Different conformational dyes and antibodies have been used to detect p53 aggregates by co-IF (5, 7, 27). Thioflavin and Congo Red are the traditional fluorescent dyes used for the detection of amyloid proteins. Nonetheless, both dyes have several limitations as they can cause false-positive results due to unspecific binding and Thioflavin does not detect amyloid oligomers and protofibrils (28). In our study, we focused on the A11 antibody that detects sequence-independent amyloid oligomers, but not monomers or fibrils, as with the OC antibody fewer p53 aggregates positive cell lines were identified (co-IF: OC: 4/8 positive cell lines vs A11: 7/10 positive cell lines; Supplementary Figure S1 and Figure 2A). In addition, the novel Seprion ligand, previously used for the detection of PrP^{Sc} , β -amyloid, α -synuclein, and huntingtin, was evaluated (22, 29–36). Co-IF, PLA, co-IP, and the p53-Seprion-ELISA showed 100% concordance in 7 of 10 (70%) cell lines (Table 1). Co-IF and PLA detected p53 aggregates in 7 of 10 cell lines, followed by the p53-Seprion ELISA (6/10), and A11-based co-IP (5/10). The Seprion-based co-IP resulted in 5/7 positive cell lines. When detecting p53 aggregates, it is critical to keep in mind that different types of amyloids are detected by the various conformation-dependent dyes, antibodies, and ligands. In the present study, the A11-based co-IF, PLA, and co-IP detect oligomer-like p53, while the Seprion-based approaches detect a wider range of amyloid proteins including also fibril-like p53 (Table 2). These differences might explain why we could not achieve 100% concordance between all applied techniques.

To evaluate the applicability of these methods in patient samples, primary ovarian cancer tissues were analyzed using co-IF, A11-based co-IP, and the p53-Seprion-ELISA. Although the PLA resulted in a high detection rate in the cell lines and would be the method of choice for the analysis of FFPE tissues, its application is rather expensive on large tissue sections and tissue microarrays should be the preferred sample type; however, these were not available. We show concordant results between the three techniques in 76.7% of samples and the p53 aggregates detection rate ranged from 48.7% to 56.7%. All positive samples harbored a *TP53* missense mutation. Additionally, co-IF detected four positive wild-type samples and one positive sample with a FS deletion. Moreover, in our study, the R273H missense mutation showed differences in the ability to form



	co-IF	PLA	co-IP	Seprion-based co-IP	p53-Seprion- ELISA
Binding agents	A11, p53 DO-1 antibody	A11, p53 DO-1 antibody	A11, p53 DO-1 antibody	Seprion ligand, p53 DO-1 antibody	Seprion ligand, p53 DO-1 antibody
Principle	Co-localization	Close proximity of two epitopes	Isolation of protein complexes	Isolation of protein complexes	Sandwich ELISA
What is detected	Amyloid p53 oligomers	Amyloid p53 oligomers Amyloid p53 oligomers		Amyloid p53 oligomers, proto-fibrils, and fibrils	Amyloid p53 oligomers, proto- fibrils, and fibrils
Sample type	FFPE, cytopreparations	FFPE, cytopreparations	Fresh-frozen tissue and cell line lysates	Fresh-frozen tissue and cell line lysates	Fresh-frozen tissue and cell line lysates
Ease of use	Experience in fluorescence microscopy needed	Experience in fluorescence microscopy needed, Quantification of PLA dots requires either a scanning microscope with appropriate software or high-resolution images and subsequent analysis software (ImageJ, CellProfiler,)	Easy	Easy	Very easy
Large scale	Only if applied on tissue microarrays	Only if applied on tissue microarrays	no	no	yes
Advantage	Use on FFPE, low costs, allows single-cell analysis	Use on FFPE, high sensitivity, high specificity, quantification, allows single-cell analysis	Semi-quantitative, high specificity	Semi-quantitative, high specificity	Quantification, high-throughput, high sensitivity, high reproducibility
Disadvantage	No quantification, limited specificity	Time-consuming, high costs	Fresh-frozen tissue needed, time- consuming, complex procedure, no single- cell analysis	Fresh-frozen tissue needed, time- consuming, complex procedure, no single- cell analysis	Fresh-frozen tissue needed, no single- cell analysis

TABLE 2 Overview of methods for the detection of p53 aggregates in cell lines and tissue specimens.

amyloid-like structures in four ovarian cancer patients. For this mutation, a high propensity to form aggregates was reported previously in breast cancer (5). The positive wild-type samples as well as the varying p53 aggregation levels in patients with identical TP53 mutation suggest that a missense mutation alone is not sufficient to increase the capability of p53 to form aggregates. It has been shown that inhibition of MDM2mediated p53 degradation promoted the formation of wildtype p53 aggregates (12). Molecular interaction partners of p53 may also enhance the aggregation propensity of p53. For example, the transient interaction between mutant p53 (R175H) and the cellular chaperone heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) resulted in the increased half-life of mutant p53 and exposure of an aggregation-prone region. In the presence of MDM2, these two proteins can form amyloid-like aggregates (37). Furthermore, the heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) has been reported to interact with the p53 DNA-binding domain, leading to a structural change in the protein and the formation of a molten globule state, which is prone to aggregation (38). Additionally, the expression of specific p53 isoforms may have an impact on the capability of p53 to form amyloid-like structures as well. The wild-type $\Delta 133p53\beta$ isoform has been shown to form aggregates in cancer cells and tumor biopsies (39). Moreover, the $\Delta 40p53$ isoform, which lacks the p53

transactivation domain, has been reported to have a high aggregation tendency in endometrial cancer cells (40).

The cell lines ME-180 and 59M as well as some of the tissue samples pointed out the limitations of the state-of-the-art co-IF and the need for more specific novel methods. These samples were p53 negative, but still showed abundant A11 staining (Figure 2A, Figure 3A), demonstrating that other amyloid proteins are present and co-localization of p53 and A11 antibodies in the same subcellular compartment does not necessarily mean that p53 aggregates are detected. The novel proximity ligation assay (PLA) is a powerful tool for the highly specific p53 aggregate detection as it only results in a fluorescent signal when the p53 and A11 antibodies are bound in close proximity indicating the presence of p53 aggregates. Another major advantage of the method is that the individual PLA dots can be quantified using freely available software tools such as ImageJ or CellProfiler (41-43). Moreover, the PLA can be performed on formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue samples, which are often the only available source of clinical samples, whereas co-IP and ELISA are limited to fresh-frozen material. The disadvantages of the PLA are the extensive costs if tissue microarrays are not available and the relatively long duration of the procedure of 2 days. In contrast, the p53-Seprion-ELISA has a turnaround time of only 5 hours and

allows high-throughput analysis, but requires fresh-frozen tissue, which is often not archived in clinical routine.

In conclusion, we compared the state-of-the-art p53 aggregation detection method co-IF with co-IP and the novel PLA and Seprion technology. The PLA and p53-Seprion-ELISA are the only two methods allowing quantitative measurement of p53 aggregates. Taking into consideration that the most widely available source of tumor tissue is formalin-fixed and paraffinembedded, the PLA outperforms co-IF in terms of sensitivity, specificity, and quantification of p53 aggregates. Wherever freshfrozen material is available, the p53-Seprion-ELISA should be preferred as it allows rapid, high-throughput testing in contrast to co-IP. Our study provides the basis for the reliable detection of p53 aggregates in biological specimens to unravel the clinical significance of p53 aggregates, especially since potential p53aggregation targeting drugs are currently under investigation and would open up new paths in cancer therapy. Moreover, mutated p53 is not the only tumor suppressor protein with enhanced aggregation tendency. In silico analyses demonstrated that protein aggregation is not a rare phenomenon, but far more common, and other tumor suppressor proteins, such as PTEN or Axin, have been identified to form amyloid-like structures (44-47). Our herein mentioned tools can be easily adapted to detect other types of amyloid-like proteins and help to evaluate their biological and clinical relevance in various cancer types.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Medical University of Innsbruck. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

RZ and NC designed the study. NH, KK, EM, AB, and EP performed the experiments and collected and interpreted the data. HF provided the clinical pathological information for all patients. NH, KK, and EM prepared the figures and tables, and wrote the manuscript. NH, KK, EM, AB, EP, HF, AZ, CM, RZ,

and NC reviewed and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

Our work was supported by the Seventh Framework Programme (FP7) project of the European Union called "Ganetespib in metastatic, p53-mutant ovarian cancer – GANNET53" (grant agreement no. 602602).

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Dr. Martin Offterdinger from the Core Facility Biooptics, Innsbruck Medical University for his assistance and expertise, and Els Berns (Erasmus MC, Rotterdam, Netherlands) for kindly providing some of the cell lines used in this study. This study received support from Microsens Biotechnologies (London, UK) in the form of an inkind contribution of Seprion-coated microplates and capture buffer.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor EB declared a shared research group with the authors NC and RZ at the time of review.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fonc.2022.976725/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Chiti F, Dobson CM. Protein misfolding, functional amyloid, and human disease. *Annu Rev Biochem* (2006) 75:333-66. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.biochem.75.101304.123901

2. Scheckel C, Aguzzi A. Prions, prionoids and protein misfolding disorders. Nat Rev Genet (2018) 19(7):405-18. doi: 10.1038/s41576-018-0011-4

3. Xu J, Reumers J, Couceiro JR, De Smet F, Gallardo R, Rudyak S, et al. Gain of function of mutant p53 by coaggregation with multiple tumor suppressors. *Nat Chem Biol* (2011) 7(5):285–95. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.546

4. Soragni A, Janzen DM, Johnson LM, Lindgren AG, Thai-Quynh Nguyen A, Tiourin E, et al. A designed inhibitor of p53 aggregation rescues p53 tumor suppression in ovarian carcinomas. *Cancer Cell* (2016) 29(1):90–103. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.12.002

5. Levy CB, Stumbo AC, Ano Bom AP, Portari EA, Cordeiro Y, Silva JL, et al. Co-Localization of mutant p53 and amyloid-like protein aggregates in breast tumors. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2011) 43(1):60–4. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2010.10.017

6. Yang-Hartwich Y, Bingham J, Garofalo F, Alvero AB, Mor G. Detection of p53 protein aggregation in cancer cell lines and tumor samples. *Methods Mol Biol* (2015) 1219:75–86. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-1661-0_7

7. De Smet F, Saiz Rubio M, Hompes D, Naus E, De Baets G, Langenberg T, et al. Nuclear inclusion bodies of mutant and wild-type p53 in cancer: a hallmark of p53 inactivation and proteostasis remodelling by p53 aggregation. *J pathology.* (2017) 242(1):24–38. doi: 10.1002/path.4872

8. Ghosh S, Salot S, Sengupta S, Navalkar A, Ghosh D, Jacob R, et al. p53 amyloid formation leading to its loss of function: implications in cancer pathogenesis. *Cell Death differentiation*. (2017) 24(10):1784–98. doi: 10.1038/ cdd.2017.105

9. Silva JL, Rangel LP, Costa DC, Cordeiro Y, De Moura Gallo CV. Expanding the prion concept to cancer biology: dominant-negative effect of aggregates of mutant p53 tumour suppressor. *Biosci Rep.* (2013) 33(4):e00054. doi: 10.1042/BSR20130065

10. Ano Bom AP, Rangel LP, Costa DC, de Oliveira GA, Sanches D, Braga CA, et al. Mutant p53 aggregates into prion-like amyloid oligomers and fibrils: implications for cancer. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287(33):28152–62. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.340638

11. Zhang Y, Cao L, Nguyen D, Lu H. TP53 mutations in epithelial ovarian cancer. Trans Cancer Res (2016) 5(6):650–63. doi: 10.21037/tcr.2016.08.40

12. Yang-Hartwich Y, Soteras MG, Lin ZP, Holmberg J, Sumi N, Craveiro V, et al. p53 protein aggregation promotes platinum resistance in ovarian cancer. *Oncogene*. (2015) 34(27):3605–16. doi: 10.1038/onc.2014.296

13. Zhang Y, Hu Y, Wang JL, Yao H, Wang H, Liang L, et al. Proteomic identification of ERP29 as a key chemoresistant factor activated by the aggregating p53 mutant Arg282Trp. *Oncogene*. (2017) 36(39):5473–83. doi: 10.1038/ onc.2017.152

14. Neal A, Lai T, Singh T, Rahseparian N, Grogan T, Elashoff D, et al. Combining ReACp53 with carboplatin to target high-grade serous ovarian cancers. *Cancers*. (2021) 13(23):5908. doi: 10.3390/cancers13235908

15. Ferraz da Costa DC, Campos NPC, Santos RA, Guedes-da-Silva FH, Martins-Dinis MMDC, Zanphorlin L, et al. Resveratrol prevents p53 aggregation *in vitro* and in breast cancer cells. *Oncotarget.* (2018) 9(49):29112–22. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.25631

16. Rangel LP, Ferretti GDS, Costa CL, Andrade S, Carvalho RS, Costa DCF, et al. p53 reactivation with induction of massive apoptosis-1 (PRIMA-1) inhibits amyloid aggregation of mutant p53 in cancer cells. *J Biol Chem* (2019) 294 (10):3670–82. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.004671

17. Miller JJ, Blanchet A, Orvain C, Nouchikian L, Reviriot Y, Clarke RM, et al. Bifunctional ligand design for modulating mutant p53 aggregation in cancer. *Chem science.* (2019) 10(46):10802–14. doi: 10.1039/C9SC04151F

18. Farmer KM, Ghag G, Puangmalai N, Montalbano M, Bhatt N, Kayed R. P53 aggregation, interactions with tau, and impaired DNA damage response in alzheimer's disease. *Acta neuropathologica Commun* (2020) 8(1):132. doi: 10.1186/s40478-020-01012-6

19. Kayed R, Head E, Sarsoza F, Saing T, Cotman CW, Necula M, et al. Fibril specific, conformation dependent antibodies recognize a generic epitope common to amyloid fibrils and fibrillar oligomers that is absent in prefibrillar oligomers. *Mol Neurodegener.* (2007) 2:18. doi: 10.1186/1750-1326-2-18

20. Iwahashi N, Ikezaki M, Nishikawa T, Namba N, Ohgita T, Saito H, et al. Sulfated glycosaminoglycans mediate prion-like behavior of p53 aggregates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci United States America*. (2020) 117(52):33225–34. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2009931117

21. Maritschnegg E, Heinzl N, Wilson S, Deycmar S, Niebuhr M, Klameth L, et al. Polymer-Ligand-Based ELISA for robust, high-throughput, quantitative detection of p53 aggregates. *Analytical Chem* (2018) 90(22):13273–9. doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.8b02373

22. Sathasivam K, Lane A, Legleiter J, Warley A, Woodman B, Finkbeiner S, et al. Identical oligomeric and fibrillar structures captured from the brains of R6/2 and knock-in mouse models of huntington's disease. *Hum Mol Genet* (2010) 19 (1):65–78. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp467

23. Lane A, Stanley CJ, Dealler S, Wilson SM. Polymeric ligands with specificity for aggregated prion proteins. *Clin Chem* (2003) 49(10):1774–5. doi: 10.1373/ 49.10.1774

24. Söderberg O, Gullberg M, Jarvius M, Ridderstråle K, Leuchowius K-J, Jarvius J, et al. Direct observation of individual endogenous protein complexes *in situ* by proximity ligation. *Nat Methods* (2006) 3(12):995–1000. doi: 10.1038/nmeth947

25. Concin N, Becker K, Slade N, Erster S, Mueller-Holzner E, Ulmer H, et al. Transdominant DeltaTAp73 isoforms are frequently up-regulated in ovarian cancer. evidence for their role as epigenetic p53 inhibitors *in vivo. Cancer Res* (2004) 64(7):2449–60. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-03-1060

26. Concin N, Hofstetter G, Berger A, Gehmacher A, Reimer D, Watrowski R, et al. Clinical relevance of dominant-negative p73 isoforms for responsiveness to chemotherapy and survival in ovarian cancer: evidence for a crucial p53-p73 cross-talk *in vivo*. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2005) 11(23):8372–83. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0899

27. Lasagna-Reeves CA, Clos AL, Castillo-Carranza D, Sengupta U, Guerrero-Muñoz M, Kelly B, et al. Dual role of p53 amyloid formation in cancer; loss of function and gain of toxicity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2013) 430(3):963–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.11.130

28. Yakupova EI, Bobyleva LG, Vikhlyantsev IM, Bobylev AG. Congo Red and amyloids: history and relationship. *Bioscience Rep* (2019) 39(1):BSR20181415. doi: 10.1042/BSR20181415

29. Bobrowska A, Donmez G, Weiss A, Guarente L, Bates G. SIRT2 ablation has no effect on tubulin acetylation in brain, cholesterol biosynthesis or the progression of huntington's disease phenotypes *in vivo*. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(4):e34805. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034805

30. Edwards JC, Moore SJ, Hawthorn JA, Neale MH, Terry LA. PrP(Sc) is associated with b cells in the blood of scrapie-infected sheep. *Virology*. (2010) 405 (1):110–9. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2010.05.023

31. González L, Horton R, Ramsay D, Toomik R, Leathers V, Tonelli Q, et al. Adaptation and evaluation of a rapid test for the diagnosis of sheep scrapie in samples of rectal mucosa. *J Veterinary Diagn Invest* (2008) 20(2):203–8. doi: 10.1177/104063870802000209

32. Labbadia J, Novoselov SS, Bett JS, Weiss A, Paganetti P, Bates GP, et al. Suppression of protein aggregation by chaperone modification of high molecular weight complexes. *Brain J Neurol* (2012) 135(Pt 4):1180–96. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws022

33. Mielcarek M, Benn CL, Franklin SA, Smith DL, Woodman B, Marks PA, et al. SAHA decreases HDAC 2 and 4 levels *in vivo* and improves molecular phenotypes in the R6/2 mouse model of huntington's disease. *PLoS One* (2011) 6 (11):e27746. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027746

34. Moumne L, Campbell K, Howland D, Ouyang Y, Bates GP. Genetic knockdown of HDAC3 does not modify disease-related phenotypes in a mouse model of huntington's disease. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(2):e31080. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0031080

35. Terry LA, Howells L, Hawthorn J, Edwards JC, Moore SJ, Bellworthy SJ, et al. Detection of PrPsc in blood from sheep infected with the scrapie and bovine spongiform encephalopathy agents. *J virology*. (2009) 83(23):12552–8. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00311-09

36. Lane AR, Stanley CJ, Wilson SM. Binding of aggregated forms of proteins. Google Patents (2014):US Patent No. US20120009595A1.

37. Wiech M, Olszewski MB, Tracz-Gaszewska Z, Wawrzynow B, Zylicz M, Zylicz A. Molecular mechanism of mutant p53 stabilization: The role of HSP70 and MDM2. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(12):e51426. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051426

38. Park SJ, Borin BN, Martinez-Yamout MA, Dyson HJ. The client protein p53 forms a molten globule-like state in the presence of Hsp90. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2011) 18(5):537–41. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2045

39. Arsic N, Slatter T, Gadea G, Villain E, Fournet A, Kazantseva M, et al. $\Delta133p53\beta$ isoform pro-invasive activity is regulated through an aggregation-dependent mechanism in cancer cells. *Nat Commun* (2021) 12(1):5463. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-25550-2

40. Melo Dos Santos N, de Oliveira GAP, Ramos Rocha M, Pedrote MM, Diniz da Silva Ferretti G, Pereira Rangel L, et al. Loss of the p53 transactivation domain results in high amyloid aggregation of the Δ 40p53 isoform in endometrial carcinoma cells. *J Biol Chem* (2019) 294(24):9430–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA119.007566

41. Klaesson A, Grannas K, Ebai T, Heldin J, Koos B, Leino M, et al. Improved efficiency of *in situ* protein analysis by proximity ligation using UnFold probes. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):5400. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-23582-1

42. Carpenter AE, Jones TR, Lamprecht MR, Clarke C, Kang IH, Friman O, et al. CellProfiler: image analysis software for identifying and quantifying cell phenotypes. *Genome Biol* (2006) 7(10):R100. doi: 10.1186/gb-2006-7-10-r100

43. Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nat Methods* (2012) 9(7):671–5. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2089

44. Anvarian Z, Nojima H, van Kappel EC, Madl T, Spit M, Viertler M, et al. Axin cancer mutants form nanoaggregates to rewire the wnt signaling network. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2016) 23(4):324–32. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.3191

45. Claes F, Maritschnegg E, De Baets G, Siekierska A, Rubio MS, Ramakers M, et al. The tumor suppressor protein PTEN undergoes amyloid-like aggregation in tumor cells. *bioRxiv* (2020) Available at: https://https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.11.30.402115v1 doi: 10.1101/2020.11.30.402115

46. De Baets G, Van Doorn L, Rousseau F, Schymkowitz J. Increased aggregation is more frequently associated to human disease-associated mutations than to neutral polymorphisms. *PLoS Comput Biol* (2015) 11(9):e1004374. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004374

47. Housmans JAJ, Wu G, Schymkowitz J, Rousseau F. A guide to studying protein aggregation. FEBS J (2021). doi: 10.1111/febs.16312

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sarah M. Temkin, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

REVIEWED BY Xiaoyong Fu, Baylor College of Medicine, United States Larisa Litovchick, Virginia Commonwealth University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Xiang-Xi Xu xxu2@med.miami.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 29 March 2022 ACCEPTED 26 August 2022 PUBLISHED 15 September 2022

CITATION

Smith ER, Huang M, Schlumbrecht MP, George SHL and Xu X-X (2022) Rationale for combination of paclitaxel and CDK4/6 inhibitor in ovarian cancer therapy — non-mitotic mechanisms of paclitaxel. *Front. Oncol.* 12:907520. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.907520

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Smith, Huang, Schlumbrecht, George and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Rationale for combination of paclitaxel and CDK4/6 inhibitor in ovarian cancer therapy — non-mitotic mechanisms of paclitaxel

Elizabeth R. Smith^{1,2}, Marilyn Huang^{1,2}, Matthew P. Schlumbrecht^{1,2}, Sophia H.L. George^{1,2} and Xiang-Xi Xu^{1,3*}

¹Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, United States, ²Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Science, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, United States, ³Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, United States

Taxanes and CDK4/6 inhibitors (CDK4/6i) are two families of successful antimitotic drugs used in the treatment of solid tumors. Paclitaxel, representing taxane compounds, has been used either alone or in combination with other agents (commonly carboplatin/cisplatin) in the treatment of many solid tumors including ovarian, breast, lung, prostate cancers, and Kaposi's sarcoma. Paclitaxel has been routinely prescribed in cancer treatment since the 1990s, and its prominent role is unlikely to be replaced in the foreseeable future. Paclitaxel and other taxanes work by binding to and stabilizing microtubules, causing mitotic arrest, aberrant mitosis, and cell death. CDK4/6i (palbociclib, ribociclib, abemaciclib) are relatively new cell cycle inhibitors that have been found to be effective in breast cancer treatment, and are currently being developed in other solid tumors. CDK4/6i blocks cell cycle progression at the G1 phase, resulting in cell death by mechanisms not yet fully elucidated. At first glance, paclitaxel and CDK4/6i are unlikely synergistic agents as both are cell cycle inhibitors that work at different phases of the cell cycle, and few clinical trials have yet considered adding CDK4/6i to existing paclitaxel chemotherapy. However, recent findings suggest the importance of a nonmitotic mechanism of paclitaxel in cancer cell death and pre-clinical data support rationale for a strategic paclitaxel and CDK4/6i combination. In mouse tumor model studies, drug sequencing resulted in differential efficacy, indicating complex biological interactions of the two drugs. This article reviews the rationales of combining paclitaxel with CDK4/6i as a potential therapeutic option in recurrent ovarian cancer.

KEYWORDS

chemotherapy, taxanes/taxol/paclitaxel, microtubules, mitosis, nuclear envelope, micronuclei, CDK4/6, drug resistance

Introduction

Taxane compounds are effective anti-mitotic cancer drugs which have successfully been used for more than 30 years, and are often cornerstones in the management of ovarian cancer today. These drugs work as microtubule stabilizing agents, interfering with mitosis of proliferating cancer cells. Another family of newly developed anti-cancer drugs, the CDK4/6 inhibitors (CDK4/6i), are effective in breast cancer treatment, and these inhibitors are actively being tested and expanded in other malignancies. CDK4/6i block cancer cell growth at the G1 phase of the cell cycle, while paclitaxel (and additional taxanes) targets cancer cells at the M phase (Figure 1). Additional mitotic inhibitors can act by blocking DNA replication (Figure 1), but there are no such agents with tolerable toxicity and sufficient efficacy available to be commonly used in clinics.

Although agents in either families are effective anti-cancer drugs, issues on efficacy, response rate, and development of drug resistance are limiting factors for both. An obvious interest is to combine these two useful classes of common anti-cancer drugs for more effective cancer treatment. New biological understanding of these agents may provide a rationale and



Paclitaxel and CDK4/6 inhibitors target different sites of the cell cycle. Illustration of sites of cell cycle targeted by paclitaxel and CDK4/6i. Mitogenic signaling by estrogen receptor (ER) or Ras/MAPK pathways induces cyclin D expression, which activates cyclin kinase 4 and 6 (CDK4/ 6) to initiate cell cycle through G1 phase. CDK4/6 inhibitors (CDK4/6i) block cycle kinase activities and arrest cells at early G1 phase. Paclitaxel (PTX) targets the function of spindle microtubules in cells at mitotic (M) phase, leading to aberrant mitosis and mitotic catastrophe. Additionally, mitotic inhibitors targeting DNA relication arrest cells at S phase. strategy to develop an enhanced cancer treatment regimen using them in combination to capitalize on their potential synergistic mechanisms of action.

Taxanes as important common anticancer agents

Among many potential targets investigated for cancer therapy, stabilizing microtubules is one of the most effective strategies for cell kill via mitotic inhibition in many solid tumors (1-4). Paclitaxel is the first example of a microtubule stabilizing agent developed into a successful anti-cancer drug (4-7). Taxanes and non-taxane microtubule targeting agents remain common anti-cancer drugs, given their significant efficacy in multiple cancer types (4, 8-10). Taxol/paclitaxel, the first taxanes, was isolated from plant (Taxus brevifolia) as a cytotoxic anti-tumor agent (11-13). Currently, several taxane compounds, including paclitaxel, docetaxel, and cabazitaxel, are used as standard of care chemotherapeutic agents (14). Additional formulations of taxanes have been developed to improve delivery, including bound to albumin, and with additional nanoparticle carriers (15-18). Non-taxane microtubule stabilizing drugs, such as ixabepilone, are also tested and used in certain cancer types (9, 19, 20).

Paclitaxel is commonly used as a key component in front line therapy for epithelial ovarian cancer, and is given in combination with a platinum agent (cisplatin or carboplatin) (21–25). It also is utilized as a single agent in a dose dense (weekly) schedule to treat recurrent and drug (platinum agent)resistant ovarian cancer (26–28). However, recurrent ovarian cancer progressively becomes refractory to continuous paclitaxel treatment, and the severity of side effects, such as peripheral neuropathy, correlates with accumulative drug dosage and often necessitates dose-reductions (29–33). Thus, strategies to enhance paclitaxel efficacy and to counter drug resistance are highly desirable and are actively sought (33–35). One strategy is to find potential synergistic combination with additional new agents, such as CDK4/6i.

Paclitaxel in microtubule stabilization, mitotic mechanisms, and mitotic catastrophe

Paclitaxel, and all other taxane and non-taxane microtubule stabilizing drugs, act by binding to alpha-tubulin subunits within microtubules, resulting in stabilization of the filaments (36–39). The discovery of this unique cytotoxic mechanism occurred in the 1970s-80s (4, 7, 40, 41), when paclitaxel was first extracted from the bark of the Pacific Yew tree (4, 6, 11–13). By interfering

with microtubules in mitosis, paclitaxel causes cell growth arrest at M-phase by cytoskeleton paralysis (Horwitz, 1994; 42), and subsequent cell death by apoptosis (43, 44). However, the molecular details on the initiation of apoptosis by paclitaxel have been elusive. Some studies suggest that paclitaxel-mediated cancer cell death is independent of caspase activation and does not follow a classic mechanism of apoptosis (45, 46). In laboratory study and comparision of a panel of tumor lines treated with paclitaxel in xenograft tumor models, neither degree of mitotic arrest nor apoptosis appeared to correlate with the anti-tumor effect of paclitaxel (47). Furthermore, paclitaxel antitumor activity is also independent of p53 mutational status of the tumors (47).

Paclitaxel-treated cancer cells arrested at M-phase often then undergo aberrant mitosis (known as mitotic slippage), resulting in the formation of multiple micronuclei and consequential death (mitotic catastrophe) (41, 48–51). Moreover, both laboratory and clinical observations led to the thinking that in addition to acting as a mitotic inhibitor, paclitaxel has cytotoxic activity against cancer cells with non-mitotic mechanisms (29, 52–57). Proposed non-mitotic paclitaxel mechanisms include paclitaxel-induced phosphorylation of apoptotic protein bcl-2 (58), disruption of microtubule-mediated cellular transport (52), physical breaking of nuclear envelope by rigid microtubule bundles (59), stimulating of inflammatory activity by paclitaxel-induced nuclear fragmentation (60), and antiangiogenic activity by damaging endothelial cells (61–64).

The concept of a non-mitotic mechanism for paclitaxel action is re-enforced by the lack of efficacy of mitotic inhibitory drugs developed more specifically to target mitotic machineries (65, 66). A better understanding of the non-mitotic mechanism and the complex processes underlying cancer cell kill is crucial to design drug combinations with taxanes to optimize rates of response and overcome taxane drug resistance.

Non-mitotic mechanisms of paclitaxel in inducing micronucleation and cell death by nuclear membrane rupture

Laboratory studies are fairly convincing that highly proliferative cells are sensitive targets for paclitaxel, as the drug preferentially kills proliferative cancer cells, which are more likely to be in M-phase (4, 7, 29, 41). Taxanes, however, also affect continuously growing non-cancer cell populations such as hair follicle matrix keratinocytes (67) and hemopoietic cells (32). Thus, the major side effects of paclitaxel include alopecia and neutropenia.

In contrast to cell culture models, only a small fraction of tumor cells *in vivo* are proliferative; despite this, most of the

cancer cells in patient tumors are sensitive to paclitaxel (53, 54). Moreover, cell killing efficacy does not correlate with mitotic index (47, 54). Experimenal and clinical observations suggest that paclitaxel also kills cancer cells at non-mitotic phases, and interfering with the function of microtubules in G1 or S phases of the cell cycle also contributes to cancer cell killing (53-57). A new study suggests that in paclitaxel-treated cancer cells, the stabilized and rigid microtubule bundles around the cancer cell nucleus pull the nuclear envelope membrane by physical force into multiple micronuclei (59, 68) (Figure 2). This finding provides a new addition to the well-accepted notion that paclitaxel acts as a mitotic inhibitor. Thus, in addition to proliferation, a malleable nuclear envelope caused by a defective nuclear envelope structural proteins (69a) provides another specificity of cancer cells for killing by paclitaxel, as nonneoplastic cells have a sturdier nuclear envelope and are more resistant to paclitaxel-induced breaking (59, 68).

The formation of numerous micronuclei following paclitaxel treatment (45, 70), referred to as "micronucleation" (60), may be the consequence of both aberrant mitosis (41, 49-51, 71) and nuclear breaking in non-mitotic cells with a weakened nuclear envelope (59, 68). In the presence of several types of pharmaceutical compounds (including CDK4/6i) to inhibit mitosis, paclitaxel was observed to induce micronucleation, suggesting a non-mitotic mechanism to break up the cancer nucleus (59, 68). These small micronuclei are observed to be unstable and often undergo sudden and irreversible rupture (72, 73). A likely reason is that the nuclear membrane is stretched in micronucleation, as the combined surface of multiple smaller spheres is much larger than a single sphere with the same volume. Either by mitotic or non-mitotic mechanisms, the formation of multiple micronuclei is likely important for the efficacy of paclitaxel in killing cancer cells (60, 68). One possible mechanism is that the genomic DNA released will trigger the

cGAS-Sting cytoplasmic DNA sensing pathway to activate the inflammatory pathway (60, 74). Nevertheless, the rupture of the nuclear membrane, essentially compromising a key cellular organelle, may be sufficient to assume the demise of the paclitaxel-treated cancer cells (46, 59) (Figure 2).

Clinical efficacy of CDK4/6 inhibition

Small molecule compounds specifically targeting cell cycle kinases, including the CDK4/6 inhibitors, are new agents found to have activity in cancer treatment (75), and are commonly used in metastatic breast cancer. Additional indications in other solid tumors are currently under investigation (76–80).

The study of the mammalian cell cycle over several decades and the ultimate successful application of the knowledge to cancer therapy took a long road (80-82). Based on the identification and understanding of the cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) and CDK6, the activator such as cyclin D1, and their multiple cyclin inhibitors, the concept of an inhibitor for cell cycle kinases to block cell cycle progression and tumor growth seems obvious (81). The first CDK4/6i to be developed and tested in clinical trial was palbociclib; however, the lack of efficacy of monotherapy in early studies limited the enthusiasm and delayed the clinical development. Fortunately, later trials showed a clear benefit of adding palbociclib to hormone antagonism therapy in metastatic breast cancer, leading to FDA approval of palbociclib in early 2015 (78-81). The details in the laboratory discoveries and clinical development of the CDK4/6i have been well reviewed in these (78-81) and many additional recent articles.

Following the initial success, many pharmaceutical companies independently developed additional CDK4/6i and are testing for their utility in combination therapy. Today,



formation of micronuclei through nuclear budding of cells during interphase. The paclitaxel-bound rigid microtubule bundles pull and distort the nuclear envelope structure. As a result, the malleable cancer nuclear envelope breaks into multiple micronuclei (micronucleation). The proposal of physical force exerted by paclitaxel-induced rigid microtubule filaments in breaking malleable cancer nuclei provides a non-mitotic mechanism to generate multiple micronuclei. Paclitaxel also induces rigid microtubules and the breaking of nuclei of neoplastic cells and the formation of multiple micronuclei in both. The micronuclei derived from both mitotic and non-mitotic cells are defective in membrane structure and have high propensity for rupture and release of chromatin materials, resulting in cell death. several CDK4/6 inhibitors, Ibrance (chemical name: palbociclib, developed by Pfizer.), Kisqali (chemical name: ribociclib, developed by Novartis), Verzenio (chemical name: abemaciclib, developed by Eli Lilly), have been developed and approved to treat metastatic breast cancer (78–80). Numerous clinical trials are ongoing to assess CDK4/6i in combination therapy to treat breast and additional cancer types. However, little information of CDK4/6i in ovarian cancer treatment has been reported yet, though substantial interests prompt ongoing efforts to evaluate a potential role in ovarian cancer treatment (83, 84).

De novo and acquired resistance to the combined treatments have been frequently observed, and alterations in both Rb and cell cycle regulation, and PI3K survival signaling pathway are potential mechanism of resistance (82, 83, 85). The CDK4/6i are exciting new drugs for cancer therapy, and ongoing studies and trials surely will add new mechanistic understanding to and improvement of clinical outcomes. Yet development of resistance to CDK4/6 inhibitors is already recognized as a limitation to this class. The rapidly accumulating information should allow the contemplation of strategy and design of rationale combinatorial therapies of CDK4/6i with other anticancer agents to overcome drug resistance and achieve superior treatment outcomes (80, 83, 86).

Combination therapy: Rationale for synergy between paclitaxel and CDK4/6 inhibitors

The utility of CDK4/6 inhibition as a component in a combined therapy regimen with additional agent(s) is an area of active investigation as CDK4/6i by itself lacks sufficient activity (81, 84, 86). One potential mechanism of synergy is that both inhibition of the mitogenic signaling pathway that regulates D-type cyclins, and blocking of CDK4/6 activities, are necessary for a synergized therapy to prevent tumor cell proliferation (81). Paclitaxel and CDK4/6i are expected to be antagonists, since arresting cells by CDK4/6i at the G1 phase of the cell cycle presumably limits cell kill by paclitaxel, which targets cells at M-phase. Consistently, in laboratory studies, CDK4/6 inhibitors were shown to reduce and prevent apoptosis of hair follicle matrix cells that normally results from paclitaxel treatment (67), and the inhibitors also rescued hematopoietic cell death from paclitaxel treatment (87). Thus, CDK4/6i, when used strategically, may reduce some side effects of paclitaxel treatment.

Although not yet met with general enthusiasm because of the theory of antagonism and some preliminary observations, clinical trials for a paclitaxel/CDK4/6i have been attempted

59

and initiated for solid tumors (for example, NCT 04594005). So far, no outcome has been reported. Pre-clinical studies of a paclitaxel/CDK4/6i combination have been attempted and reported, some with positive results (84, 88–90). In breast cancer cells, although simultaneous exposure to palbociclib and paclitaxel produced an antagonistic effect, sequential treatment caused higher cell death than single agent alone (88). The authors suggested pretreatment with CDK4/6i may enhance the efficacy of paclitaxel for chemotherapy of triple negative breast cancer (88). CDK4/6 inhibition was found synergistic in combination with paclitaxel to suppress growth and induce apoptosis in K-Ras mutant lung adenocarcinoma cells (90). In the cases of lung cancer cells, addition of paclitaxel first followed by CDK4/6i had higher cancer cell killing than the reversed sequence (89).

Another pre-clinical study found that the sequences for the administration of the two drugs produced differential efficacy in mouse pancreatic tumor xenograft models (91, 92). In the study, treatment first with paclitaxel followed by CDK4/6i produced better tumor suppressing activity than when CDK4/6i was administrated first. The authors suggest that CDK4/6i impairs the ability of cancer cells to recover from chromosomal and DNA damage caused by prior treatment with paclitaxel (91).

With the realization of the non-mitotic mechanism of paclitaxel in killing cancer cells (68), a new rationale may motivate the study of adding CDK4/6i to paclitaxel regimen, especially to the dose dense treatment of metastatic breast and recurrent ovarian cancer (Figure 3). Furthermore, ongoing study will yield additional understanding of the potential mechanism(s) of CDK4/6 inhibition in damaging cancer cells, in addition to the cytostatic effects. An initial treatment of cancer cells with CDK4/6 inhibitors may prevent mitosistargeting mechanism of paclitaxel cytotoxicity (Figure 3A). A possible better strategy may be first to allow full attainment of the robust cytotoxic activity of paclitaxel alone to the mitotic cancer cell population before exposing the remaining cells to CDK4/6 inhibitors when non-mitotic paclitaxel killing mechanism still can occur (Figure 3B). Additionally, inhibition of CDK4/6 may impair the recovery of damaged and micronucleated cancer cells from prior exposure to paclitaxel, further enhancing the efficacy (91).

Paclitaxel exhibits high activity against mitotic cells, but also can kill non-mitotic cancer cells (59, 68), such as that are expected to accumulate in the presence of CDK4/6 inhibition. Thus, the possibility of a paclitaxel and CDK4/6i combination as a chemotherapy regimen for ovarian cancer exists. With a wellconsidered drug scheduling to avoid antagonism and fostering the synergy of the two drugs, a treatment with higher efficacy and overcoming drug resistance to both paclitaxel and CDK4/6i may be developed.

frontiersin.org



Prospective: Clinical trial design – drug scheduling and sequence

Currently, paclitaxel and additional taxane compounds are the key drugs in the management of several major solid tumors, as frontline therapy and salvage option. Eventual development of resistance and accumulative side effects limit the continuous application of the drugs. Thus, the possibility of adding the new anti-cancer drug, CDK4/6i, to the paclitaxel regimen is highly desirable to increase drug potency and overcome resistance (80, 86). With the findings of a non-mitotic mechanism of paclitaxel (59, 68), and the observation of differential activity of drug administrative sequences (91), a therapeutic trial may be designed with these rationales, as an example discussed above (Figure 3).

One approach may be the addition of CDK4/6i to dose dense paclitaxel treatment in patients with recurrent ovarian cancer and metastatic breast cancer (Figure 4). It may be suitable to use paclitaxel alone in the first two of a 7-cycle chemotherapy schedule, to eliminate most active proliferating cancer cells. In the subsequent 5 treatment cycles. CDK4/6i may be given in the last two days, based on the hypothesis that inhibition of CDK4/6 impairs the recovery of the damaged cancer cells following exposure for the previous 5 days with paclitaxel (91). Although paclitaxel is rapidly cleared from the circulation (1, 93), the drug is sequestered and persists within cells for several days (39, 94–96), where the drug stabilizes microtubules and produces additional cytotoxicity.

The proposed two drug combination and schedule has the benefit of both mitotic and non-mitotic mechanisms of paclitaxel action, plus growth inhibition and cytotoxicity bestowed by CDK4/6 inhibition, and thus are predicted to be a more effective therapy. It is not clear if there will be significant change in the side effect profile of either drugs when given in combination in the schedule designed. Both paclitaxel and CDK4/6i have tolerable side effects, and are both routinely used in clinics currently. The major side effects of paclitaxel are well documented: neutropenia/myelosuppression, alopecia, and peripheral neuropathy (32). No surprisingly, CDK4/6i suppresses cell proliferation and causes neutropenia/ myelosuppression and alopecia (97). However, both agents inhibit cell cycle progression and may not be additive for cytotoxicity, and may be even antagonistic, as shown by



preclinical findings for CDK4/6 inhibitors in protecting paclitaxel-caused hair follicle damage (67), or paclitaxel in myelosuppression (87). Thus, side effects such as myelosuppression/neutropenia and alopecia may be lessened or more severe, as results of either protection of paclitaxel damage by CDK4/6i, or the combined damage to the stem cells, respectively. This rationale for a potential sequential drug administration based on the paclitaxel dose dense regimen (Figure 4), derived from pre-clinical studies and consideration, will only be verified or disproved by a clinical trial in cancer patients.

Author contributions

ES: developed concept, produced and analyzed research data, and edited manuscript; MH: developed concept and edited manuscript; MS: participated in concept development and edited manuscript; SG: participated in concept development and edited manuscript; X-XX: developed concept and wrote first draft of manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Work described in this review article was partially supported by funds from NICHD R03HD071244 (ES), CDMRP DoD Concept Awards BC097189 and BC076832 (XX), and NCI grants R01 CA230916, R01 CA095071, R01 CA099471, and CA79716 (XX). Funds from the Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center/University of Miami also supported the research.

Acknowledgments

Our lab alumni and students who have worked on this project and contributed to the basis of the current work. We also thank our colleagues for their conceptual discussion and advice during the course of the experiments and the preparation of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

MS is on the Stategic Council for GlascoSmithKlein (GSK). The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Rowinsky EK, Donehower RC. Taxol: twenty years later, the story unfolds. J Natl Cancer Inst (1991) 83(24):1778-81. doi: 10.1093/jnci/83.24.1778

2. Friedrich M, Diesing D, Villena-Heinsen C, Felberbaum R, Kolberg HC, Diedrich K. Taxanes in the first-line chemotherapy of metastatic breast cancer: review. *Eur J Gynaecol Oncol* (2004) 25(1):66–70.

3. Lemstrova R, Melichar B, Mohelnikova-Duchonova B. Therapeutic potential of taxanes in the treatment of metastatic pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2016) 78(6):1101–11. doi: 10.1007/s00280-016-3058-y

4. Gallego-Jara J, Lozano-Terol G, Sola-Martínez RA, Cánovas-Díaz M, de Diego Puente T. A compressive review about taxol: History and future challenges. *Molecules* (2020) 25(24):5986. doi: 10.3390/molecules25245986

5. Rowinsky EK, Donehower RC. Paclitaxel (taxol). N. Engl J Med (1995) 332 (15):1004–14. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199504133321507

6. Wani MC, Horwitz SB. Nature as a remarkable chemist: a personal story of the discovery and development of taxol. *Anticancer Drugs* (2014) 25(5):482–7. doi: 10.1097/CAD.0000000000000063

 Yang CH, Horwitz SB. Taxol[®]: The first microtubule stabilizing agent. Int J Mol Sci (2017) 18(8):1733. doi: 10.3390/ijms18081733

8. Ojima I, Lichtenthal B, Lee S, Wang C, Wang X. Taxane anticancer agents: a patent perspective. *Expert Opin Ther Pat* (2016) 26(1):1–20. doi: 10.1517/13543776.2016.1111872

9. Zhao Y, Mu X, Du G. Microtubule-stabilizing agents: New drug discovery and cancer therapy. *Pharmacol Ther* (2016) 162:134-43. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2015.12.006

10. Cao YN, Zheng LL, Wang D, Liang XX, Gao F, Zhou XL. Recent advances in microtubule-stabilizing agents. *Eur J Med Chem* (2018) 143:806–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2017.11.062

11. Wani MC, Taylor HL, Wall ME, Coggon P, McPhail AT. Plant antitumor agents. VI. the isolation and structure of taxol, a novel antileukemic and antitumor agent from taxus brevifolia. *J Am Chem Soc* (1971) 93(9):2325–7. doi: 10.1021/ja00738a045

12. Potier P, Guéritte-Voegelein F, Guénard D. Taxoids, a new class of antitumour agents of plant origin: recent results. *Nouv Rev Fr Hematol (1978)* (1994) 36 Suppl 1:S21-3.

13. Wall ME, Wani MC. Camptothecin and taxol: discovery to clinic-thirteenth Bruce f. Cain memorial award lecture. *Cancer Res* (1995) 55(4):753-60. doi: 10.1016/0378-8741(95)01367-9.

14. Galsky MD, Dritselis A, Kirkpatrick P, Oh WK. Cabazitaxel. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2010) 9(9):677-8. doi: 10.1038/nrd3254

15. Altaha R, Fojo T, Reed E, Abraham J. Epothilones: a novel class of nontaxane microtubule-stabilizing agents. *Curr Pharm Des* (2002) 8(19):1707–12. doi: 10.2174/1381612023394043

16. Kundranda MN, Niu J. Albumin-bound paclitaxel in solid tumors: clinical development and future directions. *Drug Des Devel Ther* (2015) 9:3767–77. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S88023

17. Sofias AM, Dunne M, Storm G, Allen C. The battle of "nano" paclitaxel. Adv Drug Delivery Rev (2017) 122:20–30. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2017.02.003

18. Zhang Y, Zhang W, Wang Y, Zhu J, Zhou M, Peng C, et al. Emerging nanotaxanes for cancer therapy. *Biomaterials* (2021) 272:120790. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2021.120790

19. Hunt JT. Discovery of ixabepilone. Mol Cancer Ther (2009) 8(2):275-81. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0999

20. Rohena CC, Mooberry SL. Recent progress with microtubule stabilizers: new compounds, binding modes and cellular activities. *Nat Prod Rep* (2014) 31 (3):335–55. doi: 10.1039/C3NP70092E

21. Ozols RF. Ovarian cancer. Semin Surg Oncol (1990) 6(6):328-38. doi: 10.1002/ssu.2980060607

22. McGuire WP. Ovarian cancer. experimental chemotherapy. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am (1992) 6(4):927-40. doi: 10.1016/S0889-8588(18)30319-8

23. Runowicz CD, Wiernik PH, Einzig AI, Goldberg GL, Horwitz SB. Taxol in ovarian cancer. *Cancer* (1993) 71(4 Suppl):1591–6. doi: 10.1002/cncr.2820710442

24. Ozols RF, Bookman MA, Connolly DC, Daly MB, Godwin AK, Schilder RJ, et al. Focus on epithelial ovarian cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2004) 5:19–24. doi: 10.1016/S1535-6108(04)00002-9

25. Bookman MA. Optimal primary therapy of ovarian cancer. Ann Oncol (2016) 27(Suppl 1):i58–62. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw088

26. Baird RD, Tan DS, Kaye SB. Weekly paclitaxel in the treatment of recurrent ovarian cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2010) 7(10):575–82. doi: 10.1038/ nrclinonc.2010.120

27. Baker VV. Salvage therapy for recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer. *Hematol Oncol Clin North Am* (2003) 17(4):977–88. doi: 10.1016/S0889-8588(03)00057-1

28. Jain A, Dubashi B, Reddy KS, Jain P. Weekly paclitaxel in ovarian cancer-the latest success story. *Curr Oncol* (2011) 18(1):16–7. doi: 10.3747/co.v18i1.680

29. Blagosklonny MV, Fojo T. Molecular effects of paclitaxel: myths and reality (a critical review). *Int J Cancer* (1999) 83(2):151–6. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215 (19991008)83:2<151::AID-IJC1>3.0.CO;2-5

30. Barbuti AM, Chen ZS. Paclitaxel through the ages of anticancer therapy: Exploring its role in chemoresistance and radiation therapy. *Cancers (Basel)* (2015) 7(4):2360–71. doi: 10.3390/cancers7040897

31. Kavallaris M. Microtubules and resistance to tubulin-binding agents. Nat Rev Cancer (2010) 10(3):194–204. doi: 10.1038/nrc2803

32. Rowinsky EK, Eisenhauer EA, Chaudhry V, Arbuck SG, Donehower RC. Clinical toxicities encountered with paclitaxel (Taxol). *Semin Oncol* (1993) 20(4 Suppl 3):1–15.

33. Visconti R, Grieco D. Fighting tubulin-targeting anticancer drug toxicity and resistance. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2017) 24(9):T107–17. doi: 10.1530/ERC-17-0120

34. Holmes FA. Paclitaxel combination therapy in the treatment of metastatic breast cancer: a review. *Semin Oncol* (1996) 23(5 Suppl 11):46–56.

35. Herbst RS, Khuri FR. Mode of action of docetaxel - a basis for combination with novel anticancer agents. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2003) 29(5):407–15. doi: 10.1016/S0305-7372(03)00097-5

36. Schiff PB, Fant J, Horwitz SB. Promotion of microtubule assembly in vitro by taxol. Nature (1979) 277(5698):665-7. doi: 10.1038/277665a0

37. Schiff PB, Horwitz SB. Taxol stabilizes microtubules in mouse fibroblast cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1980) 77(3):1561-5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.77.3.1561

38. Manfredi JJ, Parness J, Horwitz SB. Taxol binds to cellular microtubules. J Cell Biol (1982) 94(3):688–96. doi: 10.1083/jcb.94.3.688

39. Jordan MA, Wilson L. Microtubules as a target for anticancer drugs. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2004) 4:253–65. doi: 10.1038/nrc1317

40. Manfredi JJ, Horwitz SB. Taxol: an antimitotic agent with a new mechanism of action. *Pharmacol Ther* (1984) 25(1):83–125. doi: 10.1016/0163-7258(84) 90025-1

41. Weaver BA. How taxol/paclitaxel kills cancer cells. *Mol Biol Cell* (2014) 25 (18):2677-81. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e14-04-0916

42. Jordan MA. Mechanism of action of antitumor drugs that interact with microtubules and tubulin. *Curr Med Chem Anticancer Agents*. (2002) 2(1):1–17. doi: 10.2174/1568011023354290

43. Bhalla KN. Microtubule-targeted anticancer agents and apoptosis. *Oncogene* (2003) 22:9075–86. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1207233

44. Wang TH, Wang HS, Soong YK. Paclitaxel-induced cell death: where the cell cycle and apoptosis come together. *Cancer* (2000) 88(11):2619–28. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(20000601)88:11<2619::AID-CNCR26>3.0.CO;2-J

45. Merlin JL, Bour-Dill C, Marchal S, Bastien L, Gramain MP. Resistance to paclitaxel induces time-delayed multinucleation and DNA fragmentation into large fragments in MCF-7 human breast adenocarcinoma cells. *Anticancer Drugs* (2000) 11:295–302. doi: 10.1097/00001813-200004000-00011

46. Blagosklonny MV, Robey R, Sheikh MS, Fojo T. Paclitaxel-induced FasLindependent apoptosis and slow (non-apoptotic) cell death. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2002) 1(2):113–7. doi: 10.4161/cbt.53

47. Schimming R, Mason KA, Hunter N, Weil M, Kishi K, Milas L. Lack of correlation between mitotic arrest or apoptosis and antitumor effect of docetaxel. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (1999) 43(2):165–72. doi: 10.1007/s002800050879

48. Morse DL, Gray H, Payne CM, Gillies RJ. Docetaxel induces cell death through mitotic catastrophe in human breast cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2005) 4(10):1495–504. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0130

49. Gascoigne K, Taylor SS. How do anti-mitotic drugs kill cancer cells. J Cell Sci (2009) 122:2579–85. doi: 10.1242/jcs.039719

50. Zasadil LM, Andersen KA, Yeum D, Rocque GB, Wilke LG, Tevaarwerk AJ, et al. Cytotoxicity of paclitaxel in breast cancer is due to chromosome missegregation on multipolar spindles. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(229):229ra43. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3007965

51. Zhu Y, Zhou Y, Shi J. Post-slippage multinucleation renders cytotoxic variation in anti-mitotic drugs that target the microtubules or mitotic spindle. *Cell Cycle* (2014) 13(11):1756–64. doi: 10.4161/cc.28672

52. Giannakakou P, Nakano M, Nicolaou KC, O'Brate A, Yu J, Blagosklonny MV, et al. Enhanced microtubule-dependent trafficking and p53 nuclear

accumulation by suppression of microtubule dynamics. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2002) 99(16):10855–60. doi: 10.1073/pnas.132275599

53. Komlodi-Pasztor E, Sackett D, Wilkerson J, Fojo T. Mitosis is not a key target of microtubule agents in patient tumors. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2011) 8 (4):244–50. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2010.228

54. Mitchison TJ. The proliferation rate paradox in antimitotic chemotherapy. *Mol Biol Cell* (2012) 23(1):1–6. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e10-04-0335

55. Fürst R, Vollmar AM. A new perspective on old drugs: non-mitotic actions of tubulin-binding drugs play a major role in cancer treatment. *Pharmazie* (2013) 68(7):478-83.

56. Field JJ, Kanakkanthara A, Miller JH. Microtubule-targeting agents are clinically successful due to both mitotic and interphase impairment of microtubule function. *Bioorg. Med Chem* (2014) 22(18):5050–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bmc.2014.02.035

57. Florian S, Mitchison TJ. Anti-microtubule drugs. *Methods Mol Biol* (2016) 1413:403-21. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3542-0 25

58. Pucci B, Bellincampi L, Tafani M, Masciullo V, Melino G, Giordano A. Paclitaxel induces apoptosis in saos-2 cells with CD95L upregulation and bcl-2 phosphorylation. *Exp Cell Res* (1999) 252(1):134–43. doi: 10.1006/excr.1999.4591

59. Smith ER, Xu XX. Breaking malignant nuclei as a non-mitotic mechanism of taxol/paclitaxel. *J Cancer Biol* (2021) 2(4):86–93. doi: 10.46439/ cancerbiology.2.031.

60. Mitchison TJ, Pineda J, Shi J, Florian S. Is inflammatory micronucleation the key to a successful anti-mitotic cancer drug? *Open Biol* (2017) 7(11):170182. doi: 10.1098/rsob.170182

61. Belotti D, Vergani V, Drudis T, Borsotti P, Pitelli MR, Viale G, et al. The microtubule-affecting drug paclitaxel has antiangiogenic activity. *Clin Cancer Res* (1996) 2(11):1843–9.

62. Hotchkiss KA, Ashton AW, Mahmood R, Russell RG, Sparano JA, Schwartz EL. Inhibition of endothelial cell function *in vitro* and angiogenesis *in vivo* by docetaxel (Taxotere): association with impaired repositioning of the microtubule organizing center. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2002) 1(13):1191–200.

63. Grant DS, Williams TL, Zahaczewsky M, Dicker AP. Comparison of antiangiogenic activities using paclitaxel (taxol) and docetaxel (taxotere). *Int J Cancer* (2003) 104(1):121–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.10907

64. Lee MX, Tan DS. Weekly versus 3-weekly paclitaxel in combination with carboplatin in advanced ovarian cancer: which is the optimal adjuvant chemotherapy regimen? *J Gynecol Oncol* (2018) 29(6):e96. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2018.29.e96

65. Komlodi-Pasztor E, Sackett DL, Fojo AT. Inhibitors targeting mitosis: tales of how great drugs against a promising target were brought down by a flawed rationale. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(1):51–63. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0999

66. Yan VC, Butterfield HE, Poral AH, Yan MJ, Yang KL, Pham CD, et al. Why great mitotic inhibitors make poor cancer drugs. *Trends Cancer* (2020) 6:924–41. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2020.05.010

67. Purba TS, Ng'andu K, Brunken L, Smart E, Mitchell E, Hassan N, et al. CDK4/6 inhibition mitigates stem cell damage in a novel model for taxane-induced alopecia. *EMBO Mol Med* (2019) 11(10):e11031. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201911031

68. Smith ER, Leal J, Amaya C, Li B, Xu XX. Nuclear lamin A/C expression is a key determinant of paclitaxel sensitivity. *Mol Cell Biol* (2021) 41(7):e0064820. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00648-20

69. Smith ER, George SH, Kobetz E, Xu XX. New biological research and understanding of papanicolaou's test. *Diagn Cytopathol* (2018) 46(6):507–15. doi: 10.1002/dc.23941

70. Theodoropoulos PA, Polioudaki H, Kostaki O, Derdas SP, Georgoulias V, Dargemont C, et al. Taxol affects nuclear lamina and pore complex organization and inhibits import of karyophilic proteins into the cell nucleus. *Cancer Res* (1999) 59(18):4625–33.

71. Shi J, Mitchison TJ. Cell death response to anti-mitotic drug treatment in cell culture, mouse tumor model and the clinic. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2017) 24(9): T83–96. doi: 10.1530/ERC-17-0003

72. Mammel AE, Hatch EM. Genome instability from nuclear catastrophe and DNA damage. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2022) 123:131–9. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2021.03.021

73. Hatch EM, Fischer AH, Deerinck TJ, Hetzer MW. Catastrophic nuclear envelope collapse in cancer cell micronuclei. *Cell* (2013) 154(1):47-60. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.06.007

74. Cai X, Chiu YH, Chen ZJ. The cGAS-cGAMP-STING pathway of cytosolic DNA sensing and signaling. *Mol Cell* (2014) 54:289–96. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.040

75. Finn RS, Crown JP, Lang I, Boer K, Bondarenko IM, Kulyk SO, et al. The cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitor palbociclib in combination with letrozole versus letrozole alone as first-line treatment of oestrogen receptor-positive, HER2-

negative, advanced breast cancer (PALOMA-1/TRIO-18): a randomised phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol (2015) 16(1):25–35. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71159-3

76. Harbeck N, Bartlett M, Spurden D, Hooper B, Zhan L, Rosta E, et al. CDK4/ 6 inhibitors in HR+/HER2- advanced/metastatic breast cancer: a systematic literature review of real-world evidence studies. *Future Oncol* (2021) 17 (16):2107–22. doi: 10.2217/fon-2020-1264

77. Hu X, Huang W, Fan M. Emerging therapies for breast cancer. J Hematol Oncol (2017) 10(1):98. doi: 10.1186/s13045-017-0466-3

78. Kwapisz D. Cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors in breast cancer: palbociclib, ribociclib, and abemaciclib. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2017) 166 (1):41-54. doi: 10.1007/s10549-017-4385-3

79. Wu Y, Zhang Y, Pi H, Sheng Y. Current therapeutic progress of CDK4/6 inhibitors in breast cancer. *Cancer Manag Res* (2020) 12:3477–87. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S250632.

80. Fassl A, Geng Y, Sicinski P. CDK4 and CDK6 kinases: From basic science to cancer therapy. *Science* (2022) 375(6577):eabc1495. doi: 10.1126/science.abc1495

81. Sherr CJ, Beach D, Shapiro GI. Targeting CDK4 and CDK6: From discovery to therapy. *Cancer Discovery* (2016) 6(4):353-67. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0894

82. Knudsen ES, Witkiewicz AK. The strange case of CDK4/6 inhibitors: Mechanisms, resistance, and combination strategies. *Trends Cancer* (2017) 3 (1):39–55. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2016.11.006

83. Taylor-Harding B, Aspuria PJ, Agadjanian H, Cheon DJ, Mizuno T, Greenberg D, et al. Cyclin E1 and RTK/RAS signaling drive CDK inhibitor resistance *via* activation of E2F and ETS. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(2):696–714. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2673

84. Dall'Acqua A, Bartoletti M, Masoudi-Khoram N, Sorio R, Puglisi F, Belletti B, et al. Inhibition of CDK4/6 as therapeutic approach for ovarian cancer patients: Current evidences and future perspectives. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(12):3035. doi: 10.3390/cancers13123035

85. Ogata R, Kishino E, Saitoh W, Koike Y, Kurebayashi J. Resistance to cyclindependent kinase (CDK) 4/6 inhibitors confers cross-resistance to other CDK inhibitors but not to chemotherapeutic agents in breast cancer cells. *Breast Cance.* (2021) 28(1):206–15. doi: 10.1007/s12282-020-01150-8

86. Roberts PJ, Kumarasamy V, Witkiewicz AK, Knudsen ES. Chemotherapy and CDK4/6 inhibitors: Unexpected bedfellows. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2020) 19 (8):1575–88. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-18-1161

87. He S, Roberts PJ, Sorrentino JA, Bisi JE, Storrie-White H, Tiessen RG, et al. Transient CDK4/6 inhibition protects hematopoietic stem cells from chemotherapy-induced exhaustion. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9(387):eaal3986. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aal3986

88. Cretella D, Fumarola C, Bonelli M, Alfieri R, La Monica S, Digiacomo G, et al. Pre-treatment with the CDK4/6 inhibitor palbociclib improves the efficacy of paclitaxel in TNBC cells. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):13014. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-49484-4

89. Son KH, Kim MY, Shin JY, Kim JO, Kang JH. Synergistic antitumor effect of taxanes and CDK4/6 inhibitor in lung cancer cells and mice harboring KRAS mutations. *Anticancer Res* (2021) 41(10):4807–20. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.15296

90. Zhang XH, Cheng Y, Shin JY, Kim JO, Oh JE, Kang JH. A CDK4/6 inhibitor enhances cytotoxicity of paclitaxel in lung adenocarcinoma cells harboring mutant KRAS as well as wild-type KRAS. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2013) 14(7):597–605. doi: 10.4161/cbt.24592

91. Salvador-Barbero B, Álvarez-Fernández M, Zapatero-Solana E, El Bakkali A, Menéndez MDC, López-Casas PP, et al. CDK4/6 inhibitors impair recovery from cytotoxic chemotherapy in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell* (2020) 37 (3):340–353.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2020.01.007

92. Fassl A, Sicinski P. Chemotherapy and CDK4/6 inhibition in cancer treatment: Timing is everything. *Cancer Cell* (2020) 37(3):265–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2020.02.007

93. Wiernik PH, Schwartz EL, Strauman JJ, Dutcher JP, Lipton RB, Paietta E. Phase I clinical and pharmacokinetic study of taxol. *Cancer Res* (1987) 47(9):2486–93.

94. Mori T, Kinoshita Y, Watanabe A, Yamaguchi T, Hosokawa K, Honjo H. Retention of paclitaxel in cancer cells for 1 week *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2006) 58(5):665–72. doi: 10.1007/s00280-006-0209-6

95. Michalakis J, Georgatos SD, de Bree E, Polioudaki H, Romanos J, Georgoulias V, et al. Short-term exposure of cancer cells to micromolar doses of paclitaxel, with or without hyperthermia, induces long-term inhibition of cell proliferation and cell death *in vitro*. Ann Surg Oncol (2007) 14(3):1220–8. doi: 10.1245/s10434-006-9305-4

96. Koshiba H, Hosokawa K, Mori T, Kubo A, Watanabe A, Honjo H. Intravenous paclitaxel is specifically retained in human gynecologic carcinoma tissues *in vivo. Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2009) 19(4):484–8. doi: 10.1111/IGC.0b013e3181a130db

97. Yang L, Xue J, Yang Z, Wang M, Yang P, Dong Y, et al. Side effects of CDK4/ 6 inhibitors in the treatment of HR+/HER2- advanced breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Ann Palliat. Med* (2021) 10(5):5590–9. doi: 10.21037/apm-21-1096

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Alberto Farolfi, Scientific Institute of Romagna for the Study and Treatment of Tumors (IRCCS), Italy

REVIEWED BY

Marcus Vetter, University Hospital of Basel, Switzerland Robert Armbrust, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Katharina Anic Katharina.anic@unimedizin-mainz.de

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 12 June 2022 ACCEPTED 09 August 2022 PUBLISHED 16 September 2022

CITATION

Anic K, Schmidt MW, Schmidt M, Krajnak S, Löwe A, Linz VC, Schwab R, Weikel W, Brenner W, Westphalen C, Rissel R, Hartmann EK, Conradi R, Hasenburg A and Battista MJ (2022) Impact of perioperative red blood cell transfusion, anemia of cancer and global health status on the prognosis of elderly patients with endometrial and ovarian cancer. *Front. Oncol.* 12:967421. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.967421

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Anic. Schmidt. Schmidt. Krainak. Löwe, Linz, Schwab, Weikel, Brenner, Westphalen, Rissel, Hartmann, Conradi, Hasenburg and Battista. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Impact of perioperative red blood cell transfusion, anemia of cancer and global health status on the prognosis of elderly patients with endometrial and ovarian cancer

Katharina Anic ¹*, Mona Wanda Schmidt¹, Marcus Schmidt¹, Slavomir Krajnak¹, Amelie Löwe¹, Valerie Catherine Linz¹, Roxana Schwab¹, Wolfgang Weikel¹, Walburgis Brenner¹, Christiane Westphalen², René Rissel³, Erik Kristoffer Hartmann³, Roland Conradi⁴, Annette Hasenburg¹ and Marco Johannes Battista¹

¹Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, University Medical Center of the Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ²Department of Geriatric Medicine, University Medical Center of the Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ³Department of Anesthesiology, University Medical Center of the Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ⁴Blood Transfusion Center, University Medical Center of the Johannes Gutenberg University, Mainz, Germany

Introduction: Perioperative red blood cell (RBC) transfusions have been associated with increased morbidity and worse oncological outcome in some solid neoplasms. In order to elucidate whether RBC transfusions themselves, the preoperative anemia of cancer (AOC), or the impaired global health status might explain this impact on patients with endometrial cancer (EC) or ovarian cancer (OC), we performed a retrospective, single-institution cohort study.

Materials and methods: Women older than 60 years with EC or OC were included. The influence of RBC transfusions, AOC, and frailty status determined by the G8 geriatric screening tool (G8 score), as well as the clinical-pathological cancer characteristics on progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS), was determined by using the Kaplan-Meier method and the Cox regression analyses.

Results: In total, 263 patients with EC (n = 152) and OC (n = 111) were included in the study. Patients with EC receiving RBC transfusions were faced with a significantly shorter 5-year PFS (79.8% vs. 26.0%; p < 0.001) and 5-year OS (82.6% vs. 25.7%; p < 0.001). In multivariable analyses, besides established clinical-pathological cancer characteristics, the RBC transfusions remained the only significant prognostic parameter for PFS (HR: 1.76; 95%-CI [1.01–3.07]) and OS (HR: 2.38; 95%-CI [1.50–3.78]). In OC, the G8 score stratified the cohort in terms of PFS rates (G8-non-frail 53.4% vs. G8-frail 16.7%; p = 0.010) and AOC stratified the cohort for 5-year OS estimates (non-anemic: 36.7% vs. anemic: 10.6%; p = 0.008). Multivariable Cox regression analyses determined the G8 score and FIGO stage as independent prognostic factors in terms of PFS (HR: 2.23; 95%-CI [1.16-4.32] and HR: 6.52; 95%-CI [1.51-28.07], respectively). For OS, only the TNM tumor stage retained independent significance (HR: 3.75; 95%-CI [1.87-7.53]).

Discussion: The results of this trial demonstrate the negative impact of RBC transfusions on the prognosis of patients with EC. Contrastingly, the prognosis of OC is altered by the preoperative global health status rather than AOC or RBC transfusions. In summary, we suggested a cumulatively restrictive transfusion management in G8-non-frail EC patients and postulated a more moderate transfusion management based on the treatment of symptomatic anemia without survival deficits in OC patients.

KEYWORDS

prognosis, ovarian cancer, endometrial cancer, transfusion, anemia of cancer, frailty

Introduction

It is still a matter of debate whether transfusions of red blood cells (RBC) alter the survival prognosis of patients with oncologic diseases or not (1). Furthermore, it remains unclear if RBC transfusions themselves, the underlying anemia of cancer (AOC), or the preoperative global health status influence the outcome in addition to the conventional tumor entity-specific risk factors (2–4).

Despite the effort of restrictive transfusion strategies, the transfusion indication of RBCs is still an essential treatment component especially in almost frail elderly cancer patients, requiring a major tumor reductive debulking surgery (5–7). Perioperative surgical transfusion rates in patients with gynecological malignancies range from 3% (8) to 77% (9–12). Transfusions of allogeneic RBCs can be life-saving in many circumstances and represent one of the main advances of modern medicine, particularly in oncology (13). Overall,

RBC transfusions are safer than they have ever been, but there are still significant risks and impaired postoperative outcomes (14–16). Increased cancer recurrence rates and the risk of developing new malignancies are reported in transfused patients affected by solid cancers, mainly in colorectal and gastroesophageal cancer (17–19). The negative effects rely possibly on the transfusion-related immune modulations (20–23) because the activity of natural killer cells and T lymphocytes is reduced by allogeneic RBC transfusions (24). However, these endogenous defense cells are required to prevent quiescent cancer cell dissemination (25). With the exception of cervical carcinoma, the current literature on the effect of RBC transfusions among gynecological cancer patients is limited and partially controversial (14, 26–28).

AOC, one main reason for perioperative RBC transfusions, has been shown to be independently associated with an increased risk of adverse postoperative complications and an increased length of intensive care unit and hospital stay (29). Approximately every second cancer patient scheduled for major oncologic surgery while being anemic even prior to surgery at the time of diagnosis (30). Bleeding, nutritional deficiencies, hemolysis, reduced erythropoietin levels, and inflammation with increased hepcidin activity cause AOC (31). The state of functional iron deficiency as a well-established squeal of chronic anemia is often regarded as a consequence of chronic illness (32). Moreover, perioperative RBC transfusions due to severe AOC have been analyzed as an independent risk of poorer outcomes and adverse events in 941,496 operations from various disciplines (33). Finally, anemic patients undergoing cancerrelated therapies suffer more often from advanced oncologic

Abbreviations: AOC, Anemia of cancer; BMI, Body mass index; CGA, Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment; 95%-CI, 95%-confidence interval; DSS, disease-specific survival; EC, endometrial cancer; ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; EQUATOR, Enhancing the QUAlity and Transparency Of health Research; FIGO, International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics; G8 score, G8 geriatric Screening tool; HR, hazard ratio; MNA, Mini Nutritional Assessment; OC, ovarian cancer; OS, overall survival; OR, odds ratio; PFS, progression free survival; RBC, red blood cell; SCS, Surgical Complexity Score; SIOG, International Society of Geriatric Oncology; STROBE, Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology.

diseases and present more often with a limited global health status (34).

To which extent global health status besides AOC and entity-specific clinical-pathological cancer characteristics might influence the overall outcome depends on the following considerations. Gynecological malignancies mainly affect elderly patients (35, 36). Women with endometrial (EC) or ovarian cancer (OC) are at high risk of RBC transfusions due to a multitude of cancer and treatment-related factors (37, 38). In addition to the high median age of approximately 68 years at diagnosis (39) increased age is often associated with more aggressive and advanced diseases and requires extended, curatively intended surgical procedures (40, 41). However, the population older than 65 years of age is less likely to be treated in accordance with the recommendations of internal guidelines resulting in an overall worse outcome in elderly cancer patients (42, 43). Advanced diseases are often associated with an impaired individual global health status and malnourishment in the elderly population. This causes a not negligible impact on the decision to perform extensive surgical cytoreduction, possibly with multi-visceral resections to achieve complete macroscopic tumor resection (44-46). The "phenotype of frailty" can be defined as a multidimensional aging-related clinical syndrome of decreased homeostatic reserves and function due to various organ systems which could form a non-standardized definition of the global health status, especially in elderly cancer patients (47, 48). Frail patients are characterized by vulnerability to adverse health outcomes as well as the combination of dysregulation across various physiologic and molecular pathways (49). Various global health assessment tools exist in order to detect preoperative frailty (48, 50, 51). The G8 geriatric screening tool (G8 score) is one of the most commonly used rapid geriatric screening questionnaires (52, 53). The G8 score has been evaluated especially in oncologicalsurgical disciplines because of its main focus on nutrition, mobility, and comorbidities (54, 55).

We try to elucidate the impact of RBC transfusions, AOC, and the pre-surgical global health status on the outcome of elderly patients with EC and OC in a retrospective, singleinstitution cohort study.

Materials and methods

Study population

This retrospective cohort analysis reports data from women older than 60 years of age surgically treated at the University Medical Center Mainz – Johannes-Gutenberg University Mainz, Germany, between January 2008 and December 2019. Patients at all stages of EC and OC who were being operated on with curative intent were screened and included if they fulfilled the following criteria: 1) Patients with EC receiving a standardized primary staging operation including hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy, with or without pelvic and para-aortic lymph node resection, depending on tumor stage, histological grade of differentiation, and histological subtype. 2) Patients with OC who underwent primary or interval tumor debulking surgery with maximal surgical effort. 3) Patients for whom the determination of the G8 score was possible. 4) OC and EC patients for whom complete follow-up information was available.

Data collection

General patient information was gathered from our electronic hospital database SAP (Walldorf, Germany, 1972) and the archives, including clinical-pathological cancer characteristics such as tumor stage [TNM and FIGO (International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics) classification system (56) and histological grade] and surgical parameters (e.g., amount of blood transfusions, blood loss, or operating time). Perioperative RBC transfusions were defined as any transfusions within 24 h preoperatively, during surgery, or 24 h after surgery. Transfusions due to surgical bleedings within operative revisions were not included in the final evaluation. Preoperative hemoglobin was taken from the electronic patient record. The cutoff for preoperative anemia was chosen with a hemoglobin <12 g/dl, according to the definition of the World Health Organization for women (57). The patients' preoperative global health status was retrospectively assessed with the G8 score based on the routine pre-surgical patient evaluation. This process has previously been described elsewhere (54, 58). Longterm follow-up including progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) was performed by telephone calls, written inquiries to the patients or their physicians, and by checking the patient clinical records up to February 2021.

Clinical-pathological cancer characteristics and intraoperative treatment parameters

Clinical-pathological cancer characteristics were collected from patients' charts. Standardized operation reports were reviewed to extract the information on intraoperative blood loss, cut-seam time, and surgical radicality using the surgical complexity score (SCS). SCS was established by Aletti et al. in order to categorize the maximal surgical effort into a low, intermediate, and high level of complexity (44).

Frailty assessment – G8 geriatric screening tool

The G8 geriatric screening tool (G8 score) established by Bellera et al. in 2012 was chosen as one of the most frequently used frailty evaluation tools recommended by the International Society of Geriatric Oncology (SIOG) to characterize the preoperative global health status (53). As a simple, timesaving, and reproducible questionnaire, the G8 score consists of seven items from the Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) questionnaire with predefined answer options in combination with the chronological age (59-61). The several items assessed in the G8 score are routinely recorded through a standardized health status self-assessment questionnaire in accordance with the MNA as a standard procedure during the pre-surgical consultation. Adding the missing item "biological-calendar age" allows us to calculate the G8 score retrospectively for each patient. The main categories arise from physical performance status and mobility, nutrition, and comorbidities in combination with polypharmacy. The scoring system ranges from 17 points (not impaired at all: G8-non-frail) to a minimum of 0 points (heavily impaired: G8-frail) using the validated cutoff value of ≤ 14 points as an indicator of frailty (52). In various surgical disciplines, the G8 score is validated to preoperatively identify frail patients, who could benefit from a full comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) after a two-step evaluation before major surgery (62).

Statistical analyses

The manuscript was written following the STrengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE)-a cohort checklist of the Enhancing the QUAlity and Transparency Of health Research (EQUATOR) network reporting guidelines (63). Statistical analyses were performed with the use of the SPSS statistical software program, version 27.0.1 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, U.S.A.). Patients' characteristics are given in absolute and relative frequencies (categorical data). The frequency of distribution of categorical variables was compared with Fisher's exact test. For continuous data, normal distribution was explored using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Between-group differences (e.g., transfused vs. non-transfused or "G8-frail" vs. "G8-non-frail") were explored using either the Mann-Whitney U-test or a t-test to evaluate for significant differences. A post-hoc power calculation was used to underline the sufficient number of subjects using an alpha error rate of 0.05. The Cox proportional hazard regression model was used to determine the prognostic influence of preoperative hemoglobin results, perioperative RBC transfusions, and the preoperative frailty status assessed by the G8 score. Furthermore, established entity-specific clinical-

pathological cancer characteristics such as tumor stage at diagnosis (according to the FIGO stage), histological grade of differentiation, and histological subtype, as well as surgical parameters, were included in the Cox regression analyses. Firstly, a univariable Cox regression analysis for every single variable was performed. Secondly, variables with a p-value < 0.10 were included in the multivariable Cox regression analyses with a variable selection via backward elimination. In the Cox regression model, hazard ratios (HRs) with their 95%confidence interval (95%-CI) and p-values were used. Kaplan-Meier estimates were used to describe PFS and OS after 5 years. Time points in months were the date of diagnosis which resulted in the operation date up to death (or recurrence) or last followup. Consequentially, PFS was defined as the length of time after the primary operation that a patient lives without a relapse. In the case of residual tumor burden, PFS was defined as the time after primary surgery until clinical or radiological progression of the disease was found. OS was measured from the date of operation to the date of death or last follow-up. The log-rank test was used to compare the survival curves. All tests were twosided and a p-value of < 0.05 was considered exploratory, because no correction for multiple testing was performed.

Results

Endometrial cancer

Clinical-pathological cancer characteristics

A total of 338 patients were screened and, finally, 263 women entered the study. Out of them, 152 (57.8%) patients suffered from EC (Figure 1). The median follow-up time in this sub-cohort was 31.0 [8.0–68.5] months. The mean age of the study population did not differ between the two cancer entities (EC: 71.0 \pm 7.4 years and OC: 70.9 \pm 5.9 years) (Table 1).

A higher FIGO stage of EC required significantly more RBC transfusions than lower FIGO stages (transfused: FIGO III–IV: 42.1% vs. non-transfused FIGO III–IV: 9.6%; transfused: FIGO I–II: 57.9% vs. non-transfused FIGO I–II: 89.4%; p < 0.001). By histologic subtype, significantly, more women with endometrioid cancers were recorded in the EC-transfused cohort (63.2% vs. 36.8%; p = 0.005). The histological grade of differentiation was not associated with RBC transfusions (p = 0.774).

Surgical treatment parameters

The transfused EC patients (84.2%) received up to five RBC transfusions, mostly during surgical procedures (63.2%). AOC was associated with RBC transfusion indication (77.8% vs. 22.2%; p < 0.001). The mean cut-seam time was 142.4 min (± 82.2 min) with a mean intraoperative blood loss of 229.5 ml (± 422.8 ml). Forty-nine patients (32.0%) received laparoscopic surgery, 72 (49.7%) received open surgery, and the remaining 29 (18.3%) received vaginal surgery. In total, four operative



revisions were necessary, two due to an incarcerated intestinal loop and two due to a subsequent postoperative hemorrhage. In both circumstances, one of two patients received RBC transfusions. A total of 144 EC patients (94.7%) were operated on without any residual tumor burden. Frail patients were operated on with the same surgical radicality as non-frail patients (data not shown). In total, 14 (9.2%) patients received adjuvant chemotherapy, which was completed in 12 (85.7%) patients. Moreover, 67 and (43.9%) women received adjuvant radiotherapy [61 (39.9%) brachytherapy, 5 (3.3%) percutaneous radiation, and 1 (0.7%) local radiation]. The indication was stage-appropriated in 137 (89.5%) cases.

Global health status

Preoperative global health status evaluation with the G8 score allocated 58 (38.9%) patients in the G8-frail and the remaining 91 (61.1%) patients in the G8-non-frail cohort. Frail patients received significantly more RBC transfusions than G8-non-frail patients (83.3% vs. 16.7%; p < 0.001). G8-frail patients receiving RBC transfusions were faced with the lowest survival rates compared to their non-frail and non-transfused counterparts (Table 3). The impact of intraoperative RBC transfusions on the survival rates was more pronounced than the influence of the preoperative frailty status (5-year OS: transfused: 25.7% vs. G8-frail: 49.7%).

Prognosis

Kaplan-Meier plots yielded 5-year statistically different OS rates for RBC transfusions (non-transfused: 82.6% vs. transfused: 25.7%; p < 0.001), AOC (non-anemic: 81.2% vs. anemic: 57.1%; p < 0.001), and global health status (G8-non-frail: 88.2% vs. G8-frail: 49.7%; p < 0.001) (Table 2). Overall, frail and transfused patients had the worst prognosis in the EC cohort

(Figure 2). In the univariable Cox regression analysis, FIGO stage, histological grade of differentiation, postoperative residual tumor burden, and RBC transfusions, as well as preoperative frailty status, were associated with decreased survival rates for both, 5-year PFS and 5-year OS (all p-values < 0.05) (Table 3). In the multivariable analyses, besides selected clinical-pathological cancer characteristics (FIGO stage and histological grade of differentiation), only RBC transfusions retained their independent significance for both 5-year PFS and 5-year OS (all p-values < 0.05). However, AOC and G8-Status were not independently associated with PFS and OS (all p-values > 0.05).

Ovarian cancer

Clinical-pathological cancer characteristics

A total of 111 patients with OC (43.1%) met the inclusion criteria (Figure 1), and 51.4% of patients received RBC transfusions (Table 1). The conventional clinical-pathological cancer characteristics such as FIGO stage, histological grade of differentiation, and histological subtype did not differ between the transfused and not-transfused cohort. The median follow-up time was 26.0 [12.0–39.0] months.

Surgical treatment parameters

AOC was diagnosed in 37.4% of OC patients, and 47.3% of patients receiving RBC transfusions suffered from AOC. Otherwise, solely 26.9% of women with AOC did not receive RBC transfusions and 73.1% of non-anemic patients did not receive RBC transfusions (p = 0.030). The mean operation time was 260.0 min (\pm 122.7 min) with a mean blood loss of 1,015.32 ml (\pm 1468.82 ml). In total, 82 (78.1%) patients were treated with primary debulking surgery, and 23 (21.9%) patients received an

	En	dometrial C	Cancer (EC)	Ovarian Cancer (OC)				
Parameter n (%) (+/- SD)	total n=152	transfused n=19	non- transfused n=133		total n=111		transfused n=57	non- transfused n=54
Mean age [years]	71.0 (+/- 7	.4)		70.9 (+/- 5.9)				
			Clinical-pathologic	cal cancer chara	cteristics			
Tumor Stage (FIGO-Stage)	p<0.001				p=0.483			
Ι	123 (80.9)	11 (57.9)	111 (84.1)			13 (11.2)	4 (7.0)	9 (16.7)
Ia	70 (46.1)			Ia		8 (6.9)		
Ib	53 (34.9)			Ib		1 (0.9)		
				Ic*		4 (3.4)		
II	7 (4.6)	0 (0.0)	7 (5.3)			6 (5.2)	3 (5.3)	3 (5.6)
				IIa		2 (1.7)		
				IIb		4 (3.4)		
III	12 (7.9)	2 (10.5)	10 (7.6)			74 (63.8)	36 (63.2)	35 (64.8)
IIIa	2 (1.3)			IIIa1		5 (4.3)		
IIIb	3 (2.0)			IIIa2		0 (0.0)		
IIIc1	5 (3.3)			IIIb		13 (11.2)		
IIIc2	2 (1.3)			IIIc		56 (48.3)		
IV	10 (6.6)	6 (31.6)	4 (3.0)		17 (14.7)		10 (17.5)	7 (13.0)
IVa	3 (2.0)				2 (1.7)			
IVb	7 (4.6)				15 (12.9)			
Histological Subtype	p=0.005				p=0.824			
Endo-metrioid	130 (85.0)	12 (63.2)	117 (88.0)	Serous		86 (74.1)	18 (31.6)	16 (29.6)
				low grade		5 (4.3)		
				high grade		81 (69.8)		
Others	23 (15.0)	7 (36.8)	16 (12.0)	Others		30 (25.9)	39 (68.4)	38 (70.4)
(serous, squamous, mucinous,)				(endometrioid	, mucinous, clear c	ell)		
Histological grade of differentiation	p=0.774				p=0.560			
G1	75 (49.0)	7 (36.8)	67 (50.4)		6 (5.2)		2 (3.5)	4 (7.4)
G2	46 (30.1)	6 (31.6)	40 (30.1)		21 (18.1)		9 (15.8)	11 (20.4)
G3	30 (19.6)	4 (21.1)	26 (19.5)		87 (75.0)		44 (77.2)	39 (72.2)
			Red blood cell tr	ansfusion mana	gement			
Timing of transfusion								
preoperative intraoperative postoperative		4 (21.) 12 (63.) 3 (15.)	1) 2) 3)			6 (10.5) 42 (73.7) 9 (15.8)		
Number of transfusions								
≤ 5> 5		16 (84.2)3	(15.8)			38 (66.7)19 (3	3.3)	
			Preoperative	e anemia of can	cer			
[g/dl]	p<0.001				p=0.030			
Haemoglobin < 12	35 (23.3)	14 (77.8)	21 (15.9)		40 (37.4)		26 (47.3)	14 (26.9)
Haemoglobin ≥ 12	115 (76.7)	4 (22.2)	111 (84.1)		67 (62.6)		29 (52.7)	38 (73.1)
			Global	<u>health status</u>				
G8 Score	p<0.001				p=0.031			
G8-frail	58 (38.9)	15 (83.3)	43 (33.1)		51 (48.1)		32 (58.2)	19 (37.3)
G8-non-trail	91 (61.1)	3 (16.7)	87 (66.9)		55 (51.9)		23 (41.8)	32 (62.7)
Destauration P 111			Surgical trea	ument paramet	ers			
tumor burden	p=0.150				p=0.017			

TABLE 1 Patients'-characteristics gynaecological malignancies.

(Continued)

	Er	ndometrial (Cancer (EC)		Ovarian Cancer (OC)			
Parameter n (%)	total	transfused	non- transfused		total	transfused	non- transfused	
(+/- SD)	n=152	n=19	n=133		n=111	n=57	n=54	
None	144 (94.7)	16 (84.2)	127 (95.5)		67 (58.3)	27 (47.4)	37 (68.5)	
Present	6 (3.9)	2 (10.5)	4 (3.0)		48 (41.7)	30 (52.6)	16 (29.6)	
Unknown	2 (1.3)	1 (5.3)	2 (1.5)		0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
SCS – Surgical Complexity Score	n.a.			<i>p</i> =0.062				
SCS 1					37 (33.3)	16 (28.1)	21 (39.6)	
SCS 2					53 (47.7)	26 (45.6)	27 (50.9)	
SCS 3					21 (18.0)	15 (26.3)	5 (9.4)	
Completeness of systemic therapy	p=0.425			p=0.841				
No	2 (14.3)	0 (0.0)	2 (100.0)		13 (16.0)	6 (16.2)	7 (17.9)	
Yes	12 (85.7)	3 (25.0)	9 (75.0)		68 (84.0)	31 (83.8)	32 (82.1)	

TABLE 1 Continued

EC, endometrial cancer; FIGO, International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics; G, histological grade of differentiation; G8 Score, G8 geriatric Screening tool; G8 frail, G8 geriatric Screening tool > 14 points; G8 non-frail, G8 geriatric Screening tool \leq 14 points; OC, ovarian cancer; SD, standard deviation; SCS, Surgical Complexity Score.

n.a.: not applicable, n: number of patients.

*if the number of cases is small, the subdivision into IC1, IC2 and IC3 is waived.

bold written words: analyzed main categories.

bold written numbers: statistically significant results (p<0.05); italic written numbers: clinically relevant results (p<0.1).

interval debulking surgery. Nineteen (17.1%) operative revisions were performed due to deep and superficial wound dehiscence in eight (38.1%) cases, intestinal complications as anastomosis insufficiencies or peritonitis in seven (36.8%) cases, and surgical bleeding in four (21.1%) cases. Fourteen of these 19 (73.7%) patients required RBC transfusions. No residual tumor burden was achieved in 67 (58.3%) patients. RBC transfusions were associated with surgical radicality determined by the SCS (p = 0.062) and postoperative residual tumor burden (p = 0.017). Similar to the EC group, the OC patients mostly received five or fewer (66.7%) RBS intraoperatively (73.7%).

Global health status

The G8 score allocated 51 (48.1%) patients to the G8-frail group and 55 (51.9%) patients to the G8-non-frail group. Significantly, more G8-frail OC patients were transfused than G8-non-frail (58.2% vs. 41.8%; p = 0.031). Frail patients were operated on with the same surgical intent as non-frail patients (data not shown). G8frail patients were faced with an impaired PFS compared to their G8-non-frail counterparts (53.4% vs. 16.7%; p = 0.010) (Figure 2). No significant survival difference was recognized in terms of 5-year OS (G8-non-frail: 40.5% vs. G8-frail: 15.3%, p = 0.149) (Table 2).

Prognosis

RBC transfusions did not influence the prognosis in OC patients in terms of PFS (40.8% vs. 26.0%, p = 0.738) and OS (46.3% vs. 20.8%, p=0.073). The *post-hoc* power calculation for the dichotomous endpoint of the two independent sample studies was 82.1%. Anemic patients were faced with a worse outcome in terms of OS when compared with non-anemic patients (10.6% vs. 36.7%; p = 0.008) but not in terms of PFS (26.9% vs. 39.5%; p = 0.088). The univariable Cox regression analyses were shown in Table 3. In

multivariable Cox regression analyses, solely the FIGO stage and G8 score retained independent significance as prognostic factors for PFS (HR: 6.52; 95%-CI [1.51–28.07] and HR: 2.23; 95%-CI [1.16–4.32], respectively). AOC missed the statistical level of significance (HR: 1.18; 95%-CI [0.59–2.38]). In terms of OS, the TNM tumor stage achieved statistical and AOC clinical significance (HR: 3.75; 95%-CI [1.87–7.53] and HR: 1.70; 95%-CI [0.92–3.15], respectively) in multivariable analyses.

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, we here reported for the first time the relationship between RBC transfusions, AOC, and global health status with their possible impact on prognosis for cancer patients and try to elucidate the real source of the fundamental reason for performing a Cox regression analyses. In EC, RBC transfusions and selected clinical-pathological cancer characteristics impaired PFS and OS. In OC, the FIGO stage and frailty status seemed to be the most important prognostic factors for PFS followed by the TNM tumor stage and AOC in terms of OS.

The correlation between perioperative RBC transfusions and postoperative outcome on survival seemed to be entity-specific and was discussed controversially in the current literature. Bogani and colleagues retrospectively examined 275 patients with locally advanced cervical cancer scheduled to undergo neoadjuvant chemotherapy plus radical surgery (15). They reported no association between RBC transfusions and worse disease-specific survival (DSS) (HR: 2.71; 95%-CI [0.91–8.03]). Contrastingly, in gastrointestinal tumor surgery, e.g., esophageal cancer resections, RBC transfusions have been correlated in 568 esophagectomies with a significantly poorer short- and long-term survival (PFS: HR:1.8:

		Endometrial (Cancer		Ovarian Cancer			
	n (%)	PFS after 5 years [%], p value	OS after 5 years [%], p value	n (%)	PFS after 5 years [%], p value	OS after 5 years [%], p value		
Red blood cell (RBC)	152	<0.001	<0.001	111	0.738	0.073		
transfusions	133	79.8	82.6	54	40.8	46.3		
non-transfused	(87.5)	26.0	25.7	(48.6)	26.0	20.8		
transfused	19			57				
	(12.5)			(51.4)				
Preoperative anemia of	151	0.110	<0.001	110	0.088	0.008		
cancer (AOC)	116	77.2	81.2	72	39.5	36.7		
non-anemic	(76.8)	65.0	57.1	(65.5)	26.9	10.6		
anemic	35			38				
	(23.2)			(34.5)				
G8 geriatric Screening tool	150	0.071	<0.001	110	0.010	0.149		
(G8 Score)	92	82.1	88.2	56	53.4	40.5		
G8-non-frail	(61.3)	65.4	49.7	(50.9)	16.7	15.3		
G8-frail	58			54				
	(38.7)			(49.1)				
Frail – RBC transfusions	148	0.003	<0.001	99	0.039	0.170		
G8-non-frail + non-	87	86.0	90.2	38	47.2	45.5		
transfused	3	66.7	33.3	(38.4)	77.8	27.8		
G8-non-frail + transfused	43	72.4	61.3	13	22.3	14.6		
G8-frail + non-transfused	15	39.2	17.3	(13.1)	17.0	14.6		
G8-frail + transfused				27				
				(27.3)				
				21				
				(21.2)				

 TABLE 2
 Estimated 5-year survival rates by Kaplan-Meier method.

AOC, anemia of cancer; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression free survival; RBC, red blood cell.

n = number of patients; G8 frail: G8 geriatric Screening tool > 14 points, G8 non-frail: G8 geriatric Screening tool \leq 14 points

bold written words: analyzed main categories;

bold written numbers: statistically significant results (p<0.05); italic written numbers: clinically relevant results (p<0.1).

95%-CI: [1.2-2.5] and OS: HR: 2.2; 95%-CI [1.5-3.2], respectively) (17). Although we recorded a restrictive blood management with a transfusion rate of only 12.5% in the EC cohort, RBC transfusions retained its independent significance according to poorer 5-year PFS and 5-year OS. Uccella and colleagues similarly proved the association between RBC transfusions and a higher risk of recurrence in 331 women with EC (27). They hypothesized that RBC transfusions potentially promoted the intraabdominal spread of neoplastic cells due to the transitory perioperative immunodepression (64, 65). For elderly patients with OC, our data could not show an independent impact of the RBC transfusions but for AOC and clinical-pathological cancer characteristics on prognosis. Our results were in line with the findings of Warner and colleagues. They refuted an independent influence of RBC transfusions on survival in women with epithelial OC even if RBC transfusions were significantly associated with age, advanced stages of diseases, and higher surgical complexity (9). In contrast to these findings, Zhang and colleagues postulated a significant deleterious effect on cancer survival related to RBC transfusions in their retrospective study (66). Furthermore, De Oliveira and colleagues were able to demonstrate an association between advanced OC and RBC transfusions in their retrospective cohort investigation (67), although the radicality of tumor debulking surgery, as well as residual tumor burden as validated independent predictors of poor oncological outcomes, was not considered as a potential variable influencing the outcome in that study.

To clarify the indications of RBC transfusions in the perioperative setting, one might address the rule of AOC (2). Our results suggested a poorer 5-year OS for pre-surgical anemic EC and OC patients in Kaplan-Meier plots. In the multivariable Cox regression analyses, an independent prognostic influence was solely demonstrated in OC in terms of OS. Our results were comparable with the results of a recently published prospective trial with 192 patients by Chen and colleagues. "Specifically in obese, nondiabetic, elder, advanced stage but having relatively good performance status patients" a low preoperative hematocrit, lower than 35%, was a valuable predictor of OC women's poor prognoses (68). Contrastingly, Abu-Zaid and colleagues were not able to determine an independent prognostic association between AOC and OS in endometrioid-type EC in a retrospective cross-sectional study (69). Moreover, Abu-Zaid et al. demonstrated that poorer survival outcomes were predicted by preoperative AOC in patients with exclusively advanced FIGO stage EC in their subsequent systematic review and meta-analysis from 2021 (70). Possibly, our contrasting findings might be explained by the lower rate of 14.5% suffering from an advanced EC.

For the preoperative global health status in cancer patients, our study group could demonstrate the independent impact on
		Endometrial Cancer					Ovarian Cancer					
univariable	PFS			OS			PFS		OS			
	HR	95%- CI	p-value	HR	95%- CI	p-value	HR	95%- CI	p-value	HR	95%- CI	p-value
TNM-Tumor Stage	1.48	0.89-2.47	0.134	2.21	1.56-3.15	< 0.001	2.56	1.48-4.42	0.001	3.41	1.86-6.22	<0.001
FIGO-Stage	1.87	1.34-2.61	< 0.001	2.25	1.69-2.99	< 0.001	6.21	1.91-20.18	0.002	1.96	1.32-2.89	0.001
Histological subtype	0.45	0.18-1.12	0.087	0.34	0.16-0.73	0.006	1.52	0.80-2.86	0.200	1.77	0.93-3.36	0.083
Histological grade of differentiation	1.93	1.19-3.12	0.008	2.26	1.44-3.55	< 0.001	1.59	0.91-2.80	0.104	1.71	0.98-2.97	0.057
Postoperative residual tumor burden	2.22	1.06-4.65	0.034	2.95	1.71-5.08	< 0.001	2.07	1.17-3.67	0.012	3.03	1.70-5.41	< 0.001
SCS – Surgical Complexity Score				-			1.46	0.96-2.22	0.078	1.509	1.01-2.26	0.045
Completeness of systemic therapy				-			2.06	0.87-4.85	0.071	0.984	0.49-1.96	0.963
RBC transfusions	4.97	2.03-12.18	<0.001	7.48	3.48-16.08	< 0.001	1.10	0.62-1.98	0.743	1.66	0.95-2.93	0.078
Preoperative anemia of cancer (AOC)	0.53	0.24-1.18	0.118	0.29	0.15-0.58	0.001	0.58	0.31-1.10	0.097	0.46	0.26-0.83	0.010
G8 geriatric Screening tool (G8 Score)	2.29	1.04-5.02	0.040	3.55	1.73-7.26	0.001	2.14	1.17-3.92	0.014	1.49	0.86-2.57	0.154
multivariable												
TNM-Tumor Stage		-		0.92	0.54-1.56	0.759	1.25	0.45-3.47	0.671	3.75	1.87-7.53	< 0.001
FIGO-Stage	1.25	1.06-1.46	0.007	1.30	1.13-1.49	< 0.001	6.52	1.51-28.07	0.012	1.10	0.12-9.89	0.932
Histological Subtype	3.17	0.82-12.33	0.096	3.83	1.15-12.74	0.029		-		1.38	0.70-2.73	0.351
Histological grade of differentiation	2.25	1.22-4.14	0.009	2.11	1.23-3.61	0.007		-		1.45	0.72-2.93	0.299
Postoperative residual tumor burden	1.29	0.51-3.25	0.586	1.29	0.57-2.91	0.543	1.35	0.70-2.63	0.375	0.83	0.42-1.67	0.605
SCS				-			1.08	0.65-1.79	0.778	1.03	0.64-1.65	0.899
Completeness of systemic therapy				-			1.81	0.68-4.80	0.231		-	
RBC transfusions	1.76	1.01-3.07	0.046	2.38	1.50-3.78	< 0.001		-		0.85	0.43-1.68	0.643
Preoperative AOC		-		1.07	0.50-2.30	0.860	1.18	0.59-2.38	0.644	1.70	0.92-3.15	0.090
G8 Score	1.34	0.53-3.36	0.533	2.02	0.87-4.67	0.101	2.23	1.16-4.32	0.017		-	

TABLE 3 Uni- and multivariable Cox-regression analyses for survival in patients with gynecological malignancies.

95%-CI, confidence interval; FIGO, International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics; G8 Score, G8 geriatric Screening tool; HR, hazard ratio; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression free Survival; RBC, red blood cell; SCS, Surgical Complexity Score.

n = number of patients.

bold written words: analyzed main categories;.

bold written numbers: statistically significant results (p<0.05); italic written numbers: clinically relevant results (p<0.1).

postoperative prognosis (54, 55, 58). Consecutively, the frailty status was seen as a potential confounder in this study and was included in the multivariate analyses.

Unfortunately, the important question to be answered remains open: how to manage AOC in the elderly partially frail patients with EC or OC before major surgery? From the presented results, one might conclude to clarify AOC and determine global health status with validated geriatric screening tools, which was beneficial especially in OC patients. These mainly preoperatively detectable parameters seemed to give important insights into the patients' prognosis regardless of the administration of RBC transfusions. Especially in older women with OC, a multilayered and interdisciplinary diagnostic or rehabilitation program might be helpful to enable an individual therapy concept mainly in frail patients, as G8-frail patients were faced with a poor prognosis irrespectively of maximal surgical effort (58). A moderate transfusion management, based on the fact that RBC transfusions in symptomatic anemic OC patients, was not associated with an overall poorer outcome. However, a restrictive perioperative RBC transfusion management seemed to be much more important in patients with EC, most likely due to the lower surgical radicality and

the overall better general condition. Boone and colleagues postulated a strongly restrictive transfusion policy in gynecologic oncology (71). In their retrospective chart review, they examined 582 women, 55.9 years of mean age, with various gynecological malignancies, receiving a total of 2,276 blood transfusions. Their hypothesis was based on the findings that solely women with symptomatic anemia with hemoglobin results <7 g/dl or an intraoperative blood loss of more than 1,500 ml should be transfused, without increased postoperative morbidity, concerning infections, thrombotic events, or mortality. Moreover, the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program (NSQIP) published data from 8,519 women, gynecologic surgically treated between 2010 and 2012, in a large-scale multiinstitutional dataset. They reported an RBC transfusion rate of 13.8% with a significant higher transfusion-related composite morbidity (odds ratio (OR) = 1.85; 95%-CI [1.5-2.24]), including surgical site infections (OR=1.80, 95%-CI [1.39-2.35]) and length of hospital stay (non-transfused: 3.02 vs. transfused 7.17 days, p=<0.001) (72). However, Boureau and de Decker were able to examine that liberal transfusion strategies could show lower mortality rates, especially in a surgical ward in elderly cancer



patients (73). They postulated that transfusion decisions should be based on "benefit/risk balance taking into account patients' symptoms". Further trials reviewed evidence-based indications for RBC transfusions, almost in conservative treated patient cohorts, and resumed the potential risks and complications of blood interventions (3). Considering the RBC transfusion management in gynecologic oncologic surgery, most of the current literature had been limited by small sample sizes of about 150 patients (38, 74). In addition, solely univariable analyses showed significant differences between the transfused and non-transfused study sub-cohort (16). If multivariable regression models were used to elucidate the possible effect of RBC transfusions on survival, key perioperative parameters such as surgical complexity or radicality as well as intraoperative blood loss and preoperative hemoglobin level were not included (27, 75, 76). We tried to overcome some of these limitations and demonstrated an independent impact of RBC transfusions and selected clinical-pathological cancer characteristics on the prognosis of patients with EC but not in OC.

By analyzing the impact of RBC transfusions, AOC, and the global health status in the context of known influential clinical-pathological cancer characteristics on the prognosis of EC and OC, this study tried to elucidate the underlying causative mechanism of these intertwined conditions causing a poorer prognosis and went beyond the pure description of an association between RBC transfusions in patients with EC and OC. Limitations arise from the retrospective nature of the data analyses limiting the generalizability of our findings. This might be relevant, particularly in terms of incomplete follow-up, which was successfully reduced to a minimum of 34 EC and 41 OC patients by reaching out to patients and physicians through different channels of communication and an extensive review of clinical records. Nevertheless, the large number of considered entity-specific clinical-pathological prognostic parameters as well as the multidimensional nature of the included patients regarded the frailty status and surgical aspects besides current clinical risk factors strengthen the validity of our results. Additionally, this work was carried out in a single institution. In contrast, the benefit of this single-center trial was the depth of data available, allowing for the analysis of possible confounding variables related to outcomes. Moreover, selection bias that could arise from the decision to transfuse was subjective and some practitioners might have been more liberal with transfusions than others, although the overall rate of perioperative RBC transfusions in this cohort was moderate at 28.3% and was in line with globally reported standards (67). Finally, multiple testing might regard as a weakness of retrospective data analyses.

In conclusion, in addition to the stage- and entity-dependent cancer prognosis, the prognostic impact of RBC transfusions was

detected only in patients with EC. In OC patients, the preoperative determination as "G8-frail" was associated with an independent worse oncological outcome. The different impact of RBC transfusions concerning the cancer entity could be firstly explained by the fact that EC patients in general were less likely to be as frail as OC patients. Secondly, the 5-year OS in the nontransfused OC cohort was fundamentally lower than in the EC cohort (46.3% vs. 82.6%). This survival disadvantage of the OC patient seemed to be explained by the fact that the diseases at diagnosis were more advanced, and the tumor biology, in general, seemed to be more aggressive. A standardized AOC clarification, as well as an evidence-based screening of frailty status, might be established in a preoperative diagnostic pathway to improve the individual cancer prognosis. However, due to the abovementioned limitations, a multi-centric or even prospective approach might be helpful to elucidate further information on our goal to improve the perioperative workup of cancer patients.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

KA, and MB conceived and designed the study. KA, MWS, AL, AH, VL, WW, CW, SK, RS, MS, RR, EH, WB and MB collected the data. KA, MWS and MB performed the statistical analysis. KA and MB wrote the manuscript. All authors critically

References

revised the manuscript and contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

KA reports personal fees from Eisai, Roche, MSD. MWS reports holding a patent WO 2021/176091 A1 not related to this study. SK received speaker Honoria, research funding and travek reimbursement from Vovartis Pharma GmbH Germany. MS reports personal fees from AstraZeneca, BioNTech, Daiichi Sankyo, Eisai, Lilly, MSD, Novartis, Pantarhei Bioscience, Pfizer, Roche, and SeaGen outside the submitted work. Institutional research funding from AstraZeneca, BioNTech, Eisai, Genentech, German Breast Group, Novartis, Palleos, Pantarhei Bioscience, Pierre Fabre, and SeaGen. In addition, MS has a patent for EP 2390370 B1 and a patent for EP 2951317 B1issued. RS reports honoraria and expenses from Roche Pharma AG and AstraZeneca GmbH. AH reports honoraria and expenses from AstraZeneca, FBA Frauenärzte BundesAkademie GmbH, KlarigoVerlag, MedConcept, Med public GmbH, Med update GmbH, Medicultus, Pfizer, Promedicis GmbH, Pierre Fabre Pharma GmbH, Softconsult, Roche Pharma AG, Streamedup! GmbH, Tesaro Bio Germany GmbH. I am consultant to PharmaMar, Promedicis GmbH, Pierre Fabre Pharma GmbH, Roche Pharma AG and Tesaro Bio Germany GmbH. I have received funded research from Celgene. MB reports honoraria and expenses from Pharma Mar, Astra Zeneca, Tesaro, GSK, Roche, Clovis Oncology.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{1.} Richards T, Musallam KM, Nassif J, Ghazeeri G, Seoud M, Gurusamy KS, et al. Impact of preoperative anaemia and blood transfusion on postoperative outcomes in gynaecological surgery. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(7):e0130861. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130861

^{2.} Wallace SK, Halverson JW, Jankowski CJ, DeJong SR, Weaver AL, Weinhold MR, et al. Optimizing blood transfusion practices through bundled intervention implementation in gynecologic cancer patients undergoing laparotomy. *Obstetrics Gynecol* (2018) 131(5):891. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000002463

^{3.} Cybulska P, Goss C, Tew WP, Parameswaran R, Sonoda Y. Indications for and complications of transfusion and the management of gynecologic malignancies. *Gynecol Oncol* (2017) 146(2):416-26. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.05.010

^{4.} Barrett-Lee P, Bokemeyer C, Gascón P, Nortier J, Schneider M, Schrijvers D, et al. Management of cancer-related anemia in patients with breast or gynecologic cancer: new insights based on results from the European cancer anemia survey. *Oncologist* (2005) 10(9):743–57. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.10-9-743

5. Shokoohi A, Stanworth S, Mistry D, Lamb S, Staves J, Murphy M. The risks of red cell transfusion for hip fracture surgery in the elderly. *Vox Sanguinis* (2012) 103 (3):223–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1423-0410.2012.01606.x

6. Murphy MF, Estcourt L, Goodnough LT. Blood transfusion strategies in elderly patients. *Lancet Haematol* (2017) 4(10):e453-e4. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026 (17)30173-4

7. Gregersen M, Borris LC, Damsgaard EM. Postoperative blood transfusion strategy in frail, anemic elderly patients with hip fracture: the TRIFE randomized controlled trial. *Acta Orthopaedica* (2015) 86(3):363–72. doi: 10.3109/17453674.2015.1006980

8. Backes FJ, Brudie LA, Farrell MR, Ahmad S, Finkler NJ, Bigsby GE, et al. Short-and long-term morbidity and outcomes after robotic surgery for comprehensive endometrial cancer staging. *Gynecol Oncol* (2012) 125(3):546–51. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2012.02.023

9. Warner LLM, Dowdy SC, Martin JR, Lemens MA, McGree ME, Weaver AL, et al. The impact of perioperative packed red blood cell transfusion on survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2013) 23(9). doi: 10.1097/01.IGC.0000436089.03581.6b

10. Marik PE. The hazards of blood transfusion. *Br J Hosp Med* (2005) (2009) 70 (1):12–5. doi: 10.12968/hmed.2009.70.1.37688

11. Squires MHIII, Kooby DA, Poultsides GA, Weber SM, Bloomston M, Fields RC, et al. Effect of perioperative transfusion on recurrence and survival after gastric cancer resection: a 7-institution analysis of 765 patients from the US gastric cancer collaborative. *J Am Coll Surgeons* (2015) 221(3):767–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2015.06.012

12. Chang C-C, Sun J-T, Chen J-Y, Chen Y-T, Li P-Y, Lee T-C, et al. Impact of peri-operative anemia and blood transfusions in patients with gastric cancer receiving gastrectomy. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* (2016) 17(3):1427–31. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2016.17.3.1427

13. Hunsicker O, Gericke S, Graw JA, Krannich A, Boemke W, Meyer O, et al. Transfusion of red blood cells does not impact progression-free and overall survival after surgery for ovarian cancer. *Transfusion* (2019) 59(12):3589–600. doi: 10.1111/trf.15552

14. Altman AD, Liu X-Q, Nelson G, Chu P, Nation J, Ghatage P. The effects of anemia and blood transfusion on patients with stage III-IV ovarian cancer. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2013) 23(9). doi: 10.1097/IGC.0b013e3182a57ff6

15. Bogani G, Ditto A, Martinelli F, Signorelli M, Chiappa V, Lopez C, et al. Impact of blood transfusions on survival of locally advanced cervical cancer patients undergoing neoadjuvant chemotherapy plus radical surgery. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2017) 27(3). doi: 10.1097/IGC.000000000000002

16. Pergialiotis V, Thomakos N, Frountzas M, Haidopoulos D, Loutradis D, Rodolakis A. Perioperative blood transfusion and ovarian cancer survival rates: A meta-analysis based on univariate, multivariate and propensity score matched data. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2020) 252:137–43. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2020.06.013

17. Reeh M, Ghadban T, Dedow J, Vettorazzi E, Uzunoglu FG, Nentwich M, et al. Allogenic blood transfusion is associated with poor perioperative and long-term outcome in esophageal cancer. *World JSurg* (2017) 41(1):208–15. doi: 10.1007/s00268-016-3730-8

18. Wehry J, Agle S, Philips P, Cannon R, Scoggins CR, Puffer L, et al. Restrictive blood transfusion protocol in malignant upper gastrointestinal and pancreatic resections patients reduces blood transfusions with no increase in patient morbidity. *Am J Surg* (2015) 210(6):1197–205. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2015.08.013

19. Squires MH, Maithel SK. Transfusion and gastric cancer resection: In reply to yang and colleagues. *J Am Coll Surgeons* (2015) 221(5):996. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2015.07.448

20. Denz H, Huber P, Landmann R, Orth B, Wachter H, Fuchs D. Association between the activation of macrophages, changes of iron metabolism and the degree of anaemia in patients with malignant disorders. *Eur J Haematol* (1992) 48(5):244–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0609.1992.tb01801.x

21. Fuchs D, Zangerle R, Denz H, Wachter H. Inhibitory cytokines in patients with anemia of chronic disorders. *Ann New York Acad Sci* (1994) 718(1):344–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1994.tb55735.x

22. Nowrousian M, Kasper C, Oberhoff C, Essers U, Voigtmann R, Gallash W, et al. rhErythropoietin in cancer supportive treatment. In: JFBM Smith, B Ehmer, editors. *Pathophysiology of cancerrelated anemia*. New York: Marcel Dekker Inc (1996). p. 13–34.

23. Cata J, Wang H, Gottumukkala V, Reuben J, Sessler D. Inflammatory response, immunosuppression, and cancer recurrence after perioperative blood transfusions. *Br J Anaesthesia* (2013) 110(5):690–701. doi: 10.1093/bja/aet068

24. Kammili A, Kaneva P, Lee L, Cools-Lartigue J, Ferri LE, Mueller CL. Perioperative transfusions for gastroesophageal cancers: Risk factors and shortand long-term outcomes. *J Gastrointestinal Surg* (2021) 25(1):48–57. doi: 10.1007/ s11605-020-04845-7 25. Sanchez-Bueno F, Garcia-Marcilla J, Perez-Abad J, Vicente R, Aranda F, Lujan J, et al. Does perioperative blood transfusion influence long-term prognosis of gastric cancer? *Digestive Dis Sci* (1997) 42(10):2072–6. doi: 10.1023/A:1018818517811

26. Eisenkop SM, Spirtos NM, Montag TW, Moossazadeh J, Warren P, Hendrickson M. The clinical significance of blood transfusion at the time of radical hysterectomy. *Obstetrics Gynecol* (1990) 76(1):110–3.

27. Uccella S, Ghezzi F, Cromi A, Bogani G, Formenti G, Donadello N, et al. Perioperative allogenic blood transfusions and the risk of endometrial cancer recurrence. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* (2013) 287(5):1009–16. doi: 10.1007/s00404-012-2668-9

28. Clarke H, Pallister C. The impact of anaemia on outcome in cancer. *Clin Lab Haematol* (2005) 27(1):1–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2257.2004.00664.x

29. Clevenger B, Richards T. Pre-operative anaemia. *Anaesthesia* (2015) 70:20– e8. doi: 10.1111/anae.12918

30. Velásquez J, Cata J. Transfusions of blood products and cancer outcomes. *Rev Española Anestesiología y Reanimación* (2015) 62(8):461–7. doi: 10.1016/j.redar.2015.02.013

31. Anand S, Burkenroad A, Glaspy J. Workup of anemia in cancer. *Clin Adv Hematol Oncol* (2020) 10:640–6.

32. Musallam KM, Tamim HM, Richards T, Spahn DR, Rosendaal FR, Habbal A, et al. Preoperative anaemia and postoperative outcomes in non-cardiac surgery: A retrospective cohort study. *Lancet* (2011) 378(9800):1396–407. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61381-0

33. Ferraris VA, Davenport DL, Saha SP, Austin PC, Zwischenberger JB. Surgical outcomes and transfusion of minimal amounts of blood in the operating room. *Arch Surg* (2012) 147(1):49–55. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.2011.790

34. Ludwig H, Müldür E, Endler G, Hübl W. Prevalence of iron deficiency across different tumors and its association with poor performance status, disease status and anemia. *Ann Oncol* (2013) 24(7):1886–92. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdt118

35. Röhrig G. Anemia in the frail, elderly patient. *Clin Interventions Aging* (2016) 11:319. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S90727

36. Di Donato V, Caruso G, Bogani G, Giannini A, D'Oria O, Perniola G, et al. Preoperative frailty assessment in patients undergoing gynecologic oncology surgery: A systematic review. *Gynecol Oncol* (2021) 161(1):11–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2020.12.030

37. Tanner EJ, Filippova OT, Gardner GJ, Roche KCL, Sonoda Y, Zivanovic O, et al. A prospective trial of acute normovolemic hemodilution in patients undergoing primary cytoreductive surgery for advanced ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* (2018) 151(3):433–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2018.10.006

38. Saito J, Masui K, Noguchi S, Nakai K, Tamai Y, Midorikawa Y, et al. The efficacy of acute normovolemic hemodilution for preventing perioperative allogeneic blood transfusion in gynecological cancer patients. *J Clin Anesthesia* (2020) 60:42–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinane.2019.08.025

39. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: Cancer J Clin* (2021) 71(3):209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

40. Gibson SJ, Fleming GF, Temkin SM, Chase DM. The application and outcome of standard of care treatment in elderly women with ovarian cancer: a literature review over the last 10 years. *Front Oncol* (2016) 6:63. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00063

41. Emons G, Steiner E, Vordermark D, Uleer C, Bock N, Paradies K, et al. Interdisciplinary diagnosis, therapy and follow-up of patients with endometrial cancer. guideline (S3-level, AWMF registry number 032/034-OL, April 2018)-part 2 with recommendations on the therapy and follow-up of endometrial cancer, palliative care, psycho-oncological/psychosocial care/rehabilitation/patient information and healthcare facilities. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd* (2018) 78 (11):1089-109. doi: 10.1055/a-0715-2964

42. Rauh-Hain JA, Pepin KJ, Meyer LA, Clemmer JT, Lu KH, Rice LW, et al. Management for elderly women with advanced-stage, high-grade endometrial cancer. *Obstetrics Gynecol* (2015) 126(6):1198–206. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000001140

43. Quaglia A, Tavilla A, Shack L, Brenner H, Janssen-Heijnen M, Allemani C, et al. The cancer survival gap between elderly and middle-aged patients in Europe is widening. *Eur J Cancer* (2009) 45(6):1006–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.11.028

44. Aletti GD, Dowdy SC, Podratz KC, Cliby WA. Relationship among surgical complexity, short-term morbidity, and overall survival in primary surgery for advanced ovarian cancer. *Am J Obstetrics Gynecol* (2007) 197(6):676. e1–. e7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2007.10.495

45. McCann CK, Growdon WB, Munro EG, Del Carmen MG, Boruta DM, Schorge JO, et al. Prognostic significance of splenectomy as part of initial cytoreductive surgery in ovarian cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol* (2011) 18(10):2912–8. doi: 10.1245/s10434-011-1661-z

46. Chang S-J, Bristow RE, Chi DS, Cliby WA. Role of aggressive surgical cytoreduction in advanced ovarian cancer. *J Gynecol Oncol* (2015) 26(4):336–42. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2015.26.4.336

47. Fried LP. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol Med Sci (2001) 56:M146–M56. doi: 10.1093/gerona/56.3.M146

48. Mohile SG, Dale W, Somerfield MR, Schonberg MA, Boyd CM, Burhenn PS, et al. Practical assessment and management of vulnerabilities in older patients receiving chemotherapy: ASCO guideline for geriatric oncology. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36(22):2326. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.78.8687

49. Rodríguez-Mañas I, Féart C, Mann G, Viña J, Chatterji S, Chodzko-Zajko W, et al. Searching for an operational definition of frailty: A Delphi method based consensus statement. the frailty operative definition-consensus conference project. *J gerontol Ser: Biomed Sci Med Sci* (2013) 68(1):62–7. doi: 10.1093/gerona/gls119

50. Molto A, Dougados M. Comorbidity indices. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* (2014) 32 (5 Suppl 85):131–4.

51. Wall SA, Huang Y, Keiter A, Funderburg A, Kloock C, Yuhasz N, et al. Integration of a geriatric assessment with intervention in the care of older adults with hematologic malignancies. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.775050

52. Hamaker ME, Jonker JM, de Rooij SE, Vos AG, Smorenburg CH, van Munster BC. Frailty screening methods for predicting outcome of a comprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly patients with cancer: A systematic review. *Lancet Oncol* (2012) 13(10):e437–e44. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70259-0

53. Bellera C, Rainfray M, Mathoulin-Pelissier S, Mertens C, Delva F, Fonck M, et al. Screening older cancer patients: first evaluation of the G-8 geriatric screening tool. *Ann Oncol* (2012) 23(8):2166–72. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdr587

54. Anic K, Altehoefer C, Krajnak S, Schmidt MW, Schwab R, Linz VC, et al. The preoperative G8 geriatric screening tool independently predicts survival in older patients with endometrial cancer: results of a retrospective single-institution cohort study. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol (2022), 1–13. doi: 10.1007/s00432-022-03934-1

55. Anic K, Flohr F, Schmidt MW, Krajnak S, Schwab R, Schmidt M, et al. Frailty assessment tools predict perioperative outcome in elderly patients with endometrial cancer better than age or BMI alone: A retrospective observational cohort study. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol (2022). doi: 10.1007/s00432-022-04038-6

56. Wittekind C, Meyer H. TNM-klassifikation maligner tumoren. Endometriumkarzinom (2010) 7. TNM-Klassifikation maligner Tumoren.

57. World Health Organizatio. Nutritional anaemias: report of a WHO scientific group. Geneva: World Health Organization (1968).

58. Anic K, Birkert S, Schmidt MW, Linz VC, Heimes A-S, Krajnak S, et al. G-8 geriatric screening tool independently predicts progression-free survival in older ovarian cancer patients irrespective of maximal surgical effort: Results of a retrospective cohort study. *Gerontology* (2021), 1–10. doi: 10.1159/000520328

59. Vellas B, Guigoz Y, Garry PJ, Nourhashemi F, Bennahum D, Lauque S, et al. The mini nutritional assessment (MNA) and its use in grading the nutritional state of elderly patients. *Nutrition* (1999) 15(2):116–22. doi: 10.1016/S0899-9007(98)00171-3

60. Rubenstein LZ, Harker JO, Salvà A, Guigoz Y, Vellas B. Screening for undernutrition in geriatric practice: developing the short-form mini-nutritional assessment (MNA-SF). J Gerontol Ser A: Biol Sci Med Sci (2001) 56(6):M366–M72. doi: 10.1093/gerona/56.6.M366

61. Guigoz Y. The mini nutritional assessment (MNA[®]) review of the literature-what does it tell us? *J Nutr Health Aging* (2006) 10(6):466.

62. Martinez-Tapia C, Paillaud E, Liuu E, Tournigand C, Ibrahim R, Fossey-Diaz V, et al. Prognostic value of the G8 and modified-G8 screening tools for multidimensional health problems in older patients with cancer. *Eur J cancer* (2017) 83:211–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2017.06.027 63. Von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Bull World Health Organization* (2007) 85:867–72. doi: 10.2471/BLT.07.045120

64. Oplez G, Sengar D, Mickey M, Terasaki P. Effect of blood transfusions on subsequent kidney trasplants. *Transplant Proc* (1973) 5:253–9.

65. Bordin JO, Heddle NM, Blajchman MA. Biologic effects of leukocytes present in transfused cellular blood products. *Blood* (1994) 84(6):1703–21. doi: 10.1182/blood.V84.6.1703.1703

66. Zhang H, Wu X, Xu Z, Sun Z, Zhu M, Chen W, et al. Impact of perioperative red blood cell transfusion on postoperative recovery and long-term outcome in patients undergoing surgery for ovarian cancer: A propensity score-matched analysis. *Gynecol Oncol* (2020) 156(2):439–45. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2019.12.006

67. De Oliveira GS Jr., Schink J, Buoy C, Ahmad S, Fitzgerald P, McCarthy RJ. The association between allogeneic perioperative blood transfusion on tumour recurrence and survival in patients with advanced ovarian cancer. *Transfusion Med* (2012) 22(2):97–103. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3148.2011.01122.x

68. Chen J, Li Y, Cui H. Preoperative low hematocrit is an adverse prognostic biomarker in ovarian cancer. *Arch Gynecol Obstetrics* (2021) 303(3):767–75. doi: 10.1007/s00404-020-05822-w

69. Abu-Zaid A, Alsabban M, Abuzaid M, Alomar O, Salem H, Al-Badawi IA. Preoperative anemia as a prognostic factor in endometrioid-type endometrial carcinoma. *J Obstetrics Gynaecol Canada* (2018) 40(11):1393–400. doi: 10.1016/j.jogc.2018.05.005

70. Abu-Zaid A, Alomar O, Abuzaid M, Baradwan S, Salem H, Al-Badawi IA. Preoperative anemia predicts poor prognosis in patients with endometrial cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2021) 258:382–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2021.01.038

71. Boone JD, Kim KH, Marques M, Straughn JM. Compliance rates and outcomes associated with a restrictive transfusion policy in gynecologic oncology patients. *Gynecol Oncol* (2014) 132(1):227-30. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2013.10.019

72. Prescott LS, Aloia TA, Brown AJ, Taylor JS, Munsell MF, Sun CC, et al. Perioperative blood transfusion in gynecologic oncology surgery: analysis of the national surgical quality improvement program database. *Gynecol Oncol* (2015) 136(1):65–70. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2014.11.009

73. Boureau A-S, de Decker L. Blood transfusion in older patients. *Transfusion Clinique Biologique* (2019) 26(3):160–3. doi: 10.1016/j.tracli.2019.06.190

74. Abu-Rustum NR, Richard S, Wilton A, Lev G, Sonoda Y, Hensley ML, et al. Transfusion utilization during adnexal or peritoneal cancer surgery: Effects on symptomatic venous thromboembolism and survival. *Gynecol Oncol* (2005) 99 (2):320-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2005.06.017

75. Mirhashemi R, Averette HE, Deepika K, Estape R, Angioli R, Martin J, et al. The impact of intraoperative autologous blood transfusion during type III radical hysterectomy for early-stage cervical cancer. *Am J Obstetrics Gynecol* (1999) 181 (6):1310–6. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(99)70369-8

76. Aletti GD, Dowdy SC, Gostout BS, Jones MB, Stanhope CR, Wilson TO, et al. Aggressive surgical effort and improved survival in advanced-stage ovarian cancer. *Obstetrics & Gynecol* (2006) 107:77–85. doi: 10.1097/01.AOG. 0000192407.04428.bb

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sarah M. Temkin, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

REVIEWED BY

Lawrence Kasherman, The University of Sydney, Australia Luigi Pedone Anchora, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic, (IRCCS), Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Domenica Lorusso domenica.lorusso@policlinicogemelli.it

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 27 June 2022 ACCEPTED 30 August 2022 PUBLISHED 21 September 2022

CITATION

Lorusso D, Danesi R, Locati LD, Masi G, De Giorgi U, Gadducci A, Pignata S, Roberto S, Savarese A, Valabrega G, Zamagni C and Colombo N (2022) Optimizing the use of lenvatinib in combination with pembrolizumab in patients with advanced endometrial carcinoma. *Front. Oncol.* 12:979519. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.979519

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Lorusso, Danesi, Locati, Masi, De Giorgi, Gadducci, Pignata, Roberto, Savarese, Valabrega, Zamagni and Colombo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC DV). The use of diricht ching in commons

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Optimizing the use of lenvatinib in combination with pembrolizumab in patients with advanced endometrial carcinoma

Domenica Lorusso^{1,2*}, Romano Danesi³, Laura Deborah Locati^{4,5}, Gianluca Masi^{6,7}, Ugo De Giorgi⁸, Angiolo Gadducci⁹, Sandro Pignata¹⁰, Sabbatini Roberto¹⁰, Antonella Savarese¹¹, Giorgio Valabrega¹², Claudio Zamagni¹³ and Nicoletta Colombo^{14,15}

¹Department of Clinical Research Planning, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A Gemelli Istituto di Ricerca e Cura a carattere scientifico (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ²Department of Life Science and Public Health, Catholic University of Sacred Heart, Rome, Italy, ³Unit of Clinical Pharmacology and Pharmacogenetics, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ⁴Translational Oncology Unit, Istituto di Ricerca e Cura a carattere scientifico (IRCCS) Istituti Clinici Scientifici (ICS) Maugeri, Pavia, Italy, ⁵Department of Internal Medicine and Medical Therapy, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁶Unit of Medical Oncology 2, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Pisana, Pisa, Italy, ⁷Department of Translational Research and New Technologies in Medicine and Surgery, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ⁸Department of Medical Oncology, Istituto di Ricerca e Cura a carattere scientifico (IRCCS) Istituto Romagnolo per lo Studio dei Tumori (IRST), Dino Amadori, Meldola, Italy, ⁹Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Division of Gynecology and Obstetrics, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ¹⁰Department of Urology and Gynecology, Istituto Nazionale Tumori Istituto di Ricerca e Cura a carattere scientifico (IRCCS) "Fondazione Giovanni Pascale", Naples, Italy, ¹¹Division of Medical Oncology 1, Istituto di Ricerca e Cura a carattere scientifico (IRCCS) -Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Rome, Italy, ¹²University of Torino-Struttura Complessa a Direzione Universitaria (S.C.D.U.) Oncologia Azienda Ospedaliera (A.O) Ordine Mauriziano-Ospedale Umberto I, Torino, Italy, ¹³Addarii Medical Oncology, Istituto di Ricerca e Cura a carattere scientifico (IRCCS) Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria di Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ¹⁴School of Medicine and Surgery, University of Milan-Bicocca, Milan, Italy, ¹⁵Department of Oncological Gynecology, European Institute of Oncology (IEO) Istituto di Ricerca e Cura a carattere scientifico (IRCCS), Milan, Italy

Introduction: The combination of lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab demonstrated a relevant clinical benefit in patients with endometrial carcinoma. The safety profile was consistent with the established profiles of each drug in monotherapy, with the most frequent adverse events being hypertension, an on-target effect, hypothyroidism, diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, loss of appetite, fatigue, and weight loss.

Areas covered: We first review the rationale based on the combination of a VEGFR inhibitor and an immune checkpoint inhibitor, highlighting the main pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic features of lenvatinib. Next, we focus on the common adverse events associated with lenvatinib and guide how to optimally prevent, detect, and manage them, while minimizing interruptions during lenvatinib treatment.

Discussion: The side effects profile of lenvatinib is very well known, being similar across different tumor types. Most toxicities can be preventable. An appropriate, proactive, and thorough management of lenvatinib toxicities during treatment is

required to maximize potential lenvatinib efficacy. Adverse events should be detected as early as possible, by both carefully monitoring the patient from lenvatinib initiation and preventing their occurrence. Patients should be followed also during treatment as some adverse events, e.g., cardiac dysfunction might appear later. Increased awareness on risk to benefit ratio among clinicians would be helpful to avoid dose interruptions or discontinuation of lenvatinib, with preferring other medical interventions and supportive care.

KEYWORDS

lenvatinib, pembrolizumab, endometrial cancer, tyrosine kinase inhibitor, immune response

Introduction

Endometrial cancer is the most common gynecologic malignancy, with an estimated 65,950 new cases and 12,550 deaths in 2022 in the United States (1). Although endometrial carcinoma is a disease usually associated with older age, it can present in women at any age. Most endometrial carcinomas result from a spontaneous mutation, but up to 30% of cases are associated with germline mutations in mismatch repair genes (deficient mismatch repair dMMR) or show microsatellite instability-high (MSI-H) (2). Front-line treatments for women with advanced endometrial carcinoma are established as platinum-based chemotherapy plus taxane and hormone therapy, especially in women with low-grade endometrioid tumors and smaller tumor volume (3). Second-line treatments for recurrent patients have been an unmet clinical need until the recent approval of pembrolizumab for patients with MSI-H (4). For patients without MSI-H/deficient MMR (dMMR), the combination of lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab has emerged as a potential therapeutic opportunity (5, 6).

In this review, we summarize the main molecular, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic features of the combination of lenvatinib and pembrolizumab and focus on the management of lenvatinib in endometrial carcinoma based on the results from clinical trials and the experience acquired in other tumors.

Role of VEGF in tumor immune editing and rationale for the combination of anti-VEGF and immunotherapy

Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) is a cytokine with dual action in tumor biology. On one hand, hypoxic cancer cells and vascular endothelial cells release VEGF that favors angiogenesis, tumor growth, invasion, and metastasis; on the other, VEGF induces the mobilization and proliferation of various cells, including regulatory T cells (Tregs), the release of immunosuppressive cytokines, thus leading to immune escape (7). The inhibition of VEGF receptors (VEGFR) with targeted drugs impacts immune response: dendritic cells show an increased antigen presentation, and T cells are activated in the priming phase and migrate from lymph nodes to tumor sites. In addition, anti-VEGFRs suppress the generation of Tregs, tumorassociated macrophages, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells at the tumor site and abrogate the expression of immunosuppressive cytokines such as TGF-B and IL-10. Therefore, these drugs reprogram the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment into an immunostimulatory environment; under these conditions, immunotherapy with PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies further enhances the antitumor activity of T cells (7).

The combined antitumor activity of lenvatinib plus anti-PD-1 was investigated in animal models (CT-26 mice) (8). Treatment with lenvatinib or an anti-PD-1 alone significantly inhibited the *in vivo* tumor growth of CT26 isografts compared with the vehicle; however, the combination of lenvatinib plus anti-PD-1 drugs synergically suppressed tumor growth compared with either treatment alone. The activity was more evident in immune-competent animals than in their immunosuppressed counterparts (8). Therefore, the rationale to combine lenvatinib and pembrolizumab is based on the synergic effect that these drugs exert on the immune system.

Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetics of lenvatinib

Lenvatinib is a tyrosine kinase inhibitor that selectively blocks VEGFR, PDGFR, RET, and cKIT (9), with a higher potency, especially against VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3, than other tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) such as cabozantinib, pazopanib, and

sunitinib (10). Like other TKIs, lenvatinib binds the ATP binding pocket of kinases in its active conformation (9). The ATP binding site is a highly conserved domain between kinases, and this explains the relative lack of single kinase selectivity and the ability to act on multiple targets (9). This behavior may represent an advantage since lenvatinib can inhibit other receptors involved in angiogenesis.

Lenvatinib binds the ATP binding pocket in a peculiar mode. Indeed, kinetic studies revealed that lenvatinib had a rapid association rate constant and a relatively slow dissociation rate constant in complex with VEGFR2 and interacted with a region neighboring the kinase ATP-binding site of VEGFR2. This interaction may contribute to prolonging the binding time compared with that of other inhibitors, such as sorafenib (11).

In vivo data indicated that lenvatinib is extensively metabolized through non-P450-mediated pathways, including oxidation by aldehyde oxidase, glutathione conjugation with the elimination of the O-aryl group (chlorophenyl moiety), and combinations of these pathways followed by further biotransformation (e.g., glucuronidation, hydrolysis of the glutathione moiety, degradation of the cysteine moiety, and intramolecular rearrangement of the cysteinyl-glycine and cysteine conjugates with subsequent dimerization). In the liver, cytochrome P450 3A4 is the predominant isoform that metabolizes lenvatinib by methylation; however, hepatic metabolism is not relevant and, thus, in vivo, inducers and inhibitors of CYP 3A4 show a minimal effect on lenvatinib exposure. As expected from a low CYP 3A4 metabolism, no gender differences were observed in the PD and PK profile of lenvatinib, and no clinically relevant drug-drug interactions had been reported (12).

Lenvatinib half-life is of about 28 hours; therefore, it is enough to cover the entire period between administrations, but not so long as to ensure a reasonably short and fast clearance, in case of adverse reactions (10, 12).

Dosing

Lenvatinib showed a high binding to human plasma proteins, especially alpha1-glycoprotein and gamma-globulin, which increases the apparent volume of distribution at a steadystate (12). In addition, the distribution of drugs in tumor angiogenesis is always very difficult, due to the structural abnormalities of blood vessels. At treatment initiation, it is advisable to use the full lenvatinib dose to quickly saturate the distribution volume and achieve an effective concentration at a steady state that guarantees antitumoral activity. On the contrary, a progressive increase in concentration may need a considerable number of days or even weeks to reach the effective concentration and exposes the patient to subtherapeutic concentrations, which are not able to block tumor vascularization. In animal models, sunitinib showed transient antitumor effects as well as dynamic changes in the VEGF pathway: it initially blocked tumor growth, but after drug discontinuation, the tumor rapidly regrew (13). Therefore, dose titration and the use of lenvatinib at a sub-optimal concentration to prevent adverse reactions may be detrimental.

A randomized study specifically investigated the efficacy and safety of lenvatinib 18 mg versus 24 mg to understand whether a lower dose of lenvatinib would provide comparable efficacy but improved safety relative to the approved 24-mg/day starting dose in patients with thyroid carcinoma. The study did not demonstrate noninferiority of lenvatinib 18 mg compared to the approved dose and the 17% difference in the overall response rate at 24 weeks and overall response rate indicated that lenvatinib 24 mg provides a clinically relevant higher activity than the reduced dose; the safety analysis, on the contrary, did not reveal any advantage in terms of adverse reactions incidence and the overall safety profile of two dosings was similar (14). Therefore, starting at the recommended dose, with dose reductions if required, is important for optimizing lenvatinib treatment.

In endometrial cancer the approved dose is 20 mg once daily; due to both the strong molecular interaction with the target and the wide volume of distribution, bodyweight does not affect the antitumoral activity of lenvatinib and the approved dose can be used without adjusting for weight. For the sake of completeness, a retrospective study on 70 patients with endometrial carcinoma treated with the combination of lenvatinib and pembrolizumab showed that a lower starting dose of lenvatinib (14 mg daily) was as similarly effective and safe than the full dose, with a significantly lower prevalence of dose reductions (15). Further trials may better elucidate this point.

Data from the real world would be also helpful to further improve the management of endometrial cancer with lenvatinib. Up to date, few data are available: a Korean multicenter study described similar activity and discontinuation rates as clinical trials. Patients received the combination of lenvatinib and pembrolizumab for a median of 4.5 cycles, achieving the best objective response rate and disease control rate of 23.8% (95% CI, 11.9–38.1) and 76.2% (95% CI, 61.9–88.1), respectively. Overall, 56.2% of patients needed lenvatinib dose reduction once or more (16).

Lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab activity on endometrial cancer: Results from KEYNOTE 146 and KEYNOTE 775 trials

Recent advances in immunotherapy demonstrated the efficacy of pembrolizumab in solid tumors with MSI-H, dMMR, or with a high tumor mutational burden (4). Adding lenvatinib to an immune checkpoint inhibitor determined the

synergic effect, described above, which provided a rationale for clinical trials.

KEYNOTE 146, a phase Ib/II trial, investigated lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab beyond first-line treatment in selected advanced solid tumors, including endometrial cancer, and established the recommended phase II dose to be lenvatinib 20 mg orally daily with pembrolizumab 200 mg intravenously every 3 weeks. This trial enrolled patients with metastatic endometrial cancer, unselected for microsatellite instability or PD-L1, thus including those patients who were less or not responsive to immunotherapy (5, 6). Overall, 38.0% of patients achieved the objective response at 24 weeks and most patients showed a reduction in tumor size, although not sufficient to define a complete or partial response according to RECIST 1.1 criteria (6). These results led to the accelerated approval of lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab by the Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of advanced endometrial carcinoma that is not MSI-H or dMMR, after progression with prior systemic therapy.

In the phase III trial KEYNOTE 775, the combination was compared with chemotherapy of investigator's choice (doxorubicin or paclitaxel) beyond first-line treatment (17): in both patients with proficient-MMR (pMMR) and all-comers, lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab achieved a significantly longer progression-free survival (PFS), doubled overall response rate (ORR), and gained a longer duration of response. A *post hoc* analysis described the activity of lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab that was maintained in all histology subtypes, including serous and clear cell histology, which currently represent an unmet clinical need; prior therapy and platinum-free interval did not affect PFS (18).

In line with PFS data, the overall survival (OS) improved in all-comers and pMMR (17) and this result was consistent in all subgroups and histologic subtypes (18). The effect on OS was not influenced by one prior platinum-based treatment, but more than one previous platinum-based treatment reduced the response, thus suggesting that this treatment might be used early in the therapeutic strategy; the efficacy was maintained independently of platinum-free interval.

In November 2021, European Medicine Agency has approved lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab for the treatment of advanced or recurrent endometrial carcinoma in adults who have disease progression on or following prior treatment with a platinum-containing therapy in any setting and who are not candidates for curative surgery or radiation.

Safety data

Lesson from clinical trials

Concerning safety, in the setting of endometrial cancer, few institutes and clinicians have already gained experience with lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab; therefore, it is important to take into account the experience of pivotal trials and other diseases where the combination is already used in clinical practice. In addition, it should be considered that endometrial cancer prevalently affects elderly women with multiple comorbidities that can exacerbate adverse events potentially related to this treatment.

In KEYNOTE 775 trial, all patients experienced at least one adverse event related to therapy; 66.5% of patients required a dose reduction after adverse events, 33.0% discontinued the treatment, and 69.2% had a transient interruption to manage toxicities. The most frequently reported adverse events were: hypertension, an on-target effect, hypothyroidism, diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, loss of appetite, fatigue, and weight loss (17).

Toxicities are not related to subgroup populations, as the pMMR population showed a similar safety profile as all-comer. When adjusted for exposure, the most frequent adverse events were diarrhea, hypertension, and musculoskeletal disorders in both all-comer and pMMR populations. During the trial, these toxicities had been managed with dose reductions and interruptions of lenvatinib without observing a decreased activity of drugs. Indeed, despite dose reductions, median tumor size decreased over time (18). The median time to the first onset of most frequent adverse events occurred approximately 3 months after treatment initiation in both allcomer and pMMR populations: adverse events with the shortest median time to onset included hypertension and musculoskeletal disorders, while hypothyroidism, palmarplantar erythrodysesthesia (PPES), and weight decrease, which can be considered as a cumulative effect of vomiting, nausea, and musculoskeletal disorders, had a long time to onset (Figure 1) (19). Therefore, some adverse events should be monitored and prevented from the beginning of the treatment. Furthermore, being proactive in the management of gastrointestinal adverse events may avoid weight loss. Patients' and clinicians' education and preventive strategies need to be implemented (18, 19).

Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) assessment in the KEYNOTE 775 revealed a similar profile between lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab and the chemotherapy of choice, thus supporting the favorable risk/benefit ratio of the combination (20).

Lesson from thyroid carcinoma and hepatocellular carcinoma

The lesson learned from thyroid carcinoma and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) might be useful to manage adverse events even in patients with endometrial carcinoma. In patients with radioiodine (RAI) refractory differentiated thyroid carcinoma, during the SELECT trial, which compared lenvatinib 24 mg to placebo, the most frequent adverse events included hypertension (68%), diarrhea (59%), fatigue (59%), stomatitis (36%), PPES (32%), and proteinuria (31%) (21). Similar adverse events were reported in clinical practice, with the most common



being fatigue (13.6%) and hypertension (11.6%) (22). Hypertension, fatigue, and diarrhea appear relatively early during lenvatinib treatment. They can be managed with appropriate drugs, considering progressive dose reduction in case of ineffectiveness. Symptomatic biliary disorders (gallbladder and biliary duct disease) and cholecystitis (generally acalculous) were reported after 4 months of lenvatinib initiation or even later. The onset of symptoms and the peak of y-glutaryl transferase levels corresponded to the highest weight loss during the first months of treatment. When these disorders required surgical intervention, presurgical lenvatinib interruption was shorter than one week (at least 48 hours before) and the treatment was resumed immediately after wound healing (23); in other cases, supportive care with ursodeoxycholic acid, when appropriate, and TKI dose reduction were used (24). Few cases of fistula and tumorrelated bleeding were described after 10 weeks of treatment with lenvatinib; individual dose adjustments should be considered to manage this adverse reaction (25). Hemorrhage, acute coronary syndrome, and thrombosis/venous thromboembolism also occurred in clinical practice and should be kept into account in the management of lenvatinib (26). The ability to manage toxicities determined longer treatment duration and allowed to observation of late adverse events that could not be found in clinical trials. A retrospective study revealed new adverse events after 12 months of lenvatinib treatment: cardiovascular toxicity was the most common (57%) and no differences in the incidence of late adverse events were observed between younger (<65 years) and older patients (≥65 years), except for QTc prolongation that was more frequent in older people (27).

Patients with hepatocellular carcinoma frequently present a liver disease in addition to cancer. From a phase I trial,

lenvatinib 12 mg once daily was determined to be the dose that achieved preliminary efficacy with manageable toxicity and was the recommended dose for patients with HCC with liver function as Child Pugh-A, while for patients with Child Pugh-B the recommended dose was 8 mg (28-30). Since weight loss determined an increase in the area under curve, dose adjustment according to bodyweight was suggested (31). In particular, in patients with HCC Child-Pugh class A starting doses of 12-mg and 8-mg for subjects over 60 kg and under 60 kg of body weight respectively, were used in the phase 3 REFLECT trial and are now the recommended doses for patients with HCC. The main toxicities that emerged from the phase III trial were hypertension (42.2%), diarrhea (38.7%), decreased appetite (34.0%), and weight loss (30.9%); PPES was reported by 26.9% of patients versus 52.4% in the group randomized to receive sorafenib (32). In clinical practice, similar adverse events were reported with a high incidence of hypertension, diarrhea, and anorexia/weight loss (33). Monitoring blood pressure and body weight from treatment initiation and educating the patient and his/her caregiver to promptly recognize any problem allow to manage these adverse events as well.

The combination of lenvatinib and pembrolizumab was tested also in other solid tumors - melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, non-small cell lung cancer, or urothelial cancer- in a phase Ib/ II open-label study in which all patients received the recommended phase II dose of lenvatinib 20 mg/day with pembrolizumab 200 mg every 3 weeks until disease progression or development of unacceptable toxicity. The combination confirmed a manageable safety profile in patients with these solid tumor types, with fatigue, hypertension, diarrhea, and hypothyroidism being the most common adverse reactions (34). Even in patients with renal cell carcinoma enrolled in the CLEAR trial, lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab demonstrated a safety profile consistent with that previously described for each drug both as a single agent and combined. Adverse reactions that occurred or worsened during treatment led to a dose reduction of lenvatinib in 68.8% of patients treated with the combination. Again, interruptions and reductions were effectively utilized in the study, which allowed patients to continue to receive life-prolonging therapy for a longer period (35). The analysis of HRQoL data demonstrated that lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab had similar or favorable scores compared with those obtained by sunitinib, especially concerning the time to the definitive deterioration (36).

Lenvatinib-related adverse events: Incidence, time to the first onset, and suggestions for an appropriate management

Hypertension

Hypertension is one of the adverse events most frequently reported with lenvatinib and other anti-angiogenic; it is an ontarget adverse event, directly related to the activity of these drugs on their target. Indeed, the inhibition of the VEGFR signaling pathway acts on nitric oxide-dependent processes and impairs endothelium-dependent vasodilation in the microvessels, as well as seems to enhance the vasomotor tone through the endothelin system with a mechanism that has not been elucidated yet (37). Regardless of specific angiogenic inhibitors, most patients experience an increase in blood pressure with a peak within the first weeks of treatment (37).

In KEYNOTE 146 trial, hypertension occurred in approximately 65% of patients treated with lenvatinib in the first two weeks of treatment (19). Prevention, early detection, and effective management of hypertension are important to minimize the need for dose interruptions and reductions. Before starting lenvatinib, blood pressure should be measured and eventually controlled with a stable antihypertensive therapy. Proactive management includes prompt, daily monitoring of blood pressure before the start of lenvatinib and from the first cycle both at the clinic visit and at home. Administration of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, or beta-blockers is useful in the occurrence of a hypertensive peak; calcium channel blockers should be used with caution to avoid drug-drug interactions, which, however, are limited with lenvatinib (38-40). The choice of antihypertensive treatment should be individualized to the patient's clinical characteristics and follow standard medical practice: for previously normotensive subjects, monotherapy with one of the classes of antihypertensives should be started

when elevated blood pressure is observed, while for patients already on hypertension treatment, increasing the dose of the current agent or adding a different class of antihypertensive should be appropriate (40). If antihypertensive agents are not effective or hypertension grade 3 occurs, lenvatinib dose reduction may be necessary (39).

Patients should be educated to reduce the risk factors that can enhance hypertension, such as smoking, alcohol consumption, stress, and lack of physical activity.

Musculoskeletal pain

Musculoskeletal pain was experienced in 65% of patients in the first 2.4 weeks of treatment (19). This adverse event should be managed with medications, including opioids (oxycodone, fentanyl, morphine), paracetamol, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, and topical diclofenac (6).

Fatigue

In the clinical trial, fatigue was reported in 65% of patients, with a median time to the first onset of 3.3 weeks (19). Managing fatigue can be difficult; the initial step is to exclude any treatable cause that presents similar effects (e.g anemia) and assess the intensity level of fatigue if present. Then, periodic re-evaluations are recommended at routine and follow-up visits (41). Based on the experience in hepatocellular carcinoma, Grade 1 fatigue can generally be managed without interrupting lenvatinib. If fatigue of Grade≥2 occurs in the early phase of treatment, lenvatinib should be resumed at a reduced dose after fatigue is resolved, while it can be restored at a full dose if fatigue occurs after several weeks of treatment. Only if a patient cannot tolerate the symptoms of Grade 2 fatigue, lenvatinib should be discontinued (42). Education (i.e. coping strategies and good sleep hygiene), counseling, and both non-pharmacologic (physical activity, nutritious diet, and proper hydration) and pharmacologic interventions may be introduced to ameliorate fatigue, accounting that in many instances a combination of approaches must be used (39, 41). Lenvatinib dosing in the evening rather than in the morning may reduce daytime fatigue (39).

Stomatitis

Stomatitis or mucositis is frequently reported in patients receiving TKI and other targeted therapies. Stomatitis is a painful inflammation of the mucous lining of the mouth, whereas mucositis refers to inflammation or ulceration of the mucous membranes lining the digestive tract; both adverse events can make it difficult to speak, eat, or even open the mouth and generate discomfort for the patient. In KEYNOTE 146 trial, stomatitis occurred in 43% of

10.3389/fonc.2022.979519

patients after a median of 5.5 weeks (19); only 5% of patients required a reduction of lenvatinib for this adverse event, while 25.5% of patients received symptomatic medications reported to manage this adverse event, such as dexamethasone, lidocaine, triamcinolone, nystatin, and mouth preparations (6). To minimize the risk of stomatitis and improve adherence to therapy, patient awareness and early intervention are important. Patients should be educated to avoid mint-flavored toothpaste, alcohol-containing mouthwash, and spicy or acidic foods and to maintain dental and oral care. Furthermore, before lenvatinib initiation and regularly during the treatment, accurate oral health is recommended. Topical lidocaine or steroid ointment may also be helpful for painful ulcerations, although for more severe stomatitis (grade \geq 3) dose reductions or interruptions may be necessary (43).

Diarrhea

In KEYNOTE 146, 64% of patients experienced diarrhea, with a median time to the first onset of 4.8 weeks (19). Recommendations for lenvatinib-associated diarrhea management are consistent across tumor types. Diarrhea may be managed by making dietary changes, including avoiding caffeine, alcohol, spicy or fatty foods, dairy products, and foods high in insoluble fibers; writing a food diary may help identify particular items that exacerbate diarrhea. Patients with diarrhea should not become dehydrated; therefore, fluid intake should be increased, and electrolytes monitored and replaced when necessary. Prompt medical management of diarrhea should be established to prevent dehydration before any lenvatinib therapy dose interruption or reduction. When pharmacological intervention is necessary, loperamide is widely recommended; atropine-diphenoxylate, octreotide, codeine, or tincture of opium can be also prescribed (39). In case of Grade 3 diarrhea, lenvatinib should be interrupted until resolution, and resumed at a reduced dose; if diarrhea is persistent and becomes Grade 4 despite medical management, lenvatinib should be discontinued. Patients should be encouraged to complete a stool diary and report any concerns to their healthcare provider. Data from the clinical trials indicate that no patients discontinued pembrolizumab because of diarrhea and among patients who reported an adverse event 6% required pembrolizumab dose interruption, compared to 14% who needed lenvatinib dose interruption (19). Prescribing information of pembrolizumab should be considered to eventually interrupt or discontinue the drug in presence of diarrhea of grade 3 and 4 (or recurrent grade 3), respectively (44).

Nausea/vomiting

Nausea and vomiting were reported in 48% and 39% of patients, respectively (19). As for other TKIs, most cases of nausea and vomiting are of Grade 1 or 2. Optimal medical management to minimize gastrointestinal toxicity should be initiated before any

lenvatinib interruption or dose reduction. Dietary modifications (i.e. avoiding chocolate, caffeine, alcohol, and nicotine) are suggested to prevent this adverse event, and antiemetics may alleviate symptoms. Caution should be paid in prescribing ondansetron as it may determine QTc prolongation (39).

Weight loss and anorexia

Decreased appetite was reported in 52% of patients, with a median time to onset of 5.1 weeks, while weight loss occurred in 36% of patients and had a late-onset after 9.1 weeks from starting the combination (19). Prophylactic recommendations for decreased appetite and weight loss include monitoring the patient's appetite and weight in each treatment cycle and encouraging a nutritious diet. In the case of Grade 1 and 2, anorexia dose interruption is effective to alleviate symptoms and lenvatinib treatment can be resumed at the same dose; in the case of Grade 3 anorexia occurring several days after lenvatinib initiation, dose interruption, and dose reduction should be considered (42). Antiemetic agents (prochlorperazine maleate or domperidone) can be prescribed, or oral nutrition support offered when underlying nausea is present (39).

Proteinuria

Proteinuria occurred in 19% of patients enrolled in the KEYNOTE 146 trial in the first 3 weeks (19). Before starting lenvatinib, it is mandatory to check renal function for the presence of proteinuria, and during the treatment monitoring patients with urine dipstick testing regularly is recommended (40). Special attention should be paid to patients with renal dysfunction caused by diabetes or hypertension during lenvatinib treatment. If Grade 1 in high-risk patients with edema, fluid collection, or elevated serum creatinine, lenvatinib treatment should be interrupted and spot urine or 24-hr urine should be checked to determine urinary protein and/or the urine protein-to-creatinine ratio. In the case of Grade 2 proteinuria, dose interruptions, adjustments, or discontinuation may be required (40).

Thyroid toxicity

Hypothyroidism was the most common thyroid toxicity described in the KEYNOTE 146 trial in 51% of patients; the median time to the first onset was 6.1 weeks (18). The American Thyroid Association 2015 guidelines for adult patients recommend monitoring thyroid function by testing thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) levels at baseline and regularly during treatment (39). Because patients with Grade 2 hypothyroidism tend to have no symptoms, patients requiring levothyroxine can be hard to identify; however, appropriate information on how to manage

hypothyroidism must be provided to clinicians (37). According to prescribing information for both lenvatinib and pembrolizumab, hypothyroidism either immuno-related or associated with lenvatinib should be treated per clinical practice with a substitutive therapy (44, 45).

PPES

PPES was reported in 26% of patients, with a median time to the first onset of 8.1 weeks (19); 11.1% of patients received medications, including emollients and protectants, and corticosteroids (6). Physicians and nurses should educate patients to care for the skin on their hands and feet before lenvatinib initiation, highlighting the importance of moisturizing hands and feet, the use of appropriate protective clothing, and the importance of sun protection. A change in the

schedule of lenvatinib treatment should be considered according to the severity of PPES. In the case of Grade 1 PPES, lenvatinib treatment may be continued at the same dose with the use of moisturizing cream, and a hydrocolloid dressing for the feet may be considered; to manage Grade 2-3 PPES lenvatinib should be interrupted and steroid ointment should be used, after consulting a dermatologist. After recovery to a lower grade, lenvatinib treatment may be resumed at a reduced dose (40).

Alterations in cardiac function

In KEYNOTE 146 10% of patients reported QTc prolongation and cardiac dysfunction (6). The incidence was similar to that observed in the SELECT trial in radioiodine refractory patients where 9% of patients (2% had a cardiac adverse event of Grade 3) experienced cardiac dysfunction, including decreased left or right ventricular function, cardiac failure, or pulmonary edema (21). The increased risk of hypertension associated with lenvatinib may also determine an increased risk of cardiac disease. A baseline echocardiogram is recommended before starting lenvatinib and regularly during the treatment (at least once a year); administration of heart failure therapies is also recommended if indicated (43). Lenvatinib interruption should be considered for grade 3 cardiac dysfunction until resolution to grade 0 or 1. Upon resolution, lenvatinib can be resumed at a lower dose and blood pressure should be monitored daily and maintained within the normal range. Lenvatinib discontinuation should be considered for grade 4 cardiac dysfunction (43).

Osteonecrosis

Osteonecrosis is a rare adverse event associated with antiangiogenic agents, even if its incidence is unknown because it is not always monitored. Before starting lenvatinib, ortho-pan tomography and dental visit are suggested, and invasive dental procedures should be avoided during treatment.

Discussion

In clinical trials, the combination of lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab obtained a significant clinical benefit in terms of PFS and OS in patients with endometrial carcinoma. The safety profile was consistent with the established profiles of each drug in monotherapy. Immune-related adverse events reported in the study, including colitis, rash, hepatitis, and pneumonitis, are expected to occur with anti-PD-1 therapy, likely because of general immunologic enhancement. No new safety signals were identified, and the toxicity profile was manageable with supportive medications, dose interruptions, and/or lenvatinib dose reductions (19). Therefore, to translate advantages observed in trials to clinical practice and provide the maximal benefit from the treatment to patients, clinicians should learn how to manage lenvatinib and its potentially related adverse events.

An appropriate, proactive, and thorough management of lenvatinib toxicities is required to maximize lenvatinib efficacy. Adverse events should be detected as early as possible, by both carefully monitoring the patient from lenvatinib initiation and preventing their occurrence. Patients should be carefully followed also during treatment as some adverse events, e.g. cardiac dysfunction may appear later. Increased awareness on risk to benefit ratio among clinicians would also be helpful to avoid dose interruptions or discontinuation in case of adverse events, with preferring other medical interventions and supportive care, as the experience in thyroid carcinoma and hepatocellular carcinoma teaches (46).

Indeed, evidence in the setting of RAI-refractory differentiated thyroid carcinoma indicated that dose interruptions of more than 10% correlated to shorter PFS, thus limiting the clinical benefit of the drug (47). Furthermore, starting at a reduced dose did not show any advantage in the incidence of adverse events of grade 3, but provided a clinically relevant difference in terms of a lower overall response rate (14). Therefore, dose reductions are justified to manage adverse events, but not to prevent them.

Patients and their caregivers should be educated and made aware of the importance of adherence to treatment to optimize its effectiveness. On one hand, patients should be educated to reduce the risk factors associated with adverse events: smoking, alcohol consumption, stress, and lack of physical activity should be avoided to prevent hypertension, as well as nutrition counseling can be useful to reduce gastrointestinal disorders and weight loss. On the other, increasing patients' awareness of signs and symptoms of a potential adverse event can result in early detection and appropriate management before an excessive worsening. Effective communication between patients and their physicians is a key factor in successful long-term treatment with lenvatinib.

To date, the experience of handling lenvatinib in endometrial carcinoma is very limited in clinical practice, and in this setting, patients are usually elderly with concomitant diseases that lenvatinib may exacerbate; a geriatric assessment is recommended upfront to effectively plan a monitoring activity and more tailored supports. A long-term follow-up may reveal further adverse events that clinical trials could not detect due to the short duration of treatment. Future data collection in the real world also in patients with endometrial carcinoma will allow to better address the management of adverse events and maximize the clinical benefit for all patients.

Conclusion

The toxicity profile associated with lenvatinib in endometrial cancer is similar to that reported in thyroid carcinoma and hepatocellular carcinoma, where lenvatinib is already used in clinical practice. Careful management of adverse events with prevention strategies, early detection, and proactive interventions allows patients to remain on full doses of lenvatinib as long as possible to gain maximal benefit from the treatment.

Author contributions

Each author gave a substantial contribution to designing the work and collecting data, revised critically for important intellectual content, approved the final version, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Content Ed Net for editorial support, with the helpful contribution of medical writer Elisa Sala, Ph.D.

Conflict of interest

UDG has been consultant or advisory to Astellas, AstraZeneca, Bayer, BMS, Clovis, Eisai, Ipsen, Janssen, MSD, Novartis, Pfizer, PharmaMar, Roche, and received institutional research grants from AstraZeneca, Sanofi and Roche. GV has been consultant for Eisai. NC received grants or contracts from AstraZeneca, PharmaMar and Roche, payment or honoraria for lectures, presentations, speakers bureaus, manuscript writing or educational events from AstraZeneca, Tesaro, Novartis, Clovis Oncology, Merck Sharp and Dohme, GlaxoSmithKline and Eisai, participated in a Data Safety Monitoring Board or Advisory Board for Roche, PharmaMar, AstraZeneca, Clovis Oncology, Merck Sharp and Dohme, GlaxoSmithKline, Tesaro, Pfizer, BioCad, Immunogen, Mersana, Eisai, Oncxema and Nuvation Bio, has been leadership or fiduciary role in the steering

Committee member on ESMO clinical guidelines and a Scientific Committee Chair for Acto Onlus. SP received honoraria from Astrazeneca, MSD, Roche, Pfized, GSK, Clovis Oncology, research funding from Astrazeneca, MSD, Roche, Pfized, GSK and has been consultant for Eisai. LL received conference honoraria/Advisory Board from EISAI, MSD, Merck Serono, McCann Healthcare, Eli Lilly, Sanofi, Sunpharma, IPSEN, Bayer and has been consultant for Eisai. AG has been consultant for Eisai. RD has been consultant, speakers bureau, advisory board member for Ipsen, Novartis, Pfizer, Sanofi Genzyme, AstraZeneca, Janssen, Gilead, Lilly, Gilead, GSK, EUSA Pharma and EISAI. DL participated in the advisory board of GSK, AstraZeneca, MSD, Clovis Oncology, Pharmamar, Merck Serono, Seagen, Immunogen, Genmab, Oncoinvest, Corcept, Sutro. has been consultant for Pharmamar, Amgen, AstraZeneca, Clovis Oncology, GSK, MSD, Immunogen, Genmab, Seagen, EISAI, received institutional funding from MSD, Clovis Oncology, GSK, Pharmamar, AstraZeneca, Seagen, Genmab, Immogen, Incyte, Novartis, Roche, has been invited Speaker for Genmab, Pharmamar, MSD and Principal Investigator for Astra Zeneca, MSD, Genmab, Immunogen, Clovis, Roche, Incyte, and board of Directors for GCIG. SR received conference and advisory board honoraria from EISAI, GSK, MSD, Pfizer, Janssen, Astellas, Ipsen, BMS, Clovis and has been consultant for Eisai. GM has been consultant for Eisai. AS has been consultant for Eisai. CZ has been consultant for Eisai.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Halla K. Emerging treatment options for advanced or recurrent endometrial cancer. J Adv Pract Oncol (2022) 13:45–59. doi: 10.6004/jadpro.2022.13.1.4

2. Bonneville R, Krook MA, Kautto EA, Miya J, Wing MR, Chen HZ, et al. Landscape of microsatellite instability across 39 cancer types. *JCO Precis Oncol* (2017) 2017:PO.17.00073. doi: 10.1200/PO.17.00073

3. Concin N, Matias-Guiu X, Vergote I, Cibula D, Mirza MR, Marnitz S, et al. ESGO/ESTRO/ESP guidelines for the management of patients with endometrial carcinoma. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2021) 31:12–39. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-2020-002230

4. Ott PA, Bang YJ, Berton-Rigaud D, Elez E, Pishvaian MJ, Rugo HS, et al. Safety and antitumor activity of pembrolizumab in advanced programmed death ligand 1-positive endometrial cancer: Results from the KEYNOTE-028 study. *J Clin Oncol* (2017) 35:2535–41. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.72.5952

5. Makker V, Rasco D, Vogelzang NJ, Brose MS, Cohn AL, Mier J, et al. Lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab in patients with advanced endometrial cancer: an interim analysis of a multicentre, open-label, single-arm, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2019) 20:711–18. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30020-8

6. Makker V, Taylor MH, Aghajanian C, Oaknin A, Mier J, Cohn AL, et al. Lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab in patients with advanced endometrial cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2020) 38:2981–92. doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.02627

7. Kudo M. Scientific rationale for combined immunotherapy with PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies and VEGF inhibitors in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancers* (*Basel*) (2020) 12:1089. doi: 10.3390/cancers12051089

8. Kato Y, Tabata K, Kimura T, Yachie-Kinoshita A, Ozawa Y, Yamada K, et al. Lenvatinib plus anti-PD-1 antibody combination treatment activates CD8+ T cells through reduction of tumor-associated macrophage and activation of the interferon pathway. *PloS One* (2019) 14:e0212513. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0212513

9. Wilson LJ, Linley A, Hammond DE, Hood FE, Coulson JM, MacEwan DJ, et al. New perspectives, opportunities, and challenges in exploring the human protein kinome. *Cancer Res* (2018) 78:15–29. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-2291

10. Fogli S, Porta C, Del Re M, Crucitta S, Gianfilippo G, Danesi R, et al. Optimizing treatment of renal cell carcinoma with VEGFR-TKIs: a comparison of clinical pharmacology and drug-drug interactions of anti-angiogenic drugs. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2020) 84:101966. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2020.101966

11. Okamoto K, Ikemori-Kawada M, Jestel A, von Konig K, Funahashi Y, Matsushima T, et al. Distinct binding mode of multikinase inhibitor lenvatinib revealed by biochemical characterization. *ACS Med Chem Lett* (2015) 6:89–94. doi: 10.1021/ml500394m

12. Fogli S, Gianfilippo G, Cucchiara F, Del Re M, Valerio L, Elisei R, et al. Clinical pharmacology and drug-drug interactions of lenvatinib in thyroid cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* (2021) 163:103366. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2021.103366

13. Nagengast WB, Lub-de Hooge MN, Oosting SF, den Dunnen WF, Warnders FJ, Brouwers AH, et al. VEGF-PET imaging is a noninvasive biomarker showing differential changes in the tumor during sunitinib treatment. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71:143–53. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1088

14. Brose MS, Panaseykin Y, Konda B, de la Fouchardiere C, Hughes BGM, Gianoukakis AG, et al. A randomized study of lenvatinib 18 mg vs 24 mg in patients with radioiodine-refractory differentiated thyroid cancer. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2022) 107:776–87. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab731

15. How JA, Patel S, Fellman B, Lu KH, Hwu P, Ramondetta LM, et al. Toxicity and efficacy of the combination of pembrolizumab with recommended or reduced starting doses of lenvatinib for treatment of recurrent endometrial cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* (2021) 162:24–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2021.04.034

16. Kim J, Noh JJ, Lee TK, Kim SI, Lee JY, Lee JW, et al. Real-world experience of pembrolizumab and lenvatinib in recurrent endometrial cancer: A multicenter study in Korea. *Gynecol Oncol* (2022) 165:369–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2022.02.020

17. Makker V, Colombo N, Casado Herraez A, Santin AD, Colomba E, Miller DS, et al. Lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab for advanced endometrial cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2022) 386:437–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2108330

18. Colombo N. Outcomes by histology and prior therapy with lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab vs treatment of physician's choice in patients with advanced endometrial cancer (Study 309/KEYNOTE-775). *Ann Oncol* (2021) 32:S729–30.

19. Makker V, Taylor MH, Oaknin A, Casado Herraez A, Orlowski R, Dutta L, et al. Characterization and management of adverse reactions in patients with advanced endometrial carcinoma treated with lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab. *Oncologist* (2021) 26:e1599–e608. doi: 10.1002/onco.13883

20. Lorusso D, Colomba N, Casado Herraez A, Santin A, Colomba E, Miller DS, et al. Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in advanced endometrial cancer (aEC) patients (pts) treated with lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab or treatment of physician's choice (TPC). *J Clin Oncol* (2021) 39:5570.

21. Schlumberger M, Tahara M, Wirth LJ, Robinson B, Brose MS, Elisei R, et al. Lenvatinib versus placebo in radioiodine-refractory thyroid cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2015) 372:621–30. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1406470

22. Locati LD, Piovesan A, Durante C, Bregni M, Castagna MG, Zovato S, et al. Real-world efficacy and safety of lenvatinib: data from a compassionate use in the treatment of radioactive iodine-refractory differentiated thyroid cancer patients in Italy. *Eur J Cancer* (2019) 118:35–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2019.05.031

23. Nervo A, Ragni A, Gallo M, Ferraris A, Fonio P, Piovesan A, et al. Symptomatic biliary disorders during lenvatinib treatment for thyroid cancer: An underestimated problem. *Thyroid* (2020) 30:229–36. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0355

24. Di Stefano M, Colombo C, De Leo S, Perrino M, Vigano M, Persani L, et al. High prevalence and conservative management of acute cholecystitis during lenvatinib for advanced thyroid cancer. *Eur Thyroid J* (2021) 10:314–22. doi: 10.1159/000510369

25. Staub Y, Nishiyama A, Suga Y, Fujita M, Matsushita R and Yano S. Clinical characteristics associated with lenvatinib-induced fistula and tumor-related bleeding in patients with thyroid cancer. *Anticancer Res* (2019) 39:3871–78. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.13537

26. Koehler VF, Berg E, Adam P, Weber GL, Pfestroff A, Luster M, et al. Realworld efficacy and safety of multi-tyrosine kinase inhibitors in radioiodine refractory thyroid cancer. *Thyroid* (2021) 31:1531–41. doi: 10.1089/thy.2021.0091

27. Platini F, Cavalieri S, Alfieri S, Bergamini C, Resteghini C, Bottiglieri A, et al. Late toxicities burden in patients with radioiodine-refractory differentiated thyroid cancer treated with lenvatinib. *Endocrine* (2021) 73:641–47. doi: 10.1007/s12020-021-02702-4

28. Hao Z, Wang P. Lenvatinib in management of solid tumors. Oncologist (2020) 25:e302-e10. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2019-0407

29. Ikeda K, Kudo M, Kawazoe S, Osaki Y, Ikeda M, Okusaka T, et al. Phase 2 study of lenvatinib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Gastroenterol* (2017) 52:512–19. doi: 10.1007/s00535-016-1263-4

30. Ikeda M, Okusaka T, Mitsunaga S, Ueno H, Tamai T, Suzuki T, et al. Safety and pharmacokinetics of lenvatinib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22:1385–94. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1354

31. Tamai T, Hayato S, Hojo S, Suzuki T, Okusaka T, Ikeda K, et al. Dose finding of lenvatinib in subjects with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma based on population pharmacokinetic and exposure-response analyses. *J Clin Pharmacol* (2017) 57:1138–47. doi: 10.1002/jcph.917

32. Kudo M, Finn RS, Qin S, Han KH, Ikeda K, Piscaglia F, et al. Lenvatinib versus sorafenib in first-line treatment of patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomised phase 3 non-inferiority trial. *Lancet* (2018) 391:1163–73. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30207-1

33. Burgio V, Iavarone M, Di Costanzo GG, Marra F, Lonardi S, Tamburini E, et al. Real-life clinical data of lenvatinib versus sorafenib for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma in Italy. *Cancer Manag Res* (2021) 13:9379–89. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S330195

34. Taylor MH, Lee CH, Makker V, Rasco D, Dutcus CE, Wu J, et al. Phase IB/II trial of lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma, endometrial cancer, and other selected advanced solid tumors. *J Clin Oncol* (2020) 38:1154–63. doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.01598

35. Motzer R, Alekseev B, Rha SY, Porta C, Eto M, Powles T, et al. Lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab or everolimus for advanced renal cell carcinoma. *N Engl J Med* (2021) 384:1289–300. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2035716

36. Motzer R, Porta C, Alekseev B, Rha SY, Choueiri TK, Mendez-Vidal MJ, et al. Health-related quality-of-life outcomes in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma treated with lenvatinib plus pembrolizumab or everolimus versus sunitinib (CLEAR): a randomised, phase 3 study. *Lancet Oncol* (2022) 23:768–80. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(22)00212-1

37. Pandey AK, Singhi EK, Arroyo JP, Ikizler TA, Gould ER, Brown J, et al. Mechanisms of VEGF (Vascular endothelial growth factor) inhibitor-associated hypertension and vascular disease. *Hypertension* (2018) 71:e1–8. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.10271

38. Reed N, Glen H, Gerrard G, Good J, Lei M, Lyon AR, et al. Expert consensus on the management of adverse events during treatment with lenvatinib for thyroid cancer. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* (2020) 32:e145–e53. doi: 10.1016/j.clon.2019.11.010

39. Rimassa L, Danesi R, Pressiani T, Merle P. Management of adverse events associated with tyrosine kinase inhibitors: Improving outcomes for patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2019) 77:20–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2019.05.004

40. Takahashi S, Kiyota N, Tahara M. Optimal use of lenvatinib in the treatment of advanced thyroid cancer. *Cancers Head Neck* (2017) 2:7. doi: 10.1186/s41199-017-0026-0

41. Berger AM, Mooney K, Alvarez-Perez A, Breitbart WS, Carpenter KM, Cella D, et al. Cancer-related fatigue, version 2.2015. *J Natl Compr Canc Netw* (2015) 13:1012–39. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2015.0122

42. Ikeda M, Kobayashi M, Tahara M and Kaneko S. Optimal management of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma treated with lenvatinib. *Expert Opin Drug Saf* (2018) 17:1095–105. doi: 10.1080/14740338.2018.1530212

43. Cabanillas ME, Takahashi S. Managing the adverse events associated with lenvatinib therapy in radioiodine-refractory differentiated thyroid cancer. *Semin Oncol* (2019) 46:57–64. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2018.11.004

- 44. Keytruda. Summary of product characteristics.
- 45. Lenvima. Summary of product characteristics.

46. Haugen BR, Alexander EK, Bible KC, Doherty GM, Mandel SJ, Nikiforov YE, et al. 2015 American thyroid association management guidelines for adult patients with thyroid nodules and differentiated thyroid cancer: The American thyroid association guidelines task force on thyroid nodules and differentiated thyroid cancer. *Thyroid* (2016) 26:1–133. doi: 10.1089/thy.2015.0020

47. Tahara M, Brose MS, Wirth LJ, Suzuki T, Miyagishi H, Fujino K, et al. Impact of dose interruption on the efficacy of lenvatinib in a phase 3 study in patients with radioiodine-refractory differentiated thyroid cancer. *Eur J Cancer* (2019) 106:61–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2018.10.002

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sarah M. Temkin, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

REVIEWED BY Luigi Pedone Anchora, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy Yu Yu, Curtin University, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Viviana Bazan viviana.bazan@unipa.it Antonio Russo antonio.russo@usa.net

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

[‡]These authors share last authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 17 May 2022 ACCEPTED 29 August 2022 PUBLISHED 21 September 2022

CITATION

Fanale D, Corsini LR, Brando C, Cutaia S, Di Donna MC, Filorizzo C, Lisanti MC, Randazzo U, Magrin L, Romano R, Bazan Russo TD, Olive D, Vieni S, Pantuso G, Chiantera V, Russo A, Bazan V and Iovanna JL (2022) Can circulating PD-1, PD-L1, BTN3A1, pan-BTN3As, BTN2A1 and BTLA levels enhance prognostic power of CA125 in patients with advanced high-grade serous ovarian cancer? *Front. Oncol.* 12:946319. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.946319 Can circulating PD-1, PD-L1, BTN3A1, pan-BTN3As, BTN2A1 and BTLA levels enhance prognostic power of CA125 in patients with advanced highgrade serous ovarian cancer?

Daniele Fanale^{1†}, Lidia Rita Corsini^{1†}, Chiara Brando^{1†}, Sofia Cutaia¹, Mariano Catello Di Donna², Clarissa Filorizzo¹, Maria Chiara Lisanti¹, Ugo Randazzo¹, Luigi Magrin¹, Raffaella Romano², Tancredi Didier Bazan Russo¹, Daniel Olive³, Salvatore Vieni⁴, Gianni Pantuso⁴, Vito Chiantera^{2†}, Antonio Russo ¹^{1*†}, Viviana Bazan^{5*†} and Juan Lucio Iovanna^{6†}

¹Section of Medical Oncology, Department of Surgical, Oncological and Oral Sciences, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ²Department of Gynecologic Oncology, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ³Team Immunity and Cancer, Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Marseille (CRCM), Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM) U1068, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique Unité Mixte de Recherche (CNRS UMR) 7258 Aix-Marseille Université and Institut Paoli-Calmettes, Marseille, France, ⁴Division of General and Oncological Surgery, Department of Surgical, Oncological and Oral Sciences, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ⁶Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Marseille (CRCM), Institut National de la Santé et de la Santé et de la Recherche (La Concological Surgery, Department of Surgical, Oncological and Oral Sciences, University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy, ⁶Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Marseille (CRCM), Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche (CNRS UMR) 7258, Aix-Marseille Université and Institut Paoli-Calmettes, National de la Recherche Unité Mixte de Recherche de Recherche en Cancérologie de Marseille (CRCM), Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM) U1068, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique Unité Mixte de Recherche (CNRS UMR) 7258, Aix-Marseille Université and Institut Paoli-Calmettes, Parc Scientifique et Technologique de Luminy, Marseille, France

The most common subtype of ovarian cancer (OC) is the high-grade serous ovarian carcinoma (HGSOC), accounting for 70%–80% of all OC deaths. Although HGSOC is a potentially immunogenic tumor, clinical studies assessing the effectiveness of inhibitors of programmed death protein and its ligand (PD-1/PD-L1) in OC patients so far showed only response rates <15%. However, recent studies revealed an interesting prognostic role of plasma PD-1/PD-L1 and other circulating immunoregulatory molecules, such as the B- and T-lymphocyte attenuator (BTLA), butyrophilin sub-family 3A/CD277 receptors (BTN3A), and butyrophilin sub-family 2 member A1 (BTN2A1), in several solid tumors. Since evidence showed the prognostic relevance of pretreatment serum CA125 levels in OC, the aim of our study was to investigate if soluble forms of inhibitory immune checkpoints can enhance prognostic power of CA125 in advanced HGSOC women. Using specific ELISA tests, we examined the circulating PD-1, PD-L1, pan-BTN3As, BTN3A1, BTN2A1, and BTLA levels in 100 advanced HGSOC patients before treatment, correlating them with

baseline serum CA125, age at diagnosis, body mass index (BMI), and peritoneal carcinomatosis. A multivariate analysis revealed that plasma BTN3A1 \leq 4.75 ng/ml (HR, 1.94; 95% Cl, 1.23–3.07; p=0.004), age at diagnosis \leq 60 years (HR, 1.65; 95% Cl, 1.05–2.59; p=0.03) and absence of peritoneal carcinomatosis (HR, 2.65; 95% Cl, 1.66–4.22; p<0.0001) were independent prognostic factors for a longer progression-free survival (PFS) (\geq 30 months) in advanced HGSOC women. However, further two-factor multivariate analyses highlighted that baseline serum CA125 levels >401 U/ml and each soluble protein above respective concentration cutoff were covariates associated with shorter PFS (<30 months) and unfavorable clinical outcome, suggesting that contemporary measurement of both biomarkers than CA125 only could strengthen prognostic power of serum CA125 in predicting PFS of advanced HGSOC women. Plasma PD-L1, PD-1, BTN3A1, pan-sBTN3As, BTN2A1, or BTLA levels could be helpful biomarkers to increase prognostic value of CA125.

KEYWORDS

BTLA, butyrophilins, serum CA125, circulating immune checkpoints, HGSOC, PD-1, PD-L1, prognostic factors

Introduction

Ovarian cancer (OC) is the seventh most frequently diagnosed tumor and the eighth leading cause of cancer death in women worldwide, with a 5-year relative survival rate of 49% (1, 2).

High-grade serous ovarian carcinoma (HGSOC) is the most recurrent subtype and represents 70%-80% of all OC deaths (3). Unfavorable prognosis of HGSOC is determined by tumor heterogeneity and therapy resistance (4). Standard treatment for OC includes surgery and platinum-based chemotherapy (5). Improvements in the progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) were achieved by neoadjuvant chemotherapy followed by interval debulking surgery (3). Nevertheless, recurrence rate still remains elevated and about 70% of women with advanced OC relapses with a worse prognosis (6, 7). Immunotherapy, whose effectiveness was demonstrated in other tumors, including non-small cell lung cancer (8, 9), renal cell carcinoma (10, 11), and melanoma (12), has not yielded the expected results in OC (13), despite the presence of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) (14-16).

The most investigated immune checkpoint receptor is the programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1), with its ligands, PD-L1, and PD-L2 (17). Although PD-L1 expression was detected in more than 50% of advanced OCs, early-phase trials on effectiveness of anti-PD-1/PD-L1 agents exhibited an overall response rate (ORR) between 8% and 60% and a median PFS of 2–10 months (4, 18).

Other immune checkpoints, including B- and T-lymphocyte attenuator (BTLA) (19), butyrophilin sub-family 3 member A1 (BTN3A1) receptor, pan-BTN3A, and butyrophilin sub-family 2 member A1 (BTN2A1) (20), showed an interesting immunomodulatory role in different tumors (11, 21, 22). The activation of these immunoregulatory molecules (including PD-1 and PD-L1) able to positively or negatively modulate antitumor immune response may allow, in some cases, cancer cells to overcome immune surveillance (23).

Recently, new evidence showed that investigating the soluble forms of inhibitory immune checkpoints may allow to obtain useful information about the evolution of cancer by predicting survival of patients affected by various tumors. Therefore, these studies suggested their potential use as prognostic biomarkers (11, 21, 22, 24–26). Since plasma is a biological sample that can be easily obtained with little invasiveness, evaluating the plasma concentrations of inhibitory immune checkpoints may provide us a more dynamic profile of the tumor microenvironment and a better overview of disease by overcoming the limitations arising from tissue biopsy (invasiveness, limited quantity of sample, and poor dynamism) (22).

Since evidence showed the potential prognostic relevance of pretreatment serum CA125 (Cancer antigen 125) levels in OC (27), the aim of our study was to investigate if soluble forms of inhibitory immune checkpoints, such as PD-1 (sPD-1), PD-L1 (sPD-L1), BTN3A1 (sBTN3A1), pan-BTN3As (pan-sBTN3As), BTN2A1 (sBTN2A1), and BTLA (sBTLA), can act as useful biomarkers to enhance prognostic power of serum CA125 in advanced HGSOC women.

Patients and methods

Study cohort

We prospectively studied a cohort of 100 advanced HGSOC women enrolled at the two Sicilian hospital centers: "Sicilian Regional Center for the Prevention, Diagnosis and Treatment of Rare and Heredo-Familial Tumors" of the Section of Medical Oncology of University Hospital Policlinico "P. Giaccone" of Palermo (Italy) and Department of Gynecologic Oncology of the Hospital ARNAS Civico "Di Cristina Benfratelli" of Palermo (Italy).

The study (Protocol "TIC-OC v.1.1") was approved by the ethical committee (Comitato Etico Palermo 1) of the university-affiliated hospital A.O.U.P. "P. Giaccone" of Palermo (Italy).

The information regarding the age at diagnosis, personal history, histological subtype, grading, and International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) stages were anonymously collected for all recruited patients (Table 1) who had previously signed a written informed consent.

From May 2018 to July 2021, blood specimens were prospectively harvested from 100 patients with histological diagnosis of advanced HGSOC (stage IIIB–IV) at baseline, before surgery (surgical staging or cytoreductive surgery as clinically recommended), and starting first-line chemotherapy with Carboplatin AUC (area under the curve) 5 and Paclitaxel (175 mg/m²) according to the current therapeutic strategies. Patients with Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) Performance Status (PS) \geq 3 were excluded from the study.

An independent validation cohort of 24 advanced HGSOC women, enrolled at the Section of Medical Oncology of University Hospital Policlinico "P. Giaccone" of Palermo (Italy), was used to confirm the previously obtained data.

Analysis of plasma PD-1, PD-L1, BTN3A1, pan-BTN3As, BTN2A1, and BTLA dosages

Baseline peripheral blood specimens from untreated advanced HGSOC women were collected, processed for plasma isolation, and analyzed through specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) as previously described (10, 11, 28) to determine plasma concentrations of sPD-1, sPD-L1, sBTN3A1, pan-sBTN3As, sBTN2A1, and sBTLA. In this analysis, the soluble forms of all six immune checkpoints were detected in the plasma rather than in the serum because serum concentrations have been shown to be 10 times lower than those detected in the plasma from the same blood sample. Probably, most of the tested biomarkers were apparently lost due to the clotting process. For this reason, only plasma samples were used in our investigation. Furthermore, a dilution of all samples in the ratio of 1–5 was performed before running the ELISAs in order to prevent interference processes due to the plasma matrix. TABLE 1 Clinical and pathological characteristics of advanced HGSOC patients.

Characteristic	No. of Patients (%)
Total patients	100
Age at diagnosis (y): Median: 61 Mean: 60 Range: 27-79	
Age groups (y) ≤ 60 > 60	48 (48) 52 (52)
FIGO stage ^a IIIB IIIC IV	23 (23) 52 (52) 25 (25)
G1/2 G3	0 (0) 100 (100)
Histological subtype Serous Other	100 (100) 0 (0)
OC Unilateral Bilateral	64 (64) 36 (36)
Surgery Surgical staging Cytoreductive surgery	52 (52) 48 (48)
Serum CA125 levels ≤ 401 > 401	50 (50) 50 (50)
Peritoneal carcinomatosis Yes No	43 (43) 57 (57)
BMI ≤ 25 > 25	59 (59) 41 (41)
Smoker Yes No	23 (23) 77 (77)

^aAJCC Cancer Staging Manual 8th staging.

BMI, body mass index; CA125, cancer antigen 125; FIGO, International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics.

Since some discrepancies, concerning the performances, reproducibility, sensitivity and specificity, cross-reactivity, differences in quantification in the plasma and serum, and run temperature, were observed in other commercially available tests, specific ELISAs produced by the company DYNABIO S.A. (Parc de Luminy, Marseille, France) were used according to the previously described recommendations (21, 22). All specifications concerning the features of six ELISAs are reported in Supplementary Table S1.

In particular, these specific ELISAs were used because some assays were either not commercially available (tests for pan-BTN3A, BTN3A1, and BTN2A1) or were not satisfactory (lack of sensitivity, specificity, or reproducibility in our own preliminary studies). These ELISA tests not only showed very good performances but also established conditions for optimal determination of concentrations of the six markers in blood (use of plasma instead of serum), solving the problem regarding the differences in quantification of proteins between the plasma and serum, which are detected when using other commercial kits. All six used ELISA tests showed good linearity and a high specificity. The linearity for sPD-1 measurement in the test ranges from 0.01 to 5.00 ng/ml, for sPD-L1 from 0.02 to 2.00 ng/ml, for pan-sBTN3As from 0.10 to 8.00 ng/ml, for sBTN3A1 from 0.05 to 8.00 ng/ml, for sBTN2A1 from 0.03 to 2.00 ng/ml, and for sBTLA from 0.25 to 8.00 ng/ml, as shown in Supplementary File 1. In addition, we tested the cross-reactivity between these six recombinant proteins, and, as expected, no signal was detected when the antibodies used did not correspond to the antigen.

Specific details on the experimental protocol regarding the used ELISA assays are reported in Supplementary File 2.

Data analysis

An analysis by receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves (29) was carried out to identify the optimal concentration thresholds for each soluble form of immune checkpoints and other examined clinicopathological factors (CA125, age at diagnosis, and BMI) in order to divide HGSOC women based on long (\geq 30 months) versus short PFS (<30 months). The Kaplan–Meier method and log-rank test were applied to perform association analysis of biomarkers and other factors with PFS. We used univariate and multivariate Cox proportional hazard regression models to identify significant prognostic factors for PFS (22). MedCalc software v.18.2.1 for Windows (MedCalc Software, Ostend, Belgium) and GraphPad Prism software v. 9.0.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA) were used to generate and represent data (22). p-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

Determination of the optimal thresholds to discriminate long versus short PFS advanced HGSOC patients

Using specific ELISAs, we performed the measurement of plasma levels of sPD-1, sPD-L1, sBTN3A1, pan-sBTN3As, sBTN2A1, and sBTLA in 100 advanced HGSOC women, before surgery and of starting first-line chemotherapy.

The optimal concentration cutoffs (Youden-indexassociated criterion) to discriminate advanced HGSOC patients based on long (\geq 30 months) versus short PFS (<30 months) were determined for each circulating immune checkpoint through ROC analysis. The best concentration cutoffs were 2.48 ng/ml for sPD-1 (AUC=0.60, p=0.04), 0.42 ng/ml for sPD-L1 (AUC=0.71, p=0.01), 4.75 ng/ml for sBTN3A1 (AUC=0.64, p=0.01), 13.06 ng/ml for pan-sBTN3As (AUC=0.65, p=0.008), 5.59 ng/ml for sBTN2A1 (AUC=0.64, p=0.02), and 2.78 ng/ml for sBTLA (AUC=0.62, p=0.02). The same analysis also allowed to establish the most suitable thresholds of three different considered factors: age at diagnosis, baseline CA125, and BMI. Therefore, the optimal thresholds for age at diagnosis, CA125, and BMI were, respectively, the following: 60 years (AUC=0.67, p=0.02), 401 U/ml (AUC=0.59, p=0.05), and 25 kg/m2 (AUC=0.62, p=0.01).

Using scatter plots by group, we graphically depicted the circulating levels of each immune checkpoint, ages at diagnosis, serum CA125 levels, and BMIs, dividing the advanced-stage HGSOC women into two groups at long versus short PFS based on each examined parameter (Figure 1).

As shown, most of advanced HGSOC women with PFS <30 months had higher plasma levels of biomarkers (above specific thresholds) and age at diagnosis >60 years, CA125 >401 U/ml, and BMI >25.

Low circulating levels of sPD-1, sPD-L1, sBTN3A1, pan-sBTN3As, sBTN2A1, and sBTLA correlate with a longer PFS in advanced HGSOC women

Since the clinical role of plasma immune checkpoints in predicting survival of advanced HGSOC women has yet to be elucidated, we carried out a Kaplan–Meier survival analysis in order to investigate the prognostic relevance of plasma sPD-1, sPD-L1, sBTN3A1, pan-sBTN3As, sBTN2A1, and sBTLA. The thresholds previously identified by ROC analysis allowed to distinguish advanced HGSOC patients on the basis of low and high plasma levels for each analyzed marker (below and above the specific cutoffs). Kaplan–Meier curves showed the relationship between plasma concentrations of immune checkpoints and PFS (Figures 2A–F).

Concentration cutoffs associated with favorable prognosis and longer PFS were determined for sPD-1 (\leq 2.48 ng/ml), sPD-L1 (\leq 0.42 ng/ml), sBTN3A1 (\leq 4.75 ng/ml), pan-sBTN3As (\leq 13.06 ng/ml), sBTN2A1 (\leq 5.59 ng/ml), and sBTLA (\leq 2.78 ng/ml) (Figures 2A–F). Instead, patients with plasma levels above established cutoffs exhibited a median PFS, which was from 6 to 16 months shorter compared to women with levels below the concentration cutoffs.

In particular, women with lower baseline concentrations showed the following median PFS values than those with higher levels: 30 versus 24 months for sPD-1 (95% CI, 24–36 *vs.* 17–30; log-rank p-value = 0.02); 40 versus 24 months for sPD-L1 (95% CI, 30–55 *vs.* 14–28; log-rank p-value <0.0001); 37 versus 21 months for sBTN3A1 (95% CI, 32–45 *vs.* 15–26; log-rank p-value <0.0001); 35 versus 21 months for pan-sBTN3As (95% CI, 30–45 *vs.* 15–26; log-



Scatter plots by group discriminating advanced HGSOC patients based on long versus short PFS for each examined factor. The plasma levels of each soluble protein, ages at diagnosis, BMIs, and baseline serous CA125 levels of advanced HGSOC patients were plotted for short (<30 months) versus long PFS (>30 months). For each considered factor, the red dashed lines represent the optimal thresholds previously calculated by ROC analysis. The concentrations of each biomarker are reported in ng/ml. BMI, body mass index; CA125, cancer antigen 125; PFS, progression-free survival. ****p<0.0001.

rank p-value <0.0001); 32 versus 25 months for sBTN2A1 (95% CI, 24-41 vs. 20-29; log-rank p-value =0.004); and 32 versus 24 months for sBTLA (95% CI, 25-44 vs. 17-28; log-rank p-value =0.0002).

Interestingly, baseline levels of sPD-1, sBTN2A1, and sBTLA below their specific cutoffs showed a lower benefit in median PFS (6-8 months), while a greater advantage in median PFS (14-16 months) was associated with baseline plasma concentrations of sPD-L1, sBTN3A1, and pan-sBTN3As below their specific thresholds.

Furthermore, Kaplan-Meier analysis allowed to evaluate the association between PFS and serum CA125 levels, age at diagnosis, baseline BMI, or peritoneal carcinomatosis at onset (Figures 2G-J).

Advanced HGSOC women with age at diagnosis >60 years, serum CA125 >401 U/ml, BMI >25, or presence of peritoneal

carcinomatosis showed shorter PFS and poor prognosis. Instead, a longer median PFS (from 10 to 21 months higher) was associated with age at diagnosis ≤60 years, serum CA125 ≤401 U/ml, BMI ≤25, or absence of peritoneal carcinomatosis (Figures 2G–J).

Specifically, median PFS values for patients with age at diagnosis ≤60 years, serum CA125 ≤ 401 U/ml, BMI ≤25, or absence of peritoneal carcinosis compared to values above the specific thresholds were the following: 32 versus 19 months for age at diagnosis (95% CI, 28-44 vs. 13-25; log-rank p-value <0.0001); 32 versus 22 months for serum CA125 (95% CI, 26-38 vs. 18-26; log-rank p-value =0.006) and for BMI (95% CI, 25-37 vs. 15-26; log-rank p-value = 0.007), respectively; and 38 versus



17 months for peritoneal carcinomatosis (95% CI, 31–45 vs. 12–24; log-rank p-value <0.0001). No peritoneal carcinosis at diagnosis showed a greater gain in PFS.

Plasma BTN3A1 levels, age at diagnosis, and peritoneal carcinomatosis are independent prognostic factors for PFS in advanced HGSOC women

Following the previously obtained results, we carried out a multivariate analysis for PFS to correlate the circulating PD-1, PD-L1, pan-BTN3As, BTN3A1, BTN2A1, and BTLA levels with other clinicopathological factors, such as age at diagnosis, serum

CA125 levels, baseline BMI, and peritoneal carcinomatosis. Cox proportional hazard regression models were used for univariable and multivariable analyses in order to evaluate the prognostic significance of all examined parameters (Table 2). The univariable analyses showed a significant association between PFS and age at diagnosis, pre-treatment serum CA125 levels, baseline BMI, peritoneal carcinomatosis at onset, and plasma concentrations of sPD-1, sPD-L1, sBTN3A1, pan-sBTN3As, sBTN2A1, and sBTLA. Conversely, the final multivariable Cox regression model highlighted that only the plasma concentration of sBTN3A1>4.75 ng/ml (HR, 1.94; 95% CI, 1.23–3.07; p =0.004), age at diagnosis >60 years (HR, 1.65; 95% CI, 1.05–2.59; p = 0.03), presence of peritoneal carcinomatosis (HR, 2.65; 95% CI, 1.66–4.22; p <0.0001) were statistically significant. The

Factor/biomarker	Univariate Cox	regression	Multivariable Cox regression		
	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value	
Age at diagnosis (>60 vs. ≤60 years)	2.57 (1.66-3.98)	<0.0001	1.65 (1.05–2.59)	0.03	
Serum CA125 (>401 <i>vs</i> . ≤401 U/ml)	1.75 (1.16–2.65)	0.008	-	NS	
BMI (>25 <i>vs.</i> ≤25 kg/m ²)	1.73 (1.14–2.61)	0.007	-	NS	
Peritoneal carcinosis (yes <i>vs.</i> no)	2.28 (1.51-3.45)	0.0001	2.65 (1.66-4.22)	<0.0001	
sPD-L1 (>0.42 vs. ≤0.42 ng/ml)	3.01 (1.85-4.89)	<0.0001	-	NS	
sPD-1 (>2.48 vs. ≤2.48 ng/ml)	1.62 (1.04–2.50)	0.02	-	NS	
sBTN3A1 (>4.75 vs. ≤4.75 ng/ml)	2.74 (1.75-4.30)	<0.0001	1.94 (1.23–3.07)	0.004	
pan-sBTN3As (>13.06 vs. ≤13.06 ng/ml)	2.53 (1.63–3.94)	<0.0001	-	NS	
sBTN2A1 (>5.59 vs. ≤5.59 ng/ml)	1.92 (1.22–3.03)	0.004	-	NS	
sBTLA (>2.78 vs. ≤2.78 ng/ml)	2.18 (1.41-3.36)	0.0002	-	NS	

TABLE 2 Univariate and multivariate analysis of biomarkers and other factors for PFS in advanced HGSOC patients.

BMI, Body Mass Index; CA125, Cancer antigen 125; HR, Hazard Ratio; NS, Not Significant.

other studied parameters did not show any statistically significant association. Thus, circulating sBTN3A1 \leq 4.75 ng/ ml (HR, 1.94; 95% CI, 1.23–3.07; p=0.004), age at diagnosis \leq 60 years (HR, 1.65; 95% CI, 1.05–2.59; p=0.03), and absence of peritoneal carcinomatosis (HR, 2.65; 95% CI, 1.66–4.22; p<0.0001) have been shown to be independent prognostic factors for a longer PFS (\geq 30 months) in advanced HGSOC patients.

However, further two-factor multivariate analyses revealed that each circulating immune checkpoint (with levels above concentration cutoffs) individually correlated in a statistically significant way with baseline serum CA125 >401 U/ml levels, suggesting shorter PFS (<30 months) and poor prognosis (Supplementary Table S2).

Validation analysis

A further independent cohort of 24 peripheral blood samples from advanced HGSOC women was studied to validate the previously obtained results. A Kaplan–Meier survival analysis was carried out using the same concentration cutoffs adopted for leading cohort.

As previously observed, a significant inverse association between PFS and high plasma concentrations for each analyzed biomarker/factor was detected (Figure 3). This confirms and emphasizes our previous data obtained for the leading cohort (Figure 2). In particular, advanced HGSOC women from validation cohort with lower baseline concentrations of each soluble protein exhibited the following median PFS values compared to those with higher concentrations: 48 versus 28 months for sPD-1 (95% CI, 45–57 vs. 19–31; log-rank p-value=0.03); 48 versus 24 months for sPD-L1 (95% CI, 45–57 vs. 15–31; log-rank p-value <0.0001) and sBTN3A1 (95% CI, 45–57 vs. 15–29; logrank p-value <0.0001), respectively; 45 versus 28 months for pan-sBTN3As (95% CI, 31–53 vs. 17–29; log-rank pvalue=0.004); 45 versus 19 months for sBTN2A1 (95% CI, 29– 55 vs. 12–31; log-rank p-value = 0.0004); and 45 versus 24 months for sBTLA (95% CI, 31–53 vs. 17–28; log-rank p-value=0.0004).

Furthermore, an additional Kaplan–Meier analysis confirmed also for validation cohort that age at diagnosis \leq 60 years, baseline serum CA125 \leq 401 U/ml levels, BMI \leq 25, or absence of peritoneal carcinomatosis were associated with a longer PFS (Figure 3). Particularly, advanced HGSOC patients with age at diagnosis \leq 60 years or serum CA125 \leq 401 U/ml showed a median PFS of 48 months versus 24 months of women with tumor diagnosed over 60 years of age (95% CI, 34–57 *vs.* 15–29; log-rank p-value=0.0002) or serum CA125 >401 U/ml (95% CI, 29–57 *vs.* 15–34; log-rank p-value=0.002). Women with BMI \leq 25 or absence of peritoneal carcinosis showed higher median PFS values compared to those observed in women with opposite features: 45 versus 17 months for BMI (95% CI, 34–55 *vs.* 12–28; log-rank p-value <0.0001) or absence of peritoneal carcinosis (95% CI, 34–53 *vs.* 12–24; log-rank p-value <0.0001).



A further multivariate analysis conducted on validation cohort confirmed that low BTN3A1 concentrations (\leq 4.75 ng/ ml) in plasma, age at diagnosis \leq 60 years, and absence of peritoneal carcinosis are independent prognostic factors for a longer PFS in women with advanced HGSOC (Table 3). Lastly, also in this cohort, two-factor multivariate analyses suggested that baseline serum CA125 levels >401 U/ml and each soluble protein above respective concentration cutoff were covariates associated with shorter PFS and unfavorable clinical outcome (data not shown).

Discussion

Scientific research is continuously looking for new prognostic indicators able to predict patient survival, enhancing the therapy efficacy. Due to difficulty detected in early detection of OC, the identification of specific biomarkers could improve disease management and provide information helpful for predicting prognosis (30).

Among the numerous investigated biomarkers, CA125, also known as carbohydrate antigen 125, often considered the "gold

TABLE 3 Univariate and multivariate analysis of biomarkers and other factors for PFS in the validation cohort.

Factor/biomarker	Univariate Cox	regression	Multivariable Cox regression		
	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value	
Age at diagnosis (>60 <i>vs.</i> ≤60 years)	5.64 (2.03-15.6)	0.0002	8.12 (2.24–29.5)	0.001	
Serum CA125 (>401 <i>vs.</i> ≤401 U/ml)	4.91 (1.66–14.5)	0.002	-	NS	
BMI (>25 <i>vs</i> . ≤25 kg/m²)	3.64 (1.47-9.03)	<0.0001	-	NS	
Peritoneal carcinosis (yes <i>vs.</i> no)	5.86 (1.93-17.8)	<0.0001	12.7 (3.65–44.2)	0.0001	
sPD-L1 (>0.42 <i>vs</i> . ≤0.42 ng/ml)	2.11 (1.01-4.42)	<0.0001	-	NS	
sPD-1 (>2.48 vs. ≤2.48 ng/ml)	2.62 (1.13-6.07)	0.003	-	NS	
sBTN3A1 (>4.75 vs. ≤4.75 ng/ml)	4.30 (1.55–11.9)	< 0.0001	4.47 (1.30–15.3)	0.02	
pan-sBTN3As (>13.06 vs. ≤13.06 ng/ml)	2.38 (0.63-9.07)	0.004	-	NS	
sBTN2A1 (>5.59 vs. ≤5.59 ng/ml)	2.25 (1.01-4.98)	0.0004	-	NS	
sBTLA (>2.78 vs. ≤2.78 ng/ml)	2.16 (0.71-6.55)	0.0004	-	NS	

BMI, body mass index; CA125, cancer antigen 125; HR, hazard ratio; NS, not significant.

standard," has proven to be the most significant indicator involved in screening, detection, management, and survival of OC (31). Serum CA125 levels are measured before surgery in women diagnosed or with suspected diagnosis of OC. Approximately 80% of women affected by epithelial OC show high serum CA125 levels at diagnosis (normal range <35 U/ml) (32). High serum CA125 levels, related to tumor burden and FIGO stages (33), were detected in 50% of early stage disease and 92% of advanced tumors (34). However, several physiological and non-physiological factors affect normal serum CA125 levels, including premenopause, pregnancy (35), menstruation, smoking (34), old age, endometriosis (36), and several malignant conditions, such as breast cancer (37), mesothelioma (38), gastric cancer (39), non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (40), heart failure (41), and liver cirrhosis (42). In addition, BMI is also positively correlated with CA125 levels, and excess adipose tissue has been shown to lead to increased CA125 levels (34).

In the last years, the ability of PD-L1 and PD-1 to act as a marker for clinical outcome was evaluated by several studies (43), which demonstrated the association between their high expression and poor prognosis in patients harboring different tumors (44–46), including OC (47, 48). However, the prognostic value of tumor PD-L1/PD-1 is still controversial and has not been fully clarified yet in OC (49, 50). In addition, the evaluation of PD-L1/PD-1 expression in primary tumor does not always provide information about the evolution of metastatic disease, since these proteins are dynamic biomarkers (22).

Recently, several studies highlighted an association between poor prognosis and high plasma PD-1 and PD-L1 concentrations in different tumors (21, 25, 26, 28), although this correlation has been little studied, to date, in OC patients (51, 52).

Furthermore, in recent years, our research group analyzed the plasma levels of other immunomodulatory proteins, such as BTLA and butyrophilins, in individuals with different cancers (11, 21, 22).

Since several studies demonstrated the prognostic impact of pretreatment serum CA125 levels in predicting the optimal treatment strategy, clinical outcome, and survival in OC (27), our investigation focused on the search for potential correlations between serum CA125 and circulating levels of immunomodulatory molecules, such as sPD-L1, sPD-1, sBTN3A1, pan-sBTN3As, sBTN2A1 and sBTLA, in 100 advanced HGSOC women. In particular, the aim of our study was to investigate if soluble forms of these immune checkpoints may enhance prognostic power of CA125 in advanced HGSOC.

A survival analysis by Kaplan–Meier curves highlighted that plasma concentrations of each immunoregulatory protein were inversely correlated with PFS of advanced HGSOC patients, allowing to divide them into two subgroups on the basis of a longer (\geq 30 months) versus shorter PFS (<30 months). A benefit in median PFS ranging from 6 to 16 months was observed when circulating levels of soluble proteins were below the specific concentration thresholds. This suggests that, in the future, sPD-1, sPD-L1, sBTN3A1, pan-sBTN3As, sBTN2A1, and sBTLA could act as useful biomarkers for predicting survival of women with advanced HGSOC, enabling to improve patient clinical management and adopt personalized therapeutic strategies for some patients.

Additionally, our investigation also assessed the impact of age at diagnosis, serum CA125, baseline BMI, and peritoneal carcinomatosis at onset on survival of advanced HGSOC patients, suggesting the negative effect of age at diagnosis over 60 years, high serum CA125 levels (>401 U/ml), excess body weight (BMI > 25), or presence of peritoneal carcinomatosis on PFS.

Furthermore, a multivariate analysis performed to study the impact of different baseline covariates (circulating immunomodulatory proteins, age at diagnosis, serum CA125, BMI, and peritoneal carcinomatosis) on PFS revealed that only the plasma concentration of sBTN3A1>4.75 ng/ml, age at diagnosis >60 years, and presence of peritoneal carcinomatosis were independent prognostic factors for a shorter PFS (<30 months) of advanced HGSOC women. This suggests that circulating sBTN3A1 levels, age at diagnosis, and presence/absence of peritoneal carcinomatosis rather than serum CA125 levels should be considered before starting the therapeutic treatment in advanced HGSOC patients.

BTN3A1 showed a significant immunoregulatory function exerted through modulation of the anti-tumor immune response and activation of $\gamma\delta$ T cells (53, 54). Since BTN3A1 is highly expressed in malignant tissues of HGSOC compared to benign ovarian tumors and normal tissues and is associated with poor clinical outcome (53, 55), our results about the correlation between high plasma levels of its soluble form and unfavorable prognosis in advanced HGSOC women are consistent with what was expected. In addition, targeting of BTN3A1 has been shown to transform BTN3A1 from an immunosuppressive to an immunostimulatory molecule, by inducing $\gamma\delta$ T-cell-mediated anti-tumor cytotoxicity, resulting in the killing of specific tumor cells by $\gamma\delta$ T cells. This may represent an interesting strategy for the treatment of tumors resistant to immunotherapy (55).

Finally, additional two-factor multivariate analyses highlighted that circulating levels of each immunomodulatory protein (sPD-1, sPD-L1, sBTN3A1, pan-sBTN3As, sBTN2A1, or sBTLA) were individually associated with serum CA125 levels, suggesting that contemporary measurement of both biomarkers than CA125 only could strengthen the prognostic power of serum CA125 in predicting PFS of advanced HGSOC women.

Although this investigation provides significant and useful information to current knowledge in the field, it presents some potential limitations, including the relatively limited number of analyzed patients in the leading cohort, the lack of a sufficiently large validation set able to test each new putative biomarker (despite data shows a good statistical power), and the potential interference of the plasma matrix during the dosage in plasma of immune checkpoints through ELISA assays (although a onefifth dilution of the samples seems to overcome this problem). In addition, a larger number of studies are needed to deeply investigate the releasing mechanisms (to date, unknown) of the soluble form of each immunoregulatory protein from tumors and/or stromal cells.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by Comitato Etico Palermo 1, University-affiliated Hospital A.O.U.P. "P. Giaccone" of Palermo (Italy)- (Protocol "TIC-OC v.1.1"). The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

Conceptualization: DF, JLI, AR, VB and VC. Sample collection and investigation: DF, CB, LRC, SC, MCDD, CF, MCL, LM, UR, SV, GP and VC. Experimental analysis: DF and JLI. Data curation and analysis: DF, CB and LRC, MCDD, SC, CF, MCL, LM and TDBR. Writing: DF, CB and LRC. Critical revision of the manuscript: DF, JLI, AR, VB, VC, SV and GP. Supervision: JLI, AR, VB and DF. The figures of the manuscript were conceived and designed by DF, CB, LRC, UR and TR. The tables were conceived and designed by DF, CB, LRC, UR, LM and TR. Literature data were acquired and analyzed by DF, CB, LRC, LM, UR and TR. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics 2020. CA: A Cancer J Clin (2020) 70:7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21590

2. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: A Cancer J Clin* (2021) 71:209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

3. Lodewijk I, Bernardini A, Suárez-Cabrera C, Bernal E, Sánchez R, Garcia JL, et al. Genomic landscape and immune-related gene expression profiling of epithelial ovarian cancer after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *NPJ Precis Oncol* (2022) 6:7. doi: 10.1038/s41698-021-00247-3

4. Zhu J, Yan L, Wang Q. Efficacy of PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in ovarian cancer: a single-arm meta-analysis. J Ovarian Res (2021) 14:112. doi: 10.1186/s13048-021-00862-5

5. Wood GE, Ledermann JA. Adjuvant and post-surgical treatment in highgrade epithelial ovarian cancer. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* (2022) 78:64– 73. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2021.09.002

Acknowledgments

All authors thank Dr. Chiara Drago for the language English revision. All authors thank the following nurses for the blood draws: Accurso Gaspare, Argentano Salvatore, Basile Anna, Curatolo Giovanna, D'Angelo Davide, Fricano Emanuela, Grizzanti Elisa, La Corte Carolina, Laganà Lucio, Marino Giuseppina, Martorana Eleonora, Pellerito Ilenia, and Sciortino Melania.

Conflict of interest

JLI is cofounder of PanCa Therapeutics and PredicitngMed. The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fonc.2022.946319/full#supplementary-material

^{6.} Ledermann JA, Raja FA, Fotopoulou C, Gonzalez-Martin A, Colombo N, Sessa C. Newly diagnosed and relapsed epithelial ovarian carcinoma: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol* (2013) 24:vi24–32. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdt333

^{7.} Xu Q, Li Z. Update on poly ADP-ribose polymerase inhibitors in ovarian cancer with non-BRCA mutations. *Front Pharmacol* (2021) 12. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.743073

^{8.} Corsini LR, Fanale D, Passiglia F, Incorvaia L, Gennusa V, Bazan V, et al. Monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of non-hematological tumors: a safety review. *Expert Opin Drug Saf* (2018) 17:1197-209. doi: 10.1080/ 14740338.2018.1550068

^{9.} Incorvaia L, Fanale D, Badalamenti G, Barraco N, Bono M, Corsini LR, et al. Programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1) as a predictive biomarker for pembrolizumab therapy in patients with advanced non-Small-Cell lung cancer (NSCLC). *Adv Ther* (2019) 36:2600–17. doi: 10.1007/s12325-019-01057-7

10. Incorvaia L, Fanale D, Badalamenti G, Brando C, Bono M, De Luca I, et al. A "Lymphocyte MicroRNA signature" as predictive biomarker of immunotherapy response and plasma PD-1/PD-L1 expression levels in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma: Pointing towards epigenetic reprogramming. *Cancers* (2020) 12:3396. doi: 10.3390/cancers12113396

11. Incorvaia L, Fanale D, Badalamenti G, Porta C, Olive D, De Luca I, et al. Baseline plasma levels of soluble PD-1, PD-L1, and BTN3A1 predict response to nivolumab treatment in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a step toward a biomarker for therapeutic decisions. *OncoImmunology* (2020) 9:1832348. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2020.1832348

12. Falcone I, Conciatori F, Bazzichetto C, Ferretti G, Cognetti F, Ciuffreda I, et al. Tumor microenvironment: Implications in melanoma resistance to targeted therapy and immunotherapy. *Cancers* (2020) 12:2870. doi: 10.3390/cancers12102870

13. Fanale D, Corsini LR, Scalia R, Brando C, Cucinella A, Madonia G, et al. Can the tumor-agnostic evaluation of MSI/MMR status be the common denominator for the immunotherapy treatment of patients with several solid tumors? *Crit Rev Oncology/Hematol* (2022) 170:103597. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2022.103597

14. Badalamenti G, Fanale D, Incorvaia L, Barraco N, Listì A, Maragliano R, et al. Role of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in patients with solid tumors: Can a drop dig a stone? *Cell Immunol* (2019) 343:103753. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2018.01.013

15. Chardin L, Leary A. Immunotherapy in ovarian cancer: Thinking beyond PD-1/PD-L1. Front Oncol (2021) 11. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.795547

16. Fanale D, Dimino A, Pedone E, Brando C, Corsini LR, Filorizzo C, et al. Prognostic and predictive role of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in ovarian cancer. *Cancers* (2022) 14(18):4344. doi: 103390/cancers14184344

17. Dermani FK, Samadi P, Rahmani G, Kohlan AK, Najafi R. PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint: Potential target for cancer therapy. *J Cell Physiol* (2018) 234:1313–25. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27172

18. Doo DW, Norian LA, Arend RC. Checkpoint inhibitors in ovarian cancer: A review of preclinical data. *Gynecol Oncol Rep* (2019) 29:48–54. doi: 10.1016/j.gore.2019.06.003

19. Watanabe N, Gavrieli M, Sedy JR, Yang J, Fallarino F, Loftin SK, et al. BTLA is a lymphocyte inhibitory receptor with similarities to CTLA-4 and PD-1. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:670–9. doi: 10.1038/ni944

20. Arnett HA, Viney JL. Immune modulation by butyrophilins. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14:559-69. doi: 10.1038/nri3715

21. Bian B, Fanale D, Dusetti N, Roque J, Pastor S, Chretien A-S, et al. Prognostic significance of circulating PD-1, PD-L1, pan-BTN3As, BTN3A1 and BTLA in patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *OncoImmunology* (2019) 8: e1561120. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1561120

22. Fanale D, Incorvaia L, Badalamenti G, De Luca I, Algeri L, Bonasera A, et al. Prognostic role of plasma PD-1, PD-L1, pan-BTN3As and BTN3A1 in patients affected by metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumors: Can immune checkpoints act as a sentinel for short-term survival? *Cancers* (2021) 13:2118. doi: 10.3390/ cancers13092118

23. Melero I, Berman DM, Aznar MA, Korman AJ, Gracia JLP, Haanen J. Evolving synergistic combinations of targeted immunotherapies to combat cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2015) 15:457–72. doi: 10.1038/nrc3973

24. Kruger S, Legenstein M-L, Rösgen V, Haas M, Modest DP, Westphalen CB, et al. Serum levels of soluble programmed death protein 1 (sPD-1) and soluble programmed death ligand 1 (sPD-L1) in advanced pancreatic cancer. *OncoImmunology* (2017) 6:e1310358. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1310358

25. Guo X, Wang J, Jin J, Chen H, Zhen Z, Jiang W, et al. High serum level of soluble programmed death ligand 1 is associated with a poor prognosis in Hodgkin lymphoma. *Trans Oncol* (2018) 11:779-85. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2018.03.012

26. Takeuchi M, Doi T, Obayashi K, Hirai A, Yoneda K, Tanaka F, et al. Soluble PD-L1 with PD-1-binding capacity exists in the plasma of patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Immunol Lett* (2018) 196:155–60. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2018.01.007

27. Bachmann R, Brucker S, Stäbler A, Krämer B, Ladurner R, Königsrainer A, et al. Prognostic relevance of high pretreatment CA125 levels in primary serous ovarian cancer. *Mol Clin Oncol* (2020) 14:1–1. doi: 10.3892/mco.2020.2170

28. Incorvaia L, Badalamenti G, Rinaldi G, Iovanna JL, Olive D, Swayden M, et al. Can the plasma PD-1 levels predict the presence and efficiency of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes in patients with metastatic melanoma? *Ther Adv Med Oncol* (2019) 11:175883591984887. doi: 10.1177/1758835919848872

29. Kamarudin AN, Cox T, Kolamunnage-Dona R. Time-dependent ROC curve analysis in medical research: current methods and applications. *BMC Med Res Method* (2017) 17:53. doi: 10.1186/s12874-017-0332-6

30. Ahmad A, Chang L-C, Huang C-F, Lai M-S, Shen L-J, Wu F-LL, et al. Prognostic factors in epithelial ovarian cancer: A population-based study. *PloS One* (2018) 13:e0194993. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194993

31. Markman M, Federico M, Liu PY, Hannigan E, Alberts D. Significance of early changes in the serum CA-125 antigen level on overall survival in advanced ovarian cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* (2006) 103:195–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2006.02.024

32. Menczer J, Ben-Shem E, Golan A, Levy T. The significance of normal pretreatment levels of CA125 (<35 U/mL) in epithelial ovarian carcinoma. *Rambam Maimonides Med J* (2015) 6:e0005. doi: 10.5041/RMMJ.10180

33. Chi DS, Venkatraman ES, Masson V, Hoskins WJ. The ability of preoperative serum CA-125 to predict optimal primary tumor cytoreduction in stage III epithelial ovarian carcinoma. *Gynecol Oncol* (2000) 77:227–31. doi: 10.1006/gyno.2000.5749

34. Charkhchi P, Cybulski C, Gronwald J, Wong FO, Narod SA, Akbari MR. CA125 and ovarian cancer: A comprehensive review. *Cancers* (2020) 12:3730. doi: 10.3390/cancers12123730

35. Szecsi PB, Andersen MR, Bjørngaard B, Hedengran KK, Stender S. Cancer antigen 125 after delivery in women with a normal pregnancy: a prospective cohort study. *Acta Obstetr Gynecol Scandinavica* (2014) 93:1295–301. doi: 10.1111/aogs.12492

36. Abrão MS, Podgaec S, Pinotti JA, De Oliveira RM. Tumor markers in endometriosis. Int J Gynecol Obstet (1999) 66:19-22. doi: 10.1016/S0020-7292(99)00046-6

37. Norum LF, Erikstein B. Elevated CA 125 in breast cancer - a sign of advanced disease. *Tumor Biol* (2001) 22:223-8. doi: 10.1159/000050620

38. Arnold DT, De Fonseka D, Hamilton FW, Rahman NM, Maskell NA. Prognostication and monitoring of mesothelioma using biomarkers: a systematic review. *Br J Cancer* (2017) 116:731–41. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2017.22

39. Yamamoto M, Baba H, Toh Y, Okamura T, Maehara Y. Peritoneal lavage CEA/CA125 is a prognostic factor for gastric cancer patients. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* (2007) 133:471–6. doi: 10.1007/s00432-006-0189-2

40. Bairey O, Blickstein D, Stark P, Prokocimer M, Nativ HM, Kirgner I, et al. Serum CA 125 as a prognostic factor in non-hodgkin's lymphoma. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2009) 44:1733–8. doi: 10.1080/1042819031000104079

41. Monteiro S, Franco F, Costa S, Monteiro P, Vieira H, Coelho L, et al. Prognostic value of CA125 in advanced heart failure patients. *Int J Cardiol* (2010) 140:115–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2008.11.023

42. Edula RGR, Muthukuru S, Moroianu S, Wang Y, Lingiah V, Fung P, et al. CA-125 significance in cirrhosis and correlation with disease severity and portal hypertension: A retrospective study. *J Clin Trans Hepatol* (2018) 6:1–6. doi: 10.14218/JCTH.2017.00070

43. Wang Q, Liu F, Liu L. Prognostic significance of PD-L1 in solid tumor. *Medicine* (2017) 96:e6369. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000006369

44. Huang S-Y, Lin H-H, Lin C-W, Li C-C, Yao M, Tang J-L, et al. Soluble PD-L1: A biomarker to predict progression of autologous transplantation in patients with multiple myeloma. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7:62490–502. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.11519

45. Kim C, Kim EK, Jung H, Chon HJ, Han JW, Shin K-H, et al. Prognostic implications of PD-L1 expression in patients with soft tissue sarcoma. *BMC Cancer* (2016) 16:434. doi: 10.1186/s12885-016-2451-6

46. Meng X, Liu Y, Zhang J, Teng F, Xing L, Yu J. PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint blockades in non-small cell lung cancer: New development and challenges. *Cancer Lett* (2017) 405:29–37. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2017.06.033

47. Hamanishi J, Mandai M, Iwasaki M, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Yamaguchi K, et al. Programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 and tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are prognostic factors of human ovarian cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2007) 104:3360–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0611533104

48. Wieser V, Gaugg I, Fleischer M, Reimer D, Zeimet A, Fiegl H, et al. PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in ovarian cancer. *Ann Oncol* (2016) 27:viii3. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw525.08

49. Marinelli O, Annibali D, Aguzzi C, Tuyaerts S, Amant F, Morelli MB, et al. The controversial role of PD-1 and its ligands in gynecological malignancies. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.01073

50. Wang L. Prognostic effect of programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) in ovarian cancer: a systematic review, meta-analysis and bioinformatics study. J Ovarian Res (2019) 12:è. doi: 10.1186/s13048-019-0512-6

 Maine CJ, Aziz NHA, Chatterjee J, Hayford C, Brewig N, Whilding L, et al. Programmed death ligand-1 over-expression correlates with malignancy and contributes to immune regulation in ovarian cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2013) 63:215–24. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1503-x

52. Świderska J, Kozłowski M, Nowak K, Rychlicka M, Branecka-Woźniak D, Kwiatkowski S, et al. Clinical relevance of soluble forms of immune checkpoint molecules sPD-1, sPD-L1, and sCTLA-4 in the diagnosis and prognosis of ovarian cancer. *Diagnostics* (2022) 12:189. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics12010189

53. Benyamine A, Loncle C, Foucher E, Blazquez J-L, Castanier C, Chrétien A-S, et al. BTN3A is a prognosis marker and a promising target for $V\gamma9V\delta2$ T cells based-immunotherapy in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC). OncoImmunology (2017) 7:e1372080. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1372080

54. Rhodes DA, Chen H-C, Williamson JC, Hill A, Yuan J, Smith S, et al. Regulation of human $\gamma\delta$ T cells by BTN3A1 protein stability and ATP-binding cassette transporters. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00662

55. Payne KK, Mine JA, Biswas S, Chaurio RA, Perales-Puchalt A, Anadon CM, et al. BTN3A1 governs antitumor responses by coordinating $\alpha\beta$ and $\gamma\delta$ T cells. *Science* (2020) 369:942–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aay2767

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Fanale, Corsini, Brando, Cutaia, Di Donna, Filorizzo, Lisanti, Randazzo, Magrin, Romano, Bazan Russo, Olive, Vieni, Pantuso, Chiantera, Russo, Bazan and Iovanna. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Elena Ioana Braicu, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

REVIEWED BY

Giuseppe De Pietro, Institute of Computing and High Performance Networks (CNR), Italy Hanen Bouaziz, Salah Azaiez Institute, Tunisia

*CORRESPONDENCE Alessandra Fabi alessandra.fabi@policlinicogemelli.it

[†]PRESENT ADDRESS

Alessandra Fabi, Precision Medicine in Breast Cancer Unit, Scientific Directorate, Department of Women's and Children's Health, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A. Gemelli, IRCCS, Rome, Italy

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 02 June 2022 ACCEPTED 26 July 2022 PUBLISHED 30 September 2022

CITATION

Fabi A, Fotia L, Giuseppini F, Gaeta A, Falcicchio C, Giuliani G, Savarese A, Taraborelli E, Rossi V, Malaguti P, Giannarelli D, Pugliese P and Cognetti F (2022) The immersive experience of virtual reality during chemotherapy in patients with early breast and ovarian cancers: The patient's dream study. *Front. Oncol.* 12:960387. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.960387

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Fabi, Fotia, Giuseppini, Gaeta, Falcicchio, Giuliani, Savarese, Taraborelli, Rossi, Malaguti, Giannarelli, Pugliese and Cognetti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The immersive experience of virtual reality during chemotherapy in patients with early breast and ovarian cancers: The patient's dream study

Alessandra Fabi^{1*†}, Luana Fotia², Federico Giuseppini³, Arianna Gaeta³, Chiara Falcicchio², Gabriele Giuliani³, Antonella Savarese¹, Emanuela Taraborelli¹, Valentina Rossi⁴, Paola Malaguti¹, Diana Giannarelli⁵, Patrizia Pugliese² and Francesco Cognetti^{1,6}

¹Medical Oncology 1, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ²Service of Psyco-Oncology, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ³Twiceout, Rome, Italy, ⁴Breast Unit, San Camillo Forlanini Hospital of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁵Biostatistic Unit, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ⁶Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, University La Sapienza, Rome, Italy

Background: A virtual reality experience (VRE) could represent a viable nonpharmacological intervention to reduce and better manage the main factors of psychophysical distress related to the diagnosis and treatment of cancer.

Aim: The "Patient's Dream" study was a two-arm randomized controlled trial conducted at the Regina Elena National Cancer Institute – IRCCS (Rome, Italy) from April 2019 to January 2020 to evaluate VRE impact in patients affected by breast or ovarian cancer. Before starting the first cycle of chemotherapy (CT), patients were randomized to receive the VRE (VRE arm) as "distraction therapy" or to entertain themselves with conventional means (control arm). The primary aims were the assessment of psychological distress, anxiety and quality of life between the two study arms. Secondary endpoints were the perceived time during the first course of CT and the acute and late toxicity.

Results: Fourty-four patients were enrolled, 22 patients were randomly assigned to the VRE arm and 22 to the control arm. Collected data underline the absence of prevalent disturbs of anxiety and depression in both groups. Nevertheless, even if the state anxiety values before and after CT decreased in both groups, this reduction was statistically significant over time only in the VRE arm. The duration of therapy perceived by patients undergoing distraction therapy was significantly shorter when compared to the control group. The use of VRE during the first CT cycle appeared to reduce asthenia outcomes.

Conclusion: Obtained data suggest that the VRE positively influenced the levels of state anxiety among cancer patients and support the continuous research on VRE as a distraction intervention, with the aim to meet the clinical need for effective nonpharmacologic adjunctive therapies.

Clinical trial registration: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05234996, identifier NCT05234996.

KEYWORDS

virtual reality, breast cancer, ovarian cancer, anxiety, chemotherapy, perceived time

1 Introduction

The diagnosis of neoplastic disease is accompanied by an emotional complex process characterized by anxiety, depression, anger, and uncertainty about the present and future (1). The proposed treatments often cause anxiety and psychological distress further because of the toxicity profile and the frequent requirement for painful procedures (venipuncture, central venous access, invasive investigations) (2). Therefore, efforts to provide interventions to alleviate symptoms related to chemotherapy are an important area of research and improvement.

Evidence from the literature shows that an immersive virtual reality experience (VRE) can reduce procedural pain and anxiety in patients undergoing medical procedures, such as wound care or physical therapy for burn wounds, dressing changes for trauma injuries, procedures under local anesthesia, such as episiotomy repair and orthopedic surgery (3, 4). Indeed, virtual reality creates a sense of absorption in the virtual environment through special glasses and motion sensors, thus estranging the user from reality.

Based on these considerations and given the need for an integrated approach to managing cancer patients, VRE could represent a viable non-pharmacological intervention to reduce and better drive the main factors of psychological distress related to the diagnosis and treatment of cancer.

In the field of oncology, VRE can represent a "distraction therapy" tool that helps the cancer patient overcome physical limits and/or mental dictated by the disease condition (4, 5). This approach could also promote greater adherence to treatment with potential benefits on effectiveness and increase the host healthcare facility's confidence and approval rating.

The "Patient's Dream" was a prospective study designed to evaluate VRE impact in patients affected by breast or ovarian cancer. The present work assessed the improvement of psychological distress, anxiety and quality of life after a "distraction therapy" intervention by means of VRE, utilized during the first cycle of adjuvant chemotherapy (CT). The time perception by the patients during the treatment and acute and late toxicity were also assessed.

2 Patients and methods

2.1 Study design and setting

The "Patient's dream" study is a two-arm randomized controlled trial conducted at Regina Elena National Cancer Institute – IRCCS (Rome, Italy) from April 2019 to January 2020; no stratification factors were planned. Before starting the first cycle of chemotherapy, patients were randomized to receive the VRE (VRE arm) as "distraction therapy" or to entertain themselves with conventional means (control arm), such as listening to music, watching a TV program, reading newspapers, books, magazines or also doing nothing, according to the patient's preferences and for the entire duration of administration of the first CT cycle. A clinical team composed of three oncologists, three psychologists, one nurse and one expert VR operator supported the patients involved in the study.

The primary aims were the assessment of psychological distress, anxiety and quality of life between the two study arms. Secondary endpoints were the perceived time during the first course of CT and the acute and late toxicity.

The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical standards as laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments and within the protocol approved by the Central Ethics Committee (protocol registration number: RS 1105/18). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants included in the study. Clinical trial registration number: NCT05234996.

2.2 Patients

To be eligible for the study, all patients had to have a confirmed histological diagnosis of breast or ovarian cancer stage I–III, surgery as the first therapeutic approach, and be suitable to receive the first cycle of adjuvant CT, with or without a biological treatment according to specific cancer (regimens including anthracyclines/ taxanes, anthracyclines/cyclophosphamide, carboplatinum/taxane, taxane alone combined or not with trastuzumab for breast cancer, carboplatin/paclitaxel combined or not with bevacizumab for ovarian cancer). Patients must be aged ≥ 18 years, with a median Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status of 0–2, life expectancy >12 months and ability to understand and sign the informed consent. Patients presenting a previous history of alcohol and/or drug addiction, disorder of vision and eyes, and a history of psychiatric pathologies were not eligible.

2.3 Study evaluations

In both study arms, patients were evaluated as follows: before the start of the first infusion of CT (T1) with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression scales (HADs), the State–Trait Anxiety Inventory for Adults (STAI) in Y1 forms for the State Anxiety and Y2 for the Trait Anxiety and with the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer quality of life questionnaire, Core 30 (EORTC QLQ-C30); immediately at the end of the infusion (T2) with STAI Y1 and with the investigation of the perceived time; within 48 h from the first CT cycle (T3) with HADs, STAI Y1, EORTC QLQ-C30; 1 week after the first CT cycle (T4) with a patient-reported outcomes (PROs) questionnaire; within 48 h from the second cycle (T5) with STAI Y1 and PROs questionnaire (Table 1). The description of each evaluation tool is provided in the following sections.

2.3.1 Psychological evaluations

2.3.1.1 Psychological distress

The psychological distress was evaluated with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression scale (HADs) (6). The HADs is composed of 14 items, seven assess the anxiety status, and seven assess the depression status. The answers were given on a 4-point Likert scale (from 0 to 3) with a maximum of 21 points for anxiety and depression. A score \geq 8 is the cut-off indicating the presence of anxiety or depression disorder. According to Carrol and collaborators, scores between 0 and 7 indicate a normal condition, scores between 8 and 10 indicate borderline cases, while scores \geq 11 identify clinical cases (7).

TABLE 1 Timeline of study measures.

2.3.1.2 Anxiety

Anxiety has been evaluated with the STAI (6) in Y1 forms for the State Anxiety and Y2 for the Trait Anxiety. Each form consists of 20 items answered on a 4-point Likert scale (from 0 to 3). The final score ranges from 20 to 60, higher score corresponds to major anxiety.

2.3.2 Quality of life assessment

Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) was assessed with EORTC QLQ-C30 Version 3.0 [eortc.org]. The questionnaire is made up of 30 items divided into 15 scales: Physical Functioning (PF), Role Functioning (RF), Social Functioning (SF), Emotional Functioning (EF), Cognitive Functioning (CF), Global QOL (QL), Fatigue (FA), Pain (PA), Nausea/Vomiting (NV), Appetite Loss (AP), Dyspnea (DY), Sleep Disturbances (SL), Diarrhea (DI), Constipation (CO), and Financial Impact of Disease (FI) (8). The score of each scale was obtained by a sum and a linear transformation and ranged from 0 to 100. In the functional scales, a higher score corresponded to better functioning of the area; in the symptomatic scales, a higher score corresponded to the worst of symptoms.

2.3.3 Effective time and perceived time

The effective time was defined as the time from the start to the end of chemotherapy infusion; the nurse of the study team checked this time. The perceived time was the time felt and reported by the patient from the start to the end of CT infusion.

2.3.4 Toxicity assessment

Toxicity was evaluated according to the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) v4.0 (9).

2.3.5 Patient-reported outcomes questionnaire

Before the CT infusion, the oncologist illustrated and delivered the PRO-CTCAETM questionnaire to the patient to be reported on subsequent visits (10). It was composed of 124 items and covered 78 symptoms. Symptoms evaluated can be detected by one up to a maximum of three characteristics:

	T1	T2	Τ3	T4	T5
HADs	Х		Х		
STAI Y1	Х	Х	Х		Х
STAI Y2	Х				
Perceived Time		Х			
EORTC QLQ-C30	Х		Х		
PROs				Х	Х

T1: before the start of the first infusion of CT; T2: immediately at the end of the infusion; T3: within 48 h from the first CT cycle; T4: one week after the first CT cycle; T5: within 48 h from the second CT cycle. HADs, Hospital Anxiety and Depression scales; STAI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Adults; Y1 forms for the State Anxiety, Y2 for the Trait Anxiety; EORTC QLQ-C30, European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer quality of life questionnaire, Core 30; PROs, patient-reported outcomes.

presence (yes; no); frequency (never; rarely; occasionally; frequently; almost constantly); severity (none; mild; moderate; severe; very severe); and/or interference with usual or daily activities (not at all; some; a bit; a lot; very). Some PRO-CTCAETM symptoms comprise only one, while others include two, and some include three characteristics.

2.4 Distraction therapy modalities

The VRE was administered using three VR headsets containing a selection of audiovisual productions made with 360° technology and selected based on content, plot and production dynamics. During the entire experience, an operator dedicated to patient care was present to allow the most comfortable experience possible.

Patients were trained on the functioning of the headset, their interface, and how to select the preferred contents. Once familiar with the controls, the operator equipped the patients with high-quality audio headphones to complete the immersive effect of the contents. At that point, the patients were free to use the contents in complete autonomy. In any case, the operator remained close to the patient for the entire duration of the experience, giving advice on the contents or on the commands to be used from time to time. The contents, some created for the occasion and others made available by audiovisual production companies specialized in 360° videos, were carefully selected based on pre-established criteria:

- High viewing comfort (no abrupt camera movement, low risk of nausea, clear images etc.);

- Relaxing and engaging content, such as concerts, walks in the European capitals, mountain nature trails, isolated and fascinating places, pristine, exotic beaches, and Yoga sessions;

- Duration and comfortable viewing time, never more than 10 minutes for single content (the patient chose 3 or 4 contents).

The administration of VRE began with the therapy and lasted a maximum of 60-90 minutes. The VR headset used to provide such experiences was Oculus Go, a standalone VR headset developed by Facebook Technologies in partnership with Qualcomm and Xiaomi. The Oculus Go was an all-in-one headset and did not need to be tethered to an external device to use. It was equipped with a Qualcomm Snapdragon 821 chipset and a single 5.5-inch LCD with a resolution of 1280×1440 pixels per eye and a refresh rate of 72 or 60 Hz, depending on the application. The headset used Fresnel lenses that were improved over those used in the company's previous headset, the Oculus Rift. It provided a field of view of about 101°, which gives the Go a display fidelity of 12.67 pixels per degree. Inputs were provided with a wireless controller that functions much like a laser pointer. The headset and controller utilized non-positional 3-degrees-offreedom tracking, making it capable of seated or static-standing activities but unsuitable for room-scale applications.

2.5 Statistical analysis

The primary endpoint was the HADs scale. A sample size of 44 patients was needed to test an effect size (standardized mean difference among the 2 groups) of at least 0.70 considering a correlation of 0.50 and using repeated measurement analysis of variance (ANOVA) as a model. This sample size was determined to ensure a power of 80% at a significance level of 5%. Data were reported as mean and standard deviations, and the Student's ttest was used to compare mean values. The chi-square test assessed associations between categorical variables. All analyses were performed using the IBM-SPSS statistical software, version 22.0. No adjustments for multiple tests were made.

3 Results

A total of 44 patients were enrolled; 22 patients were randomly assigned to the VRE arm and 22 to the control arm. The characteristics of the patients are shown in Table 2.

Patients presented predominantly breast cancer submitted to surgery (17 patients [77%] in the experimental arm and 19 [86%] patients in the control arm) with HER2-negative phenotype (15 patients [68%] in the experimental arm and 12 [55%] patients in the control arm). Patients had an ECOG status predominantly equal to 0 (Table 2), and the most common CT regimen was anthracyclines + taxanes. Most of the patients were married (50% in the VRE arm and 77% in the control arm), had a master's degree (54% and 41% in VRE and control arm, respectively) and were employed (82% and 59% in VRE and control arm, respectively).

3.1 Psychological evaluations

3.1.1 Psychological distress

The HADs mean scores were below the cut-off at both considered time points T1 and T3, underlining the absence, in the whole sample, of anxiety and depression (Supplementary Table 1).

Stratifying patients by distress severity according to scores, in the VRE arm, stability in normal scores was reported between T1 and T3 (55% vs 52%, respectively), along with an increase in patients with borderline scores (14% at T1 vs 33% at T3) and a decrease in patients with pathological scores (32% at T1 vs 14% at T3). In the control arm, a decrease in patients with normal scores (64% at T1 vs 50% at T3) and an increase in both patients with borderline (14% at T1 vs 20% at T3) and pathological (23% at T1 vs 30% at T3) scores was reported from T1 to T3 (Supplementary Table 2).

Considering depression, results showed a similar trend in the two arms with a reduction in normal scores (77% at T1 vs 57% at T3 in the VRE arm; 86% at T1 vs 70% at T3 in the control arm)

TABLE 2 Patient characteristics.

	VR arm	(n = 22), n (%)	Control arm $(n = 22)$, n (%)			
_	Breast cancer, 17 (77.2%)	Gynecological cancer, 5 (22.7%)	Breast cancer, 19 (86.4%)	Gynecological cancer, 3 (13.6%)		
Age (years), median (range)	51 (37–71)	50 (36-61)	50 (39–69)	52 (51-62)		
Menopausal status:						
• Pre	8 (47.1)	0 (0)	12 (63.2)	0 (0)		
• Post	9 (52.9)	5 (100)	7 (36.8)	3 (100)		
BRCA status						
Mutation	1 (5.9)	1 (20)	0 (0)	1 (33 3)		
Wild-type	10(58.8)	3 (60)	5 (26.3)	1 (33.3)		
 Not done 	6 (35.3)	1 (20)	14 (73.7)	1 (33.3)		
ECOG performance status:						
• 0	16 (04.1)	4 (80)	18 (047)	2 (66.6)		
• 1	1 (5 9)	1 (20)	1 (5 2)	1 (33 3)		
Harmonal recentors	1 (00)	1 (20)	1 (0.2)	1 (0010)		
normonal receptors:	. (- (
Negative Desitive	4 (23.5)	0 (0)	6 (31.6)	0 (0)		
Positive	15 (70.5)	0 (0)	15 (08.4)	0 (0)		
HER2:						
Negative	15 (88.2)		12 (63.2)			
2+/FISH+	0 (0)		2 (10.5)			
• 3+	2 (11.8)		5 (26.3)			
Surgery:						
 Radical 	4 (23.5)	4 (80)	9 (47.4)	2 (66.6)		
Conservative	12 (70.5)	1(20)	10 (52.6)	1 (33.3)		
• Unknown	1 (5.9)					
Chemotherapy regimens:						
 Antracyclines + taxanes 	15 (88.2)	0 (0)	16 (84.2)	0 (0)		
 Trastuzumab + taxane 	2 (11.8)	0 (0)	3 (15.8)	0 (0)		
 Carboplatin + taxane 	0 (0)	5 (100)	0 (0)	3 (100)		
State:						
Maiden	1 (5.9)	0 (0)	1 (5.2)	0 (0)		
Cohabitant	1 (5.9)	1 (20)	2 (10.5)	0 (0)		
Married	10 (58.8)	4 (80)	15 (78.9)	2 (66.6)		
• Separate	3 (17.6)	0 (0)	1 (5.2)	0 (0)		
Widow	2(11.8)	0 (0)	0(0)	0 (0)		
Schooling	2 (1110)		0 (0)			
Schooling:	1 (F 0)		. (= 2)			
Elementary school	1 (5.9)	-	1 (5.2)	-		
High school degree	1(3.9) 5 (29.4)	- 3 (60.0)	2 8	1 (5.2)		
 Master's degree 	10 (58.8)	2	8	1 (5.2)		
Occupation:	. /					
Employee	14	3 (60)	6	1 (5 2)		
Employee Trader crafteman	14	0 (0)	0	-		
Freelance	1 (5.9)	0 (0)	4	1 (5.2)		
Housewife	1 (5.9)	1 (20)	7 (36.8)	_		
 Unemployed 	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	-		
Retired	1 (5.9)	1 (20)	1 (5.2)	1 (5.2)		

and an increase in borderline (14% at T1 vs 29% at T3, VRE arm; 9% at T1 vs 20% at T3, control arm) and pathological scores (9% at T1 vs 14% at T3, VRE arm; 5% at T1 vs 10% at T3, control arm; Supplementary Table 2).

3.1.2 Anxiety

In the VRE arm, a statistically significant reduction of the State Anxiety mean values was reported between T1 and T2 ($45.9 \pm 12.5 \text{ vs } 33.4 \pm 9.3, \text{ p} < 0.0001$) and between T1 and T3 ($45.9 \pm 12.5 \text{ vs } 40.9 \pm 10.4, \text{ p} = 0.02$). At T5, the observed mean value (41.9 ± 10.1) remains lower than the baseline value (Figure 1).

In addition, in the control arm, the State Anxiety mean values between T1 and T2 were statistically different (39.2 ± 9.5 vs 37.2 ± 9.0 ; p=0.04), albeit at a lower level. At T3 and T5, the observed mean values (41.6 ± 9.7 and 42.6 ± 10.8 , respectively) tended to be higher than baseline (Figure 1).

Comparing the two groups, at T1 the State Anxiety was significantly higher in the VRE group than in the control group (45.9 ± 12.5 vs 39.2 ± 9.5 ; p=0.05) (Figure 1).

In the VRE group, at T1 there was a statistically significant difference between the Trait Anxiety (37.3 \pm 8.6), and the State Anxiety (p=0.002) mean values. This difference was not statistically significant in the control group (Trait Anxiety: 40.6 \pm 11.1; p=0.32). The Trait anxiety was not statistically different between the two groups (37.3 \pm 8.6, VRE arm vs 40.6 \pm 11.1, control arm; p=0.22).

3.2 Quality of life assessment

The mean scores related to the EORTC QLQ-C 30 questionnaire did not show statistically significant differences

between the two groups considered time points, T1 and T3, except for constipation at T3 (p=0.02) (Supplementary Table 3).

3.3 Secondary endpoints

3.3.1 Effective and perceived time of treatment

In the VRE arm, 86% (n=19) of patients reported the perception of a shorter duration of CT compared to the effective treatment time. The median perceived time was of 104 minutes (range: 99-105) versus a median of 141 minutes (range: 135-145) of real duration (p<0.0001).

In the control arm, 76% (n=16) of patients perceived a longer than the effective duration of CT (median perceived time: 170 minutes, range: 165-174; median real duration: 155 minutes, range: 150-160; p<0.004).

The median reported perceived time was statistically different between the two groups (p=0.02).

3.3.2 Toxicity

All the enrolled patients were assessable for safety analysis. The most frequently reported treatment-related toxicities were mild to moderate (grades 1–2) (data not shown). The main toxicities reported after the first CT cycle were grade 2 alopecia and grade 3 and 4 neutropenia. They were similar in both arms (73% in the VRE arm vs 68% in the control arm for alopecia, 27% in both arms for neutropenia). Grade 3 emesis was less evident in the VRE arm than in the control arm, but not significantly (4% vs 14% respectively; p<0.24). In the VRE arm, asthenia was reported less than in the control arm (4% vs 36% respectively; p=0.008; Table 3).

3.3.3 PRO data analysis

The patients' perceptions investigated through the PROs at T4 (eight patients) and T5 (22 patients) showed a population



State anxiety mean values from the start to 48 hours from the end of the first chemotherapy cycle in the two study arms. *Intra-group variability. #Inter-group variability. Statistical significance: *. *p < 0.05; ****p < 0.0001.

with low toxicity. The statistical analysis between the time points considered was not studied for an imbalance of patients, so only T5 analysis was reported.

The analysis of the psychological variables included: insomnia (items 52), fatigue (items 53), anxiety (items 54), mood (items 55), sadness (items 56). At T5, all these were different between the VRE and control arm: severity and interference with usual or daily activities of insomnia [(9% vs 35% (p=0.04) and 14% vs 35% (p=not significant), respectively)]; a greater interference of the anxiety [(9% vs 35% (p=not significant), respectively)]; a perception of higher frequency and intensity in the mood [(14% vs 35% (p=not significant) and 0 vs 20% (p=0.03), respectively)]; a greater perception of interference in daily activities deriving from sadness (5% vs 14%, respectively); no difference was documented in fatigue item.

4 Discussion

In recent years, there has been an exponential development of VRE. Today, this entertainment intervention finds widespread application in various fields: from the fashion industry with digital dressing rooms to 360° VR photography, to the automotive sector and cinema, from the world of videogames to virtual museum visits. VR is not a new technology, but it is a tool that is going through radical evolution. There have been some advancements in industries with some interesting new possibilities. One of the most interesting and perspectivebending abilities of VR is the capability to immerse ourselves completely into an environment totally outside of our regular size, positioning us in a new relationship with the world. For instance, the growing field of immersive microscopy is putting doctors and scientists into microscopic worlds, giving them literal new perspectives of what is happening inside the human body, down to the scale of connected networks of neurons within the brain structure. Being able to visualize and manipulate the world at this scale holds incredible possibilities for solving medical problems, the potential of which has generated a lot of interest in the field from outside investors.

For the reason stated above, also in health, VRE is gaining increasing interest, finding potential areas for development and

application in the field of diagnostics, therapy, training and prevention.

In breast and gynecological patients, psychological distress is present at diagnosis and after surgery (11). The first experiments to assess the impact of VRE in cancer patients undergoing CT dates back to 1999 (12). The results of the seven randomized clinical trials published from 1999 to 2011 supporting the use of the VRE reported a reduction of the symptoms related to distress, fatigue, anticipatory nausea, and perception of the duration time of CT administration (13).

Although encouraging, these results derive mainly from pilot studies with low or mixed samples and limited statistical power. They explored various relevant variables, including different settings (i.e., during chemotherapy, during painful procedures, during hospitalization, and during port access). Moreover, most were the result of experiments conducted by technology and contents are now considered obsolete. Specifically, at that time, most VREs were limited to graphic reconstruction of reality without further direct experience with VRE, highlighting the need for more modern and innovative technologies.

In the present study, 44 breast and ovarian cancer patients were randomly assigned to receive VRE or to entertain themselves with conventional means during the first cycle of adjuvant CT, with the aim to evaluate if patients in the VRE arm reported an early improvement of psychological, anxiety, and quality of life outcomes. In this study, thanks to applying the most modern technologies, it was possible to give a "dream" during adjuvant CT exposure, allowing patients to view and live an immersive global experience.

Results from HAD questionnaire underlined the absence of prevalent disturbs of anxiety and depression in both groups.

A prevalence of normal scores related to depression was reported in both groups, along with a similar trend over time. This result underlines the low impact of VRE on the depressive state.

Regarding anxiety, our findings showed a different distribution of scores over time. In the comparison between T1 and T3 in the VRE arm, there was an increase in patients with borderline scores and a decrease in patients with pathological scores. On the contrary, in the control group, an increase in both borderline and pathological scores were observed at T3.

T/	ARIF	3	Grade	3	and	4	reported	toxicities
/	NULL		and	~	anu	_	reported	CONCINES.

	VRE arm (n = 22), n (%)	Control arm (n = 22), n (%)
Alopecia (grade 2)	16 (72.7)	15 (68.1)
Neutropenia	6 (27.2)	6 (27.2)
Febrile neutropenia	2 (9.0)	4 (18.2)
Emesis	1 (4.5)	3 (13.6)
Hypertransaminasemia	1 (4.5)	1 (4.5)
Asthenia	1 (4.5)	8 (36.4)

This trend suggests the impact of VRE on the anxiety outcome, as supported by data relating to state anxiety. Indeed, even if the state anxiety values before and after the first CT cycle decreased in both groups, this reduction is statistically significant over time only in the VRE arm. This difference in the scoring trend could be related to the different scores in trait anxiety, which tend to be lower in the VRE group, indicating a population whose anxiety is predominantly situational, determined by a stressful event such as CT. VRE would therefore act more positively in a population that presents an increased state of anxiety related to the crisis event in the absence of an anxious basic structure.

QoL scores related to the EORTC QLQ-C 30 questionnaire overall compared the two study groups.

The duration of therapy perceived by patients undergoing distraction therapy was significantly shorter when compared to the control group, which reports a perception of time greater than the real duration of therapy.

Regarding toxicity data, the use of VRE during the first CT cycle appears to reduce asthenia outcomes. The PROs results analyzed at T5 were in line with the results of the STAI scale, confirming the presence of a better psychological state in the patients of the VRE group. Taken together, these data suggest that the VRE positively influenced the levels of state anxiety among patients. Moreover, even if a cost analysis goes beyond the scope of this study, we can speculate that a VRE intervention could reduce the costs related to drug therapy and support interventions for the anxiety management.

Our results were in line with other previous studies about the impact of VRE on the health system and during cancer treatments. These studies found that VRE improved patients' emotional well-being and diminished cancer-related psychological symptoms (4, 13-17) in different settings. Nevertheless, the time of the VRE exposition was very short in most of these experiences. VRE's impact on clinical variables involved in distress (pulse rate, blood pressure) has been investigated only partially. In this context, our study is the first to evaluate the use of VRE during the first cycle of CT in breast or ovarian cancer patients, thus analyzing a specific homogeneous subgroup of patients and with a methodologically improved study design. In addition, our study used a relatively high-tech VRE with highly interactive virtual worlds. Considering that immersion and interactivity impact VRE efficacy, stronger results might likely be obtained with more immersive and fully interactive experiences. In addition, few studies compared the efficacy of VRE with a concurrently randomized control group and, therefore, are at risk of bias.

Our study presents some limitations, mainly related to the sample's small size and the short-term analysis. In addition, from our data, it was not possible to identify the mechanism of action of VRE on anxiety nor the population that could benefit most from this strategy. Further studies are therefore needed to define the role of VRE in improving the psychological well-being of patients undergoing CT. This will allow virtual reality to be used more effectively in daily clinical practice.

Conclusion

In the era in which the quality of life of cancer patients is taking a fundamental role, it is a primary goal to improve the benefit of the cure and the life of long survival patients. Our study suggests that the use of VRE has some benefits on the state anxiety of the first cycle of CT. Since the first cycle of CT can not scan impact subsequent cycles, not only for toxicity related to treatment but also for emotional distress, this tool could also be useful for a more important acceptance of the treatment and compliance with the therapy.

Our results support the continuous research on VRE as a distraction intervention, with the aim to meet the clinical need for effective nonpharmacologic adjunctive therapies.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Central Ethics Committee (protocol registration number: RS 1105/18). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

Study design: AF, FG, DG. data collection and interpretation: All. manuscript writing: AF, VR, and CF. manuscript editing: All. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

Editorial assistance was provided by Simonetta Papa, PhD, Massimiliano Pianta and Aashni Shah (Polistudium SRL, Milan, Italy). This assistance was supported by internal funds.
Conflict of interest

Authors FG, AG and GG are funders of Twiceout.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Nayak MG, George A, Vidyasagar MS, Mathew S, Nayak S, Nayak BS, et al. Quality of life among cancer patients. *Indian J Palliat Care* (2017) 23(4):445–50. doi: 10.4103/IJPC_IJPC_82_17

2. Chow H, Hon J, Chua W, Chuan A. Effect of virtual reality therapy in reducing pain and anxiety for cancer-related medical procedures: a systematic narrative review. *J Pain Symptom Manage* (2021) 61(2):384–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.08.016

3. Dascal J, Reid M, IsHak WW, Spiegel B, Recacho J, Rosen B, et al. Virtual reality and medical inpatients: a systematic review of randomized, controlled trials. *Innov Clin Neurosci* (2017) 14(1-2):14–21.

4. Indovina P, Barone D, Gallo L, Chirico A, De Pietro G, Giordano A. Virtual reality as a distraction intervention to relieve pain and distress during medical procedures: a comprehensive literature review. *Clin J Pain* (2018) 34(9):858–77. doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000000599

5. Chirico A, Maiorano P, Indovina P, Milanese C, Giordano GG, Alivernini F, et al. Virtual reality and music therapy as distraction interventions to alleviate anxiety and improve mood states in breast cancer patients during chemotherapy. *J Cell Physiol* (2020) 235(6):5353–62. doi: 10.1002/jcp.29422

6. Julian LJ. Measures of anxiety: State-trait anxiety inventory (STAI), beck anxiety inventory (BAI), and hospital anxiety and depression scale-anxiety (HADS-a). *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* (2011) 63 Suppl 11(0 11):S467-72. doi: 10.1002/acr.20561

7. Carroll BT, Kathol RG, Noyes RJr, Wald TG, Clamon GH. Screening for depression and anxiety in cancer patients using the hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry* (1993) 15(2):69–74. doi: 10.1016/0163-8343(93)90099-a

8. EORTC QLQ-C30 (version 3). Available at: https://www.eortc.org/app/uploads/sites/2/2018/08/Specimen-QLQ-C30-English.pdf.

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fonc.2022.960387/full#supplementary-material

9. Common terminology criteria for adverse events (CTCAE). Available at: https:// ctep.cancer.gov/protocoldevelopment/electronic_applications/ctc.htm#ctc_40.

10. Basch E, Reeve BB, Mitchell SA, Clauser SB, Minasian LM, Dueck AC, et al. Development of the national cancer institute's patient-reported outcomes version of the common terminology criteria for adverse events (PRO-CTCAE). J Natl Cancer Inst (2014) 106(9):dju244. doi: 10.1093/jnci/dju244

11. Fabi A, Falcicchio C, Giannarelli D, Maggi G, Cognetti F, Pugliese P. The course of cancer related fatigue up to ten years in early breast cancer patients: What impact in clinical practice? *Breast* (2017) 34:44–52. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2017.04.012

12. Schneider SM, Workman ML. Effects of virtual reality on symptom distress in children receiving chemotherapy. *Cyberpsychol Behav* (1999) 2(2):125–34. doi: 10.1089/cpb.1999.2.125

13. Chirico A, Lucidi F, De Laurentiis M, Milanese C, Napoli A, Giordano A. Virtual reality in health system: beyond entertainment. a mini-review on the efficacy of VR during cancer treatment. *J Cell Physiol* (2016) 231(2):275–87. doi: 10.1002/jcp.25117

14. Chirico A, Yaden DB, Riva G, Gaggioli A. The potential of virtual reality for the investigation of awe. *Front Psychol* (2016) 7:1766. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01766

 Bani Mohammad E, Ahmad M. Virtual reality as a distraction technique for pain and anxiety among patients with breast cancer: A randomized control trial. *Palliat Support Care* (2019) 17(1):29–34. doi: 10.1017/S1478951518000639

16. Schneider SM, Ellis M, Coombs WT, Shonkwiler EL, Folsom LC. Virtual reality intervention for older women with breast cancer. *Cyberpsychol Behav* (2003) 6(3):301–7. doi: 10.1089/109493103322011605

17. Schneider SM, Hood LE. Virtual reality: a distraction intervention for chemotherapy. Oncol Nurs Forum (2007) 34(1):39-46. doi: 10.1188/07.ONF.39-46

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sarah M. Temkin, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

REVIEWED BY Ilary Ruscito, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Yugang Liu, Northwestern University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Pauline Wimberger Pauline.wimberger@uniklinikumdresden.de

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 21 June 2022 ACCEPTED 05 September 2022 PUBLISHED 21 October 2022

CITATION

Klotz DM, Kuhlmann JD, Link T, Goeckenjan M, Hofbauer LC, Göbel A, Rachner TD and Wimberger P (2022) Clinical impact of soluble Neuropilin-1 in ovarian cancer patients and its association with its circulating ligands of the HGF/c-MET axis. *Front. Oncol.* 12:974885. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.974885

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Klotz, Kuhlmann, Link, Goeckenjan, Hofbauer, Göbel, Rachner and Wimberger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Clinical impact of soluble Neuropilin-1 in ovarian cancer patients and its association with its circulating ligands of the HGF/c-MET axis

Daniel Martin Klotz^{1,2,3}, Jan Dominik Kuhlmann^{1,2,3}, Theresa Link^{1,2,3}, Maren Goeckenjan^{1,2,3}, Lorenz C. Hofbauer^{2,3,4}, Andy Göbel^{2,3,4}, Tilman D. Rachner^{2,3,4} and Pauline Wimberger^{1,2,3*}

¹Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Medical Faculty and University Hospital Carl Gustav Carus, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany, ²German Cancer Consortium (DKTK), partner site Dresden and German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Heidelberg, Germany, ³National Center for Tumor Diseases (NCT), Dresden, Germany: German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Heidelberg, Germany; Faculty of Medicine and University Hospital Carl Gustav Carus, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany: Helmholtz-Zentrum Dresden - Rossendorf (HZDR), Dresden, Germany, ⁴Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes, and Bone Diseases, Department of Medicine III, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany

Background: Neuropilin (NRP) is a transmembrane protein, which has been shown to be a pro-angiogenic mediator and implicated as a potential driver of cancer progression. NRP-1 up-regulation in ovarian cancer tissue predicts poor prognosis. However, the clinical relevance of the soluble form of NRP-1 (sNRP-1) as a circulating biomarker in ovarian cancer patients is unknown.

Methods/patients cohort: sNRP-1 levels were quantified in a cohort of 88 clinically documented ovarian cancer patients by a commercially available sNRP-1 enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Biomedica, Vienna, Austria). Patients (81.8% with FIGOIII/IV) received primary cytoreductive surgery with the aim of macroscopic complete resection (achieved in 55.7% of patients) and the recommendation of adjuvant chemotherapy in line with national guidelines.

Results: Higher levels of sNRP-1 reflected more advanced disease (FIGO III/IV) and indicated a trend towards suboptimal surgical outcome, i.e. any residual tumor. sNRP-1 was neither related to the patients' age nor the *BRCA1/2* mutational status. Patients with higher sNRP-1 levels at primary diagnosis had a significantly reduced progression-free survival (PFS) (HR = 0.541, 95%CI: 0.304 - 0.963; p = 0.037) and overall survival (OS) (HR = 0.459, 95%CI: 0.225 - 0.936; p = 0.032). Principal component analysis showed that sNRP-1 levels were unrelated to the circulating hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and the soluble ectodomain of its receptor the tyrosine kinase mesenchymal–epithelial transition (c-MET), suggesting that there is no proportional serological

concentration gradient of soluble components of the NRP-1/HGF/c-MET signaling axis.

Conclusions: In line with the previously shown tissue-based prognostic role, we demonstrated for the first time that sNRP-1 can also act as a readily accessible, prognostic biomarker in the circulation of patients with ovarian cancer at primary diagnosis. Given its known role in angiogenesis and conferring resistance to the poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibitor olaparib *in vitro*, our results encourage more detailed investigation into sNRP-1 as a potential predictive biomarker for bevacizumab and/or PARP-inhibitor treatment.

KEYWORDS

ovarian cancer, soluble neuropilin-1, prognosis, blood-based biomarker, retrospective analysis, HGF, c-MET

Introduction

Ovarian cancer is the leading cause of death among patients with gynecological malignancies and more than 70% of patients are diagnosed with advanced disease (1). The most important prognostic factor is the postoperative residual tumor burden (1, 2). The cornerstone of standard first-line treatment of advanced ovarian cancer involves surgical debulking, aimed at macroscopically complete tumor resection, followed by platinum/paclitaxel-based chemotherapy and maintenance treatment with the anti-angiogenic monoclonal antibody bevacizumab (3-6). More recently, in patients with ovarian cancer harboring homologous repair deficiency (HRD), defined by either the presence of a germline or somatic pathogenic breast cancer gene (BRCA) 1/2 mutation and/or genomic instability, a combination of bevacizumab with the Poly ADP-ribose polymerase (PARP) inhibitor olaparib has been approved as maintenance therapy after response to firstline platinum-based chemotherapy (7). Likewise, the PARP inhibitor (PARPi) niraparib has been approved as sole maintenance therapy (without bevacizumab) after response to first-line treatment, independently of the HRD status (8). This very recent milestone of biomarker-guided, first-line PARPi treatment has been based on the knowledge that ovarian cancer with BRCA1/2 mutations comprises a molecular Achilles' Heel that can be exploited by targeting HRD (9). Hence, treatment with PARPi led to a markedly improved progression-free survival in patients with HR-deficient ovarian cancer (7, 8).

Despite these therapeutic advances, many patients with ovarian cancer still face a poor overall prognosis (2, 10). Given this clinical challenge, the identification of novel bloodbased predictive and/or prognostic biomarkers is of high clinical significance. This would drive personalized treatment of ovarian cancer patients and guide future drug target identification.

Neuropilin (NRP) is a 120-140 kDa type I transmembrane protein, which is actively involved in a variety of physiological processes, such as cardiovascular development, activity of regulatory T cells (Tregs) and neuronal guidance (11-13). Two neuropilin homologues have been identified in vertebrates, referred to as NRP-1 and NRP-2 (12). NRP-1 is strongly expressed in the tumor vasculature and is a high-affinity coreceptor for a number of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) isoforms, particularly VEGF₁₆₅, resulting in an increased affinity of VEGF₁₆₅ for the extracellular domain of VEGFR2 (12, 14, 15). Therefore, NRP-1 has been shown to be a pro-angiogenic mediator and implicated as a potential driver of metastatic cancer progression. Besides its interaction with VEGFR2, NRP-1 acts as a co-receptor for a number of other extracellular ligands, such as semaphorins, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) (13).

Preclinical studies have suggested that NRP-1 expression is up-regulated in ovarian cancer tissue and correlates with advanced FIGO stage and lymph node metastasis (16, 17). Moreover, NRP-1 expression was associated with epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) markers (18) and PARPi resistance (19). It was proposed that high NRP-1 expression in the primary tumor predicts poor prognosis in ovarian cancer patients (16). Since a tissue-based biomarker is restricted to the histological analysis of cancerous tissue, the identification of blood-based biomarkers is of high clinical interest in ovarian cancer diagnostics biomarkers because they offer relatively easy and safe sampling for follow-up analysis and disease monitoring. This is particularly true because tissue samples of ovarian cancer are typically only obtained at primary cytoreductive surgery. In contrast, surgical treatment at first disease recurrence is clinically indicated and performed only in a specific subset of patients, i.e. in whome macroscopically complete tumor resection can be achieved (20). In addition to its transmembrane configuration, NRP-1 is also shed into circulation as soluble NRP-1 (sNRP-1), where it lacks the transmembrane and cytoplasmic domain. sNRP-1 is robustly detectable in human serum samples, as we have previously shown in patients with early breast cancer (21). We were able to demonstrate that breast cancer patients with low levels of sNRP-1 had a significantly better prognosis compared to patients with high levels of sNRP-1 (21). However, the clinical relevance of sNRP-1 and its potential prognostic value in patients with ovarian cancer is completely unknown.

The aim of this study was to profile sNRP-1 levels in serum samples of a comprehensive set of clinically documented ovarian cancer patients and to study its relation to patients' clinicopathological parameters and its prognostic relevance. Moreover, we compared sNRP-1 levels with levels of selected soluble components of NRP-1 interaction partners, i.e. soluble HGF (sHGF) and the soluble ectodomain of the tyrosine kinase mesenchymal–epithelial transition (c-MET), referred to as soluble/serum c-MET (sMET).

Patients and methods

Patient characteristics and healthy controls

Patients were recruited at the Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics at the Carl Gustav Carus University of Dresden, Technische Universität Dresden, Germany. Overall, 88 patients with histologically confirmed primary epithelial ovarian cancer (primary diagnosis from 2013-2019, 81.8% with FIGOIII/IV) were included. Inclusion criteria were: primary cytoreductive surgery at our hospital with the aim of macroscopic complete resection and the recommendation of adjuvant platinum-/paclitaxel-based chemotherapy in line with national guidelines. In the case of no contraindications, patients with a tumor stage of at least FIGO IIIb (50/72 patients, 69.4%) were additionally treated with the monoclonal antibody bevacizumab and enrollment in clinical trials was permitted. Exclusion criteria were: primary/neoadjuvant chemotherapy, interval debulking surgery, treatment with hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy, benign disease or borderline tumors. Progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) were calculated from the date of primary diagnosis (i.e. at the time of primary debulking surgery). 30 healthy women were also recruited. In order to be included in this study, these women must have had no past medical history of benign or malignant disease. The median age was 38 (range: 31 - 47 years). Written informed consent was obtained from all study

participants and the study was approved by the Local Research Ethics Committee in Dresden (EK74032013). All study methodologies conformed to the standards set by the Declaration of Helsinki. The clinical data from the patients are summarized in Table 1. Tumor staging was documented according to the Fédération Internationale de Gynécologie et d'Obstétrique (FIGO) (22), revised in 2014 (23). Hence, the revised version was used for all patients who underwent primary surgery from 2014 onwards. In agreement with national recommendations, genetic testing was offered and performed, if patients consented (24, 25). Given the significant oncological implementation, BRCA status was analyzed in all patients from whom genetic testing had been documented. Germline BRCA1/2 mutational status was available in 39/88 patients. It is important to note that HRD analyses were not routinely tested outside of clinical trials at the time of primary diagnosis (2013-2019) in this retrospectively analyzed patient cohort.

Serum preparation and detection of sNRP-1

Serum preparation from blood-samples obtained at primary diagnosis of ovarian cancer was performed, as described previously (26–28). Briefly, sample processing occurred within 1 h of blood drawing. After obtaining blood samples, they were incubated at room temperature (rt) for at least 30 min in order to allow complete blood coagulation. The cell-free serum fraction was obtained by centrifugation (8 min, 1800 g, rt) and was then immediately frozen at -80°C until further use. In order to compare pre-processing of control samples and patient samples were performed with the same protocol.

After complete thawing on ice, samples were immediately processed. The NRP-1 ELISA was performed as described previously (21). Briefly, 10 μ l of the sample was used per well and the NRP-1 ELISA was conducted according to the manufacturer's protocol (Biomedica, Vienna, Austria). The absorbance was measured immediately at 450 nm with reference at 630 nm.

Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was conducted with R, Version 3.6.2 and GraphPad Prism version 8.4.3 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA) as described previously (26–28), and listed in each figure legend. P-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The Hodges-Lehman estimate was used to determine the estimated differences (ED) of medians. Uni- and multivariate Cox proportional hazards model regression analyses were performed and hazard ratios (HRs) are indicated TABLE 1 Patient characteristics.

Patients	Ν	88	
Age	median (range)	65 years	(23-82years) -
FIGO stage	1/11	16	18.2%
	III/IV	72	81.8%
Surgical debulking	residual disease	39	44.3%
	No residual tumor	49	55.7%
Histology	serous	78	88.6%
	non-serous	10	11.4%
Grading	high-grade (G3)	76	86.4%
	G1/G2	12	13.6%
BRCA1/2 mutational status	wtBRCA1/2	24	27.3%
	mBRCA1/2	15	17.0%
	unknown	49	55.7%
sNRP-1levels	median (range)	2.358 nmol/L(1.049-	- 5.126 nmol/L)
Progression-free survival	median (range)	30 months	(1 - 86 months)
	progression/death	49	55.7%
	no progression	39	44.3%
Overall survival	median (range)	42 months	(3 - 89 months)
	dead	33	37.5%
	alive	55	62.5%

with 95% confidence intervals (CI). The median (2.358 nmol/L) has been used to stratify patients into sNRP-1 high (n = 44) and sNRP-1 low (n = 44), unless specified otherwise. The optimized cut off analysis was performed using maximally selected rank statistics (maxstat package). Kaplan-Meier analyses were performed with significance levels indicated by log-rank (Mantel-Cox) analysis and HRs (Mantel-Haenszel) are shown with 95%CI. The correlation between sNRP-1 levels with age or cancer antigen 125 (CA125) was assessed by non-parametric Spearman correlation. Correlation-based principal component analysis was performed, using Pearson correlation.

Results

Soluble sNRP-1 levels at primary diagnosis of ovarian cancer

We analyzed the sNRP-1 level in a comprehensive cohort of 88 clinically documented ovarian cancer patients at primary diagnosis and compared it to the level of healthy controls (n = 30). There was no significant difference between median sNRP-1 in ovarian cancer patients vs. healthy controls (estimated difference (ED) = -0.15, 95%CI: -0.39 - 0.12; p = 0.24; Figure 1A). This was supported by the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis, which failed to show any discrimination between patients and healthy controls by sNRP-1 levels (p = 0.24; Figure 1B), meaning that sNRP-1 cannot be considered as a bona fide diagnostic marker without additional parameters.

Correlation of sNRP-1 level with clinicopathological features of ovarian cancer

Higher levels of sNRP-1 reflected more advanced disease, indicated by a higher FIGO stage (ED = 0.42, 95%CI: 0.04 - 0.70; p = 0.04; Figure 2A). Moreover, higher sNRP-1 levels at primary diagnosis showed a non-significant but numerical trend to be associated with suboptimal surgical outcome (ED = 0.26, 95%CI: -0.01 - 0.53; p = 0.07; Figure 2B). There was also neither a correlation between sNRP-1 levels between high-grade vs. lower grading (low-grade and moderately-differentiated) ovarian cancer (ED = -0.29, 95%CI: -0.66 - 0.12; p = 0.16; Figure 2C) nor the patients' age (r = 0.20, 95%CI: -0.02 - 0.40; p = 0.06; Figure 2D).

The BRCA1/2 mutational status was available in 39 of 88 patients in our cohort (44.3%). Of those, 24/88 patients (27.3%) were BRCA1/2 wild type (wtBRCA1/2), whereas in 15/88 patients (17.0%) a pathogenic BRCA1/2 mutation (mBRCA1/2) had been detected. There was no significant difference in sNRP-1 levels between mBRCA1/2- vs. wtBRCA1/2-patients (ED = -0.01, 95%CI: -0.42 - 0.38; p=0.97; Supplementary Figure 1A). Information on CA125 at primary diagnosis was available in all patients (n = 88). We observed a correlation between sNRP-1 and CA125 (r = 0.22, 95%CI: 0.001 - 0.419; p = 0.04; Supplementary Figure 1B).

Taken together, sNRP-1 at primary diagnosis is unrelated to BRCA1/2 mutational status, correlates with advanced disease and associates with surgical outcome by trend.



FIGURE 1

sNRP-1 levels in ovarian cancer at primary diagnosis. (A) Scatter plots comparing sNRP-1 levels in ovarian cancer patients (n = 88) and in healthy individuals (n = 30). The black horizontal lines indicate median sNRP-1 levels in each group, with error bars showing the 95%CI. P-value according to the non-parametric, two-sided Mann-Whitney test. (B) Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis to determine the diagnostic ability of sNRP-1 levels to distinguish between ovarian cancer patients (n = 88) and healthy controls (n = 30). The respective area under the curve (AUC) values and the 95%CIs are indicated.



FIGURE 2

Association analyses of sNRP-1 with known clinical parameters. (A) The sNRP-1 levels of patients with advanced ovarian cancer (FIGO III/IV, n = 72) compared to patients with early-stage disease (FIGO I/II, n = 16), p = 0.04. (B) The sNRP-1 levels of patients (n = 39) with residual tumor compared to patients (n = 49) with no macroscopic tumor after cytoreductive surgery, p = 0.07. (C) The sNRP-1 levels of patients (n = 76) with high-grade ovarian cancer compared to patients (n = 12) with lower grading, p = 0.16. The black horizontal lines indicate the median sNRP-1 levels in each group with error bars, showing the 95%CI. P-values according to the non-parametric, two-sided Mann-Whitney test. (D) The correlation of sNRP-1 and age is shown, using non-parametric Spearman correlation (n = 88, p = 0.06) with simple linear regression (red line).

Prognostic relevance of sNRP-1

Using the median sNRP-1 level as a cut-off value, we stratified our study cohort into sNRP-1 high (>2.358 nmol/L) vs. sNRP-1 low (<2.358 nmol/L) patients and performed a Cox proportional hazards model regression and Kaplan-Meier analyses. We observed that higher sNRP-1 levels at primary diagnosis of ovarian cancer were associated with significantly reduced PFS (HR = 0.541, 95%CI: 0.304 - 0.963; p = 0.037) and OS (HR = 0.459, 95%CI: 0.225 - 0.936; p = 0.032) in the univariate but not multivariate analysis (Figure 3A). This was consistent with Kaplan-Meier analyses, indicating that higher sNRP-1 levels predict a significantly reduced PFS (HR = 0.54, 95%CI: 0.30 - 0.96; p = 0.03) and OS (HR = 0.46, 95%CI: 0.23 -0.92; p = 0.03; Figures 3B, C). In the above analyses, we have used the median as cut off for grouping the patient into sNRP-1 high or sNRP-1 low. Another approach for dichotomizing a patient cohort with an optimized cut-off can be performed by maximally selected rank statistics. This resulted in the following cut offs: OS: >2.9805 nmol/L or PFS: > 2.3195 nmol/L. Using this optimized cut off as means to group our patient cohort into sNRP-1 high vs. sNRP-1 low, an even more pronounced prognostic relevance of sNRP-1 became evident in the Kaplan-Meier analysis (PFS: HR = 0.49, 95%CI: 0.28.-0.88; p = 0.02 and OS: HR = 0.12, 95%CI: 0.03 - 0.45; p = 0.002; Supplementary Figures 2A, B). It was also observed that higher sNRP-1 levels at primary diagnosis of ovarian cancer were associated with a significantly reduced PFS (HR = 0.491, 95%CI: 0.272 - 0.885; p = 0.018; Supplementary Figure 2C) in the univariate but not

multivariate cox proportional hazards model regression analysis. Notably, Cox proportional hazards model regression analysis could not be performed for the OS analysis because the stratification using this optimized cut off did not meet the proportional hazards assumption.

This demonstrates that sNRP-1 can be considered as a blood-based prognostic biomarker in ovarian cancer patients. High levels of sNRP-1 indicate higher risk of disease recurrence and poor survival.

Association of sNRP-1 with serum levels of HGF and the soluble ectodomain of c-MET

In addition to its interaction with VEGFR2, NRP-1 is a coreceptor for a number of other extracellular ligands, including c-MET and HGF (13, 29, 30). We hypothesized that there could be an association between the level of sNRP-1 and associated ligands in the blood of ovarian cancer patients. We took advantage of our previous studies on ovarian cancer, which demonstrated the prognostic relevance of both sHGF levels and the soluble ectodomain of its receptor c-MET (sMET) (26, 27). Corresponding data on sHGF and sMET levels were available in 35/88 and 26/88 of our patients from two previous studies of our group, respectively (26, 27). This number of matching samples allowed us to investigate whether there was a proportional serological concentration gradient of sNRP-1 and its functionally related proteins sHGF and sMET. We performed



Prognostic relevance of sNRP-1. (A) Results from univariate and multivariate Cox proportional hazard regression model analyses of sNRP-1 low (n = 44) vs. sNRP-1 high (n = 44) are shown, including hazard ratio (HR) and 95%Cls and p-values. Kaplan-Meier analyses comparing (B) cumulative progression-free survival (PFS) and (C) cumulative overall survival (OS) of patients with ovarian cancer stratified as above. HR and 95%Cl determined by Mantel Haenszel and p-value by log-rank (Mantel-Cox), as described in the methods section.

a principal component analysis, assessing all three serological biomarkers sNRP-1, sMET and sHGF. However, there was no significant correlation/clustering obtained by analyzing all three biomarkers (Figures 4A, B).

Discussion

This is the first study that investigated the clinical relevance of sNRP-1 in blood samples of patients with ovarian cancer at primary diagnosis, demonstrating that high sNRP-1 indicates advanced disease and poor prognosis.

This is supported by an earlier study, which demonstrated that NRP-1 upregulation in ovarian cancer indicated poor prognosis when analysing tissue, gene and protein expression levels (16). Our findings complement the pro-tumorigenic effects of NRP-1 in cancer cells, such as modulating EMT, evasion of contact inhibition or promoting angiogenesis (12, 14, 31, 32).

However, the origin and function of sNRP-1 is still unclear. Firstly, the pool of sNRP-1 could be derived, at least partially, from cancer cells or the tumour microenvironment. If true, one would assume that more aggressive tumors may release more sNRP-1. This is consistent with our observation that higher sNRP-1 levels correlate with a poor prognosis and advanced disease. However, median sNRP-1 levels did not significantly differ between healthy women and patients with ovarian cancer (Figure 1A). This finding is consistent with reports showing no significant difference of sNRP-1 in patients with non-advanced breast cancer or malignant vocal lesions compared to healthy

		Cori	<u>elation</u> m	atrix (Pe	arson)
			sNRP-1	sHGF		sMET
s	SNRP	-1	1.000	0.189	-	0.212
	sHG	=	0.189	1.000		0.306
	sME	Г	-0.212	0.306	,	1.000
F2 (38.94 %)	0.75 0.5 0.25 0 -0.25 -0.5 -0.75 -1		sNRP-1			sHGF
	-	1 -0.	75 -0.5 -0.28 F'	5 0 0.25 I (43.59 %)	0.5 ().75 1
			• Activ	ve variables	7	

Principal component analysis using sNRP-1, sHGF and sMET levels. (A) A correlation matrix as a principal component analysis (Pearson) is shown with sNRP-1, soluble HGF (sHGF) and soluble ectodomain of c-MET (sMET). Values in bold are different from 0 with significance as p < 0.05. Biomarker levels were measured in blood samples of the same ovarian cancer patient at primary diagnosis. (B) Graphical representation of the principal component analysis of the three variables (sNRP-1, sHGF and sMET) contributing to 82.52% of the variability of the data set.

controls or patients with benign vocal cord lesions, respectively (22, 33).

The shedding rate may also influence sNRP-1 concentrations, which may differ by cancer type and could partially explain the above observations. Another circulating ovarian cancer biomarker (sMET) also offers prognostic relevance despite similar median levels in serum of patients and healthy controls (26). One can speculate whether the tumor microenvironment potentiates the effect of sNRP-1 once malignant transformation occurred. In a preliminary study, sNRP-1 levels in human serum ranged from a median of 4.62 nmol/L (range: 2.10 - 8.87 nmol/L) (34). Since the study did not disclose specific characteristics of study participants, one must speculate which factors contributed to sNRP-1 levels in these individuals.

Since both tissue and blood-based NRP-1 levels allow for prognostic stratification in ovarian cancer (16), further investigation should aim to investigate 1) the cellular processing of NRP-1, 2) its release from the tumor microenvironment in patients with ovarian cancer, and 3) determinants of its concentration in non-malignant physiological conditions.

Our exploratory study has certain limitations, i.e. the medium-sized patient cohort, a lack of comparison with tissue-based NRP-1 expression and the retrospective setting. Nonetheless, the strength of our study is that we can show prognostic relevance of our marker candidate in a welldocumented patients cohort, considering all relevant clinicopathological parameters and including BRCA1/2 mutational status.

It is important to note that the present study refers to patients with a primary diagnosis of ovarian cancer from 2013-2019. At this time, the addition of the PARPi olaparib as maintenance treatment after response to first-line chemotherapy was restricted to patients with BRCA1/2-mutant advanced ovarian cancer. Only one patient with a germline BRCA1 mutation received olaparib in our patient cohort as maintenance treatment following response to first-line chemotherapy. Given this is the first study describing a prognostic relevance of sNRP-1, it will be interesting to prospectively investigate the use of sNRP-1 in patients with HR-deficient ovarian cancer receiving maintenance therapy with bevacizumab and/or PARPi according to standard clinical practice (7, 8). Since NRP-1 promotes angiogenesis (35), previous studies have assessed whether it could predict response to bevacizumab at primary diagnosis. However, NRP-1 expression in ovarian cancer tissue failed to predict bevacizumab response in a retrospective analysis of the GOG-0218 clinical trial (36).

Interestingly, a previous study demonstrated a potential role of NRP-1 in conferring olaparib resistance *in vitro* (19). Both the pro-angiogenic activity of NRP-1 and its link to PARPi resistance would strongly suggest a potential use as a suitable auxiliary marker for predicting response to the combination of bevacizumab/olaparib in patients with ovarian cancer. This is of particular importance because PARPi treatment is expanding, resulting in an increasing number of patients with acquired (or primary) PARPi resistance in clinical practice. Furthermore, it would also be of clinical importance to determine the prognostic relevance of sNRP-1 in each subtype of ovarian cancer (37). Given the heterogeneous nature of ovarian cancer, this may also improve our understanding of sNRP-1 release and its correlation with tissue expression, if subtype-specific patterns are observed.

We have previously shown the use of sHGF and sMET as an independent prognostic biomarker in patients with ovarian cancer (26). HGF is a pleiotropic cytokine and a potent growth and pro-angiogenic factor that acts on its target cells by binding to the c-MET receptor. Moreover, HGF and c-MET also interacts with neuropilins (29, 38). However, we did not observe any correlation between sNRP-1, sHGF or sMET in a subset of corresponding patients' serum samples, indicating that there may not be a proportional serological concentration gradient of sNRP-1 and circulating HGF and/or c-MET. Considering the broad spectrum of NRP-1 interacting ligands (39), a combined analysis of sNRP-1 and other functionally related proteins may still yield a biomarker signature that would enable additional prognostic or predictive information.

Conclusion

We show for the first time, that NRP-1 is a blood-based prognostic biomarker, which could be easily implemented into routine clinical diagnostics of ovarian cancer. Our results encourage a prospective validation study to analyse whether sNRP-1 detection could be considered as an auxiliary predictive or prognostic tool in patients with ovarian cancer. This will be of future clinical relevance given its interaction with VEGF and conferring olaparib resistance *in vitro* (14, 19).

Data availability statement

Upon reasonable requests, the raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by ETHIKKOMMISSION AN DER TECHNISCHEN UNIVERSITÄT DRESDEN (EK74032013). The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

DMK, JDK, TDR, LCH and PW made substantial contributions to the conception and design of the study. DMK, JDK, TL, AG, MG and PW contributed to the experimental work or to the acquisition of clinical samples/ data or to the analysis/interpretation of the results. DMK, JDK, TL, TDR, and PW were involved in drafting the manuscript, creating figures and/or revising the manuscript. All authors read and approved the manuscript in its final version.

Funding

DMK was supported by the Else Kröner-Fresenius-Stiftung in the form of a clinician scientist program referred to as 'phosphoproteome dynamics' (Grant number 060_5217), and by the Central German Society for Gynecology and Obstetrics (Mitteldeutsche Gesellschaft für Frauenheilkunde und Geburtshilfe).

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Babett Heschel for her excellent technical assistance and Dr. M. Stevense (TU Dresden, Germany) for language editing.

Conflict of interest

DMK has a patent application pending regarding the use of HGF as a prognostic biomarker in ovarian cancer.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

1. Torre LA, Trabert B, DeSantis CE, Miller KD, Samimi G, Runowicz CD, et al. Ovarian cancer statistics, 2018. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2018) 68(4):284–96. doi: 10.3322/ caac.21456

2. Wimberger P, Wehling M, Lehmann N, Kimmig R, Schmalfeldt B, Burges A, et al. Influence of residual tumor on outcome in ovarian cancer patients with FIGO stage IV disease: An exploratory analysis of the AGO-OVAR (Arbeitsgemeinschaft gynaekologische onkologie ovarian cancer study group). *Ann Surg Oncol* (2010) 17 (6):1642–8. doi: 10.1245/s10434-010-0964-9

3. du Bois A, Quinn M, Thigpen T, Vermorken J, Avall-Lundqvist E, Bookman M, et al. 2004 consensus statements on the management of ovarian cancer: final document of the 3rd international gynecologic cancer intergroup ovarian cancer consensus conference (GCIG OCCC 2004). Ann Oncol (2005) 16 Suppl 8:viii7–vii12. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdi961

4. Karam A, Ledermann JA, Kim JW, Sehouli J, Lu K, Gourley C, et al. Fifth ovarian cancer consensus conference of the gynecologic cancer InterGroup: First-line interventions. *Ann Oncol* (2017) 28(4):711–7. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx011

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fonc.2022.974885/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

Association of sNRP-1 with *BRCA1/2* mutational status and CA125. **(A)** Scatter plots with sNRP-1 levels of patients with known *BRCA1/2* mutational status are shown with *BRCA1/2* mutations (*mBRCA1/2*, n =15) and wild-type *BRCA1/2* status (*wtBRCA1/2*, n = 24), p = 0.97. **(B)** The correlation of sNRP-1 and log (CA125) is shown, using nonparametric Spearman correlation (n = 88, p = 0.04) with simple linear regression (red line).

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

Prognostic information of sNRP-1 using an optimized cut-off. Kaplan-Meier analysis of patients with ovarian cancer comparing (A) cumulative progression-free survival according to sNRP-1 low (n = 42) and sNRP-1 high (n = 46), optimized cut-off PFS: 2.3195 nmol/L and (B) cumulative overall survival (OS) according to sNRP-1 low (n = 77) and sNRP-1 high (n = 11), optimized cut-off: 2,9805 nmol/L. HR and 95%CI determined by Mantel Haenszel and p-value by log-rank (Mantel-Cox), as described in the methods section. (C) Results from univariate and multivariate Cox proportional hazard regression model analyses for PFS of sNRP-1 low (n = 42) vs. sNRP-1 high (n = 46) are shown, including hazard ratio (HR) and 95%CIs and p-values. (D) Scatter plot is shown with sNRP-1 low (n = 42) and sNRP-1 high (n = 46) according to an optimized cut-off determined by maximally selected rank statistics for PFS, p < 0.0001. The black horizontal lines indicate the median sNRP-1 levels in each group with error bars, showing the 95%CI. P-value according to the non-parametric, two-sided Mann-Whitney test. (E) Graphical representation of cut-off determination by maximally selected rank statistics.

5. Stuart GC, Kitchener H, Bacon M, duBois A, Friedlander M, Ledermann J, et al. 2010 gynecologic cancer InterGroup (GCIG) consensus statement on clinical trials in ovarian cancer: report from the fourth ovarian cancer consensus conference. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2011) 21(4):750–5. doi: 10.1097/IGC.0b013e31821b2568

6. Burger RA, Brady MF, Bookman MA, Fleming GF, Monk BJ, Huang H, et al. Incorporation of bevacizumab in the primary treatment of ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2011) 365(26):2473–83. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1104390

7. Ray-Coquard I, Pautier P, Pignata S, Perol D, Gonzalez-Martin A, Berger R, et al. Olaparib plus bevacizumab as first-line maintenance in ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2019) 381(25):2416–28. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1911361

8. Gonzalez-Martin A, Pothuri B, Vergote I, DePont Christensen R, Graybill W, Mirza MR, et al. Niraparib in patients with newly diagnosed advanced ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2019) 381(25):2391–402. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1910962

9. O'Connor MJ. Targeting the DNA damage response in cancer. Mol Cell (2015) 60(4):547-60. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2015.10.040

10. Klotz DM, Wimberger P. Overcoming PARP inhibitor resistance in ovarian cancer: what are the most promising strategies? *Arch Gynecol Obstet* (2020) 302 (5):1087–102. doi: 10.1007/s00404-020-05677-1

11. Cimato T, Beers J, Ding S, Ma M, McCoy JP, Boehm M, et al. Neuropilin-1 identifies endothelial precursors in human and murine embryonic stem cells before CD34 expression. *Circulation* (2009) 119(16):2170–8. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.849596

12. Nakamura F, Goshima Y. Structural and functional relation of neuropilins. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2002) 515:55–69. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-0119-0_5

13. Chaudhary B, Khaled YS, Ammori BJ, Elkord E. Neuropilin 1: Function and therapeutic potential in cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2014) 63(2):81–99. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1500-0

14. Whitaker GB, Limberg BJ, Rosenbaum JS. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 and neuropilin-1 form a receptor complex that is responsible for the differential signaling potency of VEGF(165) and VEGF(121). *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276(27):25520–31. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M102315200

15. Klagsbrun M, Takashima S, Mamluk R. The role of neuropilin in vascular and tumor biology. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2002) 515:33–48. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-0119-0_3

16. Jiang H, Xi Q, Wang F, Sun Z, Huang Z, Qi L. Increased expression of neuropilin 1 is associated with epithelial ovarian carcinoma. *Mol Med Rep* (2015) 12(2):2114–20. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2015.3580

17. Osada R, Horiuchi A, Kikuchi N, Ohira S, Ota M, Katsuyama Y, et al. Expression of semaphorins, vascular endothelial growth factor, and their common receptor neuropilins and alleic loss of semaphorin locus in epithelial ovarian neoplasms: increased ratio of vascular endothelial growth factor to semaphorin is a poor prognostic factor in ovarian carcinomas. *Hum Pathol* (2006) 37(11):1414–25. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2006.04.031

18. Adham SA, Al Harrasi I, Al Haddabi I, Al Rashdi A, Al Sinawi S, Al Maniri A, et al. Immunohistological insight into the correlation between neuropilin-1 and epithelial-mesenchymal transition markers in epithelial ovarian cancer. *J Histochem Cytochem* (2014) 62(9):619–31. doi: 10.1369/0022155414538821

19. Vescarelli E, Gerini G, Megiorni F, Anastasiadou E, Pontecorvi P, Solito L, et al. MiR-200c sensitizes olaparib-resistant ovarian cancer cells by targeting neuropilin 1. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2020) 39(1):3. doi: 10.1186/s13046-019-1490-7

20. Harter P, Sehouli J, Vergote I, Ferron G, Reuss A, Meier W, et al. Randomized trial of cytoreductive surgery for relapsed ovarian cancer. *N Engl J Med* (2021) 385(23):2123–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2103294

21. Rachner TD, Kasimir-Bauer S, Goebel A, Erdmann K, Hoffmann O, Rauner M, et al. Soluble neuropilin-1 is an independent marker of poor prognosis in early breast cancer. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol* (2021) 147(8):2233–8. doi: 10.1007/s00432-021-03635-1

22. Rzepakowska A, Zurek M, Grzybowski J, Kotula I, Pihowicz P, Gornicka B, et al. Serum and tissue expression of neuropilin 1 in precancerous and malignant vocal fold lesions. *PloS One* (2020) 15(10):e0239550. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0239550

23. Prat JFIGO Committee on Gynecologic Oncology. Staging classification for cancer of the ovary, fallopian tube, and peritoneum. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* (2014) 124(1):1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2013.10.001

24. Harter P, Hauke J, Heitz F, Reuss A, Kommoss S, Marme F, et al. Prevalence of deleterious germline variants in risk genes including BRCA1/2 in consecutive ovarian cancer patients (AGO-TR-1). *PloS One* (2017) 12(10):e0186043. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186043

25. Kast K, Rhiem K, Wappenschmidt B, Hahnen E, Hauke J, Bluemcke B, et al. Prevalence of BRCA1/2 germline mutations in 21 401 families with breast and ovarian cancer. *J Med Genet* (2016) 53(7):465–71. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2015-103672

26. Klotz DM, Link T, Goeckenjan M, Wimberger P, Kuhlmann JD. The levels of soluble cMET ectodomain in the blood of patients with ovarian cancer are an independent prognostic biomarker. *Mol Oncol* (2021) 15(9):2491–503. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12939

27. Klotz DM, Link T, Wimberger P, Kuhlmann JD. Prognostic relevance of longitudinal HGF levels in serum of patients with ovarian cancer. *Mol Oncol* (2021) 15(12):3626–38. doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12949

28. Klotz DM, Link T, Goeckenjan M, Wimberger P, Poetsch AR, Jaschke N, et al. Evaluation of circulating dickkopf-1 as a prognostic biomarker in ovarian cancer patients. *Clin Chem Lab Med* (2022) 60(1):109–17. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2021-0504

29. Niland S, Ditkowski B, Parrandier D, Roth L, Augustin H, Eble JA. Rhodocetin-alphabeta-induced neuropilin-1-cMet association triggers restructuring of matrix contacts in endothelial cells. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2013) 33(3):544–54. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.00006

30. Rezaei M, Martins Cavaco AC, Seebach J, Niland S, Zimmermann J, Hanschmann EM, et al. Signals of the neuropilin-1-MET axis and cues of mechanical force exertion converge to elicit inflammatory activation in coherent endothelial cells. *J Immunol* (2019) 202(5):1559–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1801346

31. Baba T, Kariya M, Higuchi T, Mandai M, Matsumura N, Kondoh E, et al. Neuropilin-1 promotes unlimited growth of ovarian cancer by evading contact inhibition. *Gynecol Oncol* (2007) 105(3):703–11. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.02.005

32. Ding Z, Du W, Lei Z, Zhang Y, Zhu J, Zeng Y, et al. Neuropilin 1 modulates TGFbeta1induced epithelialmesenchymal transition in nonsmall cell lung cancer. *Int J Oncol* (2020) 56(2):531–43. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2019.4938

33. Naik A, Al-Zeheimi N, Bakheit CS, Al Riyami M, Al Jarrah A, Al Moundhri MS, et al. Neuropilin-1 associated molecules in the blood distinguish poor prognosis breast cancer: A cross-sectional study. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):3301. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03280-0

34. Lu Y, Xiang H, Liu P, Tong RR, Watts RJ, Koch AW, et al. Identification of circulating neuropilin-1 and dose-dependent elevation following anti-neuropilin-1 antibody administration. *MAbs* (2009) 1(4):364–9. doi: 10.4161/mabs.1.4.8885

35. Plein A, Fantin A, Ruhrberg C. Neuropilin regulation of angiogenesis, arteriogenesis, and vascular permeability. *Microcirculation* (2014) 21(4):315–23. doi: 10.1111/micc.12124

36. Bais C, Mueller B, Brady MF, Mannel RS, Burger RA, Wei W, et al. Tumor microvessel density as a potential predictive marker for bevacizumab benefit: GOG-0218 biomarker analyses. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2017) 109(11). doi: 10.1093/jnci/djx066

37. Ramalingam P. Morphologic, immunophenotypic, and molecular features of epithelial ovarian cancer. *Oncol (Williston Park)* (2016) 30(2):166–76.

38. Hu B, Guo P, Bar-Joseph I, Imanishi Y, Jarzynka MJ, Bogler O, et al. Neuropilin-1 promotes human glioma progression through potentiating the activity of the HGF/SF autocrine pathway. *Oncogene* (2007) 26(38):5577–86. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210348

39. Dumond A, Pages G. Neuropilins, as relevant oncology target: Their role in the tumoral microenvironment. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2020) 8:662. doi: 10.3389/ fcell.2020.00662

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Sarah M. Temkin, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

REVIEWED BY Pauline Wimberger, Technical University Dresden, Germany Deborah Verran, Consultant, Sydney, NSW, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Tanja Nikolova nikolovatanja@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Gynecological Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

RECEIVED 27 July 2022 ACCEPTED 15 November 2022 PUBLISHED 07 December 2022

CITATION

Nikolova T, Bossart M, Kacperczyk-Bartnik J, Razumova Z, Strojna A, Bizzarri N, Pletnev A, Gómez-Hidalgo NR, Theofanakis C, Lanner M, Selcuk I, Shushkevich A, Anca C-R, Nikolova N, Concin N and Zalewski K (2022) Gender-related differences in career development among gynecologic oncology surgeons in Europe. European Network of Young Gynecologic Oncologists' Survey based data. *Front. Oncol.* 12:1005130. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.1005130

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Nikolova, Bossart, Kacperczyk-Bartnik, Razumova, Stroina, Bizzarri, Pletnev, Gómez-Hidalgo, Theofanakis, Lanner, Selcuk, Shushkevich, Anca, Nikolova, Concin and Zalewski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Gender-related differences in career development among gynecologic oncology surgeons in Europe. European Network of Young Gynecologic Oncologists' Survey based data

Tanja Nikolova^{1*}, Michaela Bossart², Joanna Kacperczyk-Bartnik³, Zoia Razumova⁴, Alexandra Strojna⁵, Nicolò Bizzarri⁶, Andrei Pletnev⁷, Natalia R. Gómez-Hidalgo⁸, Charalampos Theofanakis⁹, Maximilian Lanner¹⁰, Ilker Selcuk¹¹, Alexander Shushkevich¹², Chelariu-Raicu Anca¹³, Natasha Nikolova¹⁴, Nicole Concin^{15,5} and Kamil Zalewski¹⁶

¹Klinikum Mittelbaden, Academic Teaching Hospital of Heidelberg University, Baden-Baden, Germany, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, St. Josefskrankenhaus, Freiburg, Germany, ³2nd Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland, ⁴Department of Women's and Children's Health, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden, ⁵Department of Gynecology and Gynecologic Oncology, Kliniken Essen-Mitte, Essen, Germany, ⁶Unità Ginecologia Oncologica. Dipartimento per la salute della Donna e del Bambino e della Salute Pubblica, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario a Gemelli, Rome, Italy, ⁷Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Zielona Gora, Zielona Gora, Poland, ⁸Gynecological Oncology Department, Vall d'Hebron Hospital, Autonoma University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, ⁹Department of Gynecological Oncology, General Hospital of Athens Alexandra, Athens, Greece, ¹⁰Department of Gynecology, Private Hospital Villach, Villach, Austria, ¹¹Department of Gynecologic Oncology, Ankara City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey, ¹²Department of Surgery, Institute of Biology and Medicine, Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, Kyiv, Ukraine, ¹³Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University Hospital, Ludwig-Maximillians-University, Munich, Germany & German Cancer Consortium and German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg, Germany, ¹⁴Center of Perinatal and Reproductive Medicine, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy, ¹⁵Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Innsbruck Medical University, Innsbruck, Austria & Department of Gynecology and Gynecologic Oncology, Kliniken Essen-Mitte, Essen, Germany, ¹⁶Department Gynecologic Oncology, Holycross Cancer Center, Kielce, Poland

Introduction: Gender-related differences in career development are well known issues in various professions. An international survey on gender-related differences was performed among young gynecologic oncology surgeons in Europe to identify potential gender inequalities in career development.

Material and methods: A survey on demographics, clinical and academic working environment, family/parenting, career development, salary and leadership was sent to all members of the European Network of Young Gynecologic Oncologists (ENYGO), which is a network within the European

Society of Gynecologic Oncology (ESGO). Gynecologic oncology surgeons and obstetricians/gynecologists who actively work in this field in Europe were included in the study.

Results: Responses were analyzed from 192 gynecologic oncology surgeons of whom 65.1% (125/192) were female (median age 37, IQR: 34 - 42) and 34.9% (67/192) were male (median age 38, IQR: 36 - 41). Male reported to perform a median of 15 and female a median of 10 operations per month (p = .007). Among female, 24.8% had a leadership position vs. 44.8% among male, crude OR = 2.46, 95% *Cl* 1.31-4.62, p<.01. When stratifying for age under 41 and having children, 36.7% of male and 5.6% of female had a leadership position, adjusted *OR* 10.8, 95% *Cl* 3.28-35.64, p<.001. A significantly higher proportion of female compared to male believed they earned less than their gender counterparts at the same clinical position and with same qualifications (30.4% vs. 2.5%, p<.001). There was not a statistically significant gender difference in the academic qualification PhD degree or professorship (p = .92 and p = .64, respectively). In the previous year, male published more peer-reviewed articles than female (median 3 vs. median 2; p = .017).

Conclusion: This first comprehensive survey on gender-differences in gynecologic oncology in Europe revealed that there are gender gaps concerning several aspects during the critical time of career development in the young generation of gynecologic oncology surgeons. These gender gaps are particularly reflected by a lower rate of female leadership positions. ENYGO and ESGO are dedicated to work on solution to overcome the identified obstacles and to support closing gender gaps.

KEYWORDS

gender-related differences, gender inequalities, gynecologic oncology surgeons, career development, leadership, salary

Introduction

According to the report of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development countries (OECD), almost half of all medical doctors in 2019 were female (1). Female accounted for more than half of students entering PhD programs in the United States (2). Based on membership data of the European Society of Gynecological Oncology (ESGO), the proportion of female gynecologic oncologists has been constantly increasing in the last decade. While in 2009 more than two thirds of members were male, the gender distribution reached parity in 2019. An even faster growing trend is evident among the younger generation of gynecologic oncologists in Europe. According to the membership directory of the European Network of Young Gynecologic Oncologists (ENYGO), which is a network of ESGO comprising the young generation of the gynecologic oncology surgeons, 2/3 of members were female in 2019. On the other side the published literature indicates that in the field of medicine female still face manyfold career barriers in comparison to their male colleagues. Female are reported to have less opportunities to research and to publish, are promoted more slowly and at a lower rate e.g. for professorship positions and are less paid than their male counterparts (3–9). Studies performed among medical professionals in different fields show that although female participation in medical schools and hospitals is increasing, male professionals still dominate at senior leading positions (10, 11).

To our knowledge there is not any published data on genderrelated differences in career development among gynecologic oncology surgeons in Europe.

We performed a comprehensive survey consulting the young generation of gynecologic oncology surgeons and specialists in gynecology and obstetrics with a major focus on gynecologic oncology surgery, who are working in academic and nonacademic surgical centers. The aim of this survey was to investigate potential gender differences and potential obstacles during the time of career development.

Methods

A survey consisting of 85 questions was designed and approved by the Institutional Review Board at the Medical School, University in Kielce, Poland (Number: 65/2021). The questionnaire consisted of questions related to demographics; clinical and academic working environment; family and parenting; career development; leadership including clinical director, head of department and head of division, as well as salary. The questions validity was thereafter assessed through a review of 12 ENYGO members who were selected to represent the different sociodemographic characteristics (gender, age, nationality, country of practicing, partner status, children, and sexual orientation). Each reviewer assessed the questions and response options to ensure their clearness and inclusivity with regards to diverse life and professional experiences.

ENYGO is a network within ESGO, which comprises of subspecialists in gynecologic oncology surgery who are \leq 40 years of age, and of fellows in subspeciality training for gynecologic oncology surgery (all fellows in training independent of age), as well as of specialists in gynecologic oncology surgery. The survey working in the field of gynecologic oncology surgery. The survey was administrated anonymously to all ENYGO members in electronic format *via* the survey tool "SurveyMonkey" (SurveyMonkey Inc. Palo alto, CA, USA).

The first participating request was sent in October 2019. It was promoted during the ESGO conference in Athens in November of 2019 and after that, launch was repeated in January and February of 2020. The online software allowed respondents to complete the survey without answering all the questions, hence each question was not necessarily answered by all the respondents.

Inclusion criteria for distribution of this survey were ENYGO members who were practicing in Europe at the time of survey. Respondents who were not actively working in the field of gynecologic oncology surgery and were not practicing in Europe were excluded from the study.

Statistical analysis

Statistical data analysis was performed using statistical software SPSS version 26. Descriptive statistics was used to summarize the results of the questionnaire. As not all the questions were answered by all the respondents, the percentage was calculated using a number of respondents to the specific question as a denominator. Categorical and ordinal data associations were tested using Chi-squared or Fisher's exact test and Mann-Whitney U test. The Cochran-Mantel-Haenszel test of homogeneity was used in cases where controlling for gender or age with other significant factors had to be explored. All tests were two-tailed at the level of statistical significance $\alpha = 5\%$.

Results

Description of the study population

The survey link was sent to 745 ENYGO members. A total of 230 recipients replied after the survey was launched by the third time (response rate of 30.9%). Of them, 38 (16.5%) respondents were excluded, as they did not meet the inclusion criteria (31 were not working in Europe, 7 were not actively working in the field of gynecologic oncology surgery). Thus, answers from a total of 192 respondents were included in the final analysis with a median age 37 years (IQR: 35 - 42). Of them, 132 (68.6%) were gynecologic oncology surgeons, either subspecialists who have completed their training (n=84, median age 40 years, IQR: 33 - 44) or fellows in training (n=48, median age 36 years, IQR: 33 - 38), and 60 (31.4%) were specialists in gynecology and obstetrics who were actively working as surgeons in gynecologic oncology (median age 37 years, IQR: 34 - 42). Table 1 shows the general demographic characteristics of the respondents.

Clinical working environment and leadership

The obtained data about the clinical working environment are presented in Table 2.

There was a significant difference in the number of reported operative cases per month between male and female. Male reported a median of 15 and female a median of 10 cases per month ($U(N_{male}=29, N_{female}=71) = 677, z = -2.71, p = .007, (\eta^2 = .072)$). The number of night shifts per month did not differ between male and female (median of 4 for both genders).

The data about the reported leadership positions in male versus female, as well as the subsequent stratifications are presented in Table 3.

There was a significant difference in reported leadership positions between male and female. 44.8% (30/67) of male compared to 24.8% (31/125) of female reported to have a leadership position, (crude *OR* 2.46, 95% *CI* 1.31-4.62, p = .005, χ^2 (1, N = 192) = 8.03, small effect size $\phi = .205$).

When stratified for age under 41 and having children, the gender gap was the most pronounced with 36.7% (11/30) of male compared to 5.6% (2/36) of female having a leadership position (adjusted *OR* 10.8, 95% *CI* 3.28-35.64, *p*<.001, $\chi^2_{CMHtest}$ (1, *N* = 137) = 19.3, *p*<.001, χ^2_{BDtest} (3, *N* = 137) = 3.77, *p* = .29).

Among respondents with children, 96.4% (53/55) of female and 75.8% (25/33) of male used parental leave. 58.5% (31/53) of female

	Male		Fe	male	Total		
	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Gender	67	34.9%	125	65.1%	192		
Age							
≤ 30	0	0.0%	17	13.6%	17	8.9%	
31-40	49	73.1%	72	57.6%	121	63.0%	
41-50	11	16.4%	30	24.0%	41	21.4%	
51-60	5	7.5%	6	4.8%	11	5.7%	
> 61	2	3.0%	0	0.0%	2	1.0%	
Marital Status							
Single	4	8.3%	20	23.0%	24	17.8%	
Married/partner	43	89.6%	64	73.6%	107	79.3%	
Divorced	1	2.1%	3	3.4%	4	3.0%	
Children							
Yes	38	79.2%	57	64.0%	95	69.3%	
No	10	20.8%	32	36.0%	42	30.7%	
Number of Children							
0	29	43.3%	68	54.4%	97	50.5%	
1	13	19.4%	29	23.2%	42	21.9%	
2	17	25.4%	22	17.6%	39	20.3%	
≥ 3	8	11.9%	6	4.8%	14	7.3%	
Parental leave							
Yes	25	75.8%	53	96.4%	78	88.6%	
No	8	24.2%	2	3.6%	10	11.4%	

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics.

TABLE 2 Clinical characteristics.

	Male		Fe	Female		Total	
	n	%	n	%	п	%	
Working in academic oncolo	ogy center						.76
Yes	42	85.7%	72	83.7%	114	84.4%	
No	7	14.3%	14	16.3%	21	15.6%	
Level of training							.59
Fellow in Gyn. Onc.	14	20.9%	34	27.2%	48	25.0%	
Gyn. Onc. Surgeon	32	47.8%	52	41.6%	84	43.8%	
Specialist in Ob/Gyn.	21	31.3%	39	31.2%	60	31.3%	
Number of operative cases p	er month						.006
< 5	1	2.2%	9	10.5%	10	7.5%	
5-10	9	19.1%	33	38.4%	42	31.6%	
> 10	37	78.7%	44	51.1%	81	60.9%	
Number of night shifts per r	nonth						.64
0	4	8.5%	9	10.7%	13	9.9%	
1-4	19	40.4%	42	50.0%	61	46.6%	
5-9	18	38.3%	25	29.8%	43	32.8%	
≥ 10	6	12.8%	8	9.5%	14	10.7%	

Male	Female	Crude OR (95% CI)	p - value	χ^2	Effect size (\$)		
44.8% (30/67)	24.8% (31/125)	2.46 (1.31-4.62)	.005	(1, N=192) = 8.03	.205		
Stratified							
Male	Female	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	p - value	$\chi^2_{CMHtest}$	p - value	χ^2_{BDtest}	p - value
"Being married/	living with a partner	,»					
48.8% (20/41)	17.5% (11/63)	3.89 (1.75-8.65)	.001	(1, N = 139) = 11.6	.001	(1, N = 139) = 0.64	.425
"Being married	to a medical doctor/	living with a partner who is a m	edical doctor"				
45.8% (11/24)	24.3% (9/37)	3.37 (1.46-7.75)	.004	(1, N = 115) = 8.58	.003	(1, N = 115) = 0.46	.496
Age under 41 ye	ears						
32.7% (16/49)	13.5% (12/89)	3.11 (1.53-6.36)	.002	(1, N = 192) = 10.3	.001	(1, N = 192) = 0.001	.993
Parental status ((having children vs. 1	not having)					
50% (19/38)	19.3% (11/57)	3.91 (1.75-8.73)	.001	(1, N = 137) = 11.6	.001	(1, N = 137) = 0.11	.74
Age under 41 a	nd having children						
36.7% (11/30)	5.6% (2/36)	10.8 (3.28-35.64)	<.001	(1, N = 137) = 19.3	<.001	(3, N = 137) = 3.77	.29

TABLE 3 Leadership position analysis.

used parental leave for a year or less (6 weeks to 12 months) and 41.5% (22/53) for more than a year (up to a max of 3 years). 66.7% (16/24) of male used parental leave for a maximum of six weeks (1 to 6 weeks) and 33.3% (8/24) for more than six weeks (up to a maximum of one year). Among both genders, there was no association between the leadership position and the length of parental leave (for female: χ^2 (1, N = 53) = 0.298, p = .56; for male: χ^2 (1, N = 24) = 2.1, p = .15).

The data on the question: "Is your achieved clinical position same, higher or lower in comparison to your opposite gender colleagues with the same experience and at approximately same age?" is presented in Figure 1. There was a significant medium to strong association between the perception of having achieved the "adequate" clinical position and gender. 45.6% (36/79) of female believed that their achieved clinical position was lower than the one of their male counterparts with approximately the same experience and age, 45.6% (36/79) believed it was the same, and

8.9% (7/79) of female believed that their position was higher. On the other side, 87.5% (35/40) of male believed that their achieved clinical position was the same as their female counterparts with approximately same experience and age, 12.5% (5/40) believe that it was higher, and none believed that their position was lower (χ^2 (2, N = 119) = 26.4, *p*<.001, medium to strong effect size V = .471).

On the question: "Are you happy with your current clinical achievements?", more than half of male respondents, i.e. 53.8% (21/39), declared that they were happy, and 46.2% (18/39) declared that they were not happy with their current clinical achievements, while 32.5% (26/80) of female respondents declared their happiness and more than half, i.e. 67.5% (54/80), their unhappiness with the current clinical achievements (*OR* 2.42, 95% *CI* 1.11-5.31, *p* = .025, χ^2 (1, *N* = 119) = 4.99, small effect size ϕ = .205).

30.4% (24/79) of female and 2.5% (1/40) of male believed that their salary was lower in comparison with their gender



Is your achieved clinical position same, higher or lower in comparison to your opposite gender colleagues with the same experience and at approximately same age?

counterparts at the same position and clinical/academic qualifications, while 97.5% (39/40) of male and 69.6% (55/79) of female believed that their salary was the same or higher (*OR* 17.01, 95% *CI* 2.21-131.14, p<.001, χ^2 (1, N = 119) = 12.44, medium effect size ϕ = .323).

Academic working environment

Data about the academic working environment are presented in Table 4.

55.2% (37/67) of female respondents and 62.9% (22/35) of male respondents hold a PhD title (χ^2 (1, N = 102) = 0.55, p = .92, adjusted for Bonferroni correction). More male, 51.9% (14/27), than female, 40% (20/50), reported to have a professor position. However, this difference was not statistically significant (χ^2 (1, N = 77) = 0.99, p = .64, adjusted for Bonferroni correction).

Parental leave duration was no adverted factor for female to hold an academic qualification (PhD degree and/or professorship; χ^2 (2, N = 52) = 2.71, p = .258).

There was a significant small to intermediate effect between number of peer reviewed publications in the previous year and the gender. On average, male had more publications (median = 3) in the previous year than female (median = 1). The difference was significant $U(N_{male}=46, N_{female}=86) = 1,488, z = -2.38, p = .017,$ $\eta^2 = .042$. When stratified for having children, the small to intermediate effect between number of publications in the previous year and gender remained. Male with children published more (median = 2) than female with children (median = 1) in the previous year. The difference was significant $U(N_{male}=36, N_{female}=55) = 741.5, z = -2.06, p = .04,$ $\eta^2 = .043$.

A comparable number of males and females have received at least one medical grant/funding in the previous five years 45%

TABLE 4 Academic c	haracteristics.
--------------------	-----------------

	Male		Female		Т	p - value	
	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Academic qualifications:							.59
None	13	26.5%	30	34.5%	43	31.6%	
PhD	22	44.9%	37	42.5%	59	43.4%	
Professor	14	28.6%	20	23.0%	34	25.0%	
Professorship:							.11
Assistant Professor	3	21.4%	8	40.0%	11	32.4%	
Associate Professor	10	71.4%	7	35.0%	17	50.0%	
Full Professor	1	7.2%	5	25.0%	6	17.6%	
Did you have publications in	the previous year?						.30
Yes	36	78.3%	60	69.8%	96	72.7%	
No	10	21.7%	26	30.2%	36	27.3%	
Number of full-text publication	ions as first and last	author in your me	dical career:				.024
0	17	37.0%	35	40.7%	52	39.4%	
1-3	18	39.1%	45	52.3%	63	47.7%	
4-6	10	21.7%	4	4.7%	14	10.6%	
> 6	1	2.2%	2	2.3%	3	2.3%	
Number of medical conferen	ces (national and in	ternational) attend	ed in the previou	1s year:			.13
≤ 1	5	10.2%	21	24.1%	26	19.1%	
2-3	30	61.2%	47	54.0%	77	56.6%	
≥ 4	14	28.6%	19	21.8%	33	24.3%	
Number of conference preser	ntations (oral and p	oster) in the previo	ous year:				.012
0	6	13.0%	27	31.0%	33	24.8%	
1-4	29	63.0%	54	62.1%	83	62.4%	
5-9	8	17.4%	5	5.7%	13	9.8%	
	≥ 10	3	6.5%	1	1.1%	4	3.0%
Medical grants/funding in th	e previous 5 years:						.60
Yes	22	55.0%	48	60.0%	70	38.3%	
No	18	45.0%	32	40.0%	50	41.7%	

(18/40) of male vs. 40% (32/80) of female (χ^2 (1, *N* = 120) = 0.247, *p* = .60).

There was a significant intermediate effect between number of congress presentations in the previous year and gender. On average, male had more congress presentations (median = 3) than female (median = 2). The difference was significant U ($N_{male} = 46$, $N_{female} = 87$) = 2,651.5, z = 3.13, p = .002, $\eta^2 = .071$.

On the question: "Are you happy with your current academic achievements?", 27.3% (15/55) of female and 41.9% (13/31) of male confirmed their happiness with their current academic achievements, this association was not statistically significant (χ^2 (1, N = 86) = 1.94, p = .164).

Challenges for career development and barriers for gender parity

Among female, child planning was extremely important in 31.5% (17/54) of the respondents, considerably important in 37% (20/54) and not important at all in 13% (7/54), while among male it was extremely important in 7.5% (3/40) of the respondents, considerably important in 32.5% (13/40) and not important at all in 20% (8/40). Planning parenting was playing a major role in carrier development and there was a moderate positive correlation with gender (d = .35, p = .001).

On the question: "Do you think that the parental leave has affected your clinical career?", 48.1% (26/54) of female deemed that parental leave has affected their clinical carrier vs. 20% (4/20) of male (*OR* 3.71, 95% *CI* 1.11-12.57, p = .029, χ^2 (1, N = 74) = 4.79, small to moderate effect size $\phi = .26$). When asked in which way has the parental leave affected their clinical career, 45.7% (21/46) of female stated that it was the lack of surgical activities while on leave,

and 39.1% (18/46) assessed that due to the parental leave they have missed their career advancements.

On the question: "If the parental leave affected your academic career?", there was again a significant difference between male and female. 44.4% (24/54) female and 5.9% (1/17) man perceived that parental leave had adversely affected their academic career (*OR* 12.8, 95% *CI* 1.58-103.53, p = .004, χ^2 (1, N = 71) = 8.43, moderate effect size $\phi = .35$). 42.5% (17/40) female stated that because of parental leave, they did not manage to actively participate in research projects and could not publish, 27.5% (11/40) stated that they did not get the desired academic position, 12.5% (5/40) stated that they did not have time to enroll in PhD studies and did not have time to work with students/fellows/residents.

A significant higher number of female 41.8% (23/55) than of male 14.3% (3/21) were feeling underestimated by their manager, because of using parental leave (*OR* 4.31, 95% *CI* 1.14-16.4, p = .024, χ^2 (1, N = 76) = 5.12, small to moderate effect size $\phi = .26$).

The significant majority of female, 79.3% (65/82), see obstacles for career success for females in surgical gynecologic oncology compared to less than half of male, 46.2% (18/39), (*OR* 4.46, 95% *CI* 1.95-10.2, *p*<.001, χ^2 (1, *N* = 121) = 5.12, moderate effect size ϕ = .33). Figure 2 presents the perceived obstacles for career success among female in surgical gynecologic oncology.

Suggested ways for gender parity achievement

The suggested ways to increase the feasibility for a woman to be both a successful gynecologic oncology surgeon and a caring mother are presented in Figure 3.



frontiersin ora



On the question: "According to you could ESGO and ENYGO help improving the gender disparity in the field of gynecologic oncology surgery?" 76.5% (62/81) of female and 55.6% (20/36) of male gave a positive answer. Table 5 presents selected individual suggestions on options how ESGO and ENYGO could help.

Figure 4 presents the answers to the question: "If you were now about to choose your career, what would you do?". 77.5% (31/40) of male and 70.9% (56/79) of female answered that they would stay with their career choice. 10% (4/40) of male and 19% (15/79) of female stated that they would choose a nonmedical career. There was not a significant association between

TABLE 5 Selected individual suggestions on how ESGO and ENYGO could help improving the gender disparity in gynecologic oncology surgery.

- This survey is already helpful and is a good start in promoting female to reach parity and change the perspective of the old generation.
- Encourage and support female in their clinical and research fellowships.
- · Organize hands on courses and courses in leadership especially designed for female.
- ESGO and ENYGO should promote female as role models at the conferences. At least 50% female at all of their committees. More female at leadership position in the both of the organizations. Also, at least 50% of conference speakers should be female.
- Provide a better network between colleagues from different centers.
- Successful female in this field should openly talk on conferences about managing family and work.
- Gender disparity issues should be analyzed within ESGO and ENYGO committees. The visuality of this problem should be increased at open forums. Discussions and
 public awareness initiatives are needed. Promotion of activities to spread awareness of this problem.
- · Providing training scholarships and grants for female. Giving priority to applicants with children.
- Fellowships should be well paid and should be with a shorter duration. More regional meetings should be organized. Mentor-fellow system of training in the host hospitals for better acquisition of specific surgical skills.
- · Female mentorship programs. Encouraging academic/clinical leads to facilitate and support female.
- Providing childcare during conference, financial support for female coming to conferences with children. Providing special time and places at congress for female surgeons with children.
- More online educational platforms.
- Promoting a culture of understanding of mothers.
- · Promoting female surgical career and put in value the female's work in this field.
- Support pregnant female in being allowed to still do surgery. Setting up mentoring and fellowship programs, especially for female and encouraging hospitals to invest in the training of their female gynecologic oncology surgeons.
- To encourage young woman to do surgery.
- · Flexible working models.
- Day-care organized by the clinical setting.



gender and the current career choice χ^2 (3, N = 119) = 2.1, p = .55).

Discussion

In this study we report on gender disparities in the critical time of career development among the young generation of gynecologic oncology surgeons in Europe based on an international survey. To the best of our knowledge this is the first comprehensive evaluation of gender differences and experienced obstacles in carrier development among gynecologic oncology surgeons.

Self- reported data in our survey showed a higher exposure of male compared to female to operative procedures during their fellowships and as young specialists in gynecologic oncology surgery (Table 2). The predominance of male over female surgeons has been described before and is well known in different surgical disciplines, e.g. a Canadian population based retrospective study has included all surgical disciplines and reported that only 12.4% of identified surgeries were performed by females (12).

Although the majority of specialists in gynecology and obstetrics worldwide are nowadays female, the published literature reports on an underrepresentation of female in leadership positions (13, 14). The comparison of two observational studies on leadership positions in gynecology and obstetrics performed in the periods 2012/2013 and 2019/ 2020 in United States of America shows a slight increase in the percentage of female in leadership positions. In the period 2012/ 2013 20% of the chairs of departments were female; 36.1% of the vice chairs and 29.6% of the division directors (15). In the period 2019/2020 female were 29% of the chairs, 46% of the vice chairs, and 47% of the division directors (16).

Gender disparity in leadership position has been previously reported in the field of medical oncology as well. Banerjee et al. demonstrated a significant male dominance at leadership positions among respondents mainly practicing in Europe, 71% (11). Furthermore, a recent leadership study in the United States of America identified the absence of female gynecologic oncologists at cancer center director positions (17). Another study in the United States of America exposed that female constituted only a minority of all faculty in academic oncology institutions (medical oncology, radiation oncology and surgical oncology) and the low female representation was particularly pronounced at a leadership level (18).

In our study the male dominance at leadership positions was particularly displayed when focusing on leadership at younger age (under 41 years) and on younger age plus having children (Table 3). The adjusted odds ratio for male in a leadership position was more than 3 and notably more than 10 times higher, respectively, compared to female with these attributes in life. Parenting and domestic duties mainly carried out by female together with other factors probably contribute to hampered career advancement and gender disparity seen in leadership positions. Among high-achieving young physician-researchers it was reported that female with children spent a longer time on domestic duties and were more dedicated to childcare activities compared to male (19). Furthermore, the impact of gender and parenthood on physician's career success was investigated by Buddeberg-Fischer B. at al. who performed a prospective study on career development among young physicians in the first seven years after graduation in Switzerland. They found out a lower career success among female physicians, especially those

with children in comparison to their male colleagues. Moreover female physicians with children tended to work in smaller hospitals or private practices and aspired less often to senior hospital leading positions (20).

In our study a significantly higher proportion of female than male believed that they earn less than their gender counterparts at the same clinical position with comparable clinical and academic qualifications, with an impressive odds ratio of around 17. This estimate is leveled with data reported by Croft et al. who analyzed exact annual income sums among gynecologic oncologists in USA. They found that 75% of female gynecologic oncologists in academic settings make bellow the median salary calculated for the combined group of gynecologic oncologists of both genders (21). Further reports have robustly pointed out the gender reimbursement gap among medical oncologists in Europe and among health care providers in the USA (11, 22, 23).

With respect to PhD degrees and professorship positions, our finding in gynecologic oncology surgery are in contradiction to data reported in medical oncology by Elez et al. (24), who did report on a gender gap, while we did not reveal a gender disparity in our survey. However, our analysis showed that male published more than female. This is in line with previous gender related publication analyses in the field of gynecologic oncology (4, 25). Furthermore, our survey revealed that male with children published significantly more than female with children, which might again be related to female taking more responsibility in domestic duties and in childcare.

Planning parenting during training was of a higher importance for female than for male respondents in this survey, which is matching with published data among general gynecologists and gynecologic oncologists (26, 27). Such difference in perceived importance of family planning seems logical in light of gender specific influence on working opportunities and impact on career advancement by a decision for a family. Also, an initial career accomplishment and a subsequent child planning is feasible for male, but not for female. Fertility struggles were reported among gynecologic oncologists in United States of America with an impressive rate of 81% of females having sought infertility counseling (26). Indeed, parental leave was mainly utilized by female and covered a much longer timeframe. It was accompanied with a feeling of being underestimated by their supervisors and by the impression that parental leave has adversely affected their career, both academically and clinically due to lack of exposure to surgical procedures.

Both, male and female, recognize that there are obstacles in the career development for female in the field of gynecologic oncology surgery. The majority of male perceive the "family concerns" as the biggest obstacle for female, whereas female related their experienced carrier barriers mainly to gynecologic oncology being a closed "male club" besides the family concerns. Curiously, none of the male respondents perceived their subspecialty as a "male club". This finding underlines the importance of more females in leadership positions in gynecologic oncology to serve as role-models, to

encourage female colleagues that they can succeed, and to support them during the process of their carrier development.

Among the offered options on how to increase the feasibility for a woman to be at a same time both a successful gynecologic oncology surgeon AND a caring mother (Figure 3) both genders agreed that more flexible working hours and child day-care organized by the working place could be helpful in this direction.

Valuable selected individual suggestions have been received on the open question on how ESGO and ENYGO could help to overcome gender disparity in gynecologic oncology surgery (Table 5): children friendly conferences with organized daycare and space for mothers and children, promotion of female as role models at ESGO and ENYGO conferences, reaching parity at ESGO and ENYGO committees and among invited conference speakers, open forums with discussion on current gender issues to increase awareness and prompt support for female in their clinical and research advancement, leadership academies for female, flexible working-models and day care organized by the working place.

Regardless of the numerous exposed challenges and barriers and the significant dissatisfaction in the field of clinical gynecologic oncology surgery, the majority of female would not change and would opt again for gynecologic oncology surgery.

Study strengths and limitations

To the best of our knowledge our study is first comprehensive evaluation of the gender-related differences among gynecologic oncology surgeons in Europe that provides an in-depth analysis of several specific problems. Also, the used qualitative methods allow a careful description of the broad spectrum of gender climate.

The biggest limitation of the study is that it is based on selfreported data. Also, there might be a selection bias with respect to those ENYGO members, who decided to fill in the survey. ENYGO is a diverse network of physicians interested in gynecologic oncology as it is the training and certification process in gynecologic oncology in various European countries. This leads to certain limitations in our study. Since this survey was sent only to ENYGO members, representing the younger generations of gynecologic oncology surgeons, our results give insights to gender issues mainly in the third and fourth decade of age only. Based on the presented data, a more focused survey on gender discrepancies is already planned to be distributed among all ESGO members, which could enable a further more profound analyses.

Conclusion

Although female present a rising proportion in the field of gynecologic oncology surgery in Europe, male prevail over

female as surgeons in operating theaters and dominate at leadership positions. Different factors related to family and childcare seem to adversely influence the clinical career advancement among female, while the effect of family planning and parenting in male seems comparably small.

It is not a lack of attractiveness or deficient wish of female to work in the field of gynecologic oncology surgery that explains the low number of females in leadership positions in this field. The majority of female would opt again for gynecologic oncology surgery. Obviously, there are obstacles in the critical time of career development that lead to a substantial attrition of female from training to leadership functions in gynecologic oncology.

ESGO and ENYGO aim to work on the implementation of measures and programs to overcome the identified obstacles, to close gender gaps, and support female to fully invest their skills, power and indispensable potential in the field of gynecological oncology surgery.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical School, University in Kielce, Poland (Number: 65/2021). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

References

1. OECD. Health at a glance 2021: OECD indicators. Paris: OECD Publishing (2021). doi: 10.1787/ae3016b9-en

2. Bates C, Gordon L, Travis E, Chatterjee A, Chaudron L, Fivush B, et al. Striving for gender equity in academic medicine careers: A call to action. *Acad Med* (2016) 91:1050–2. doi: 10.1097/ACM.000000000001283

3. Remich R, Jones R, Wood CV, Campbell PB, McGee R. How women in biomedical PhD programs manage gender consciousness as they persist toward academic research careers. *Acad Med* (2016) 91:1119–27. doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000001253

4. Mah SJ, Makkar M, Huang K, Anpalagan T, Reade CJ, Nguyen JMV. Gender imbalance in gynecologic oncology authorship and impact of COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Gynecol Cancer Off J Int Gynecol Cancer Soc* (2022) 32:583–9. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-2021-003296

5. Plank-Bazinet JL, Bunker Whittington K, Cassidy SKB, Filart R, Cornelison TL, Begg L, et al. Programmatic efforts at the national institutes of health to promote and support the careers of women in biomedical science. *Acad Med J Assoc Am Med Coll* (2016) 91:1057–64. doi: 10.1097/ACM. 000000000001239

6. Freund KM, Raj A, Kaplan SE, Terrin N, Breeze JL, Urech TH, et al. Inequities in academic compensation by gender: A follow-up to the national

Author contributions

TN performed the conception and design of the study. TN, MB, NN, KZ, JK-B, and ZR designed the survey. NN organized the database. TN and NN performed the statistical analysis. TN wrote the draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version. NC did the senior supervision and last revision of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

Authors would like to thank all ENYGO members (2019-2021) and ESGO office for the great support to the present study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

faculty survey cohort study. Acad Med J Assoc Am Med Coll (2016) 91:1068-73. doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000001250

7. Jagsi R, Griffith KA, Stewart A, Sambuco D, DeCastro R, Ubel PA. Gender differences in the salaries of physician researchers. *JAMA* (2012) 307:2410–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.6183

8. Ash AS, Carr PL, Goldstein R, Friedman RH. Compensation and advancement of women in academic medicine: is there equity? *Ann Intern Med* (2004) 141:205-12. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-141-3-2004080 30-00009

9. Hill EK, Blake RA, Emerson JB, Svider P, Eloy JA, Raker C, et al. Gender differences in scholarly productivity within academic gynecologic oncology departments. *Obstet Gynecol* (2015) 126:1279-84. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000001133

10. Carr PL, Gunn CM, Kaplan SA, Raj A, Freund KM. Inadequate progress for women in academic medicine: findings from the national faculty study. *J Womens Health 2002* (2015) 24:190–9. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2014.4848

11. Banerjee S, Dafni U, Allen T, Arnold D, Curigliano G, Garralda E, et al. Gender-related challenges facing oncologists: the results of the ESMO women for oncology committee survey. *ESMO Open* (2018) 3:e000422. doi: 10.1136/esmoopen-2018-000422

12. Wallis CJ, Ravi B, Coburn N, Nam RK, Detsky AS, Satkunasivam R. Comparison of postoperative outcomes among patients treated by male and female surgeons: a population based matched cohort study. *BMJ* (2017) 359: j4366. doi: 10.1136/bmj.j4366

13. Heisler CA, Mark K, Ton J, Miller P, Temkin SM. Has a critical mass of women resulted in gender equity in gynecologic surgery? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2020) 223:665–73. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.06.038

14. Wooding DJ, Das P, Tiwana S, Siddiqi J, Khosa F. Race, ethnicity, and gender in academic obstetrics and gynecology: 12-year trends. *Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM* (2020) 2:100178. doi: 10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100178

15. Hofler L, Hacker MR, Dodge LE, Ricciotti HA. Subspecialty and gender of obstetrics and gynecology faculty in department-based leadership roles. *Obstet Gynecol* (2015) 125:471–6. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000000628

16. Das D, Geynisman-Tan J, Mueller M, Kenton K. The leadership landscape: The role of gender in current leadership positions in obstetrics and gynecology departments. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* (2022) 29:952–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2022.03.013

17. Temkin SM, Rubinsak L, Benoit MF, Chandavarkar U, Hong L, Berry LK, et al. Gynecologic oncology, gender and relevant leadership in academic medicine. *J Clin Oncol* (2020) 38:e19056–6. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15_suppl.e19056

18. Chowdhary M, Chowdhary A, Royce TJ, Patel KR, Chhabra AM, Jain S, et al. Women's representation in leadership positions in academic medical oncology, radiation oncology, and surgical oncology programs. *JAMA Netw Open* (2020) 3:e200708. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.0708

19. Jolly S, Griffith KA, DeCastro R, Stewart A, Ubel P, Jagsi R. Gender differences in time spent on parenting and domestic responsibilities by high-achieving young physician-researchers. *Ann Intern Med* (2014) 160:344–53. doi: 10.7326/MI3-0974

20. Buddeberg-Fischer B, Stamm M, Buddeberg C, Bauer G, Häemmig O, Knecht M, et al. The impact of gender and parenthood on physicians' careersprofessional and personal situation seven years after graduation. *BMC Health Serv Res* (2010) 10:40. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-10-40

21. Croft KM, Rauh LA, Orr JW, McKinnish TR, Brown J, Naumann RW. Compensation differences by gender in gynecologic oncology. *Gynecol Oncol* (2020) 159:9. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2020.06.017

22. Desai T, Ali S, Fang X, Thompson W, Jawa P, Vachharajani T. Equal work for unequal pay: the gender reimbursement gap for healthcare providers in the united states. *Postgrad Med J* (2016) 92:571–5. doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2016-134094

23. Hughes F, Bernstein PS. Sexism in obstetrics and gynecology: not just a "women's issue". *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2018) 219:364.e1-4. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2018.07.006

24. Elez E, Ayala F, Felip E, García Campelo R, García Carbonero R, García Donás J, et al. Gender influence on work satisfaction and leadership for medical oncologists: a survey of the Spanish society of medical oncology (SEOM). *ESMO Open* (2021) 6:100048. doi: 10.1016/j.esmoop.2021.100048

25. Penn CA, Ebott JA, Larach DB, Hesson AM, Waljee JF, Larach MG. The gender authorship gap in gynecologic oncology research. *Gynecol Oncol Rep* (2019) 29:83–4. doi: 10.1016/j.gore.2019.07.011

26. Song M, Tessier K, Jensen J, Leonard P, Geller MA, Teoh D. Differences in family planning and fertility among female and Male gynecologic oncologists. *Womens Health Rep New Rochelle N* (2021) 2:78–84. doi: 10.1089/whr.2020.0046

27. Hill EK, Stuckey A, Fiascone S, Raker C, Clark MA, Brown A, et al. Gender and the balance of parenting and professional life among gynecology subspecialists. *J Minim Invasive Gynecol* (2019) 26:1088–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jmig. 2018.10.020

Frontiers in Oncology

Advances knowledge of carcinogenesis and tumor progression for better treatment and management

The third most-cited oncology journal, which highlights research in carcinogenesis and tumor progression, bridging the gap between basic research and applications to imrpove diagnosis, therapeutics and management strategies.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



